
'Its interesting situation between Hindoostan and China, 
two names with which the civilized world has been long 
familiar, whilst itself remains nearly unknown, i s  a striking 
fact and leaves nothing to be wished, but the means and 
opportunity for exploring it.' 

Surveyor-General Blacker to 
Lord Amherst about Assam, 
22 April, 1824. 
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PREFACE 

IN THE long roll of the East India Company's Bengal civil 
servants, placed in the North-East Frontier region, the name of 
David Scott stands out, undoubtably, as one of the most fasci- 
nating. He served the Company in the various capacities on 
the northern and eastern frontiers of the Bengal Presidency 
from 1804 to 1831. First coming into prominrnce by his 
handling of relations with Bhutan, Sikkim, and Tibet during 
the Nepal war of 1814, Scott was successively concerned with 
the Garo hills, the Khasi and Jaintia hills and the Brahma- 
putra valley (along with its eastern frontier) as g e n t  to the 
Governor-General on the North-East Frontier of Bengal and 
as Commissioner of Assam. His career in ~ndia,'&here he 
also died in harness in 1831, at the early age of forty-five, is the 
subject of this study. The dominant feature in his ideas of 
administration was Paternalism and hence the sub-title-the 
justification of which is fully given in the first chapter of 
the book (along with the importance and need of such a 
study). The last chapter, while making some concluding 
remarks on Scott's philosophy of government. tries to des- 
cribe what type of Paternalism it was. The chapters in 
between deal with some of the important subjects that the 
British Paternalists in India were most concerned with in 
the early nineteenth century. 

This study, being a first attempt at giving as far as 
possible, a full account of Scott's administrative career and 
his early background, much fresh material and thr hitherto- 
unknown details on m3ny known facts are incorporated here. 
I have, however. drawn much from many outstanding autho- 
rities in my understanding of the dominant ideas of adminis- 
tration prevalent in India of David Scott's time and also of 
the region where Scott served and died. I am particularly 
indebted to the works of Dr. Eric Stokes, Dr. S. K. Rhuyan 
and Dr. A .  Lamb, cited in the pages of my book. 
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The book includes a few maps and apoendices. The 
maps of the north-east parts of Rangpur andAof the Assarn 
valley are adapted from those in M. Martin's The History, 
Antiqrrities, Topography and Statistics of the Eastern India, 
vol. 111, first published from London in 1838. The one 
showing Scott's route from Sylhet to Nowgong a d  then to 
Gauhati in 1824 across the Jaintia hills was found amongst 
Scott's official despatches of the time. I have made no ortho- 
graphical change in these maps. For obvious reasons I 
have, however, modernised, in my text, the spelling of the 
names of many Khasi and Garo villages found in the des- 
patches. Some extracts from the unpublished report of Scott 
on the Garos, dated 20 August, 1816 are given in the Appen- 
dix D. In many parts the language of this report is far 
from being smooth and crisp unlike his many other 
admirable reports on different subjects. But it has its own 
importance. Besides describing critically the then-existing 
Garo-zamindar relationship, it gives us in the early nine- 
teenth century background, the physical feature of the land 
of the Garos; the principal tribes and clans among them; 
their laws of succession ; their democratic mindedness : their 
government; their manufacture; and the practice of head- 
haunting among them. Appendix E which is an agreement 
taken in the post-rebellion period from a semi-independent 
Khasi chief, gives a fair idea of the planned penetration of 
the British into the Khasi and Jaintia hills. 

The research for this work was uildertaken i~ England 
during 1961-64 and today, at the time of its publication, I 
gratefully remember the help and guidance thst I received 
from Mr. J. B. Harrison, Reader in Indian History at the 
School of Oriental and African Studies, London. For cons- 
tant sympathetic encouragement and many other kindnesses 
I am grateful also to Professor A .  L .  Basham. S have been 
further benefited by the comments and suggestions received 
from Dr. Percival Spear and Dr. I. Cumpston. Mr. M. D. K. 
Turner of Southlands, Camberley, Surrey; Mr. H. K. Sircar, 
Assistant Librarian, Carey Library, Serampore ; Mr. J. A. 
Chalmers, M.D. ,  F.R.C.S. ,  F .R.C.O.G. ,  Worcester; Mr. 
T- Henderson, M. A. ,  F. E. I .  S., Headmaster, Musselburg 



PREFACE 

Grammar School, Musselburg, Scotland,-all helped me in my 
search for information connected with Scott's early life and 
his missionary zeal. 

In the libraries where I worked in England, I always 
found the greatest courtesy and helpfulness, particularly in 
the India Office Library, the library of the School of Orien- 
tal and African Studies and the library of the University of 
Nottingham. 

I owe a debt of thanks to several of my friends and 
colleagues for their criticism, help and encouragement. Dr. 
Imtiaz Hussain made some incisive comments after going 
through an earlier version of this work which helped me at 
the time of revision; Mr. Surojit Bannerjee, Mr. N. Hassan, 
Miss S. Pahwa and Dr. A. J. Cordingly ungrudgingly 
helped me in many other ways while I was arranging the 
manuscript for the press; Mr. Devendra Jain, besides agreeing 
to publish the book in reasonable time, showed many courtesies. 
The book would not have, however, seen the light of the day 
without the sustained interest taken in it by my very dear friend 
J . L-F. 

The book is dedicated to a renowned socio-medical 
worker of modern Assam who, although not alive today, 
is the chief source of my inspiration. 

Kirorimal College, 
Delhi. 
9 November, 1969. 
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THE M A N  : HIS LIFE, DEATH A N D  ATTITUDES 

THE OBJECT of this book is to study the ideas and policies 
of one of the most distinguished local administrators of 
British India. This was David Scott, who served in north- 
east India from 1804 to 1831. The importance of his career 
lies in the fact that from his first appointment at Gorakh- 
purl the nature of his duties and his zeal for geographical 
and ethnological survey combined to make him an increas- 
ingly trusted expert in the affairs of the independent or semi- 
independent states of the north and north-east frontier. 
After the first Nepal war (1814-1816) he became the chief 
channel of British contact with Bhutan, Sikkim, Tibet, 
Cooch Behar, the Garo hills and Assam. The conquest and 
annexation of Assam, which he had advocated, subsequently 
made him the chief administrator of that state. From 1814, 
when he first held charge of the Bengal district of Rangpur, 
until his death in 1831 at Cherrapunji, the destiny of the 
Assanlese people was in great measure influenced by the 
opinions and decisions of David Scott. His ideas and * 

actions, often unhesitatingly accepted by higher authority, 
gradually transformed the non-Indian character2 of the 

Pe~lonal  Recol-ds, Vol. X I X ,  pp. 27-61, a sketch of Scott's career 
prepared in March 1831 by Thomas Fisher; H.  T. Prinsep, Register 
o f  the Hon'bl:~ East India  company'.^ Bengal Civil Servants, 1790-1842, 
p. 332.  

'Assam in the medieval period had, as a result of its conquest by 
the Ah0111 kings from the Shan area, become non-Indian in its culture. 
Its early afhliation with India in the time of Kumara Bhaskara had 
been practically forgotten.' See K .  M .  Panikkar, A Survey of Indian 
History, p. 148. 

On  the economic and sociological planes also the peculiarities of the 
medieval Assam can be detected. See, A Guha, 'Land rights and social 
classes in medieval Assam,' The Indian Economic and Social History 
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Ahom administration. He also subdued and settled the 
hitherto uncompromisingly independent tribes of the Garo 
and the Khasi hills and the Singphos of the present North- 
Eastern Frontier. Many of his measures were novel; but, 
being considered particularly appropriate to this newly con- 
quered region, they secured both acceptance and consider- 
able influence. 

Yet few of the ideas and measures David Scott propo- 
unded and carried out in this transitional period of Assam's 
history have been studied in any detail by modern writers. 
About those of his earlier career, prior to his work in Assam, 
virtually nothing has been written. This is surprising since 
Scott's importance was early recognised. More than eighty 
years ago Alexander Mackenzie, when writing his History 
of the relations of the Government with the hill tribes of 
the North-East Frontier of Bengal,s declared "the most in- 
teresting and personally instructive part of my task in pre- 
paring the present volume has been the perusal of Scott's 
admirable reports and letters," and he regretted that he lack- 
ed the time to prepare a volume of official selections from 
Scott's writings. He  wrote: "The name and fame of David 
Scott are still green on the North-East Frontier. He  was 
one of those remarkable men who have from time to time 
been the ornament of our Indian services. Had the scene 
of his life's labours been in North-West or Central India, 
where the great problem of Empire was then being worked 
out, instead of amid the obscure jungles of Assam, he would 
occupy a place in history by the side of Malcolm, Elphinstone 
and Met~alfe."~ Unfortunately these lines have remained 
merely a 'quotable quote' and nothing more than that. Forty 
four years-later lament was still heard that "an authorita- 
tive biography of this great administrator has yet remained 

Review, 111, No.  3 ,  Sept. 1966. See also by the same author 'Ahom 
Migration : its Impact on Rice Economy of Medieval Assam,' Artha 
Vijnana, Vol. 2, No. 2, June 1967. 

Published in 1884. 

- 4  A. Mackenzie, op. cit., P. 5 n. 
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a desideratum, nor has any attempt been made to justify the 
tribute paid to his genius and attainments in the inscription 
on his tomb at Cherrapoonji."' 

Why then such neglect? Several reasons suggest them- 
selves. Until recently to the general historian of India 
Assam has seemed a backwater, and India's north-east fron- 
tier one lacking in strategic importance. Those who have 
written on Assamese history have often been concerned with 
a longer period and wider issues than those of David Scott's 
career, whose formative stages were in any case passed out- 
side Assam. Finally, David Scott may have deterred would- 
be biographers by failing to leave behind such private and 
family papers as would give colour, detail and an insight 
into the formation of his philosophy. 

None of these reasons today seems sufficient bar to a 
study of David Scott. International events have given Assam 
an unlooked-for topicality and importance. There is a 
new or renewed interest in the ideas of the British oficials 
at work in India, as witness works such as Eric Stokes' 
English Utilitarians and India. And if personal papers are 
lacking, official documents are many, and they describe in 
great detail many of Scott's more important ideas and mea- 

- 

sures. Scott had so much to say that was important and in- 
teresting, and so many controversial issues of the time were 
dealt with by him that the attempt must be made to depict 
his career from official documents and other contemporary 
publications and journals. 

Curiously enough the main handicap in studying Scott's 
life and career has proved to be not the absence of private 
papers but the absence of public controversy. By the time 
he was appointed to the chief office in Assam he had acquir- 
ed so great a reputation and so much won the confidence 

S. K. Bhuyan, 'Stray notes on David Scott,' Assam Review, May 
1928. 

Vndeed, such was the extent of the discretion granted that in 1834, 
three years after Scott's death, the Court of Directors reproved the 
Calcutta Council for "placing unlimited confidence in Mr. Scott's power 
of management and in allowing him to govern the country in his 
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of government that many of his early administrative measures 
-especially revenue and judicial-were accepted almost with- 
out discussion by the government at Calcutta. Enormous 
faith and trust were put in Scott's experience and local 

- 

knowledge and he was given discretionary powers on many 
 occasion^.^ This, we are afraid, has made the study of that 
part of his life mainly narrative. But the growth and de- 
velopment of Scott's measures, especially in Assam, a dis- 
tant tcrritory with an administrative system so very unlike 
that of the rest of India, are themselves perhaps sufficient, 
when considered in detail, to reveal the working of Scott's 
mind and his contribution to the non-regulation type of 
government. 

David Scott was born on the 14th of May 1786 in the 
much respected Scott family of Usan and Dunninald in the 
north-east of Scotland, the second son of Archibald S ~ o t t . ~  
His grandfather Robert Scott, born in 1705, was an advocate 
in Dunninald, a Member of Parliament for the County of 
Angus in 1732-17.34, and was created a freeholder of For- 
farshire in 1743.' Robert not only played an active part in 
public affairs, but also, as Laird of Dunninald, took very 
good care of his patrimony.' David's father, Archibald 
Scott, married twice. His first wife was Elizabeth Renny 
of Usan, by whom he had two daughters. The Rennys of 
Usan were very wealthy people and Elizabeth as the eldest 
lawful daughter of Robert Renny of Ulysseshaven had a char- 
ter under the great seal (given on 12 Feb., 1751) of the lands 

own way without satisfying yourself with respect to the mode in 
which he governed." Letter from Court, no. 14, 1834, quoted in 
R. M. Lahiri, T h e  Annexation of Assam, p. 235. 

Writers Petitions, Vol. 17, no. 32, enclosures attached to Scott's 
petition to become a writer in the Bengal Establishment. 

' A. Jervise, Epitaphs and Insc~iptions fl-onz Bwial  G ~ o u n d s  and Old 
Buildings in  the North Ea,jt of Scoiland, Vol. 11, pp. 393-95; C. H. 
Philips, T h e  Correspondence of David Scott Di~.ector and Chairman 
of the East India Company relating to Indian Aflairs 1787-1805, p. XI 
and n. 

C. H. Philips, op. cit., pp. X-XI and XI n. 
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and barony of Ulysseshaven with the village, tower, fortalice 
and the fishery town of the same. Archibald thus in right 
of his wife Elizabeth-who died in December 1761became 
the heir of Usan.'' 

Archibald's second wife Margaret Chalmers was the 
daughter of Principal Chalmers of King's College, Aberdeen. 
By her Archibald had two sons Robert and David, and two 
daughters-Isabella and Anne." Robert, as a nominee of 
Henry Dundas, went out to India in 1795 as a writer on the 
~ e n ~ a l  Establishment and remained well acquainted with 
all the influential people in the East India affairs through 
his uncle David Scott (1746-1805), whose daughter he 
married at a later date.12 

David Scott thus came from a family of considerable 
local standing, wealth and importance. He attended a good 
school, Musselburg Academy now Musselburg Grammar 
School13 where he studied Latin, French, drawing and geo- 
graphy besides writing, arithmetic and book-keeping. The 
Rector of the Academy, John Taylor certified him to be 
meritorious and his 'genius' and improvement' to be 'very 
marked at all our public exhibitions'." But in his career 
David Scott probably found his family's standing and his 
own education of much less importance than the position 
and influence of his uncle. This uncle, Archibald's younger 
brother, was also named David Scott. After acquiring a 
fortune and an exceptional knowledge of Eastern trade he 
had returned to a distinguished public career in Britain in 
1786.15 His native place experienced the full benefit of his 

A Jervise, op. cit., p. 393. 
Ibid., p. 394. 
C. H. Philips. op. c;?., Letter no. 26, David Scott to William 

Farlie, London, 30 March, 1795, p. 30. See also pp. 53, 134, 159, 160, 
161, 177, 284, 303, 301, 315, 357, 390, 400, 416 for Robert's relation- 
ship with D. Scott (Sr.). 
l3 This information has been gratefully received from Mr. T. Hender- 

son, the Headmaster of the school. 
l4 Writers' Petitions, Vol. 17, enclosures to petition no. 32. 
'' C. H. Philips, The  E a t  Indian Company 1784-1834, p. 72; See 

also C. H. Philips, Correspondence o j  Davrd Scott, p. X-XXII. 
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unwearied services as one of her representatives in succes- 
sive parliaments for the County of Angus and for the dis- 
trict of Burghs. The records of the East India Company 
amply attest the zeal and talent with which for many years 
he helped as a Director and Chairman, to control the affairs 
of that commercial body.16 It was through his uncle's re- 
commendation while Chairman of the Court of Directors of 
the Company, that the younger David also got a job of a 
writer on the Bengal Establishment in August 1801.17 

David Scott was appointed a writer in August 1801 and 
on 27 January, 1802 he was selected for the service in India. 
H e  sailed that same year landing in India on 15 October, 
1802 l8 

On arrival he joined Fort William College. In the 
fourth examination held at the College in January 1804 
Scott attained a second class both in Hindustani and Per- 
sian.19 During his Fort William days Scott also developed 
a close friendship with two persons who in later years, being; 
in the most influential posi%ons, probably had more effect 
upon Scott's career than any knowledge of Persian and Hin- 
dustani. One of these was a fellow scudent George Swinton, 
who rose to the position of the Chief Secretary to the Go- 
vernment of 1ndia. Swinton was an extremely brilliant 
student who attained the highest distinction in the College 
examinations which he took, along with David Scott, in 
1804.20 Their friendship was an abiding one, and Swinton 
was of the greatest use in sponsoring Scott's plans and poli- 
cies and in furthering his career. The other person was 

l6 Ibid., and A. Jervise, op. cit., p. 395. 
l7 Writers' Petitions, Vol. 17, enclosures to the petition no. 32, David 

Scott's (Senior) recommendation of his nephew. 
Is H. T. Prinsep, op. cit., p. 3. 
l9 C. Buchanan, The  College of Fort Willianz i72 Bengal, pp. 194-97. 
20 Swinton got a degree of Honour in Persian, a degree of honour 

in Hindustani, stood fifth in Arabic, took part in the public disputa- 
tion in Persian, secured the second prize for Persian composition and 
also received an honorary reward in classics. C. Buchanan, op. cit., pp. 
21 1-214. 
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Williain Carey who was Scott's teacher in the College?' 
Scott was a devout Christian2' and Carey's missionary zeal 
drew the young man to him. When Scott was appointed to 
Cooch Behar and later took charge of the Garo hills, he 
used his influence to open up the hill country to missionary 
activity." His correspondence with Carey at the Serampore 
mission headquarters became regular and their common aim 
brought them into a still closer relationship of mutual sup- 
port and help. To the work of the Serampore College Scott 
contributed by sending three Garos, who, together with a 
Punjabi, a Maratha, two Khasis, two Arakanese and several 
Bengalis helped to give that institution its all-India scope.24 

Throughout his career Scott was kept busy in the north- 
eastern region of India-his headquarters shifting constantly 
eastwards with the development of new spheres of influence 
of the Company on that frontier. In August, 1804, when 
he quitted Fort William College he was appointed assistant 
to the collector of Gorakhpur. In September, 1807, he was 
appointed registrar of the zilla court of Gorakhpur and assis- 
tant to the magistrate, and then otficiating magistrate. In 
March, 1812, he was made acting judge and magistrate of 
Purnea. In December he was sent to Rangpur as the judge 
and magistrate of that district. In September, 1816, he was 
made the commissioner in Cooch Behar and joint magistrate 
at R3ngpur.*' While in this post Scott became deeply in- 
volved in the affairs of the Garo hill tribes. His suggestions 
for promoting the general civilization of these tribes led the 
Government of India to create a new post for the execution 
of these plans, for which of course they found no other per- 
son better qualified than Scott himself. Hence in 1822 
Scott was made the civil commissioner of the North-East parts 
of Rangpur with a salary of Rs. 40,000 per annum including 

S. P, Carey, Willianr Carey, p. 353. 
" See Chapter VI, 179-180. 
23 S. P. Carey, op. cit., pp. 353, 361, 401, 432-3. 
24 Ibid., p. 353. 
'W. T. Prinsep, op. cit., p. 332. 
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all travelling and other personal charges. In addition to this 
laborious duty he was to continue to hold the ofice of the 
commissioner of Cooch Behar. To these joint posts was 
added on 15 November, 1823, the office of Agent to the 
Governor-General on the North-East Frontier of Bengal, 
with an additional allowance of 1,000 rupees per month. 

- 

The latter appointment was occasioned by the unsatisfactory 
state of the relation between the British government and 
the Burmese. On 3 December, 1828, after the occupation of 
Assam, Scott was selected by the Bengal government for ap- 
pointment as Commissioner of Revenue and Circuit of 
Assam with special powers under Regulation I of the year 
1829.26 He still retained his office as the governor general's 
Agent on the North-East Frontier. This multiple situation 
he held till his death in August, 1831. As agent to the 
governor-general on the North-East Frontier of Bengal and 
civil commissioner at Rangyur he drew 12,000 rupees as 
salary and as commissioner of revenue and circuit of 
Assam, North-East Rangpur, Sherpur and Sylhet from 
March, 1829, he drew Rs. 40,000-a total salary of 52,000 
rupees per a n n ~ m . ~ ?  

Just after Scott's death a Colonel who calls 
Scott his 'cousin and friend' collected 'a variety of interes- 
ting notices' about Scott's public and private life. Some of 

26 In several documents the Commissioner of Assam was address- 
ed as 'Commissioner of Revenue and Circuit, 17th Division, Assam.' 
According to Regulation I of 1829 the 17th Commissioner's Division 
comprised Sherpore and Sylhet and it was placed for a time under the 
Commissioner of Assam and North-East Rangpur. See K. N. Dutt, 
A Handbook to the Old Records of the As-sam Secl.etal.iat, p. 47. 

27 Personal Records, Vol. XIX, pp. 27-61. 
28 Archibald Watson (1779-1855) was the eldest son of Jaines Watson 

and his wife Anne, the sixth daughter of Robert Scott of Dunninald 
and Usan. Archibald Watson married his cousin Anne, daughter of 
Archibald Scott (David Scott's father) of Usan. His career was dis- 
tinguished, for going out as a cadet in 1794, he became a Major-General 
in 1838 and Lieutenant General in 1851. H e  died at Abbethune on 
22 August 1855. See Major V. C. P. Hodson, List of Oficel-s of the 
Bengal Army,  1758-1834, pp. 401-402. 
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this information was incorporated in Adam White's Mem- 
oir of the l ~ t e  Dauid Scott, Esq. which he edited; 
but the rest of the material has since- been mislaid or lost.2u 
It is particularly unfortunate that the information which 
Col. Waston collected about Scott's early life and education- 
prior to his embarkation for India and for the period subse- 
quent to his arrival in India in the year 1802 up to the first 
Burmese war-should have been among the missing material. 
The reason Watson gives for not incorporating this portion 
in Memoir is described by him thus: "on considering that 
after all there could be little or nothing new to Mr. Scott's 
friends and connections in anything I had written; or to 
speak more candidly, a distrust of my own abiliry to do 
justice to the life and character of my departed friend, final- 
ly induced me to withhold this part of  the intended publica- 
t i ~ n . " ~ '  However, from the little notes which he has incor- 
porated here and there in White's Memoir and from Scott's 
own letters-public and private-and also from the writings 
of his subordinates, much can be discerned of Scott's personal- 
ity. White describes him as a stout man, weighing 13 or 
15 stone always with a smile on the lips and a sparkle in his 
small, but lively eyes. He  speaks of Scott, in his private 
life, as "the most unassuming of human beings, and his man- 
ners of the most simple and unpretending."31 He  was rather 
tall, inclined to corpulency and of commanding appearance; 
fond of discussion and was an excellent conversationalist. 
In discussion his weapon never carried any offensive wound 
nor was he disposed-to suppress any one with the superi- 
ority of his intellect.32 

29 Watson said that he transmitted to England most of his collection 
which he had received from different Quarters 'not then entertaining 
the most distant idea of the present undertaking' (the publishing of a 
memoir). Unfortunately we have failed to find any trace of them 
anywhere in England and Scotland. 

30 Major A. White, A Memoir of the Late David Scott, Esq., pp. 
\TIII-IX. 
" Zbid., pp. 66-67. 
32 Ibid., p. 66. See also App. 40, p. 133. 
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Contemporary officials were unanimous in reporting 
Scott's "uniform kindness of manner" and his high sense of 
justice towards the natives." H e  also entertained a high 
opinion of their intellectual capacity, and Col. Watson, when 
he visited Scott at Gorakhpur in 1808 found that it was 
often a subject of complaint with him that Europeans, in 
general, should evince so little regard for the feelings of 
natives of rank or respectability with whom they had occa- 
sion to associate either in business or in the ordinary inter- 
course of life.34 In a communication to one of the corres- 
pondents of T h e  Bengal Hurkara and Chronicle Scott ex- 
Dressed his conviction that "on liberal and extensive em- 
I 

ployment of the natives depended the result, whether the 
judicial system could or could not be rendered effi~ient."~" 
With regard to the lower ranks of the natives also, Scott sel- 
dom exhibited any sense of the moral superiority of Euro- 
peans and he was full of praise for the honesty of the native 
servants in all matters entrusted to their charge. Scott's 
paternal treatment of his native servants was such that they 
were devotedly attached to him. Watson writes on this: 
"I am convinced that, to a man they would at any time, 
have hazarded their lives in his service had occasion called 
for such a proof of their a t t a ~ h m e n t . " ~ ~  In this Scott was 
considered a second Cleveland and the man who brought 
the government into honour and won for the European 
name a high respect among 'the countless inhabitants of the 
mountains, village, and desolate We are told that - 
the leading feature in Scott's character was an "enlarged and 

" J. M. Bhattacharya (ed.), Assalt? Buraji (of Haliram Dhekial 
Phukan), Appendix A, Nos. 7 and 8, Notes from Samnchar Chnndrika, 
March and August 1832; A. White, Memoir, App. Nos. 39 and 40, 
notes from Rcngal Hurkarn and T h e  Cakzdtta John Bull, Sept. 1831; 
See also App. 5, p. 83 Lt. H.Vetch to Col. Watson, Jorhat, 9 Dec. 1831. 

34 White's Memoir, pp. 20 and 25. 
35 Ibid., App. 39, pp. 127-128, a news item from a correspondent of 

T h e  Bengal Hurka1.n and Chronicle, 15 Sept. 1831. 
36 White's Memoir, p. 25 
37 Ibid., App. 39, pp. 129-30. 
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expanded" bencvoleilce which influenced him to exert him- 
self in advancing individual interests of all under his charge, 
both Europeans or natives in as much as his limited means 
would permit."38 "The more intimately one became acqu- 
ainted with Mr. Scott". wrote one of his subordinates, "the 
more it must have been to esteem so excellent and bene- 
volent a man. His ear was always attentive to the voice of 
complaint, by whomsoever preferred, or at whatever hours, 
however unreasonable; and won for him the hearts of the 
injured, and the respect of all." The same gentleman how- 
ever hastened to add: "Exerting himself to the utmost in 
the performance of his duty, he exacted the same from all 
under him, and his example gave stimulus to the most in- 
d~lent ."~ '  

The story of Scott's devotion to duty is most incredible 
not only for the highest degree of conscientiousness which it 
represented but also for the circumstances under which he 
had to work. The period between 1825 and 1831 was the 
busiest period of hi; career. It was during this period that 
he applied himself most vigorously both mentally and phy- 
sically, to propounding and carrying out most of his adminis- 
trative ideas-ideas known not only for their novelity but 
also for their peculiar suitability to the areas and peoples 
concerned. And yet it was also the period when, because of 
his diseased heart and various other physical ailments, he 
was under the constant fear of being carried off suddenly.40 
In 1825 while recommending a particular measure for the 
welfare of the Garos he beseeched the government that his 
suggestion, being the best solution under the existing condi- 
tion, should be immediately accepted so that he could also fulfil 
his desire before his death 4' In 1827 after a full diagnosis of 
Scott's case, Beadon, the medical officer looking after him, 
came to the conclusion that as in any case Scott was dying 

3s Ibid., pp. 55-56. 
39 Ibid., App. 5, pp. 84-5, Lt. Vetch to Col. Watson. Jorhat. 9 

December, 183 1. 

40 Ibid., Apps. 30 and 40, pp. 118 and 133. 
41 See infra, p. 177. 
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it would be justified if he made Scott's remaining days 'much 
more comfortable' by means of a strong tonic which would, 
however, shorten his life otherwise." But the irony was 
that the brave and dashing Beadon died three months be- 
fore the ailing Scott in May 1831 for not following the ad- 
vice give11 by his patient. Readon died due to the severe 
wound that he received from the hostile khasi archers whose 
arrows penetrated into his nose, arm and leg. Beadon was 
determined to take revenge upon the Nongkhlaw Khasis 
for their cruelties and thereby exposed himself dangerously 
without caring for Scott's 'rem~nstration. '~~ In fact until 
May 1831 when he finally became incapacitated for any 
physical exertion, Scott had been vigorously active alike 
mentally and physically. In the letter of April 1827 where 
Beadon stated the incurable condition of Scott's health, he 
made a note also of the latter's remarkable endurance: "His 
appetite is good; he drinks three or four glasses of wine 
daily; has taken a good deal of exercise-having been shoot- 
ing almost every evening; pulse rather less, and not so full; 
the thrill, I thought last night, for the first time, rather less 
than before; and what I think a very good symptom was, 
that having had information of a tiger the day before yester- 
day, we did not return to dinner until past nine o'clock 
whereas every day previous we had dined at four."44 In 
September 1829 when too he was "suffering considerably 
from his complaint, and in low spirits for the loss of three 
of his most intimate friends," he was found by another of 
his subordinates, Lt. Hamilton Vetch of the Assam Light 
Infantry, to be agile to the extent of exposing his person "to 
much unnecessary danger." In Lt. Vetch's words: 

"His [Scott's] disease, at this time, often obliged him to sleep 
in a sitting posture, and frequently prevented his getting any sleep 
at all; his application to business never relaxed, and generally, he 

4 V 7 h i t e ' s  Memoir, App. 7, Beadon to Lamb, Singamaree 28 Apr., 
1827. 
4Vbid., Apps. 26, 27 and 28, Scott to Lamb Nangundee, 21 May, 

Myrung, 26 May and Myrung, 10 June 1831 respectively. 
44 Ibid., App. 7. 
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commenced hearing petitions, and cases read to him, by daylight in 
the morning, and often continued at work till it was dark. Some- 
times we used to ride through the country, to visit different villages, 
and endeavour to bring the people to our interest, or gain infor- 
mation of the outlaws; that means might be taken for their capture- 
for, at this time, the Cassyas had given up all attempts at resistance, 
but had commenced on a more annoying system; that of attacking 
coolies coming with supplies, or cutting off their own countrymen 
who seemed favourably inclined to our government. Although Mr. 
Scott could scarcely walk from the palpitation of his heart, and, 
indeed, seldom attempted it, still this was no obstacle to his under- 
taking long and difficult journeys. Mounted on a small, but strong 
and active mule, dressed in his tartan shooting jacket, with his 
double-barrelled gun in his hand, (for he rarely quitted it), I have 
seen him climb hills, and descend ravines, where it was astonishing 
his mule kept its footing, or he his seat."45 

White informs us that Scott's oficial work commenced 
at sunrise and he remained in the Kutcherry until sunset 
when he strolled in his garden. But even at that time if 
visits were paid to him he was in the habit of listening to 
and entering freely into conversation with the natives around 
him." In an undated private letter, most probably written 
in 1829 we get the following information from Scott him- 
self : 

"Although I am very desirous of proceeding to Calcutta, the 
urgency of my business there is not, however, so great as to induce 
me to go, should you think it likely to prove injurious to my health; 
and I should therefore be glad to know your opinion on this head; 
and, also whether you think it likely that any benefit would be 
derived from a voyage to sea, or residence in a colder climate. 
Although I do not think that too much attention to business has 
been the cause of this illness, as I never found myself fatigued. or 
otherwise affected by it at the time; I may as well mention, that 
before the accession of the present fit, and, also of the one I experi- 
enced in February, last year, I had been much occupied in court, for 
several months, usually going at seven in the morning. and with 
exception to an hour or two at breakfast, sitting till sun-set."47 

45 Ibid., App. 5 ,  pp. 76-79. 
46 Ibid., pp. 57-58. 
47 Ibid., App. 17, Scott to Lamb., n.d. 
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There is no doubt, therefore, that his health deteriorated 
due to his excessive application to the official business. His 
anxiety for the well-being of the numerous population under 
his care is most conscientiously shown in his last words: 
"I wish you, gentlemen," he told his death-bed attendants, 
Lt. Col. Watson, Dr. Rhodes and Lt. Day, "to bear witness to 
Government, that I am no longer able to conduct the affairs 
of the co~ntry." '~ 

Scott is described as being possessed of a vigour and 
grasp of understanding rarely to be met with and one which 
exercised itself more readily in moral and political discussion 
and in scientific pursuits than in imaginative studies.'' The 
appendices to White's Memoir containing some of the letters 
written by and about him give an ample proof of the vast 
range of his mind. A few excerpts from the letters that he 
wrote to his friend Lamb, will prove the point so far as his 
interest in scientific and agricultural pursuits was concerned: 

"Many thanks for the drawings, and the promised oat seed. I 
never saw this lizard-in colour it resembles the biskopra, but the 
latter has a shorter tail, and is considered (I believe without founda- 
tion) poisonous by the natives. We had a tremendous storm of 
hail a few days ago; which if it extended so far, must, I fear, have 
greatly injured your coffee crop. I collected a sufficient quantity of 
the stones to enable me to ascertain the rate at which ice melts; and 
the result leaves no doubt as to the feasibility of supplying Calcutta 
from Churra Poonjee. The contents of a small basket, weighing 
about 14 lbs., and not exceeding eight or nine inches in diameter, took 
about 40 hours to melt, so that a mass of-[ ? ] inches every direc- 
tion would not entirely consumed in less than about a month; and, 
as the voyage might, by proper means, be performed in fifteen days, 
a sufficient portion of every cargo would reach the pre~idency ."~~ 

"Did you hear anything about the cave which was said to be on 
the top of the hill, and have you seen, or have you any intention of 
again visiting, the one at Pandua ? I have been requested by Mr. 
Swinton particularly, to examine it for fossil bones; which, indeed, I 

Ibid., App. 43,  extract from a letter from H. T. Prinsep, Secy. 
to the Governor-General to Mr. Swinton, Simla, 20 September, 1831. 

49 Ibid., p. 52.  
50 Ibid., App. 8. Scott to Lamb, Singamaree, 8 May [1827]. 
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did, as far as we went in 1824; but, if there is anything of the sort, 
I think it is most likely that they will be found at the bottom of the 
deep pit, from which they could not still be removed by the action 
of the water, that may be supposed to have swept the part we 
e~amined."~'  

"I have the pleasure to send, for comparison with your register of 
the state of the wind, the account kept in this quarter. There has 
been an unusual prevalence of westerly wind for this season of the 
year, which is perhaps an advantage, as it will more clearly show 
whether or not there is any corresponding irregularity at Decca. The 
observations in May were made at Singamaree, from the 8th of June 
to 4th of this month, at Gowalpara; and subsequently, above it. 
The man has only put down E. and W.-N. and S; but generally 
speaking, the wind, when from the former directions, blows due E 
or W, as it may be: when from the S. it is generally a little to 
the eastward of it; and when from the north, usually to the west- 
ward. I hope you will observe, hourly, on the 17th of this month; 
which has been appointed for observation of thermometer, baro- 
meter, hygrometer, and all other metres, all over the world. This 
intimidation will, I fear, prove too late; but 1 hope you may have 
seen the notice in Brewster's J o ~ r n a l . " ~ ~  

"My cow-boat was wrecked yesterday; and I tried this morning a 
bottle of milk, prepared with (sugar ?) in thee Lukeerja river, which 
was perfectly fresh, and, I really think, not distinguishable, in coffee 
or tea, from new milk-I observe that this mode of preserving milk 
is noticed by Dr. Paris in his Pharma~ologia."~~ 

"This is a very fine part of the country, quite level enough for 
the use of the plough, and already productive of rice, Indian corn, 
etc. to which I have little doubt, that wheat, barley, and other grain 
may soon be added. It is elevated nearly 1,000 feet, and there seem 
to be none of those mists so prevalent at Churra and Nunkhlow, 
owing to the proximity of the plains. Could you oblige me by send- 
ing, up, in a small boat, to Pundua, three or four maunds of fresh 
wheat, for seed, and the same quantity of barley, oats, boot-gram, 
making up the remainder of the cargo with potatoes, and anything 
that Mr. Mascarenhas or Callogreed may have for me."54 

51 Ibid., App. 11, Scott to Lamb, Nunkhlow, 14 Apr. [ ? 1. 
5VIbid., App. 13, Scott to Lamb, On the Burhampooter, near 

Gowahatty, 11 July [ ? 1. 
53 Ibid., as above. 

5 V b i d . ,  App. 26, Scott to Lamb, Naugundee, 21 May, 1831. 
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At the same time Scott's attainments as a linguist were 
of no mean order. He was well acquainted with Persian, 
Hindustani and Bengali languages, and had attained con- 
siderable knowledge of the local dialects including those of - - 
the Garos."" But i t  was the diversity of his pursuits which 
cllaracterised his mind more than anything else. It is said 
that he was interested in philosophy, chemistry, geology, 
minerology, natural history, and zoology, and from his early 
years he had been much addicted to the study of mechanics 
and practical surveying. Being often alone, at a distance 
from medical aid, he had been compelled to study medicine 
and the contemporary medical officers working in his area 
of jurisdiction were of the opinion that his proficiency there- 
in was very respectable.s6 He was in the habit of subscrib- 
ing to, and reading the different medical periodicals, and to 

55 Ibid., pp. 52-53. One example of Scott's knowledge of Bengali is 
his translation of Kishan Kant Bose's Account o f  Bootan printed in 
the vo!ume on Political Missions to Bootan by Ashley Eden and others. 

5"hite's Memoir, pp. 52-53; Scot: took enormous care of 
his health, noting and studying every odd symptom carefully 
with the help of books and journals on medical sciences that 
he subscribed to. H e  wrote to Lamb once: "After an atten- 
tive perusal of Laennec's book, both Mr. B. [Beadon] and 
myself agreed, as to the probability of the disease being what 
he terms, a hypertrophy of the heart, in all probability, conjoined, as 
seems often to be the case, with nervous affection of the same organ." 
When at one stage his case was referred to Sir Henry Halford the 
latter observed that Mr. Scott "appears to have observed closely the 
symptoms of his disorder, and has described his sensations in a 
striking and accurate manner." In one of Beadon's letters to Lamb 
we have another interesting account of Scott's medical expertise. 
Beadon writes on 28 April, 1827 thus : "Your letter I received yes- 
terday, and feel particularly obliged for Mr. Scott's case, previous to 
my joining him; but I hope the world will not benefit by it for a 
long time yet. . . About three days after you left us, Mr. Scott 
observed, that he thought the sensation conveyed to his fingers was 
what Laennec describes as the cat-mutter. I told him I thought not 
exactly that, although evidently not altogether a natural action of 
the heart; and I luckily added, that the sensation from the instrument 
was just what he would suppose from feeling it with his hand.. . . 
At the former part of my letter, I made use of the word luckily, and 
I will now tell you why. Last night I went, as I usually do every 
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the Medical and Physical Society of Calcutta he sent a paper 
on C/~rjtruan, a febvilugr bark used amongst the NativcsP7 
Adam White writes about the range of Scott's mind: "On 
seeing Mr. Scott for the first time, it struck me with astonish- 
ment how he had been able to acquire this diversity of 
knowledge, knowing that throughout his career in India, 
he had been busily employed: but I ascertained afterwards,. 
that he was in the habit of reading late at night, after his 
friends had left him for the evening."" 

Col. Watson tells us a little more about Scott's insati- 
able love for books. When he visited Scott in 1808 at 
Gorakhpur, he found that one of the latter's main leisure 
occupations was general reading. He found Scott particu- 
larly interested in chemistry and practical mechanics etc., 
the last chiefly in connection with his agricultural pursuits 
and gardening, on both of which he was extremely keen. 
"Scott's library then, though not extensive, was well chosen 
and arranged, so that the general reader was sure to find 
abundant amusement, and the more studious something. 
adapted to his particular train of thought, in whatever branch 
of research his views might lead him. The translation of' 
the Greek and Roman classics; some of the best historians 
and most celebrated writers on the subject of natural and 
moral philosophy and political economy; books of reference; 
dictionaries of most language; ancient and modern maps etc. 
occupied select corners of his collection." Watson also 
makes it clear that the library was not entirely serious and 
practical in its contents. Fiction, chivalry, romance were all, 
included and acquaintance might be renewed with Defoe, 
Richardson, Anna Radcliffe, or even with Amadis de Gaul 
and the renowned son of Mandi. At a later date Scott's 
"own casket selection" included Russels, Burton's Anatomy 

second, or third night, to use the stethoscope, and, to my surprise 
Mr. Scott called for something, which, when produced. turned out 
to be a tin stethoscope, so made, that he could use it himself." See 
M'hite's Alemoir., Apps. 7. 10, 20. 
" A~iaiic [orrrnal, 1827, Vol. 23, p. 507. 
" White's Xlentoir., p. 54. 

F. 2 
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of Melalrcholy, Shakespeare, Thomas a Kempis, Paradise 
Lost, the select works of Bishop Hall and others.50 

Scott was often moved by the beauty in nature and he 
always wanted to share his enjoyment of a sceneric beauty 
with his friends either by recommending the places to them 
o r  bv just describing his experience. Once in the month 
.of May he was describing to a friend a place in the Khasi 
hills, some twenty-two miles away from Nangkhlaw : 
C 6 some evenings ago, after a shower of rain, the scenery to- 
wards Assam was beautiful beyond anything we ever saw, 
o r  what, judging from its cold weather appearance, I could 
have expected. We saw the course of the Burhampooter for 
90 miles downwards, and about 40 upwards; the view being 
there closed by the hills. The gradation of tints, from the 
rich velvet-green of the hills, in our immediate neigh- 
bourhood, to the different shades of those various distances 
to 100 miles, was most superb."" To  the same friend he 
also described his natural gratification at seeing a Khasi 
-dance: "The costume was most elegant; and the dresses, 
considering the situation of the parties, really splendid. I 
never saw anything, in the way of dress, off the stage, to be 
compared to it."61 Bold and adventurous as he was Scott 
love2 mountain climbing. Archery was his favourite game 
and while in the Khasi hills he acquired considerable skill 

A 

in it. In his early career at Gorakhpur Scott was also parti- 
cularly fond of hunting and shooting and even in Assam 
amidst official preoccupations he was always ready, at the 
call of his youthful friends to join in a tiger, rhino or boar 
huntsG2 

The same dash and boldness, the same vigour and enter- 
prise which he displayed in such sports he displayed - in no 

' less measure, as will be seen, in his administration or in the 
skirmishes in which he was involved whether with the rebel 
Khasis or the Burmese in Assam. 

""bid., pp. 54-56 n. 
" Zbid., App. 12, Scott to Lamb, 23 May, [1829]. 

Zbid. 
'62 Zbid., pp. 53 and 60, see also App. 8. 
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It was a fact that 'the further tllr European went into 
mufassal the less he was subject to official control."'" Rut it 
did not necessarily mean, as Professor Furber has riglltly 
pointed out, that the East India Company had become a 
mere device for the achievement of private ambitions. The 
civil servants were not entirely devoid of ideals and a stand- 
ard or sense of duty to the alien people among whom their 
lot was cast?' The first half of the nineteenth century in 
India, although it saw a rapid British territorial expansion, 
was also the period when the duties of the British officers, 
agents of the paramount power, were greatly extended. This 
dual growth raised the urgent question of British purpose 
in India. The period being also famous for the activities of 
many brilliant young British officers with firm belief and 
ideas of administration, various answers to the above ques- 
tion were not wanting. Since in the last decade or so, many 
systematic studies have come out on the attitudes and policies 
of these administrators-taking them either individually or 
in groups, representing different schools of thought-, it has 
been possible now to classify the answers to the question 
of the British - purpose in India under a few broad headings 
such as, conservative, paternalist, imperialist, liberal, evange- 
lical and utilitarian. It is not however, suggested that any 
of these attitudes appeared in rigid and clear-cut form hav- 
ing precise demarcations from the allied or opposite atti- 
tudes. It was not possible. The younger followers of the 
departed masters had to modify occasionally their time- 
honor~red policies to suit the changing or newly-encounter- 
ed political, social and economic conditions of the areas 
under their jurisdictions. The Munro School paternalists, 
for example, although they did not believe in any doctri- 
naire polkies? exhibit an authoritarian strain even in their 
measures seen around 1829. 

- 
This was because of the chang- 

ing situation and pragmatic reasons. 
David Scott favoured British territorial expansion and 

an important role by his advocacy of a forward ~ol icy  

63 H. Furber, John Company At TVort, p. 329. 
64 Ibid., p. 342. 
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in Assam during the first Burmese war (1824-26). His 
imperial vision also extended to the creation of European 
contonments and even military colonies in the healthy Khasi 
hills, the basis for a possible fourth prcsiclency centered upon 
Assam. He encouraged Christian missionary effort, and was 
a pioneer in advocating its applicatioil to the tribal areas of 
the frontier. Through all his ideas and measures, on the 
whole, he eincrged as a Paternalist of the Munro School, 
although in some cases an 'authoritarian strain of 
Liberalism'-to use the expression of Professor Stokes 
-was not altogether lacking in him. In Scott, as 
Mackenzie pointed out,"' we undoubtedly see the most 
of the characteristics of the Paternalist School of 
Munro, Malcolm, Elphinstone an( l  Metcalfe-although he 
never served under any of them and, so far as our 
research could trace, had no private correspondence with 
them either.G6 The paternalists' liking for personal paternal 
government; their brand of conservatism (not just a desire 
to return to the pre-Cornwallis era, but an opposition to the 
wanton uprooting of the time-honoured system of society on 
speculative principles) ; austerity of their lives and their 
commanding sense of public duty; their liking for the 
ryotwari system of land settlement ; their imperial vision ; 
their constant awareness of the historical significance of their 
work; their romantic bent of mind; their dislike of uni- 
formity in the name of reform; their appeal to history and 
experience; their disbelief in the possibility of sudden im- 
nrovement"-all these we see in Scott's attitudes and his  
I 

administrative measures. It was the spirit of 'regulation' 
that the Paternalists fought tooth and nail, in all their 
lives,6' and it is important to note that Scott was the original 
author of the Regulation X of 1822 which was the basis of 

" See supra, p. 2. 
" Except that when in 1827 Sir Charles Metcalfe became a member 

of the Supreme Council some of Scott's measures came under his 
ccrutiny. 

" E. Stokes, op. cit., pp. 14-25. 
" Ibid., p. 19. 
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the non-regulation type of government in the newly annex- 
ed territories on the eastern frontier of Bengal. 

The study of Scott's ideas and actions are specially 
important because here we see how he understood the people 
whom he himself conquered, for there are many who hold 
the opinion that the servants of the East India Company in 
its early years uilderstood the people whom they had con- 
quered, better than did their grandsons?g In the final 
chapter we have made some retrospective observations. 

89 See Furber, op. cit., p. 329. 



FRONTIER TROUBLES AND SCOTT'S 
ASCENDANCY 

1. Nepal, Sikkim, Tibet, Bhntan and Cooch Behav 

THE LAST couple of decades of the eighteenth century 
and the early years of the nineteenth saw an increased British 
interest and involvement in the politics of the Himalayan 
states.' The establishment of English ru!e in Bengal coin- 
cided with the explosive expansion of the Gurkhas who in 
the 1760s engulfed the many small states in that part of the 
Himalayas where Nepal exists today, including the Newar 
states of Katmandu, Bhatgaon and Patan. Through the 
erstwhile Newar states ran the traditional trade routes 
between the gangetic plain and Tibet. The Gurkha con- 
quest resulted in a complete stoppage of this much advant- 
ageous trade2 between Bengal and Tibet. Besides this direct 
loss in trade, which required immediate attention to revive 
the same or'an alternative trade route to Tibet, the British 
being the major power in the Indian side of the frontier 
were drawn into the politics of the Himalayan states as 
mediator on behalf of those who suffered from the Gurkha 
aggression. 

Almost all the Himalayan states including those con- 
quered by the Gurkhas had direct link with Tibet either 
racially or religiously. British policy was, therefore, to pro- 
ceed cautiously with the problems arising out of the Gurkha 
aggression so that their ulterior motive to acquire an access 
to the fabulous markets of the Chinese empire, lying even 

For a detailed account of this interest and involvement see A. Lamb, 
Britain and Chinese Central Asia, Chs. I ,  11, 111. 

It was because Tibet bought more from India than it sold and the 
balance was made up in gold and sil~er.  See A. Lamb, op. cit., p. 5. 
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beyond the local trade of Tibet, remained in fact. Such an 
access, they thought, would redress the Company's adverse 
balance of the China trade. Warren Hastings was, there- 
fore, trying to open some diplomatic relations with the hill 
states of the northern frontier of Rengal. The political 
developments in the Himalayan region in the early decades 
of the nineteenth century made this need for diplomatic 
relations more urgent. So here was an opportunity for any 
ambitious local oficial of the Company, serving on the Bengal 
frontier, to come to the limelight by showing the required 
enthusiasm, intelligence, diplomatic skill and researching zeal. 
In this context then, the place and time of Scott's first 
appointment in India were, alike significant for his later rise 
to position and fame. The place was Gorakhpur and the 
time 1801 to 1811; years when the Nepalese by their ceaseless 
incursions into the borderlands of the district's northern 
parganas were sowing the seeds of the first Nepalese war of 
18 14. 

Gorakhpur, in the modern Uttar Pradesh had been 
acquired by the East India Company in 1801. Its first 
district officer J .  Routledge was appalled by the state of the 
country on his arrival. He  had no reliable subordinates, no 
police and no adequate means of assessing or collecting the 
revenue; and he was constantly harassed by the presence of 
the discharged officials and troops who were still busily 
engaged in plundering the unfortunate inhabitants? TO 
crown all these internal disorders there was an external 
danger too: the Nepalese had been taking advantage of the 
prevailing anarchy in Gorakhpur long before its cession and 
they continued their incursions thereafter.' The Nepalese 

3 Aug. 1804-Asst. to the Collector of Gorakhpur. 
Sept. 1807-Registrar of the Zilla Court of Gorakhpur. 
Oct. 181 1-06ciating Magistrate of Gorakhpur. 
See Personal Records, Vol. XIX, p. 27; Prinsep, op. cit., p. 332; C.E. 

Buckland, Dictionary of lndian Biography, p. 378. 
H .R.  Nevill, Gorakhpur, p. 185. 
lbid., p. 186. 
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first made incursions into the low-lying area at the foot of 
the Indian side of the mountain range, known as the Terai 
..or, in Bhutan and Assam, as duars. Here the mountain 
streams meet the plains and spread into rivers with shifting 
beds. The land is often coverecl by  valuable llardwood 
forests anti is the natural boundary between the hill states 
and the plains. In 1768 the Cornpany had shown iilterist 
in h~lorung, the Terai area. of east Nepal and Sikkim, as a 
source of ship timber and from this date they watched with 
concern tile gradual encroachment of the Gurkhas into this 
valuable raw material."fter their conquest of Nepal the 
Gurkhas even annexed the pargallas of Tilpur and Binayak- 
pur. These they claimed with the simple logic that they 
formed the Terai of the hill states of Palpah and others 
which they had conquered.? In 1805 they ciaimed to hold 
Butwal by right of conquest and sent officials to collect the 
revenue. Thereupon the Butwal raj family, in return for a 
pension, made over their right to the Company.' The 
Nepalese were so interested in Butwal that soon after their 
usurpatioil of it they actually made an offer to hold Butwal 
in  farm from the British government-an offer which the 
British government d e ~ l i n e d . ~  But by 1806 the Nepalese 
had annexed two-thirds of this disputed territory and they 
subsequently completed its annexation. This emboldened 
them. for in 1810-11 they cross the inner Butwal boundary 
and seized some villages in Bansi.lo When the collector of 
~Gorakhpur, J .  H. Grant, informed the Government of this, 
Scott, then officiating magistrate, was asked to report on the 
matter and to take military action if necessary. Scott did 
think it necessary to move a sepov detachment forward, 
which reported the assembly of ~ e i a l e s e  troops on the Bansi 

A. Lamb, op. cit., pp. 36-37. 
Major-General Sir J. Malcolm, The  Political History of India 

.from 1784 to 1823, Vol. 11, App. VII, p. ccliv. 

H . R . Nevill, op. cit., p. 186. 
O Malcolm, op. cit., App. VII, p. ccliv. 

Nevill, op. cit., p. 186. 
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border.'' By 1813, when Lord Moira, later Marques of 
Hastings, became governor-general, it proved impossible to 
improve relations with the Gurkhas 211(1 war became inevit- 
able.'" 

Gorakhpur was Scott's training ground in inter~lal and 
frontier administration. Rut  Scott did not stay there long. 
In 1812 11e was appointed acting juclgs and magistr2te in 
Purnea and in 1813, with the sxne designation he was posted 
to Rungpur. However, Scott continued to be involved in 
one way or another, in Nepal affairs.'" At Purnea he had 
to tackle the problem of gang-robbery which prevailed on the 
Morung border of that district, robbery perpetuated by the 
predatory Nepalese. Scott suggested several police measures, 
such as the creation of a chain of chokies or police posts 
placed as near as possible to the Morung boundaries and by 
means calculated to ensure their co-operation on every alarm 
of plundering incursions." But his contribution on Nepal 
affairs was made while he was at Rangpur. H e  was asked 
by John Adam, Secretary in the secret, political and foreign 
department, to supply information about the Nepalese and 
their territory, especially the country around Palpah.ls From 
the military point of view, Lord Moira was particularly 
anxious to know whether there was any route practicable for 
troops, with or without artillery, from British territory to 
Palpah. The mass of information Scott supplied1' establish- 
ed his zeal for enquiry and research. He  gave information 
about the borderland and even about territory inside Nepal, 
based partly on his own observation and partly on knowledge 
gathered through his contact with several Nepali messengers. 
In acknowledging Scott's letter the Governor-General com- 

l1 B.P.C., 17 January, 1812, nos. 46-47. Letter of J. H. Grant, dated 
Oct. 1811; Scott to Dodeswell, 30 Dec., 1811. 

l V o r  the causes of the Nepalese War See hialcolm, op. cit., App. 
VII, pp. cclx-cclxii. 
l3 Personal Records, Vol. XIX, p. 27-61. 
l4 Ibid., p. 27; J .  L. B., 1 March, 1814, paras 8-12. 
' W o l n e  Misc., Vol. 644, pp. 103-5, Adam to Scott, 30 July, 1814. 
lG Ibid., pp. 245-73. Scott to Adam, 12 Aug., 1814. 
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plimented Scott by saying that he considered "the application 
of time which you were enabled to spare from the perform- 
ance of your ordinary official duties to the acquisition of knowl- 
edge which has thus become beneficial to the public service 
to be highly creditable to your zeal, industry and spirit of 
useful enquiry and research."17 

Lord ~ o i r a  was very impressed with Scott's 'talents, 
address and zeal' and he desired Scott's continued h e l ~  in the 

I 

operation of the Gurkha war. It was thought essential for 
its prosecution that the other Himalayan states like Bhutan, 
Sikkim and Tibet should be neutralised or incited against 
Nepal. The latter object was not found difficult to achieve 
as all three states had a common grievance against Nepal. 
Scott was, therefore, entrusted with the job of collecting - 
fresh information about the political conditions of these states, 
supplementing what was &ready known about them from 
Dr. Buchanan who had accompanied Captain Knox to Kat- 
mandu in 1801, and of opening official negotiations with 
them.18 

The old ruling family of Sikkim had obvious grievances. 
For some years the country had been conquered by the Gur- 
khas and its ruling family made fugitives in the hills. In 
that conflict the Tibetans had assisted the Sikkim rulers who 
were linked by marriage with the lamas of Lhasa and 
Bhutan.'' Hastings therefore hoped thnt the promise to re- 
store the old princely family in Sikkim would be well 
received in all three countries and secure their support. Scott 
was authorised to assure the raja of Sikkim and through him 
any other chiefs who might rise in support of the British 
government, that a stipulation for their future indek~endence 
would be introduced into any treaty of peace which 
the British government might conclude with the 

l7 Ibid., pp. 277-8. Adam to Scott, 9 Sept., 1814. 
IS Home Misc., Vol. 646, pp. 735-44, Adam to Scott, 26 Nov., 1814; 

A. Lamb, op. cit., p. 39. 
Home Misc., Vol. 646, Papers relating to Nepal, p. 268 : Memo on 

Sikkim by Dr. Buchanan, and Adam to Scott, 2 Nov., 1814. See also 
A. Lamb, op. cit., p. 42. 



Nepalese. Scott was further asked to open a channel of 
communication through Sikkim with Tibet and the Deb 
Raja of Bhutan in order to clarify the British position and to 
explain the origin and object of British proceedings against 
Nepal." This was very necessary since, from 1792 Nepal had 
been a Chinese territory and it was unknown how a British 
attack upon Nepal would be received by the Chinese autho- 
ritiesU2' 

A second reason for wishing to open such contacts was 
that rumours were afloat that the Gurkhas had been trying 
to excite the Bhutanese to join in an attack upon Sikkim and 
to rise against the British." Any junction between them 
would close the best route for communication with Lhasa. 
There were, indeed, precise reports that the Bhutanese had 
assembled their troops at ~alimcotta.'"cott was therefore 
given the immediate task of finding out the truth of such 
rumours, a task which served to keep him in the public eye. 

Two other men were involved in Sikkim-Bhutanese 
affairs at this time, and Scott was to come into conflict with 
the views of both of them. They were Captain B. Latter, 
commanding the Company's no;thern frontier east of the 
Kosi, who in the spring of 1815 entered Morung to lend 
support to the Sikkim authorities, and N. MacLeod. the 
commissioner of Cooch Beliar." Like many of the Com- 
pany's officials of the time these two appreciated Lord Hast- 
i n g ~  declaration of war against Nepal with uncontrolled 

20 Home Misc., Vol. 646, pp. 735-44, Adam to Scott, 24 Nov., 1814. 
21 A. Lamb, op.  cit., pp. 37 and 40-41. 

" Home Misc., Vol. 648, p. 453, Capt. Latter to MacLeod, Com- 
missioner of Cooch Behar, 19 Nov. 1814. 

'3 Dalimcotta Duar -one  of the eleven passes extending along the 
Northern Frontier of Bengal, between the Tista river on the west and 
Manas river on the east. Better known as Darling Fort in English. 
See S. N. Sen, Records in 01.ientnl Lattguages : V o l .  I Bengali Letters, 
p. 82 of the English Section. For relation with Tibet and Bhutan see 
A. Lamb, op .  cit., Ch. 11. 

24 See Home Misc., Vol. 648, p. 453, Capt. Latter to MacLeod, 19 
Nov., 1814. 
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er~thusiasm.'" Captain Latter had a forceful, aggressive 
temperament and he deplored nny appenscment towards the 
independent northern states. So, even though he personally 
found no evidence of the rumoured Bhutanese troop con- 
centration at Dalimcotta, he wrote, "I inust state my declared 
opinion that no time ought to be lost in prcpnring to repel 

- 

aggression on the part of the Deb F.:ija, 2nd nily dilatory or 
indecisive measures inight be nttencleci with very serious 
consequences and, I am so convinced of the necessity of acting 
in the most firm aild clecided manner that had I possessed 
correct information with regard to the assembling of any 
body of armed men I would on my own responsibility have 
occupied the post of Kyrantee."" 

Captain Latter's bellicose views alone could not do much 
harm so long as he himself was controlled by the judicial 
authority. But MacLeod, who invested Latter with discre- 
tionary powers to act to his best judgment on that frontier 
line," was also undoubtedly hasty in his judgement and policy. 
He had gone beyond his power by investing Latter with such 
power in an area where Scott as magistrate of Rangpur, 
possessed the controlling authority in time of peace.28 One 
instance of MacLeod's hasty decision was this: unhappily, he, 
while commissioner in Cooch Behar, had lost all confidence 
in the raja of Cooch Behar. He  was therefore only too ready 
to fall in with Captain Latter's views and even to suspect the 

25 Lt. Adam White, who was to serve under Scott later in Assain 
and also to soften his temperament a great deal, criticised Lord 
Minto's adherence to "Whig policy" to avoid war which led to a 
dangerous extension of the Nepalese dominion. "In the East," he 
wrote "force alone is the grand regulating principle. Their poets and 
philosophers all acknowledge it lawful to use it for the purpose of 
aggrandisement; and the successful application of it is the standard 
by which they judge of the fame and glory of their rulers." See Lt. 
A. White, Considerntions on the State of British India, pp. 127-8. 

'6 Home Misc., Vol. 618, p. 453, Latter to MacLeod, 19 Nov., 1814. 
2i Ibid., pp. 445, Scott to Monckton (Acting Secy. to Govt.), 28 

Nov., 1814. 
" Ibid. 



raja of Cooch Behar of an anti-British conspiracy with the 
Bhutanese. Indeed he ultimately was led to charge the raja 
with conspiracy with the Nepalese against the Company, 
through Bhutanese officials at Roksa Duar. From a zinkao, 
or minor Bhutanese 05icial;''' MacLeod heard the storv that 
the Cooch Behar raja had surrendered his rights over Mara- 

-* 

ghat to the Bhutanese to win their support against the 
British."' 

Scott, who in January 1815 had found the Bhutanese 
willing to accept his agent Krishna Kant Bose at their capi- 
tal, and to permit his going forward to Lhasa31 was not 
impressed by MacLeod's slender evidence or in agreement 
with his impetuosity. His study of the situation enabled 
him to give a much more considered opinion on the Bhu- - 
tanese problem. Scott said: "although there is reason to 
believe that the system of forbearance under continued 
aggression which has been pursued by the British government 
in its intercourse with the northern states, has from their total 
incapacity justly to appreciate its motives had the effect of 
removing in some degree that dread of its power which they 
formerly entertained yet the pusillanimous character of the 
Bhutanese and their total want of discipline. arms, and mili- 
tary means of every kind render it in my humble opinion 
highly improbable that the Deb Raja should seriously think 
of engaging in a war in which he can gain nothing and may 
lose, without an effort on the part of his enemy the whole 
of his territories below the l~ills."3Moreover he was able to 
show the impracticability of a correspondence between the 
raja and sztbahs of Chamarchi and Baksa Duar, in which 

2VZinkafls  were the lowest grade officials of the Bhutan government 
and almost all high officials originally started their career as rinkafls 
or poes (sepoys or peons)-see Babu Kishen Knnt Bose, 'Account o f  
Bootnn,' translated into English by D. Scott and incorporated in 
Political M i s ~ i o n s  to  Bootan, p. 201. 

30 S. N. Sen. op.  cit., Letter no. 136, pp. 39, 161. 
31 See A. Lamb, op.  cit. ,  p. 43. 
3' Honle hlisc., Vol. 648, p. 445, Scott to hlonckton. 28 Nov., 1811. 
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MacLeod had believed.33 With his judgement the vice-presi- 
dent of the Council at Calcutta had independently come to 
agree. In a letter to MacLeod, who ultimately lost his Cooch 
Behar commissionership, he argued that the Bhutanese had 
no hostile intentions. He  ascribed the military preparation 
of the Bhutanese on their Morung frontier entirely to the 
impression of fear and jealousy produced on their minds by 
the movements of the British troops to points contiguous to 
that frontier. That move was clearly defensive, for no 
corresponding preparations were being made by the Bhuta- 
nese on the Rangpur frontier, through whose passes any 
offensive could best be launched. It was not to be expected 
that the Deb Raja, without any British provocation and 
merely to support the Nepalese would involve himself in a 
war which would be disastrous to him.34 When Scott, 
through certain Bhutanese merchants subsequently gathered 
information that no military preparations had been 
the Calcutta authorities, confirmed in their own conclusions, 
came to place still greater reliance upon Scott's judgement. 
So while -the vice-president-in-council- wrote that he "would 
have felt regret if the zeal and solicitude of Captain Latter 
for the honour and interest of Government had-led him to 
adopt that measure,"36 Scott acquired an enhanced reputation 
for level-headed expertise. He was therefore used as the 
instrument for assuring the Deb Raja that "the sole object 
of the British arrangement was to chastise the Nepalese and 
that its operations had no conilection whntever with Bhutan" 
and for seeking permission to send an agent through Bhutan 

33 S. N. Sen, op. cit., pp. 43-44. Subah: were officers in command 
of the passes (duars) from the low country to the mountain. Thev 
were removable at pleasure and they represented the Deb Raja in his 
judicial, military, financial, municipal and mercantile capacities. See 
S. K. Bhuyan (ed.), An A C C O M I Z ~  of Assam (by Buchanon-Hamilton) 
Secd. Impression, p. 68. 
3 W o m e  Misc., Vol. 648, p. 473, Monckton to MacLeod, 25 Nov., 

1814. 
35 Ibid., p. 461, Scott to Monckton, 30 Nov., 1814. 
3 V b i d . ,  p. 465, Monckton to Scott, 6 Dec., 1814. 



t o  Lhasa." Also in January he despatched the zamindar of 
Baikunthpur to the Sikkim Court as confitlcntial agent.:" 

In  September 18 16, Scott's. usef ulncss was recognised by 
his appointment as colllmissioner of Cooch Behar in super- 
session of MacLeod. The government reported to the Court 
af Directors that "the negotiations in which Mr. Scott had 
been recently employed with some of those states and the 
knowledge which he had in consequence acquired of our 
political relations with them, peculiarly qualified him for the 
successful discharge of these duties."" In his new post he 
was expected to be "the channel for conducting on the part 
of the British government all business of a political nature 
with Bhutan, Assam, and other independent states and 
Chieftains in the northern and north-eastern frontier of Rung- 
pore."40 So, besides settling the feuds in Cooch Behar between 
the families of the raja, the Dewan Deo and Nazir D~o,"  
Scott found himself called upon to interfere in the boundary 
-dispute between the Deb Raja of Bhutan and the raja of 

" The jealousy of the Bhutan government induced it to refu5e 
stranqers' adlnission into the interior of the country and hence to 
convey the sentiment of the British government Scott was left with 
two alternatives: either to make a formal application which would take 
time or to send a person in disguise. Scott considered this latter mode 
of procedure "neither likely to prove agreeable to any person duly 
qualified for the duty in question" nor "compatible with the dignity 
and the views of the British government." Since the replv to his 
letter would cause considerable delay, Scott meanwhile thought it 
proper to send a concise statement of British policy towards Nepal 
through the zamindnr of Bijni who was connected with Deb Raja. 
Home Misc., Vol. 650, pp. 77-86, Scott to Adam, 20 Jan., 1815. 
3s Ibid., 

3".L.B., 24 Oct., 1817; Personal Record, Vol. XIX, pp. 27-61; B.P.C., 
26 Oct., 1816; no. 71. 

40 Ibid. 

41 For these feuds and their settlement see S. N. Sen, op. cit., pp. 1-31, 
and pp. IV-X of the English section; A. A. Khan Chaudhury, A 
History of  Cooch Behar, Part I,  pp. 193-230; Messieurs Mercer and 
Chnuvets, Report on Cooch Behar, 1788, in The  Cooch Behar Select 
Records, 11. 
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Cooch Behar. This was another case wherein his thorough- 
ness, sincerity and impartiality could be tested. 

The dispute between Cooch Behar and Bhutan was over 
Maraghat or to speak more precisely the lands which consti- 
tuted the principal part of the local division called Gird 
M ~ a g h a t . ~ '  Scott described it, according to Renncll's map,'3 
as "bounded on the south by the territory of Cooch Behar, 
and on the north by an ancient road called the Bhangamallee, 
on the west by the Joldhoka river and on the east by the 
Manshi or rather by a branch of that river running somewhat 
westward of its course as laid down in the map." With the 
exception of twenty-six insignificant hamlets, the tract in 
question, previously to the year 1809, had long been in the 
quiet possession of the Bhutan government. Disturbances on 
the frontier of Maraghat and the Lakhi Duar" about the end 
of the year 1808 led to Company troops being despatched for 
the protection of the raja of Cooch Behar's territory. An 
enquiry was started soon after by James Morgan, the then 
Collector of Rangpur and ex-officio Resident of Cooch Behar. 
This enquiry was completed by John Digby, Morgan's suc- 
cessor in the collectorship of Rangpur. Their verdict was 
that the lands formed a hart of the Cooch Behar territory. 

A 

The raja consequently took possession of them in the year 
181 1-12.44 

Scott fouild sufficient grounds to believe that the enquiry 
of Morgan and Digby had not been sufficiently full and detnil- 
ed, and that they had failed to note the earlier decision of the 

42 B.P .C. ,  14 June 1817, no. 30, Scott to Adam, 24 May 1817. 
4 T h i s  map was published in England in  1779 and the materials for 

it must, consequently, have been collected several years before the date 
of the alleged usurpation of the Bhutanese and probably consisted of 
the survey of the frontier executed after the peace with Bhutan. 

B.P.C., 10 Oct. 1817, no. 43, Scott to Lushington, 18 ,4ug. 1817. 
* Lakhi Duar is one of the eleven passes extending along the Kor- 

thern Frontier cf Bengal and is situated between the Tista river on the 
west and Manas on the east. See S .  N.  Sen, op. cit., p. 88 of the 
English section. 

44 B.P.C., 14 June, 1817, no. 30, Scott to Adam, 24 May, 1817. 



Dinajpur Council, who, after consulting Charles Purlings'" 
own handwritten document, had declared in 1777 that Mara- 
ghat along with some other  spot^,'^ was the possession of Bhu- 
tan. Scott therefore reported "although it appeared to me . . . 
that a mere reference to the decree of the Dinajpore Council 
and to the Raja of Cooch Behar's own statement of his claims 
was quite suscient to show that they were totally destitute of 
foundation yet in order to satisfy the parties and prevent any 
representations of their witnesses not having been examined, I 
proceeded to Maraghat in the beginning of January and dur- 
ing fifteen days examined all such persons as the agents of 
the Bhutan government and of the Raja of Cooch Behar 
thought fit to bring forward for the purpose of proving the 
time and mode of obtaining possession of Maraghat."47 Scott 
stated that when war broke out between Bhutan and Cooch 
Behar in 1772 and the Company moved in support of the latter, 
the area in question had been occupied by British troops who 
defeated the Bhutanese near the Bhangamali road. Under 
the peace treaty negotiated by Bogle with Deb Raja in 
1775, which Warren Hastings deliberately made a lenient 
one, the area was restored to the Bhutanese though without 
any formal settlement of boundaries." Some years later in 
1780 or 1781 Narendra Narayan Kunwar, as representative 
of the Cooch Behar royal family, came and possessed himself 
of the land of Maraghat, or "as one of the witnesses stated, 
merely plundered the ryots and created a fort from which 
he was very soon obliged to retire." In the course of a few 
months his first appearance he was killed at Bhuthat by 
the Bhutanese and from that time to the year 1809, the Deb 

45 Charles Purlings was the Asstt. at  Dinajpur or Rangpur in 1771. 
and he negotiated the treaty with the Raja of Cooch Behar in 1772. He 
became the collector of Rangpur for 1777-1790. For details of his 
career see Bengal Past and PI-esent, Vol. X I V .  

'' They were : Chachakhata, Paglahat, Lakhi Duar and Kiranti, See 
S. N. Sen, op.  cit., p. 46. 

47 B.P.C., 14 June 1817, no. 30, Scott to Adam, 24 May 1817. 
4s For these early relations with Bhutan, see A. Lamb, op. cit., pp- 

8-14. 
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Raja always held undisputed possession of the lands, except- 
ing the twenty-six chaZZas or hamlets belonging to the Cooch 
Behar raja.'"cott concluded that, taking account of the 
,decree of the Dinajpur Council, the 1775 treaty of peace 
with Bhutan, and of the acknowledged Bhutanese posses- 
sion of the lands from within a very few years after the exe- 
cution of those documents to the year 1809 the claim of the 
Cooch Behar raja could only be properly allowed in Mauja 
Maraghat" (comprising the twenty-six hamlets and farms) 
and not in Gird Maraghat which was the absolute property 
OF the Deb Raja. The Government was satisfied with Scott's 
findings and ordered that Gird Maraghat should be restored 
to the Deb Raja. Scott explained the case to Cooch Behar 
and asked for the hitherto disputed lands to be handed over, 
together with an account of the collections made in Mara- 

during the Cooch Behari occupation of the  lace." In 
1818 the Deb Raja informed Scott that Dewan Krishna Kailt 
had handed over possession of the disputed land to Chito 
Tandi, his repre~entative.~~ 

Mention of Krishna Kant [Kishen Kant Bose] recalls 
that this was the man whom Scott had sent as his agent to 
Bhutan, in 1815, in the hope that he would open up a line of 
communication with Tibet, via Bhutan. He failed in that 
object-Scott blaming his lack of discretion"-but he did 
acquire a considerable knowledge of Bhutanese affairs, he was 
able to assist in the settlement of the Cooch Behar border 
dispute, and it was he who in 1816 first reported the arrival 
of a Chinese force at Lhasa which was for a time to cause 

4 9 B . P . C . ,  14 June 1817, no. 30, Scott to Adam, 24 May 1817. 

* Mauia Maraghat covered an erea of 3,065 bighas of land. See -4. 
Ahmed, History of Cooch Behnr (in Bengali), pp. 355-6. 

50 B.P.C., 14 June 1817, no. 31, Adam to Scott, 14 June 1817. 
51 S . N .  Sen, op. cit., pp. 48-51. 
52 See A .  Lamb, op. cit., p. 43.  But it should be mentioned that 

Scott wrote to the Government at a later date that 'no capable person 
'but himself [Kishen Kant] could be found to undertake the business.' 
, B .P .C., 24 Nov. 1821, no. 81, Scott to Swinton, 21 Sept. 1821; Board's 
Collections, vol. 180121724, pp. 12-13. 
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Lord Moira considerable alarm.'" No less important he pro- 
duced an Account of  BhootanP4 written in Bengali but tran- 
slated by David Scott. which contained a full description of 
the territory, with an elaborate discussion of the administra- 
tive system, its economic products, and of the routes lead- 
ing to it, and which won the praise of such later envoys as 
R. B. Pemberton and Sir Ashley Eden. Kishen Kant also 
produced a work on the grammar and vocabulary of the 
Bhutanese language.'' 

One purpose of Kishen Kant's mission had been to 
check the reports of a Bhutanese military threat which had 
becn current-in 1815, and which had roused the truculence 
of Captain Latter. Those reports had proved false, but in 
1817 there was a real source of conflict when the Bhutanese 
began stopping boats on the Tista river and demanding 
duties from the merchants cutting timber in the tract of 
country ceded to the Company by the Gurkhas between that 
river and the Mal~anadi.~' Scott responded by sending an 
agent to enquire of the Deb Raja by what authority the 
demands were made. This was once again too mild a 
proceeding for Captain Latter, now agent for the Govern- 
ment in the ceded Morung pavgana. Latter wanted imme- 
diate action, and he wrote to Calcutta nointing out that the 
tract had been ceded to the Company, that the exactions 
were unauthorised. and that if they were not forcibly resist- 
ed neither merchants nor ryots would be safe from plun- 
der by the Bhutanese. Scott's mild action he belived 
"would entirely alter the complexion of the business and in 
my opinion lead to endless discussion . . . if this should be 
done it would probably induce the Bhutias to advance a joint 
claim to the forests itself for they have just as much right to 

" See A.  I,amh. op. cit., p. 46. 
54 B.C.. Vol. 810/21724, pp. 21-133. The published version is includ- 

ed in Political Missions to Bootan by Ashley Eden and others, pp. 187- 
206.. 

5".C., vol. 810121724, pp. 1-21. 

5' B .P . C . ,  19 Sept. 1817, nos. 68-70, Scott to Lushington, 6 Sept. 1817; 
Latter to Scott, 11 July 1817 and 2 Sept. 1817. 
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one as the other."57 On this occasion the Calcutta Council 
agreed with Latter:' but before any action had been taken, 
Scott was able to report that the Deb Raja had replied, dis- 
claiming the acts of those who had exacted money from the 
merchants and stating that positive orders had been issued to 
the subah of Dalimcotta to desist from such claims and release 
the persons stated to have been confined.'9cott's methods were 
thus vindicated, and his influence displayed, and not until 
1832 were there any further disturbances on the Bhutan 

It is clear from the narrative of events in this chapter 
A 

that one of the main weaknesses in the Company's position 
on the northern frontier was that it lacked adequate means 
of communicating with its neighbours. In the Nepal war it 
had had to rely on the reports of adventurous travellers, 
upon bazar gossip, and upon the hurried despatch of such 
agents as Kishen Kant by Scott to ascertain Bhutanese in- 
tentions, or to explain its own to the Chinese authorities in 
Lhasa. Scott had gathered agents and interpreters on an ad- 
hoc basis, but something permanent was evidently required. 
Finally in November, 1823 a single individual was given res- 
ponsibility for the whole frontier region, and a monthly 
establishment on 1,256 rupees for the maintenance of a staff 
capable of treating with-all the neighbouring states. The 
man chosen to be Agent to the Governor-General on the 
North-East Frontier was of course David Scott, and he was 
given an officer of recognised linguistic attainments, Siddon, 
as translator in his office. Scott assembled a team of seven 
interpreters and twelve messengers, speaking Lepcha, Bhutia, 
Tibetan, Burmese, Manipuri, Khasi and Assamese, who 
assisted Siddon in the preparation of grammars and voca- 
bularie~.~' The special needs and problems of frontier con- 

57 B.P.C., 19 Sept. 1817, no. 70, Latter to Lushington (private) 10 
Sept. 1817. 

58 B.P.C., 19 Sept. 1817, no. 71, Lushington to Latter, 19 Sept. 
1817. 

59 B.P .C . ,  3 Oct. 1817, no. 37, Scott to Lushington, 19 Sept. 1817. 
60 B.S.P.C., 6 August 1824, no. 30, Scott to Swinton, 16 July 1824. 

In G .  A. Grierson's stupendous work, Linguistic- S ~ r v e y  of India we 



trol was thus recognised and provided for and Scott's mastery 
proclaimed and given still wider scope. 

2. The Garos and the birth of the non-Regulation System 

In many parts of India, the period between Wellesley's 
'abortive attempt at supremacy' and Hastings' achievement 
of it, was one of administrative deterioration." The Indian 
states system was crumbling; British rule was not firmly 
seated: it was a time of opportunity for the strong and ruth- 
less. This was evidently so in Pindari-ridden Central India, 
but true also of more obscure corners like the north-east 
frontier and of lesser figures such as the pamindarz of Karai- 
bari, Kalumalupara, Mechpara and Habraghat. 

But the Company's government, in these same years, was 
increasingly reluctant to ignore disorder outside its borders 
and readier to accept new duties and responsibilities within 
them. Wellesley had declared, ' The civil servants of the 
East India Company can no longer be considered as the 
Agents of a commercial concern . . . their duties are those 
of-statesmen in every other part of the world, with no other 
characteristic differences than the obstacles opposed by an 
unfavourable climate, by a foreign languageA-and by the 
peculiar usages and laws of India, and by the manner of its 
 inhabitant^."^^ Kaye, with equal conviction boasted, 'Our 
English rulers are not now chargeable with obliviousness of 
their obligation as representatives of Christianity and agents 

do not find any mention about these grammars and vocabularies, but 
the oflicial records show the good use made of them. For example, 
on Dr. W .  Carey's suggestion the grammar and vocabulary of Bhutan 
prepared by Kishen Kant were transmitted to Fort William College 
for use. On these particular works Scott opined "the chief merit of 
the performance is the perfect accuracy with which the pronunciation 
of the letters and words has been marked." Board's Collections, vol. 
810/21724, pp. 1-21. 

I?. Spear, India : A Modern History, p. 214. 
62 L. S .  S.  O'Malley, History of Bertgal, Bihar and Orisin undcr 

British rule, pp. 290-1. 
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of civilizati~n."~~ Scott's share in the general process, during 
the years 1815-1821 when, as commissioner of Cooch Behar 
and Judge magistrate of Rangl~ur, he was responsible for 
the garo frontier, is the subject of this section. 

The present Garo Hills district, which in 1867 was 
made a part of Assam, is a mountainous area some 70 miles 
long from east to west and 50 miles from north to south, 
forming an irregular rectangle, and bounded by the district 
of Goalpara on the north, Khasi and Jaintia hills on the east, 
East Bengal district of Mymensing on the south and the district 
of Goalpara again on the west. It is situated just in the posi- 
tion where the Brahmaputra, after flowing almost due west 
through lower Assam, turns south to join the Ganges and 
empty into the Bay of Bengal. Its inhabitants, the Garos*, 
are a section of the great Bodo race which at one time oc- 
cupied much of the Brahmaputra valley, but which probably 
was driven into the hills by the early Hindu invaders from 
Bengal.64 The present distiict of the Garo hills 
corresponds closely with the topography-that is, the district 

- - 

ends exactly where the hills end. Its boundary also approxi- 
mates the ethnic boundary between the Garos and other 
groups.65 But in Mughal times, at the foot of the hills, lying 
above the plains districts of Rangpur and Mymensing, Hindu 
chiefs were found holding a number of great estates em- 
bracing many Garo villages. In return for a small tribute 
paid to the Mughal faujdar of Rangamati as a token of fealty 
to the Mughal emperor these chiefs or zamindars were 
confirmed in their mercher lordships. The tribute took 
the form of a number of elephants or a small quantity of 

63 J. W. Kaye, Adnzini~tl-ation of the East India Conzparzy, 
p. 463. 

" T h e  word 'Garo' is a name given by the Bengalis and Assamese 
plain dwellers. Garos themselves have different name for the people 
of each different tribe. See S. K. Bhuyan (ed.), An ACCOU?I~ of Assam, 
2d Imp., p. 89. 

64 B. C. Allen and others, Eastern Bengal and A s ~ a m ,  pp. 500-2; A. 
Playfair, The Garos, p. 1. 

65 R. Burling, Rengsanggri, pp. 18-19. 



the precious wood called aghur. Their estates w a e  
never subjected to a land revenue assessment, but they were 
obliged to maintain petty garrisons, to contribute to the 
maintenance of the Dacca artillery park, and to collect and 
pay sair or miscellaneous duties. These payments were 
usually made in cotton, grown in the Garo hills." 

In these payments the Mughal faujdar was further 
concerned because he usually financed the purchase of the 
cotton by advance to the zamindars. So long as the 
faujdar paid the stipulated revenue to the Mughal author- 
ities of Dacca his transactions with the zamindars never 
came into question. The profit of these cotton dealings were 
his own concern. For the zamindars the advantage of 
the system was, of course, that the faujdar encouraged and 
supported the extension of their control over the Garo 
viiliges and their reduction of these villages to revenue 
payment.67 

When the East India Company acquired the Diwani 
of Bengal. they inherited this system. It was left unchang- 
ed. The function of the faujdars as an intermediary was 
taken by a sazawal, annually appointed, who contracted to 
pay the district revenues to the government, making his own 
arrangements for collecting them from the zamindars. They 
in their turn, as independent as before, collected the revenues 
of their zanzlndaries, and paid them over to the sazawd in 
cotton. In 1788, however, the Company abolished sair dues 
and made the collection of such miscellaneous cesses illegal. 
The zamindars who had always enjoyed a percentage of the 
revenues they collected, were compensated for the loss of the 
sair 

Scott's attention, as judge-magistrate, was drawn to the 

66 A. Mackenzie, op. cit., p. 245. This revenue paid in cotton by 
the hil! chiefs can be compared with tapas mahal or cotton revenue 
collected from the hill tracts of Chittagong from 1713. See A. M. 
Serajuddin. T h e  Revenue Adrninistr*aiion of Chitagong 1761-1785, 
London University Ph.D. thesis approved 1964. 

67 Mackenzie, op. cit., p. 245. 
6s Ibid., pp. 245-246. 
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Garo frontier, not by any such revenue question, but by 
various outrages and acts of violence, committed by the 
Garos in January and February of 1815, upon inhabitants of 
the frontier zamindaries of Kalumalupara and Karaibari." 
His determination to eradicate such evils, by eliminating their 
causes, led him to a sustained investigation of the relations 
between the Garos and the zamindars along the  foothill^.^^ 
Scott's first measures against the Garo raiders were military - 
action and installation of an economic blockade by closing 
the haths (markets)-the two traditional remedies. He 
also suggested a few changes in the jurisdiction of the various 
thanas and their present places of functioning so as to make 
it more convenient for the darogah to take immediate cogni- 
zance of a crime? Though the war with Nepal made in- 
convenient any drastic military action against the Garos, he 
was given the service of Lt. Davidson, the officer command- 
ing the local corps at Sylhet, and was authorised to employ 
eastward of the Brahmaputra any of the burkandaze~  or 
guards who could be spared from the sadr station or from 
the police thanas of the district of Rangpur.12 But Scott 
soon discovered that the causes of these outrages were too 
deep-rooted to be solved by military show or one or two 
severe military measures.73 Scott asked the Supreme gov- 
ernment whether "the state of things which obtains in the 
pargana east of the Brahmaputra is not such as to justify 
the suspension of the ordinary course of law." This Scott 
thought was necessary in order to introduce some more 
efficacious and summary mode of apprehending and punish- 
ing delinquents among the Garos.?l 

69 B.C.J.C., 7 Feb., 1815, nos. 19-23, Scott to Bayley, 16 Jan. 1815, 17 
Jan. 1815, 25 Jan. 1815; Latter to Scott, 21 Jan. 1815: Bayley to Scott, 
7 Feb. 1815. 

J.L.B., vol. 4, 7 Oct. 1815, paras 261-267; B.C.J.C., 16 Feb. 1816, 
nos. 15-16, Scott to Bayley, 16 Jan. 1816 and 31 Jan. 1816. 

B.C.J.C., 16 Feb. 1816, nos. 15-18, Scott to Bayley, 16 Jan. 1816, 
Bayley to Scott, 16 Feb., 1816. 

72 Ibid. 
73 Ibid. 
74 B.C.J.C., 16 Feb. 1816, no. 17, Scott to Bayley, 31 Jan. 1816. 



The Supreme Government at Calcutta approved of 
Scott's punitive measures, noted his suggestions about 
change in the Regulation, but asked that he should make 
further inquiries into the topography of the country, the 
habits and the character of the tribes and their motives be- 
fore endeavouring to make any change in the existing order. 
Scott was given extra allowance for touring in the Garo 
frontier. The governor-general, Lord Hastings, further 
asked Scott whether a system of internal management 
similar to that successfully applied by Cleveland in the hills 
of Bhagalpur, could be introduced into the Garo hills. In 
particular he asked Scott to consider the establishment of a 
small local corps, mainly of Garo hillmen, to be stationed on 
the frontier at the haths and passes; the permanent posting of 
an officer in that part of Rangpur lying east of the Brahma- 
putra, vested with civil and criminal powers; and the regu- 
lation of trade so as to encourage commercial intercourse 
with the Garos and other frontier tribes.75 

To  these instructions and queries, issued in February, 
Scott replied after months of touring the areas in- 
habited by the dependent and tributary Garos, with a state- 
ment outlining his major conclusions, on 20 August, 1816. 
The Company had hitherto known little of the Garo-zamindars 
relationships, and like the Mughals had cared little so long as 
the revenues were paid. The causes of the Garo risings were 
therefore not understood until Scott undertook his enquiries 
and produced his report of August, 1816." 

7VIbid., no. 18, Bayley to Scott, 16 Feb. 1816. 

56 The two other European sources on the Garos, prior to that of 
Scott's were those of J. Eliot (1788-89) and F. Hamilton (Buchanon) 
(1807-14). Hamilton's account is comparatively speaking more full 
than Eliot's. But neither of these two men had opportunity to 
describe the Garo-zamindaw relationship from an on-the-spot observa- 
tion. See John Eliot, 'Observation on the inhabitants of the Garrow 
Hills, made during a publick deputation in the year 1788 and 1789,' 
Asidic Researches (1792); S. K. Bhuyan (ed.), An Account of 
Assam, first compiled in 1807-14 by Francis Hamilton (Buchanon), 

2d. Imp. pp. 85-96. 
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After giving a general account of the extent and phy- 
sical appearance of the habitation of the Garos, their various 
tribes and clans, their agriculture, manufacture and customs, 
Scott came to the causes of the recent t r o ~ b l e s . ~ ~  

Scott found that the four great zami?zdars of the frontier 
had all sought to reduce the Garos to a tributary or complete- 
ly subject status. In Karaibari the vigorous measures adop- 
ted by the former zamindavs had enabled them to reduce the 
greater part of the Garos on the estate to the condition of the 
other ryots. Only a few of the Garo frontier chiefs still 
remained on a tributary footing, supplying cotton on terms 
highly favourable to the zariindars, and making consider- 
able money payments, nominally gifts at the festivals, but 
really extorted by threat of the zamindav's displeasure. 

In Kalumalupara the original zarnindari family was less 
vigorous; and th; Garos contiguous to the estate had merely 
paid tribute. When the whole of the pargana was sold for 
revenue arrears the purchaser lost all authority over them, 
though some chiefs still took a few rupees advance and deli- 
vered a small quantity of cotton. 

In Mechpara, the zamindavs, especially in the years 1776 
and 1777, had made extensive conquests, but a minor succeed- 
ing soon after, most of these had been lost by 1816. Only a 
few outlying Garo villages in the plains remained assimilated, 
and subject to the regulations of government. In the hill 
tracts the chiefs were merely tributary, paying cotton on 
favourable terms and occasionally admitting the zamindav as 
their criminal judge. 

In Habraghat, the estate on the left bank of the Brahma- 
putra and towards the Assam side, the zamindar had adopted 
the most successful measures of all. The Garos of the plains 
villages and of the first range of hills had all been reduced to 
unconditional subjection to the laws and regulations of Ren- 
gal. Their savdavs ha.d been transformed into jagirdars, charg- 
ed with defence of the passes. The clans further within the 
hills, on the other hand, had been released from all depen- 

77 See B.C.J.C., 27 Sept., 1816, no. 47, Scott's report of August 
1816. 



dence on, or connection with, the zamindar, except such as 
resulted from their resorting to the haths on this estate.?' 

Such findings of Scutt's confirmed what Francis Buchanon 
(Hamilton) had learnt only a few years before from his 
informers (some of whom were Garos) about the Bengali 
zamindar's encroachmeilts on the Garo territories. The rea- 
son for the Bengali zamindar's success was due to the fact that 
they could call to their assistance the terror of the British arms 
to combat with the Garos fighting with bows, swords 
and spears of inferior kind. Although no regulars were eng- 
aged, the terror of their name and the general belief that the 
zamindars were the officers of the Company were sufficient 
to coerce them into ~ubmiss ion.~~ The Assamese land- 
owners in comparison, were in an humbler position. They 
were not under the Company nor was the art of war in 
them progressed to such an extent as to outstrip the Garo 
chiefs of their side of the frontier, of their dominion. The 
Assamese, therefore, contented themselves with a moderate 
tribute and conciliated the friendship of the independent hill 
tribes.80 

The existing political relationships between the zarninda~.~ 
and the Garos were the result, as Scott pointed out, of the two 
generations of conflict, waged without interference from the 
go~ernment.~ '  In the same years an explosive economic 
relationship had been established. Garo cotton, though 
course 2nd of short staple 2nd useful mainly for stuffing or 
ad~lteration,'~ was a main item in the eastern internal trade.83 
Over this zamindars secured control, partly through the haths 

R.C.J.C., 27 Sep. 1816, no. 47, Scott's report of 20 Aug. 1816, 
paras 30-36. 

79 S. K. Rhuyan (ed.), A n  Account of Assam, p. 86. 
Ibid. Such relationship between the Assamese and the Assam 

hill tribes might have prevented the more extreme forms of caste 
fro111 developing in Assam. See R. Burling, op. cit., p. 16. 
" Statements of Ramrag Sardar, Ram Dany Sardar and Dany 

Singh Sardar takenin in the thana of Dhubri in zilla Rangpur on 7 
Apr. 1816. B.C.J.C., 27 Sept. 1816, no. 48, enclosures 1. 2 and 3. 
'' A. Playfair, op. cit., p. XV. 
" 3. Ahman, A n  Economic Geography of East P~kistan,  p. 78. 
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established on their estates, partly by continuing quite ille- 
gally to exact sair and other payments in cotton, even after 
their abolition in 1788 When the Regulations of 1793 were 
promulgated the inhabitants of the Garo villages on the con- 
quered tracts were much too independent to submit to such a 
code of law. But for many years they continued to submit 
to the authority of the zam>ndar.s as their judges and to de- 
liver their cotton, as tribute or revenue, on the established 

But the diffusion of British authority in Bengal had two 
results. As the Garo became aware that the xamindars had 
lost the right to enforce their demands for dues, they came 
openly to assert their independence and to demand redress or 
revenge for their grievances. They complained that heavy 
,dues were exacted at the xamindari haths, that advances were 
forced upon them for the supply of cotton which was then 
taken at only about one-sixth of its real value, that fines 
were levied on whole villages for any criminal offence and 
that wholesale seizure and imprisonment of the inhabitants 
was likewise inflicted." That such grievances were real is 
to be seen from the account of the woFking of such a hath in 
the Habraghat zamindari given by Montgomery Martin : "At 
each market place a person who paid a rent to the Vijni Raja 
kept a warehouse for salt. This he sold to petty traders at 
eight rupees a man (84 10/16s.w. a ser). The petty trader, 
adding clay and water, increased its weight of 118 part, and 
then exchanged it with the Garos, at one man of salt-for three 
mans of cotton. The Garo therefore, for a eight rupees worth 
of salt, which, were there no monopoly or duties except the 
Company's would cost about 54 rupees, gives 3 mans 15 sers 
of cotton in the seed, which a; Goalpara is usually worth 5 - 
rupees the man. He besides pays a share of the cotton to 
the Raja, for permission to trade in his market."87 

R4 Same as in 81. 
35 lbid. 

I bid. 
s7 M .  Martin, Eastern India, vol. 111, p. 686-7. 



At the same time, the weakening of the zamindars' 
police and military power made forcible retaliation more 
tempting to the Garos. Although they had the duty of guard- 
ing the passes, the zamindars no longer maintained large 
military establishments preferring to rely on occasional 
punitive expeditions rather than make a sustained effort to 
guard the settled  village^.^' The Garos had a tradition of 
raiding, for they believed that the spirits of their headmen 
required the souls of others to attend them, they had real 
grievances, they had opportunity for revenge. There was 
thus both an element of the universal warfare of the hills 
upon the plains and of that social banditry which Hobsbawn 
calls the "endemic peasant protest against oppression and 
poverty, a cry for vengeance on the rich and the oppres- 
s o r ~ . " ~ ~  The Garos, Scott reported, would descend on Kalu- 
malupara demanding pigs, goats, fowls or such other articles 
as took their fancy, and the ryots, knowing there was noth- 
ing to deter the hillmen, complied. If the raid was not 
attended with violence or murder it was seldom reported, for 
the sufferers had repeatedly seen people of consequence 
murdered and their houses plundered with perfect impunity. 
When such acts became too frequent for endurance they 
either used to desert the villages or purchase the forbearance 
of the Garos by an additional donation of mata-rakha or 
bla~krnail.~' 

Scott's first conclusion was that the zamindars' assertions 
that the Garo villages which they had subdued formed a part 
of the estates upon which they paid revenue was totally ground- 
less. But if the zamindars had no revenue rights over the 
Garo hills, were they then within British jurisdiction at all, 
and if so, in what sense? Scott put forward the interesting 
argument that "whatever may have been the motive of the 
chaudhuries [zamindavs] for concealing the real nature of 
their interests in this tract of country from Government, it 

" B.C.J.C., 27 Sept. 1816, no. 47, Scott's report of 20 Aug. 1816, 
paras 23-24; B .C.  Allen and others, op. cit., p. 502. 

E. J. Hopsbawm, Primitive RebeEd, p. 5. 
B.C.J.C., 16 Feb. 1816, no. 15, Scott to Bayley, 16 Jan. 1816. 
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appears to me that their conquests if made at the time they 
held their estates, for the defence of the frontier, must be con- 
sidered as legal acquisitions conferring a right on the British 
government as the superior of the conquerers, to sovereignty 
of the country subdued."" Scott went on to add, "the zarnin- 
dars themselves after being released from the responcibility of 
defending the country, and deprived of the official chxacter 
in which they acquired these territories, cannot be entitled, as 
mere individuals and subjects, to derive any pecuniary profit 
from the lands which have all along co~ltinued in the hands 
of the original occupants and of their descentlants over whom 
the zamindars have rather exercised the right of property ap- 
pertaining to the sovereign than those of mere land  holder^."^" 
Scott thus argued that the British government had tlle right 
to step over the heads of the zamindavs since they failed to 
perform the duties of defence laid on them by the Govern- 
ment, and make its own arrangements with the Garos. 

Scott also considered the applicability to the Garo hills 
of Cleveland's system in Bhagalpur. Cleveland in 1778 had 
allotted subsidies to the headmen of the Ma1 Paharias and had 
supported the influence thus acquired by raising a corps of 
400 Ma1 Paharias archers which functioned as an effictive 
police force, keeping order in the hills by tribal methods, 
and enforcing the decisions of the tribunal created by Cleve- 
land and known as the Hill Assembly." Such expedients 
Scott did not think would work among the Garos. He 
pointed out that when Cleveland introduced British author- 
ity into the Bhagalpur hills the inhabitants appeared to have 
been governed by a regular gradation of chiefs whose autho- 
rity was undisputed. These persons had first been taught to 
respect the British government's power by repeated and 
severe chastisement for their inroads upon the plains. Then 
they had been induced to relinquish the raiding to which 

" B.C.J.C., 27 Sept. 1816, no. 47, Scott's report of 20 Aug. 1816, 
,para 49. 

'" lbid. 
" J. H. Hutton. 'Primitive Tribes' in O'Malley's Modern India and 

.the West, p. 418. 



they were driven by their extreme poverty, by the grant of 
adequate subsidies. They had thereby been made into ready 
and willing instruments for the control and management of 
their fellow countryrnent.!'' 

The Garos, by contrast, were rich," and thcir leading 
men were unlikely to be tempted by the subsidies which had 
such weight with the Bhagalpur chiefs. Moreover, Garo society 
was very democratic: the Garos exultingly compared their 
country to a crab, which they affirm has no head. Whatever, 
then, might be the force of influence whicli the Garo chiefs 
acquired from personal character, extensive family connec- 
tions or wealth, their goodwill, Scott believed, would be of 
little political value to the Company. However efficient a 
popular chief might prove in commanding the service of 
numerous followers for external warfare, or even in the exer- 
cise of arbitrary power at home, such leadership was still far 
from being consolidated into any system of acknowledged 
legal authority. An influence founded principally, if not 
solely, upon public opinion was evidently not capable of 
being instrumental to any purpose obnoxious to the general 
sentiments and national spirit of the people at large? 

Under such circumstances, Scott held that the introduc- 
tion of British authority amongst the Garos, merely by win- 
ing over the chiefs was quite impracticable. Instead, a direct 
connexion with the tribes should be established, if necessary, 
imposed by force. Since the frontier Garos, though in the 
past merely tributaries of the zamindars, currently were more 
or less dependent upon them, Scott felt that the British were 
in a position forcibly to intervene in their affairs? 

Scott therefore recommended that the Garo villages 
should be brought directly under government control and 

" B.C.J.C., 27 Sept. 1816, no. 47, Scott's report of 20 Aug. 1816, 
paras 25-27. 

*"There can hardly be another aboriginal tribe in India more easily 
circumstanced than the Garos. Real famine never touches them." 
A. Playfair, op. cit., p. 4. 

95 Scott's report of 20 Aug. 1816, paras 25-27. 
Q6 Ibid., para 28. 
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that a special code of regulations should be applied to them, 
With the exception of those in Habraghat all the Garo villages 
over which the zamindars had exercised authority, but which 
had neither been recorded in the Collector's office nor subject 
to the Bengal Code, should be placed under the immediate 
superintendence of a British official. If the zamindarr 
appeared entitled to compensation they should be allowed a 
deduction from their revenue payments. Thereafter special 
rules should be worked out for the internal management of 
the inhabitants. These rules should provide both for the 
security of British subjects and eventually for the improve- 
ment of the Garos themselves. But for the present British 
interference with the 'protected' Garos ought to be extremely 
limited : they should be required to make a simple acknowl- 
edgement of the supremacy of Government by paying a 
trifling t r ib~te . '~  

Scott had already questioned the suitability of the Bengal 
Regulation for the inhabitants of the frontier areas and now 
he was planning a non-Regulation system with its own rules 
suited to the customs and temperament of the people govern- 
ed by it. Despite his earlier statements about the limited 
influence of the chiefs, Scott set out a detailed plan for enlist- 
ing their co-operation in the control of their clansmen. He 
proposed that up to one thousand rupees a year might be 
put at the disposal of the magistrate for distribution in pre- 
sents to those Caro  chiefs who had been receiving blackmail - 
from the plains villages. Such grants, and permission to 
trade at the haths during the ensuring cold season should 
only be granted after the Garo sardars or headmen of the 
frontier villages had subscribed to some seven  condition^.^' 

These conditions were that they should pay an annual 
tribute in cotton, in acknowledgement of the supremacy of 
the Company; that they should stand surety for one another, 
and for the appearance of their dependents and villages; that 
they and their dependants should refrain from outrages upon 
the ryots, surrender any raider seeking refuge in their para, 

97 Ibid., para 50. 
98 Ibid., paras 50-51. 



and cease to keep human skulls in their houses; that they 
should report any plans for raiding that might come to their 
knowledge; that they should come unarmed to the halhs, 
abandon all claims to exact perquisites, pay fair prices and 
engage to refer all differences to the police muharrir of the 
hath, abiding by the magistrate; that they should allow the 
interpreters and officers of government to enter their villages 
without molestation; and finally, that if they should break 
the foregoing conditions, their houses and other property 
should be considered subject to confiscation by the magis- 
trate." 

The haths or markets of the foothills have always been 
exceedingly important to the Garos of the interior hills. 
They supply some essential goods available in no other place. 
These markets besides being: the centres of economic transac- 
tion offer opportunities to the people with conservative villages 
to have contacts with the world beyond their immediate 
neighbourhood.lOO On the market day the Garos of the hills 
used to descend-as they do today-to the foothills in large 
and well armed parties for protection against enemies. It 
was, therefore, necessary to provide a congenial atmosphere 
to the Garos in the market place not only to root out one 
of the traditional causes of the Garo-Bengali strifelo' but also 
to impress upon the interior Garos the superior strength of 
the Company. 

To  start with, Scott suggested that there should be a 
limited number of markets for the present-not more than 
eleven or twelve-and that light dues in kind known as 
phul kapas should be collected from those Garos who 
remained independent, not so much to increase revenue as 
for the purpose of asserting the Company's authority.lo2 To  

09 Ibid., paras 52-53. 
loo See Burling, op. cit., p. 274 for the Garo hath scenes of the  

present day. 
lol Scott wrote that the late Mr. Eliot in his report on Sherpur 

had stated that the zamindars of Sherpur called Garos their enemies, 
and that the same attitude pervaded the whole frontier. B.C.J.C., 
28 Dec. 1821, no. 88. Scott to Bayley, 27 Sept. 1819. 
lo2 Scott's report of 20 Aug. 1816, paras 80-82. 

F. 4 
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encourage peaceful trade Scott therefore suggested that 50 
acres at each station ought to be taken by government, ade- 
-quate remission of revenue being granted to the zamindars, 
for use as a market place and for warehousing. The rent 
of the ground appropriated to warehouses would cover the 
remission of revenue while a sales-tax of 12 annas per maund 
of cotton would very much more than cover the cost of 
managing the markets. Scott estimated expenditure at about 
3,000 rupees and the probable tax yield at 30,000 rupees 
since he calculated that cotton sales amounted to eight 
thousand maunds at Habraghat, ten at Mechpara, twelve at 
Kalumalupara, ten at Karaibari, or a total of forty thousand 
maunds.lo3 

The revenues to be expected from the Garo haths were 
considered by Scott sufficient to meet the expenses of a native 
judicial establishment, a local corps and a Garo hath police, 
which he estimated as follows: 

Judicial establishment . . 5,000 
Garo police and presents . . 3,880 
Collection of duties . . 3,000 
Local corps . . 14,400 

But the yield would be far short of the expenses that 
would be entailed if an additional English officer were 
appointed. Scott, therefore suggested that the tract should 
be placed under the care of the commissioner for Cooch 
Behar and that that officer should be required to spend at 
least four months every year visiting the Garo frontier and 
making a tour throughout his jurisdiction.'04 Dhubri, he 
suggested, would be a very convenient tour centre, being only 
forty miles from Cooch Behar and as central a spot as could 
be found for the established haths at Chitabari, Titaria, Ben- 

1°Vbid., paras 83 and 86-87. 
lo4 lbid., para 97. 
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gakuta, Rajballab, Singimari and Palumari at which two- 
thirds of the whole Garo trade was carried on.lo5 

The Council at Calcutta was duly impressed with Scott's 
"able and very interesting" report. They considered that the 
fruitfulness of his proposed measures would chiefly depend 
on the "character, temper and qualifications of the individual 
to whose execution they might be entrusted,"l05nd what 
better person then to undertake the responsibility than Scott 
himself? But Scott could scarcely undertake this additional 
duty witllout serious interruption to his administration of 

- 

civil and criminal justice as judge-magistrate of Rangpur. 
Their solution was to appoint another judicial officer to 
Rangpur, making Scott commissioner in Cooch Behar and 
joint magistrate of Rangpur with special charge of that part 
of the district eastward of the Brahmaputra, and between that 
river and Cooch Behar. This new charge consisted of the 
thanas of Dhubri, Nagcswari, Goalpara and Karaibari.lo7 
The governmeilt further gave Scott the widest discretionary 
power to make 'any such arrangements as local considerations 
might appear to demand.'''' 

Scott was already on his fact-finding tour in the tributary 
Garo villages with Ensign Terranean and his detachment 
when in April 1817 he received his new charge and orders 
from the government. He thereupon published a procla- 
mation in all the villages expressing the government's 
readiness to grant a general amnesty provided the Garos paid 
a fine, restored the property plundered in the raids of 1815, 
delivered up all their human skulls and pledged themselves 
to submit to the rules which the government would establish 
with due regard to their legitimate customs.109 

In every Garo village there was (and still is) at least one 
man referred to by the term nokma, which was generally, 
though badly-as pointed out by a modern American writer 

lo6 Ibid., para 99. 

lo6 J.L.E., vol. 6, letter of 24 Oct. 1817. 
lo7 B.C.J.C., 27 Sept. 1816, no. 48, Bayley to Scott, 27 Sept. 1816. 
log B.C.J.C., 5 April 1817, no. 18, Bayley to Scott, 5 April, 1817. 
l" B.C.J.C., 5 April 1817, no. 16, Scott to Bayley, 5 March 1817. 
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on the Garos-translated by the British as chief or headman.l1° 
Scott referred to him as sardar. These sardars did not, as 
Scott had observed earlier, have much power to influence 
decision on others. But yet they being the occupants of 
houses with great geneological depth, possessors of substantial 
land titles and wealth, and performers of some customary 
duties,ll1 commanded some respect. In any case, it was 
through them only that the recalcitrant Garos could be 
brought to negotiation. 

In consequence of the parwana several of the sardars in 
Mechpara attended Scott at different places. Scott left no 

- 

room for compromise on the conditions considering that it 
was essential that the Garos should plainly see that nothing 
would come of resistance and that the very favourable terms 
offered by the government merely showed its clemency.ll' 
His plan was successful and early in March, 1817, the sardars 
of nine out of the twelve villages belonging to the pass of 
Tikri in Mechpara attended Scott, paid a fine of 800 rupees 
and agreed to the other conditions laid down by Scott.l13 The 
articles of agreement which they signed were these: 

The chiefs promised never to commit violence upon the 
Company's subjects-or any one else-or to permit- British 
subjects to do so, upon pain of such punishment as the magis- 
trate might think fit to inflict. 

They bound themselves to apprehend and deliver to the 
magistrate's people at Tikri and Garo belonging to that duar 
or pass who should be guilty of such violence to the Com- 
pany's subjects. 

They promised to give early information to the police of 
any plan by any Garo assembly to invade the lowlands. 

They undertook to settle their disputes among them- 
selves by arbitration, according to the ancient customs and 
to give up private blood feuds. 

11° Burling, op. cit., p. 224. 
Ibid. 

112 B.C.J.C., 5 April 1817, no. 16, Scott to Bayley, 5 March 1817. 
113 Ibid. 
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They agreed to grant to the wazirs, interpreters and ser- 
vants of the Company, easy access at all times to their villages, 
and to assume responsibility for their safety. 

They also undertook to take such punji advances from 
government as were sanctioned by established custom and to 
deliver cotton at the established rate or pay the value in 
money. 

The British magistrates were to ascertain the boundaries 
of the lands which the chiefs and their ancestors had long 
cultivated on punji advances and settle them according to 
justice. 

The Garos for their part agreed to pay rents, like other 
ryots upon any lands they cultivated within the zamindaries 
under the Company. 

The chiefs promised that they would go unarmed to the 
haths, make no pretensions to perquisites and pay the market 
price for what they purchased. 

The chiefs also promised to abandon the practice of 
keeping, buying or selling human heads, and, for the due 
performance of these articles of agreement, became mutually 
responsible.l14 

This agreement became the model for Scott's subsequent 
agreements with tributary Garo chiefs of Halugaon and 
Nibari and the independent villages of Boku, Okra, Sunal, 
Buraduki, Rangbugri, Rangsibgri, Ramchugri, Jamgonda, 
Mamupara, Khamagri, Mangsang and Dubungri. In the 
case of the independent villages the provision relating to the 
payment of tribute in cotton and reference of disputes to the 
decision of the magistrate were not app1i~able.l'~ 

Even though the Government was yet to determine the 
keeping of the former tributary Garos as such in future 
also, Scott was interested in contacting as many sardars as - 
possible, with the view that in any future set-up these agree- 
ments would be useful.116 But shortly after making these 

R.C.J.C., 2 May 1817, no. 26, Scott to Bayley, 14 April 1817. 
llVbid. 
'I6 B.C.J.C., 9 Sept. 1817, no. 21, Scott to Bayley, 10 Aug. 1817; 

J.L.B., vol. 6, 24 Oct. 1817. 
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engagements in April 1817 Scott and Ensign Wilton who 
was surveying the Garo frontier, together with many of their 
servants, were attacked with violent fever. Ensign Wilton 
fell a victim to the climate and Scott suffered a dangerous 
and protracted illness which interrupted the progress of his 
settlement of Garo affairs.l17 

Despite this set-back the governor-general was able to re- 
port to the Directors, in a despatch of 24 October 1817 that 
Scott's first measures had proved most successful. The Garos 
released from the vexatious interference of the zamindars, 
had been quiet and orderly. So much so, indeed, that the 
Company's forces had been withdrawn, and it had proved 
unnecessary to raise the whole of the local corps for service 
on the Garo frontier which had been proposed by Scott. 'la 

The improvement which Scott's activities and settlement 
produced are evident from the figures of crime on the Garo 
frontier. In 1807 three villages, in 1813 and 1815 two villages 
and in 1816 about 150 villages in the plains had been burned 
during Garo raids, while in every year from 1807, for which 
records were available, there had been some loss of life, often 
considerable. In 1817 however there were no raids, in 1818 
three persons only were killed, and in 1819 again there were 
no raids.''' 

No less impressive was the success of the new system in 
bringing offenders to justice. In 1819 thirty out of thirty- 
one persons concerned in dacoity were apprehended and 
brought to trial,120 in 1820 all four concerned in the one re- 
corded dacoity were apprehended. In all other forms of 
crime of a heinous nature except burglary the police success 

118 J.L.B., vol. 6, letter of 24 Oct. 1817. 

B.C.J.C., 28 Dec. 1821, no. 88, Scott to Bayley, 27 Sept. 1819. 
Comparative figures of Garo raids. 

120 'Statement of robberies and crimes of a heinous nature committed 
in the paraganas of Habraghat, Mechpara, Kalumalupara and Karai- 
bari in 1819.' B.C.J.C., 28 Dec. 1821, no. 95, Scott to Bayley, 20) 
Jan. 1821. 
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was complete."' Such evident success made it the easier 
for Scott to secure the approval of the Government for his 
further proposals. 

So far all the arrangements made with the tributary 
Garos had been carried out by the government without any 
hint that legislative sanction might be required, as a purely 
political measure. Rut Scott's concern was with all the Garos, 
including those settled within the Company's territories and 
thus nominally subject to the Company's laws and regula- 
tions. It was not possible, Scott believed, to exclude all the 
Garos from the Company's jurisdiction and to rely upon 
the restored authority of the zamindars for the peace and 
protection of the border, though that was what the Directors 
had suggested in 1815.'22 There were several reasons for 
Scott's not willing to bring back zamindars into the new 
arrangement. Firstly, he felt that the powers exercised 
freely and abusively by the Mughal agents could not be en- 
grafted upoh the Company's system of government, which 
denied such powers rigidly even to its confidential servants. 
According to Scott the Mughal system of government was 
"regardless of the means by which its objects were effected." 
Secondly, Scott found the zamindars to be devoid of prin- 
ciple-again a legacy of the Mughal government, he thought 
-and very indolent and incapable. Such vices had been re- 
medied in the Mughal times, Scott observed, only on the 
eve of petty revolutions or plan for usurpation both of which 
were so common. Scott's third argument against the res- 
toration of the znmi?zdnr's authority over the Garos was that 
the hereditary enmity that existed- between the zamindar 
families and the Garos would deprive the latter of the per- 
sonal care*, so much desired on the part of the owner of 

Ditto. 1820, B.C.J.C., 28 Dec. 1821, no. 97, Scott to Bayley, 
7 Nov. 1821. 

l" 2 C.  J . C . ,  28 Dec. 1821, ng. 92, Extract from Scott's letter to 
Secy. Hayley 15 Aug. 1816. 
* Scott, on his part, took a great deal of personal care of the Garos. 

H e  introduced vaccination to fight against large scale small-pox 
ravages and seeing the Garos being inclined to adopt some more 
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the estates. Scott's next argument against the zamindars was 
that they being mostly absentees, no congenial contact would 
be forthcoming. Lastly, Scott was convinced that even the 
dread of the occasional Garo raids would not stop the zamin- 
days in demanding from the Garos as much as they could 
for he found out that it was highly advantageous to them to 
foment or create disturbances in the neighbouring estates 
as by that means they gained accession of ryots and ~ e a 1 t h . l ~ ~  

Scott was equally against administering the Garos with 
the existing Bengal Regulation. He  pointed out that "The 
Regulations are evidently inapplicable to the existing state 

- - 

of society amongst them, a people in general entirely ignor- 
ant of the Bengal language or any other dialect understood 
in our ~ 0 u r t s . l ~ ~  ~ c o t t  also ruled out the Government's 
suggestion to fit in all the Garo criminal cases in Regulation 
I of 1796 introduced for the trial of the mountaineers of 
Rajmahal and Bhagalpur with the help of an assembly of a 
certain number of hill chiefs. The reason why Scott was 
not sanguine about the helpfulness of such an assembly of 
Garo chiefs, was that his enquiries oil the subject of the 
northern and western part of the Garo country confirmed 
the account given by Dr. Buchanon (Hamilton) and quot- 
ed in Sission's report of 15 February 1815, that the submis- 
sion of the Garos in that part to the decision of their Coun- 
cils known as l i n g m a  Changga, and assembled to settle 
their differences, was entirely optional and totally indepen- 
dent of any power exercised or claimed by these bodies.lz5 

What then, was to be done about the future adminis- 
tration of the Garo frontier. Scott proposed the enactment 

refined religious creed, thought in terms of introducing some of "the 
more practical points" of Christian doctrines. H e  also in5isted on 
direct relationships between the British officials with independent 
Garos to dispel distrust and establish authority of the Government. 

B.C.J.C., 28 Dec. 1821, no. 88, Scott to Bayley, 27 Sept. 1819; lbid., 
no. 95, Scott to Bayley, 20 Jan. 1821. See also Ch. VI. 

12". C . J . C . ,  28 Dec. 1821, No. 88. Scott to Bayley, 27 Sept. 1819. 

Ibid., no. 92, Extract from Scott's letter to Bayley, 15 Aug. 1816. 
J.L.B., 24 Oct., 1817; B.C.C., 28 Dec. 1821. 



of a regulation for separating from the estates of the border 
zamindars all lands held by the hill tribes and for the res- 
umption to the government and eventual restoration to 
their former owners of all lands of which the Garos or other 
hill tribes might have been forcibly dispossessed by the 
xanzi~zdars since 1765."" 

Scott proposed that the administration of civil and cri- 
minal justice, the collection of revenue, the superintendence of 
the police, and every other branch of government within the 
tract should be vested in a special commissiooer appointed by 
the governor-general-in-council. Paragraph 24 in the Draft 
Regulation framed by Scott thus read "The authority of the 
Commissioner in revenue matters and in civil causes and the 
jurisdiction in criminal cases vested in that officer and in the 
court of Nizamut Adawlat by this regulation, shall extend 
from the Burhampootar river eastward over all lands occupied 
by Garrows or other hill tribes formerly considered as tributary 
to, or dependent upon, the zumeendars of Habraghat, Mech- 
para, Caloomaloopara and Currybaree. The  Governor-Gene- 
ral-in-Council will, however, exercise his discretion in re- 
leasing the inhabitants of any of the above villages from the 
control of the British government. H e  will also exercise a 
similar discretion in extending its authority over other 
Garrow communities which may be at present independent 
- . . and it shall in cases of above nature be sufficient 
for the separation or annexation of such territory that a pro- 
clamation be issued to that effect by order of Government in 
the villages thereby affected without any further special enact- 
ment for that purpose. ,9127 

Scott's draft Regulation, containing twenty-six sections, 
covered precisely the extent of the existing and the propos- 
ed Regulations and the jurisdiction of the new co- 
missioner in numerous cases on civil, criminal and 
police matters relating to the Garos and other hill 
tribes in their relations with one another and with other 
subjects of the new division. A distinction was made 

126 B . C . J . C., 28 Dec. 1821. no. 88 Scott to Bay!e\r. 27 Sept. 1819. 
B . C . J . C.. 28 Dec. 1821, no. 89. Scott's draft Regulation of 1819. 
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between the Garos and other hill tribes and the other sub- 
jects speaking Bengali. In the latter's case the existing 
Bengal Regulations were to be considered in force and the 
commissioner in such a case was to perform the functions 

I 

then exercised by the judge and magistrate. Provisions 
were made for trials of the criminals among the Garos and 
other hill tribes and the commissioner was empowered to 
judge and punish either by himself directly, in minor offen- 
ces, or with the prior approval of the Nizamat adalat in cases 
of graver charges. on-the procedures of dealing with crimes 
committed by the people from the low country or by other 
individuals subject to the general regulations and of collect- 
ing revenue, it was to be left to the governor-general for fur- 
ther orders.'" 

The important thing was to bring all the Garos, whe- 
ther dependent or tributary, under the direct British control, 
without the interposition of the zamindavs. Cleveland in 
1778 had attained the same object in Bhagalpur by making 
the country of the Ma1 Paharias "a government estate hold- - 
ing rent-free from government direct. ,9129 But the very much 
greater extent of the Garo lands, coupled with the fact that 
many Garos had long lived in the lowland areas under the 
Bengal Regulations demanded a broader plan. Scott saw 
that a separate administration was essential. As had hap- 
pened in the case of the tribes of Chota Nagpur and Pala- 
mau,130 the introduction of the 'Cornwallis system' with scant 
respect for tribal language and tribal custom had done little 
justice to the Garos of the north-east frontier of Bengal. Thc 

- 

tribemen. slibjected to an alien judicial system administered 
by men who neither spoke nor understood their language, 
had been driven into a hostile isolation. Scott argued that his 
new plan would remove this anomaly and attain the secur- 
ity and general welfare of the ~ a r o s  and other hill tribes 

128 Ibid. 

'" J . H .  Hutton, op. cit., p. 418. 

'" See J .  C .  Jha, Tribal unrest on the south-rvezt Fi.ontiej- o f  the 
Bellgal Pi.esidency, 183 1-1 833, p. 3 10. 



living in the eastern part of Rangpur on the left bank of the 
Brahmaputra.lal 

Although Scott believed that trial by the commissioner, 
alone or with the aid of Garo assessors, would be the most 
efficient mode of trial, and proposed that the new regulations 
should make the commissioner the supreme judicator,'"%hc 
was conscious that more and more Garos should be employ- 
ed in the police and judicial administration. In his Draft 
Regulation of 1819 he therefore suggested rules to that end 
which might be issued by the governor-general. 

The rules had a double purpose, to give the Garo chiefs 
a share in the policing of the Garo hills, and to associate them 
with the judicial administration. The rules provided in the 
first place for the recognition of existing sardars or heads of 
villages, and of Zaskars or chiefs of the local divisions called 
duars, whose authority was established within their respective 
limits, and for the nomination of fit persons for such posts 
by the inhabitants of the village or the sardars of the division 
where none at present enjoyed such authority. 

These sardars and laskars should be responsible for report- 
ing murders and other heinous offences within their limits and - 

for attempting the discovery and apprehension of the perpe- 
trators thereof. They should also be made responsible for 
the security of the lowland territory adjoining their villages or 
duars and for preventing Garo inroads or outrages upon that 
territory, and for apprehending any Garo who should com- 
mit such outrage. To  assist them in preserving order, the 
mandals or village officers of all border lowland villages 
should be obliged to report all crimes committed by the hill- 
men both to the police officers and to the nearest Garo sardar, 
who would then, in concert with the laskars and other sardars, 
seek to trace and apprehend the offenders. In return for 
these services the lastars and sardars would be allowed a 
salary. In case of misconduct, however, they would be re- 
movable from office by the commissioner. 

For administration of justice the draft rules provided that 

131 B .C. J .C., 28 Dec. 1821, no. 88, Scott to Bayley 27 Sept. 1819. 
132 Ibid. 
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the sardar should be empowered to take cognizance of civil 
disputes between the inhabitants of his village, and thelaskar 
of such disputes between villages in his division. In either 
case the aid should be taken of a panchayat coilsisting of the 
principal husbandmen or persons chosen by the parties them- 
selves. Where a decision had to be enforced upon one of 

* 

the parties it should be first referred to the commissioner 
Petty criminal offences should be treated as civil causes and 
settled accordingly, the panchayat awarding such damages to 
the injured party as custom provided. 

Scott proposed that police davogahs should be appointed 
with the usual powers at convenient stations in the lowlands, 
but that they should take cognizance only of murder, homi- 
cide, and of robbery, theft, burglary and affrays attended 
with homicide or wounding, in the hills. Even in such cases 
the darogah should observ; the principle of securing the aid 
of the Garo sardars and laskars and of their barkandazes in 
apprehending the offenders. 

Finally Scott proposed that when the commissioner tried 
Garo cases he should be assisted by five Garo assessors. They 
should be consulted on all points connected with the peculiar 
customs and manners of the Garos, and their opinion as to 
the guilt or innocence of the prisoner should be recorded, 
though this should not bind the court in passing judgment. 
All other matters of dispute, civil or criminal, which the 
sardars and larkars were unable to settle in the manner above 
prescribed should be tried before a panchayat either appoint- 
ed by the commissioner or chosen by the parties. Their deci- 
sion if not considered by the commissioner to be obviously 
unjust, should immediately be carried into execution.133 

By using their own chiefs in police and judicial matters 
Scott hoped to make the Garos the agents in the process of 
their own civilization. Cleveland had employed this method 
in Bhagalpur, and like Cleveland Scott hoped also by this 
means to earn the hill peoples' confidence. By limiting the 
normal jurisdiction of the Company's darogahs to the low- 

''' Enclosure 2 of Scott's Draft  Regulation of 1819. 
B . C . J . C . ,  28 Dec. 1821, no. 90. 
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lands only, and making them work together with the 
sardars and laskars in arresting serious criminals, it  was in- 
tended to promote better understanding and co-operation be- 
tween the Garos and the Company's servants. But Scott's 
task was more difficult than Cleveland's, for in the Garo hills 
a strong body of organised and co-operative chiefs had in 
some measure to be created. T o  this end he proposed to 
arrange two annual assemblies of the Garo chiefs of each 
paragana where the commissioner would entertain them at 
public expense, and they would renew their fealty to the 
Government. At  these assemblies any pending criminaI 
cases would also be tried.'"' Through such regular meetings, 
and by such co-operation in the judicial administration it was 
hoped to bring into existence a powerful body of hill chiefs, 
loyal to the government and serving as useful subsidiary 
agents for the maintenance of law and order.135 

T o  these various proposals the governer-general-in-council 
and the Court of Directors eventually replied with approval. 
T h e  Governmefit resolved that the tract of the country lying 
between the rivers Sankash and Brahmaputra as well as the 
Garo hills and lowlands on the left bank of the Brahmaputra 
and the churs or islands on the latter river, which had been 
hitherto attached to the thana divisions of Dhubri and Karai- 
buri in Rangpur, be separated from the district of Rangpur 
and placed under the special charge of an officer to be deno- 
minated Civil Commissioner of the North-East parts of Rang- 
p ~ r . ' ~ ~  In December, 1821 Scott was nominated as the first 
civil commissioner of the north-east parts of Rangpur. The  
Calcutta Council speaking of the zeal and intelligence dis- 
played by Scott, expressed their desire to make use of his 
'talents and local experience'. In recognition of "the res- 
ponsibility and arduous nature of the functions" which their 
new commissioner would have to perform they allowed him 
a salary of 40,000 rupees a year, including all travelling and 

1% B . C. J . C . , 28 Dec . 182 1, no. 90, Enclosure 2 of Scott's letter of 
27 Sept. 1819. 

135 Ibid. 
13G B.C.J.C., 28 Dec., 1821. no. 100. 
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personal charges, a sum they considered to be no more than 
adequate.13' This administrative action was followed in 1822 
by legislation. The Regulation X of 1822 was passed on the 
19 September 1822, embodying Scott's proposals. Its pream- 
ble declared that "with a view to promote the desirable ob- 
ject of reclaiming these races to the habits of civilized life, 
it seems necessary that a special plan for the administration 
of j~istice, of a kind adapted to their peculiar customs and 
prejudices, should be arranged and concerted with the head- 
men, and that measures should at the same time be taken 
for freeing them from dependence on the zaminda~s of the 
British provinces. "I" Accordingly, section I1 of the Regula- 
tion separated the tract of country comprised in the thanas 
of Goalpara, Dhubri, and Karaibari irom the jurisdiction of 
the district of Rangpur and declared the operation of the 
existing Regulations to be suspended except in cases of sub- 
jects other than the Garos and other hill tribes. The new 
Regulation then defined the powers of thr civil commissioner 
for the north-east parts of Rangpur in administering civil and 
criminal justice, the collection of revenue, and the superin- 
tendence of the police. Although strictly based on Scott's 
draft, it did not incorporate all the rules which Scott had 
drafted, but it left sufficient discretion in the hands of the 
g~\~er i lment  to meet all cases that might arise subsequently. 

1" J .L.B., 1101. 8, letter of 8 Feb. 1822. 

138 R .  Clarke, T h e  Regulations o f  the Gover?znzent of Fort William 
in Bengal, Vol. IT, pp. 659-663, preamble of the Regulation of 1822. 



SCOTT'S TERRITORIAL ACQUISITION 

T h e  Burmese Threat and the A~lnexation of Lower Assam 

To THE Company the strategic north-cast frontier or Ben- 
gal meant the whole of the hill ranges surrounding the Assam 
valley, for the security of its Bengal territories rested not 
only on the peaceable demeanour of the peoples of the imme- 
diate frontier hills, but also of those of the independent regions 
such as Cachar, Assam, Manipur and Burma beyond them. 
Any power which might advance along the Brahmaputra 
into central and eastern Bengal was a potential threat. 

In the early part of the nineteenth century the Com- 
pany's government felt no fear of the Ahom dynasty in 
Assam, for its weakness was very evident. But from 1817 
the gradual rise to dominance of the Burmese in Assam de- 
manded serious attention, for it gave a new complexion to 
the problem of a Burmese threat to Rangpur and Chittagong. 
Scott saw with alarm the Burmese encroachments upon the 
Chittagong frontier, and the greater danger inherent in their 
seizure of power in the upper Brahmaputra valley, and he 
concluded that the safety of the Company's north-east fron- 
tier depended on the existence of a strong and friendly power 
in Assam. The Ahom rulers were certainly friendly but 
clearly not strong enough to stand unaided against the Bur- 
mese aggressors. Therefore, Scott argued, the British should 
intervene on their behalf, driving out the Burmese, and mak- 
ing the Assamese strong friendly neighbours. Scott held 
and expressed these views strongly. The purpose of this 
chapter is to show the dominant role which the opinions of 
this trusted frontier oflicer played in the preparation of 
Amherst's controversial1 Burmese war. 

The  President of the Board of Control, C .  W .  Willian~s Wynn, was 
to comment on this war that Britain could not conquer the world out 
of 'mere humanity' just because Britons believed that only under their 
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Scott first came into contact with the confused politics of 
Ahom Assam as magistrate of Rangpur. The old king 
Suklitlgpha Kamaleswar Sing11 (1795-181 1) died in January 
1811 and thereafter a struggle for power developed between 
members of the royal line and their hereditary prime minis- 
ters-the brrmgohazns. In February, 1814, the young raja 
(19 years), Chandra Kanta, brother of Kamaleswar, wrote to 
the governor-general, Lord Hastings, recalling the friend- 
ship extended to his family by Lord Minto, his immediate 
predecessor, and asking for assistance in quelling the inter- 
nal dissensions within his kingdom. The raja mentioned 
the incursions of the Nora,   ham ti, Dafla and Moamaria 
tribes, the plundering of Parganas in Karnrup and on the 
Bijni boundary2 by such rebels as Manik Chand, and the threat 
of invasion from Rangpur district by a royal pretender, Bra- 
janath Kunwar, aided by an adventurous English trader 
Robert Bruce, who owned a factory at Jugighopa."~ was 
with this last threat that Scott was immediately concerned, 
for the Supreme Government ordered him to take prompt 
and rigorous measures to prevent any such invasions. This 
was a duty, they felt, "imposed on the British government 
no less by its subsisting relation with that power, than by a 

- 

regard for the tranquillity of its own possessions which must 
be endangered by the proceedings under c~nsideration."~ 

This open attack upon the raja's position Scott duly 
p re~en ted .~  But more difficult to deal with were the pleas 
of an envoy Badan Chandra Barphukan, through whom the 

rule were people happy. See G . D .  Bearce, British Attitudes Towards 
India, 1784-1858, p. 50. 

B .P . C . , 29 Apr. 1814, no. 51. T h e  Raja of Assam to the Governor 
General, received on 3 Feb. 1814. 

B.P.C., 29 Apr. 1814, no. 23, Scott to Adam, 18 Apr. 1814. 
Brajanath was a great-grandson of King Rajeshwar Singha (1751-69). 
For details about this prince, see Bhuyan, Anglo-Ar;amese Relations, 
pp. 443-447. Robert Bruce, who appeared before David Scott on Apr. 
25, 1814, stated that he was a native of India, see B . P . C .  29 Apr. nos. 
24, 59. 

B . P  .C. ,  29 Apr. 1814, no. 52, Adam to Scott, 29 Apr . 1814. 
B . P . C . ,  13 May 1814, nos. 58-59. Scott to Adam, 29 Apr. 1814. 



raja appealed for help against the buragohain,* who was 
alleged to be keeping the raja virtually a prisoner. The 
letter the envoy bore complained about the continued enmity 
of the buragohain, who was accused of poisoning the raja's 
father and uncle and of putting to death nearly one thou- 
sand persons who, being faithful servants of the royal family, 
had ventured to remonstrate against his mischievous proceed- 
ings. The raja sought British help against this one man's 
tyranny, reminding Lord Hastings that the Company had 
previously given help to Raja Gaurinath (1780-1795). He 
asked for at least six companies of sipahis to be sent to his 
aid, declaring his readiness in return to become a tributary 
ruler under British protection, and to pay a sum of one lakh 
and a half of Narayani rupees. He also promised a favour- 
able settlement of custom dues for the benefit of both the 
British traders and his own g~vernment .~  

The government, which had recognized a special rela- 
tionship with the royal family in 1814, declined in 1815 to 
take any action on Chandra Kanta's behalf. The secretary 
to the governor-general wrote to Scott to say "the British 
government not being bound by any engagements to sup- 
port the raja and being connected with the government of 
Assam merely by the general relation of amity and friend- 
ship it cannot consistently with its own principles of policy 
comply with the Raja's solicitation while the government of 
Assam shall continue to maintain with us the same friendly 
relations which now exist, and while the domestic feuds of 
the government are not of a nature to affect the tranquillity 
of the Company's provinces we are necessarily precluded 
from interference in its internal affairs and you will accord- 
ingly be pleased to observe generally to the raja's agent in 
reply to his propositions that our policy is merely to attend 
to the concerns of our own government and not to inter- 

* Bul-agoh&n when used as official designation means one of the three 
great ministers of the Ahom government. 

B.P.C., 8 Dec. 1815, no. 53, enclosure 2, Raja Chandra Kanta's 
letter of 28 Kartic 1822 (I3 S.); B.P.C., 8 Dec. 1815, nos. 52-53 (I), 
Scott to Adam, 15 Nov. 1815. 

F. 5 
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fere into those of other states even although the greatest 
advantage be offered as the price of our interference."' 
Scott duly performed his task of politely refusing the agent 
of the raja, and there the matter ended. 

On 17 May, 1817, however, Scott had to report that 
since the British had refused to help resolve the conflicts 
within the Ahom kingdom, Badan Chandra had sought the 
aid of the Burmese, with whose help the buragohain had 
been expelled. What is more, though the expelled burago- 
ihain Purnananda died soon after, his eldest son Ruchinath 
had taken post at Gauhati and another son Jagannath, a 
dhekhial phukan, had arrived at Rungpur to invite the 
exiled Brajanath Kunwar to ascend the throne, and to coliiit 
British armed inter~ention.~ Three days later, Scott giving 
d 6 more precise information on Assam", reported that the 
army which had entered Assam was not composed of 
~ u r h e s e  and Cachar people but of the subjects of ;he rajas 
of Moran, Khamti and Singpho-the three independent 
chiefs whose territories lay between Assam and Ava.' 

Scott also reported the immediate action he had taken 
in response to the pleas of Ruchinath Buragohain and of 
Brajanath Kunwar who had also waited on him.'' He had 

7 B.P.C., 8 Dec. 1815, no. 54, Adam to Scott, 8 Dec. 1815. 
B.P.C., 24 May 1817, no. 32, Scott to Adam, 17 May 1817. See also 

G. Borooah, Assam Buranji, p. 192. 
B.P.C., 31 May 1817, nos. 91-92, Scott to Adam, 20 May 1817. As 

will be seen Scott's earlier information was more correct for it was the 
Burmese, assisted by these people who invaded Assam. There are 
evidences of grievance of the Burmese against the Ahoms. 

See G. C. Barua, Ahom Buranji, pp. 375-6, and J.A.S.B., Aug. 1838, 
p. 673 about the Burmese grievances against Purnananda Buragohain 
who had given support to the refractory Shans or Naras. In Assamese 
parlance the country and tribe of Sukapha's origin (Shan state of 
Maulung in the kingdom of Mungmau or Pong) are both known as 
Nara. See Bhuyan, Ang.-Ass.-Relations, p. 2 and n. 4. 
lo Towards the end of 1817 Jagannath Dhektal Phukan appeared 

before Scott, with an application for military assistance or permission 
to purchase and transport to Assam 700 stand of fire arms. A few days 
'later Brajanath himself met Scott. See B.P.C., 31 May 1517, nos. 91-92, 
Scott to Adam, 20 May, 1817. 



informed the Buragohain's men that as it was inconsistent 
with the principle of the British government to interfere with 
the internal concerns of foreign nations he was fully per- 
suaded that no military aid would be granted to them, but 
that he would nevertheless submit their request to govern- 
ment. He also told them that though he was not Jware 
of any objections to Brajanath Kunwar's proceeding to 
Assam unaccompanied by any armed force, the latter would 
be required to secure the British government's previous sanc- 
tion for his departure. Scott also explained to Brajanath 
that he could not be allowed to take any military force with 
him and that in the event of his again being compelled to 
take refuge in British territory, government would not then 
sanction the renewal of his pension. But Brajanath decided 
to leave for Assam on any terms." Following Ruchinath 
Buragohain's plan, Brajanath, with his son, arrived safely 
at Jorhat. There was no opposition worth the name, and 
Raja Chandra Kanta fled to Rangpore.* Though unfor- 
tunately, Brajanath could not be enthroned as he had a scar 
on his body, which was a disqualification for the raj accord- 
ing to Ahom custom, his son Purandar Singh was accepted 
by people as King of Assam early in 1818.12 All this time 
Scott remained under the impression that it was the Sing- 
phos, Khamtis and Moamarias and not the Burmese who 
had invaded Assam in answer to Barphukan's call for help. 

In 1819 the young buragohain and Raja Purandar 
Singh were driven from Gauhati by the hcrioll headed by 
Chandra Kanta, supported by the Burmese. In September 
both of them addressed letters to Government from their 
refuge at Chilmari, in the district of Rangpur, asking for 
British help.'-y this time the Burmese had received from 
Raja Chandra Kanta an acknowledgement of his vassal sta- 

l1 Ibid. 
"This Rangpore is in Upper Assam and from here onwards this 

spelling will be used to distinguish it from Rangpur district in Bengal. 
I%. Borooah, op. cit., pp. 192-3. 
l3 B.C., vol. 770120904, pp. 9-11; H. H. Wilson, Document5 illustra- 

tive of the Burmese War, p. 6,  Document no. 8. 
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tus and many thousand of Assamese had fled to British terri- 
tory. The question of interfering in Assam politics was 
thus again raised.14 Scott forwarded petitions from Purandar 
Singh,15 offering to become a tributary of the Company in 
return for their aid, and from Ruchinath,16 claimant to the 
post of buragohain. He also forwarded a counter-claim from 
Raja Chandra Kanta for the surrender of the two preten- 
ders.'? T o  this last, answer was made by Swinton in 1820 
that while they remained peaceable refugees the British 
government would continue to offer them asylum." It was 
not quite so easy to deal with the Buragohain's petition, 
which had also explained the power and position of the 
Assamese prime minister vis-a-vis the raja, for the Supreme 
Government felt uncertain about the Buragohain's true 
authority. "We should remark" they told the Court of Direc- 
tors, "that there is some confusion and obscurity in the peti- 
tion presented by the Bura Goheyn, he sometimes represent- 
ed himself as the adherent and supporter of Poorander 
Singh and at other times seems to state the supreme author- 
ity as resting in his own person, owing to the default of legal 
heirs to the Raj."19 Nevertheless, the government made it 
clear to the fugitives that it was not its policy to interfere in 
the internal affairs of a foreign state, nor to pronounce on 
disputed titles to the musnad, but rather to maintain friendly 
relations with whoever was the reigning prince.20 

The reply was a restatement of the position earlier taken 
up by Barlow and by the Court of Directors in relation to 

l4 B.P.C., 29 July 1820, no. 79, Scott to Swinton, 4 Sept. 1819. 
l5 B.P.C., 29 July 1820, no. 80, Scott to Swinton, 1 Nov. 1819. 
l6 B.P.C., 29 July 1820, nos. 81-82, Scott to Swinton, 27 Dec. 1819. 
l7 B .P.C., 29 July 1820, nos. 90 ~r 94. Raja Chandra Kanta's letters 

received on 8 Nov. 1819 and 14 June 1820. 
B.C., v01. 770120904, p. 14; P.L.B. 12 Sept. 1823, para 94, B.P.C., 

29 July 1820, Governor General's letter to Raja Chandra Kanta, 20 
luly 1820. 
l9 H. H. Wilson, op. cit., p. 6, Document no. 8. 
20 Ibid. 



the affairs of Rajputana and Central India." That position 
had proved untenable in the face of Pindari inroads, and 
the hopes of a self-contained peace false. Under Lord Has- 
t i ng~ ,  extensive campaigns had been necessary before the 
Pindaris were crushed, the Marathas humbled and the pesh- 
waship abolished, and all the important chiefs of India made 
to enter into treaty relations with the Company. The hope 
that the Company could remain aloof and indifferent to 
events in Assam soon proved equally misplaced. 1821 saw 
a further complication of the affairs of Ahom Assam and the 
raising of wider policy issues by Scott. In February, Scott 
reported that there were not more than one thousand Bur- 
mese in A s ~ a m ? ~  and that Raja Chandra Kanta embolden- 
ed by their slackness, was planning to throw off their yoke 
with the aid of Ahom refugees in the Company's territory.23 
He  had also to report preparations by the ex-raja Purandar 
Singh for an attack from Bhutan upon A~sarn.'~ In May, 
the Burmese declared Raja Chandra Kanta deposed for his 
connivance at the murder of their supporter Badan Chandra 
B a r p h ~ k a n . ~ ~  The Burmese installed another Ahom prince, 
Jogeswar Singh in Chandra Kanta's place, who was a mere 
puppet in their handsS2' The Calcutta Council, whose earlier 
non-interference policy had been approved by the Court of 

21 Barlow rejected the appeals of the Rajput ruler of Jaipur for pro- 
tection against the Pindaris and Marathas, declaring his determination 
to observe the principle of non-interference in the internal concerns of 
the Indian states and in their transactions with each other. The British 
government's attention would henceforth be limited to the internal 
prosperity of the Company's territory. (B.S.P.C. 13 Feb. 1806 no. 67. 
Barlow to Rajah of Jaipur, 3 Feb. 1816). Against this General Lake- 
in Scott's role-argued that to abandon the Rajput states would 
c c probably terminate in a renewal of hostilities under circumstances of 
the most serious disadvantage." (B.S.P.C. 6 Feb. 1806, no. 15, Lake 
to Barlow, 17 Jan. 1806). In the event Lake's predictions proved correct. 

22 B.P.C., 19 March 1821, no. 111, Scott to Swinton, 6 Feb. 1821. 
23 B.P.C., 19 March 1821, no. 112, Scott to Swinton, 6 Feb. 1821. 
24 B.C., vol. 770120904, pp. 19-20. 
25 H.H. Wilson, op. cit., p. 7, Document no. 8. 

'".C., vol. 770/20904, p. 21. 
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Directors,?' now began to feel that "continued refusal to 
interfere in the affairs of Assam has by no means prevented 
the troubles and discontented state of that country from pro". 
ing a source of embarrassment to the British government." 
The government of Ava had taken advantage of the dissen- 
sions prevailing in the Assamese territory to occupy the 
country, so that Burmese forces had come into contact with 
British territories at another and most inconvenient pointnZ8 

Scott took advantage of these doubts to press again for 
intervention. In his letter of 19 May he argued that the 
arrogant character of the Burmese, and their government's 
spirit of conquest must make their advance into Assam dan- 
gerous. He therefore asked "whether the interests of the - 
British government would not be best consulted by permit- 
ting the Assam refugees to obtain the necessary means for 
the expulsion of the  invader^."^' Scott offered two arguments 
for such a course: an Assamese rising against the Burmese 
was inevitable; and if, for lack of support it failed, and con- 
solidation of Burmese authority in Assam went on unham- 
pered, the Company would be driven to station a considera- 
ble force on the unhealthy eastern f r~nt ier .~ '  He added, 
that the cruelties practised by the Burmese, and the devasta- 
tion of property had made the whole people desirous of being 
relieved from them, and that all that seemed necessary to 
enable either Purandar Singh or the Buragohain to establish 
their authority, was a supply of firearms.31 

The Calcutta authorities did furnish the Buragohain with 
a rahdari pass for two hundred armed men and permitted 
him to purchase arms privately. But they did so without 
in any way accepting Scott's analysis of the situation. Since 
no effective authority existed in Assam, such limited assistance 

27 Ibid., pp. 7-8. 
2a Ibid. 

29 B.P.C., 16 June 1821, no. 69, Scott to Swinton, 19 May 1821. 
30 B.P.C., 16 June 1821, no. 69, Scott to Swinton, 19 May 1821. 

Ibid., Wilson, op. cit., p. 7, Document no. 8; B.C., Vol. 770/20904, 
pp. 22-3. 



could not be construed, they felt, as a hostile move against 
a neighbouring power," and they were careful to prevent 
any appearance of countenancing the Buragohain's attempt. 
But although the assistance rendered was meagre, Scott 
helped the fugitives to make full use of it. He issued instruc- 
tions to lieutenant McGowan of the Rangpur Local Battalion 
that the transport of arms, ammunitions, and other military 
stores to Assam be permitted and that natives of Assam 
should be at liberty to return to their country with arms 
either singly or in a body. He also allowed Hindustani 
soldiers to go to Assam provided they went ~ingly.~' 

For all the favour shown, Purandar Singh's bid failed, 
his troops being defeated by Chandra Kanta in May 1821, 
his rival for the throne, to whom Robert Bruce thereupon 
transferred his services. At the end of October 1821 it was 
Chandra Kanta's turn to apply for British assistance, through 
Robert Bruce. On Scott's advice the government issued 
orders to the Territorial Department to give effect to any 
pass that Scott might issue and to grant permission for the 
transport of military stores to Assam should application be 
made at the Pre~idency.~' Scott believing Chandra Kanta's 
position to be favourable after Purandar's defeata6 and in the 
absence of any large force of Burmese, gave permission to 
Bruce to purchase three hundred muskets and ninety maunds 
of gunpowder for Chandra Kanta?' It is to be noted that 
although at this time the Company's relations with Burma 
were strained they were not declaredly hostile. The Supreme 
Government by giving a free hand to Scott had allowed 
itself, however reluctantly, to be driven into conflict with the 
Burmese; "one of those unjustifiable and improper proceed- 

3".P.C., 16 June 1821, no. 71, Prinsep to Scott, 9 June 1821. 
" B.P.C., 26 January 1822, no. 77, Scott to Lt. Magoyan, 19 Dec. 

1821, and to Prinsep, 23 Dec. 1821. 
3".P.C., 8 Dec. 1821, nos. 81-82, Scott to Swinton, 3 Nov. 1821 and 

Swinton to Scott, 30 Nov. 1821; H. H. 127ilson, op. cit., p. 8, Document 
no. 8. 

36 B.P.C., 8 Dec. 1821, no. 81, Scott to Swinton, 3 Nov. 1821. 
36 Ibid. 
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ings," its critic declared, "which the legislature in their enact- 
ment wisely and judiciously meant to pr~hibit."~' 

Chandra Kanta's success in defeating Purandar and c a p  
turing all the districts bordering upon the Company's terri- 
tories led the enthusiastic Scott to abandon Purandar Singh 
and the Buragohain.'"ut such success also drove the 
Burmese government to send the greatest of its generals, 
Mingi Maha Bandula," to Assam with a large force in the 
month of April 1822.40 At Mahgarh, near Jorhat, a battle 
took place in which Chandra Kanta, a£ ter fighting gallantly 
for a long time, succumbed to the superior force of Bandulaa4' 
On 30 September Scott reported that Chandra Kanta had 
been expillTd from Assam by the Burmese party, and had 
fled to the chowky opposite G ~ a l p a r a . ~ ~  

Chandra Kanta's defeat marked the extinction of Ahom 
authority in Assam, for towards the end of June 1822, Mingi 
Maha Tilwa, the commanding officer of the Burmese army 
at the Assam chowky, was declared Raja of Assam. Scott 
wrote to the Supreme Government at Calcutta: "the Burmese 
having obtained complete mastery of Assam and a person 
of that nation having been appointed to the supreme autho- 
rity, the country may now be considered as a province of 
the Burman empire."43 

Though in June 1822 Scott and Lt. Davidson, who 
commanded at Goalpara, reported the Burmese peaceable, 

37 Captain W. White, A political hi;tory of the Extraordinary Events 
which led to the Burmese War, p. 118. 

38 B.C., vol. 770120904, p. 24. 
39 H e  is still a great hero in Burma, and when sovereignty was 

transferred to the Burmese by the Labour Government in 1948, the 
big square in the centre of Rangoon was renamed after him. D. 
Woodman, T h e  Making of Burma, p. 70. 

40 B.P.C. ,  6 July 1822, no. 49, Scott to Swinton, 10 July 1822; also 
in Scott's Historical Notes, B.S.P.C., 14 July 1826. 

41 B.C., vol. 770120904, p. 25. 
42 H. H. Wilson, op.  cit., p. 8, Document no. 8. 

43 B .P.C.,  26 July 1822, no. 50, Scott to Prinsep, 11 July 1822. 



they found ample cause to fear their forces." Davidson 
from his own experience knew the effectiveness of their 
swift warboats each carrying anything up to 150 armed men. 
Davidson and Scott were careful therefore not to allow 
Ahom refugees to provoke the Burmese, and Scott urged 
the despatch to the frontier of considerable  reinforcement^.^^ 
In July Scott heard from a Burmcse vakil that two months 
earlier the Burmese comma~lder Mingi Maha Tilwa had 
contemplated a full scale attack upon the Goalpara district 
with an army of 20,000 men,'" and Scott in a private 
letter addressed to George Swinton, political secretary to the 
government, .reported : the danger threatening the eastern 
frontier of Bengal. "Government will now begin to feel," 
Scott wrote, "the inconvenience Gf the line of conduct im- 
posed upon them by the Act of Parliament:' and will have 
to keep a much larger force in this quarter than would have 
sufficed in 1816."48 He then stressed the gravity of the 
Burmese menace by pointing out that the whole of Dacca, 
Mymensing, Rangpur, and Natore districts now lay at the 
mercy of the Burmese. They now commanded the river 
routes into eastern Bengal and it would be as difficult to 
fight with them on water as it was to fight against the Pindaris 
on land in South India. Their occupation of the Brahma- 
putra valley had changed the whole complexion of the Bur- 
mese problem. It would be a great miscalculation, Scott 
thought, to judge the capacities of the Burmese in control of 
the Brahmaputra simply by the slow movements of their 
troops in the mountainous tract bordering on Chittagong 
and Tipperah. From the !Brahmaputra valley they could 

44 B.C., vol. 770120904, p. 41. Reports of various outrages, committed 
on the British frontier villages by the Burmese troops had been 
received by Scott; H. H. Wilson, op. cit., p. 8, Document no. 8. 

45 Ibid. 
46 B.C. vol. 770/20904, p. 45. 

47 Meaning the 'Charter Act of 1793', which laid down that the 
pursuit of schemes of conquest and extension of dominion in India 
were repugnant to the wish, honour and policy of British nation. 

4s  B.P.C., 26 July 1822, no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 10 July 1822. 
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easily sail down and sack Dacca and the adjoining districts, 
and against such a naval attack the superior discipline of 
the British troops would not be of much use."' 

Despite the government's plain statement in 1820 that 
it was not concerned with the internal politics of Assam, and 
despite the falsification of his hopes first of Purandar Singh 
and then of Chandra Kanta, Scott continued to develop and 
press for a forward policy in Assam. He pointed out that 
the Burmese had laid claim to Dacca and that in 1793 Captain 
Cox had represented to the Burmese government that Assam 
was a tributary of the British government. "It does not 

6 L require much -insight into ~ s i a b c  politics," he said, to en- 
able me to predict that they will not neglect the first oppor- 
tunity of asserting their claims under the encouragement of 
being alloweci quietly to possess themselves of a country that 
we not long ago declared to be a dependency of ours."50 

Scott's forceful advocacy did induce the government to 
adopt various precautionary measures. The whole frontier 
was placed under the special command of a lieutenant-colonel 
assisted by a brigade-major. The river Tista was considered 
to be the western boundary of his command, which includ- 
ed the frontier districts of Rangpur, Dacca, Sylhet and Tip- 
perah. The particular threat from the Burmese war boats 
was also tackled by the despatch of oared boats of the longest 
size, armed with a twelve-pounder carronade in the bows 
and a party of five golandazes (matchlockmen) per boat. 
Later, Lord Hastings reporting to London on the Burmese 
conquest of Assam, said that there was not the remotest 
danger of a rupture with the Burmese. Only because the 
accumulation of disorderly tiroops 'ion the Assam-Bengal 
border exposed British villages to marauding parties had it 
been thought necessary to reinforce that frontier?' 

Yet it is clear that the addition of six hundred miles 
to the Anglo-Burmese border did increase the danger of 

4VIb2'd. 
50 B.P.C., 26 July 1822, no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 10 July 1822. 
5' Home Misc., vol. 673, pp. 659-60, extract from a letter of Marquis 

of Hastings dated Calcutta, 27 July 1822. 
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conflict and the strategic importance of the Bengal frontier 
regions. By the end of August, 1822, Scott was able to 
point to one clear case of Burmese aggression-the occupa- 
tion of an island in the Brahmaputra near Goalpara which 
had been in British hands. He made this the occasion to 
stress the impolicy of submitting to such Burmese provoca- 
tion, the more so as Burmese reinforcements were known 
to be moving up." But the government rather pooh-poohed 
Scott's report about the island incident and he was gently 
reproved for being so bellicose and alarmist about "points 
of no importance, where expense may be entailed withou: 
possibility of ad~antage.'"~ The report was softened by 
giving to Scott the charge of direct relations with Sikkim, 
in addition to his other duties, on the death of the previous 
superintendent Major Latter?' However, by' the autumn 
of 1823 Scott's warnings about Burmese intentions and his 
proposals for active measures came to seem more reasonable. 
In 0ctober Swinton told Scott of Burmese attacks upon an 
island in the Naaf river (in the Chittagong district) and 
their threats to commence a general invasion if their pos- 
session of it were disputed. He also announced precautionary 
troop movements to Rangpur, Sylhet and Dac~a .~ '  

This letter of Swinton's crossed with one of Scott's, also of 
31 Oct. 1823, in which he pressed for action. Though he 
was sure the Burmese in Assam had no intention of com- 
mitting any hostile act there, he saw in the Chittagong dis- 
pute an occasion for settling the problem of security along 
the whole eastern frontier. Any rupture with Ava over the 
Naaf river island should be followed by the march of a 
Company's force into Assam "when there is not a doubt 
that the inhabitants of the country would rise in all directions 
upon the Burmese, who do not at present exceed 1,000 men, 
and cut them off in detail."56 In a private letter to Swinton, 

62 B.P.C., 27 Sept. 1822, no. 68, Davidson to Scott, 25 Aug. 1822. 
63 B.P.C., 27 Sept. 1822, no. 69, Swinton to Scott, 27 Sept. 1822. 
" B.P.C., 27 Sept. 1822, no. 65, Swinton to Scott, 27 Sept. 1822. 
'".S.P.C., 31 Oct. 1823, no. 15, Swinton to Scott, 31 Oct. 1823. 
66 B.S.l'.C., 14 Nov. 1823, no. 13, Scott to Swinton, 31 Oct. 1823. 
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Scott put it, "the best and cheapest defence of this frontier 
would be the invasion of Assam."" Even if the existing 
differences" with the Burmese Court were adjusted by 
negotiations, the evacuation of Assam by the Burmese "should 
be insisted upon as a sine qua non-were it even at the ex- 
pense of our paying to them the annual tribute they at pre- 
sent derive from that country, and which does not probably 
exceed a lac of  rupee^."'^ Should force be needed to evict 
the Burmese from- Assam Scott thought that eight to nine 
hundred infantry, two risnlas of irregular cavalry, six field 
pieces, and a few battering guns "in case of accidents" 
would suffice. Of no less interest were Scott's comments 
upon what should be done after the Burmese had been 
evicted, peacefully or otherwise, from Assam. Scott assumed 
that a native ruler whoever might seem to have the best claim 
to be raja would be installed. But he did not believe that 
a satisfactory administration would emerge without British 
tutelage. "The imbecility, rapacity and barbarous cruelty of 
the Assam native administration having always been remark- 
able even amongst Asiatic states," he held out little hope 
"that such rulers should improve in the art of governing 
when relieved from the risk of . .  .rebellion or foreign in- 
vasion." He  therefore urged the need to provide such a 
ruler with a subsidiary force, or with oficers to discipline 
the native Assamese forces. H e  also pressed that the Com- 
pany should insist upon a rigid observance of the commer- 
cial treaty of 1793, "owing to the infringement of which a 
great loss is sustained to the British merchants and also by 
the government in a diminished demand for Bengal salt oc- 
casioned by the exorbitant price to which it is now raised."" 
Finally Scott urged, with passion, that the Company should, 
from the first avow its right to interfere in the internal 
administration of the country." 

57 B. S . P  .C. ,  14 Nov. 1823, no. 16, Scott to Swinton, 31 Oct. 1823. 
58  The Sahapuri and other incidents on the Chittagong border. 
" B .S .P  .C., 14 Nov. 1823, no. 16, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 

31 Oct. 1823. I 

60 B.S.P.C., 14 Nov. 1823, no. 16, Scott to Swinton, 31 Oct. 1823. 
61 Ibid. 
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Scott, in a most interesting passage, attacked the wisdom 
of past treaties of subsidiary alliance under which such in- 
terference had been excluded. "Policy and justice alike 
require an open and previously understood departure from 
the principle that has hitherto formed the basis of our tri- 
butary alliances, viz. that we shall not interfere in the inter- 
nal administration of the dependent prince. This principle 
of the international law of the European states appears to 
be founded upon a consideration of the nature of the Feudal 
and Representative Governments of that portion of the globe, 
which sufficiently provided against any gross mismanagement 
on the part of the dependent Ally and rendered unnecessary 
the interference of the Protecting state." But in India, where 
the Company was dealing with despotic governments-and 
Assam was a very bad example-"the impracticality of re- 
conciling the actual observance of this system with the plainest 
dictates of justice and humanity, has repeatedly forced the Bri- 
tish government to acts of at least a questionable colour." 
Better, then, Scott argued, establish the right to interfere.B2 

Scott's arguments might not have carried much weight 
with Calcutta had not events in Cachar and Manipur increased 
the tension. These two petty states had known no peace 
for years. Manipur had been forced to acknowledge Burmese 
suzerainty in 1812. Cachar, under a succession of weak rulers 
had become an easy prey to invasions from Manipur and 
Jaintia. In the early years of the century the rulers of 
Manipur had fled to- &char whenever the; were seriously 
threatened by the B~rmese:~ and in 1823 the legitimate 
ruler of Cachar Gobind Chandra was expelled by Manipuri 
adventurers. Gobind Chandra had thereupon appealed to the 
Burmese for help. 

In November 1823 a Burmese force began concentrating: - - 
at Gauhati, and Scott, fearing they were destined for an 
advance into Cachar, warned the Burmese on 24 November 

62 B.S.P.C., 14 Nov. 1823, no. 16, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 
31 Oct. 1823. 

63 See J. M. Roy, The History of Manipur, pp. 63-68. 
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that an alliance existed between the English and Cachar." 
On 28 November Amherst gave Scott authority to move 
troops from Sylhet into Cachar if his warning went unheed- 
ed.65 On 1 December Scott repeated his warning in the 
governor-general's name." O n  15 December news was sent 
by Bruce at Gauhati of three thousand Burmese troops hav- 
ing a~lvanced.'~ 

Scott, forwarding this news to Calcutta, outlined the 
political or military measures which he thought might be 
taken. His first proposal was for a military advance up 
river towards Assam to compel the Burmese to abandon 
their movement into Cachar. His second was for an alliance 
with the ruler of Jaintia. His third was for a joint Anglo- 
Burmese guarantee of the independence of Gobind Chandra, 
as ruler of Cachar.", T o  this news government reacted 
first by expressing some doubt as to the reality of the reported 
move on Cachar or at least as to its seriousness, and then by 
giving a reluctant permission to take the proposed military 
measures, but only if matters came to extremities. The 
proposal for a joint guarantee of Gobind Chandra was dis- 
allowed since it would give to the Burmese that very right 
to interfere in Cachar which it was wished to prevent.6g 

Meanwhile, on 14 January 1824, Scott hearing of a con- 
tinuing Burmese advance had ordered Major Cooper to 
advance up river towards Goalpara, and had himself set off 
for Sylhet.70 By the 19th Scott was reporting a first clash 
with Burmese forces:' at Bikrampur, in which the Com- 
pany's troops had won the day. Scott sought to press the 

64 B.S.P.C., 12 Dec. 1823, no. 3, Scott to Burmese officer command- 
ing, 24 Nov. 1823. 
6Q.S.P.C., 28 Nov. 1823, no. 6, Swinton to Scott, 28 Nov. 1823. 
" B.S.P.C., 2 Jan. 1824, no. 14, Scott to Swinton, 15 Dec. 1823. 
67 B.S.P.C., 9 Jan. 1824, no. 1 ,  Scott to Swinton, 19 Dec. 1823. 
6s Ibid. 

69 B.S.P.C., 17 Jan. 1824, no. 6, Swinton to Scott, 17 Jan. 1824. 
70 B.S.P.C., 30 Jan. 1824, no. 17, Scott to Swinton, 14 Jan. 1824. 
" B.S.P.C., 30 Jan. 1824, nos. 8-9, Scott to Swinton, 19 Jan. 1824. 



advantage, diplomatic as well as military, by advancing into 
Assam, but though Scott was authorised to expel the 
Burmese from Cachar whilst the season was still favourable, 
he was told not to commit the Company to an attack on 
Assam." On 22 January, after moving from Sylhet : to 
Badarpur, Scott opened commuoications with the Burmese 
~ommander.~" 

On the 23rd he wrote to the Burmese commander 
requesting him to withdraw from Cachar." On the 25th he 
privately wrote to Swinton for the reinforcements he obviously 
hoped would have to be used. His mind was also actively 
considering the advantages of seizing the southern bank of 
the Brahmaputra as far as Gauhati, and of constructing a 
road thence to link up with Sylhet.'" On 1st February he 
received the Burmese commander's reply, declaring that his 
orders were to pursue the Manipurians into English territory 
if they were not surrendered." On the 2nd Scott warned 
them against any advance, and threatened action against 
Assam should they move. Meanwhile, having warned the 
Burmese that Jaintia was under British pr~tection;'~ Scott 
was busy threatening the raja of that territory to prevent his 
submitting to them." 

On the 6th February Scott wrote another long and 
detailed analysis of the danger threatening -:Bengal while 
the Burmese were allowed to hold Assam. Calling upon 

72 B. S . P  .C., 30 Jan. 1824, nos. 13-14, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 
20 Jan. 1824 and Swinton's reply, 27 Jan. 1824. 
73 B.S.P.C., 6 Feb. 1824, no. 6, Scott to Swinton, 25 Jan. 1824. 
'* B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 9, Scott to Burmese commander, 23 

Jan. 1824. 
75 B.S.P.C., 6 Feb. 1924, no. 6, Scott to Swinton, 25 Jan. 1824. 
'' B.S.P.C., Translation of a letter from the Burmese chief com- 

mander Mingi Maha Nanda Kroden. B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 7. 
" B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 9, Scott to Burmese commander, 2 

Feb. 1824. 
B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 8, Scott to Swinton, 3 Feb. 1824. 

The Burmese claimed to have inherited suzerainty over Jaintia from 
the Assam ruler. 
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the experience of Symes embassy to Ava7' he painted a vivid 
and alarming picture of Burmese war boats speeding to 
the plunder of monsoon inundated Bengali villages. 
Against such enemies no defence was possible except their 
expulsion from their base in Assam." By the 10th Amherst 
and his council were so far convinced of the inevitabilitv of 
war that they wrote to Bombay and Madras asking for their 
military support." On that day Scott asked for permission 
to set in motion the advance from G~alpara. '~ 

After rejecting all Assamese appeals for aid in 1820 the 
British Government had come by stages first to permit 
unofficial countenance of arms running and invasion, then 
to a more positive belief in the neid to encourage the 
Assamese to expel the Burmese invaders and the Cacharis 
to stand agains; them,83 and finally to accept Scott's argu- 
ments for an advance into Lower Assam. Swinton in 
November 1823 reported that government had admitted 
that a British advance to Gauhati and the occupation of the 

6 6 valley between Gauhati and Goalpara was necessary even 
as a measure of defensive policy."" Scott in his letter to 
the Burmese commander in Cachar could at last boldly say: 
"Hitherto you have experienced the advantage of being at 

7"odawpaya's conquests had created a frontier situation necessitat- 
ing British political intercourse with Burma and Captain Michael 
Symes was the first of the three envoys who were sent to Ava in 
the eighteenth century. Symes visited Ava both in 1795 and in 1802 
(Cambridge History of India, vol. V ,  p. 559). In his A n  account of  
an embassy to the Kingdom of Aua i n  the year 1795, Symes gives a 
vivid picture of the well-equipped Burmese war boats and their 
4 4  extremely impetuous" attack. H e  says: "By far the most respectable 
part of the Birman military force is their establishment of war-boats." 

See Lt.-Col. Michael Symes, op. cit., vol. 11, pp. 58-60. 
B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 16, Scott to Swinton, 6 Feb. 1924. 
B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, nos. 1, 2, 3. Council's letter to Presidencies, 

10 Feb. 1824. 
82 B.S.P.C., 20 Feb. 1824, no. 7, Scott to Swinton, 10 Feb. 1824. 
83 B.S.P.C., 14 Nov. 1823, no. 17, Swinton to Scott, 17 Nov. 1823. 

84 B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 17, Swinton to Scott, 13 Feb. 1824. 



peace with us, now, if you insist upon war you will also taste 
its bittter fr~its." '~ 

On 20 February 1824, a resolution of the governor-gene- 
ral-in-council, reviewing Burmese actions in Arakan, Cachar 
and Assam declared that they "must be regarded as having. 
placed the two countries in a state of actual war." They 
further resolved "that the force assembled at Goalpara be 
ordered to advance upon Gauhati. . . to expel the enemy 
from the commanding position which they occupy at the 
upper part of the Brahmaputra." They had at last been 
convinced by Scott that only thus could Bengal be safe- 
guarded." On 5 March war was publicly declared and on 
the 13th the British forces moved forward from their camp 
at Goalpara under the command of Lt. Col. George 
MacM~rine.'~ 

Scott played a great part in planning and carrying out 
the military operations during the Burmese war. Even 
after war had been declared and the troops set in motion, 
it was the civilian Scott who guided the advance of the force, 
supplying information regarding the  state of 'roads, thc 
possibility of obtaining supplies, and the attitude of the local 
people of the country.8B 

In all his despatches about the Burmese in Assam Scott 
had shown himself keenly aware of the strength and weak- 
nesses of the Company's defences, and particularly concerned 
about the Burmese naval threat to Eastern Bengal. Scott 

H.H. Wilson, op. cit. Document no. 22(d). 
86 B.S.P.C., 20 Feb. 1824, no. 13. Resolution of the Governor- 

General-in-Council, 20 Feb. 1824; B.S.P.C., 20 Feb. 1824, no. 15, 
Swinton to Scott. 20 Feb. 1824, H. H. Wilson, op. cis., pp. 28-33, 
Documents nos. 28-29. 

87 H. H. Wilson, Historical sketch of the Burmese war, p. 18. 
'' Lt. Col. J. MacMorine was in regular correspondence with Scott. 

"I feel extremely obliged" he wrote, "by your kind and free com- 
munications and suggestions on the subject which your knowledge 
of the country and people renders you of course more capable of 
forming a correct judgment on the means to be employed than what 
I can possibly devise . . . ." MacMorine to Scott, 10 Feb. 1824. 
B.S.P.C., 12 March 1824, no. 17; Home Misc., vol. 662, pp. 434-9- 

F. 6 
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had visualised three possible Burmese invasion routes: the 
first from Manipur by Tipperah and Cachar; the second by 
Cachar and Jaintia and the third from Assam by the 
Brahmaputra.'' From the first route he expected little 
danger, since it ran through jungle almost impenetrable at 
any season of the year, and with the minimum of British mili- 
tary support could be defended by the inhabitants of Tipperah. 
The second and the third routes needed immediate atten- 
tion. To the military commander Lt. Col. MacMorine he 
wrote of the third route, down the Brahmaputra, "I must 
confess that after mature reflection on this subject during 
the course of several years I am unable to devise any effec- 
tual and readily practicable means of meeting it other than 
that of expelling the Burmese from the upper part of the 
river.'"0 That was because the Burmese war canoes with 
a speed of 8-10 miles an hour, once they had broken 
through the Company's flotilla at Goalpara could never be 
caught by British gunboats with a speed of only 4 to 5 
miles an hour?' When in February the Government 
ordered an advance from Goalpara up the Assam valley 
they were putting into practice the measure so often urged 
by Scott to meet the greatest Burmese threat. The subse- 
quent military operations, as Scott had foreseen, put paid to 
any possible Burmese thrust down the Brahmaputra. 

But Scott, while assisting the successful military advance 
up the Brahmaputra did not cease to try to ward off the other 
danger he had foreseen-that of a Burmese advance through 
Cachar and Jaintia. Here his chosen method was diplo- 
matic. On 6 March he concluded a treaty with Raja Gobind 
Chandra of Cachar, by which the latter placed Cachar under 
British p r o t e c t i ~ n . ~ ~  On the loth, he secured a similar 
treaty with Raja Ram Singh of Jaintia, the raja promising 
to give his military support to the Company by advancing 

89 B.S.P.C., 13 Feb. 1824, no. 16, Scott to MacMorine, 6 Feb. 1824. 
" Obid. 
91 Ibid. 
92 Treaty with Cachar made by David Scott on 6 March 1824. 

B.S.P.C., 2 April 1824, no. 7. 
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to attack the Burmese east of Ga~hat i . "~  On the 20th Scott 
agreed with Raja Gambhir Singh of Manipur to supply him 
with arms for the recovery of Manipur from the Burmese?' 
On the 2lst and 24th Scott made arrangements with raja 
of Khvrim and Sulang, one of the rulers of the Khasi hills, 
for the passage of Scott and his troops through the hills to 
Gauhati, the raja opening a dak route and improving the 
road in return for a small jagir." To  all these efforts to 
secure the eastern flank of Bengal and Sylhet-efforts made 
in the midst of active military preparation-the governor- 
general-in-council accorded a gratified approval." Scott also 
sought to use Assamese dislike of the Burmese." He  had 
assured the government of the likelihood of Assamese sup- 
port and received sanction for appeals to them to rise. He 
had hopes also of securing the services of other tribes such 
as the Singhos and Khamtis. 

Col. MacMorine on 13 March led his troops from 
Goalpara towards Gauhati along both banks of the Brahma- 
putra. At this time Scott's early presence in Assam had 
been declared an 'object of the highest importance' for the 
government.88 Scott therefore prepared to leave Sylhet for 
the Assam valley.Qs His flank-march with an escort of three 
companies of the 23rd Native Infantry over the Jaintia hills 

" Treaty with Jaintia, B.S.P.C. 2 April 1824, nos. 8-9. 

" B.S.P.C., 2 Apr. 1824, no. 22, Scott to Swinton, 20 March 1824. 

" B .S  .P.C. ,  2 Apr. 1824, nos. 10 and 16, Scott's private letters to 
Swinton of 21 March 1824 and of 24 March 1824. 

" B.S.P.C.. 2 Apr. 1824, no. 13, Swinton to Scott. 2 Apr. 1824. 

!'' In a proclaination to the Assatnese soon after the British Troops 
cntered the territory of Assam Scott recounted the miserable condition 
of the local inhabitants under the Burmese rule of terror and sought 
to incite the As~a~ncse  to wreak venCTeance on the remnant of those 

.ti 
tvho hnci cnusetl them so many calamlt~es, by he!ping the British army. 

See, Holne hlisc., ~ o l .  662. pp. 169-1 75. 

" B.S.P.C., 12 March 1824, no. 23, Swinton to Scott, 12 March 
1824. 

"!' B.S.P.C., 2 March 1824, no. 12? Scott to Swinton. 
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formed Scott's chief contribution to the campaign.loO He 
secured co-operation in this march of the raja of Jaintia and 
his brother-in-law Esang Kunwar,"' and was much assisted 
by Durgaram Khound, a one-time Kkargharia Phukan (one 
in charge of magazine), whose local knowledge of the 

Nowgong area was to prove invaluable and who later showed 
great courage when employed by the intelligence depart- 
ment.lo2 By 14 April Scott had reached Raha chowky and 
he thereupon set off for Kaliabar, hoping to link up with 
Colonel MacMorine's force and prevent any return of the 
Burmese who had withdrawn when the raja of Jaintia's 
forces advanced.'" On 15 April he arrived at Nowgong, 
seventy-five miles up river from Gauhati. 

Nowgong was then one of the largest towns in Assam, 
extending for some seven miles along both banks of the 
Kalang river, and containing some four thousand families.lO' 
Here in Nowgong, which was and still is, the granary of 
Assam, Scott first learnt about the paiq systemlo5 of labour 
contributions to the State and immediately took advantage 
of the system by commuting the service of 500 of the exist- 
ing paiks in return for the supply of 4,000 maunds of rice. 
The remaining crown p a i k ~  were asked to clean, store and 
to take care of this rice as their labour service.lo6 

Not content with these immediate practical measures, 
Scott was seen assessing the strategic importance of Now- 
gong. On 16 April he wrote to Calcutta recommending 
that the 2nd Battalion of the 23rd Regiment should be posted 

loo E.B. Shaw, 'The First Burmese War and the British Conquest 
of Assam,' Assam Review, May 1928, p. 16. The  long-term import- 
ance of Scott's march was that it led to the British occupation of the 
Khasi-Hills. 

lol B.S.P.C. ,  30 Nov. 1827, no. 4, Scott to Sterling, 11 Sept. 1826. 
lo2 B .S.P.C. ,  16 Nov. 1827, nos. 48-49, Scott to Swinton, 10 Sept. 

1827. 
lo3B. S .P.C., 7 May 1824, no. 6, Scott to Swinton, 14 Apr. 1824. 
lo4 B . S . P . C., 7 May 1824, no. 7, Scott to Swinton, 16 Apr. 1824. 
lo5 See chapter IV. (1). 
lo6 B.S.P.C.,  7 May 1824, no. 7, Scott to Swinton, 16 Apr. 1824- 



at Nowgong both with reference to the expediency of keep- 
ing up a sufficient force in Assam and also because the town 
was likely to prove much more healthy and better provisioned 
than any other part of the frontier. The cantonment for 
the troops, he pointed out, would be built by the pai& with- 
out any expense to the Company. Scott made the further 
point that the maintenance of a body of troops at Nowgong 
was also required on account of the marriage ties between 
the Burmese and many of the chief inhabitants, whose 
wives, daughters and female relations had been given to, or 
forcibly taken by the Burmese conquerors. In consequence 
of this state of things the chief people of Nowgong were, 
Scott thought, perhaps less inclined to a change of masters 
than those in any other considerable district in Assam.lo7 
The general masses, Scott reported, felt the utmost satisfac- 
tion at the arrival of the British troops.lo8 

The first phase of the campaign in Assam ended in 
July when Col. Richards, who had succeeded to the com- 
mand in AssamlW returned to Gauhati after the Burmese 
retreat to Maramukh. Up to this time the result had been 
decidedly in favour of the English. 

Throughout this period, as government had requested, 
Scott had been in constant touch with Col. Richards, pour- 
ing out ideas and suggestions. He had ordered the building 
of cantonments at Nowgong,"' he urged the procurement 
of Tibetan mules,"' Assamese bullocks or Dangar porters of 
Ranghar112 for the next advance into Upper Assam or the 
invasion of Burma. But throughout July and August his 
great preoccupation came to be with Col. Richards himself, 
who wished to retire upon Gauhati after his success. Scott 

lo7 Ibid. 
lo8 Ibid. 
log On 30 May Brig. MacMorine died of cholera and Col. Richards 

took the charge of C.-in-C. 
'lo B.S.P.C., 7 May 1824, no. 7, Scott to Swinton, 16 Apr. 1824. 
'11 B.S.P.C., 1 Oct. 1824, nos. 26-27, Scott to Swinton, 10 Sept. 

1824. 
'12 B.S.P.C., 9 Apr. 1824: no. 5, Scott to Swinton, 28 March 1824. 
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pessed for the continuance of the corps at Raha chowky, 
whence the newly liberated Assamese could be protected 
from Burmese revenge and the invasion route to Cachar 
could be blocked.'13 To  this, however, Col. Richards could 
not be persuaded to agree, despite Scott's appeals to him 
and to Swinton. Scott feared that all would be undone by 
the British withdrawal of their !protecting forces, and he 
later expressed his belief that if Col. Richards had advanced 
soon aftt, the occupation of Gauhati, the greater part of 
Assam could have been cleared of the enemy-their num- 
bers and their equipment being in no way formidable. A 
forward march, he thought, would also have effectively 
prevented the enemy from recruiting their finances by con- 
tributions levied from Nowgong and elsewhere."' He  was 
particularly unhappy about -~iFhards' decision to withdraw 
because it upset his plans for the establishment of. commer- 
cial links with the country to the east of Assam. Even at 
this very early stage, Scott had opened up relations with 
the hereditary chiefs of Burmese-held Mogaon by sending 
Assamese messengers to his court. A withdrawal now 
would destroy the favourable impression Scott had made 
and destroy all hopes of future trade  relation^."^ 

The government had recognized, before hostilities had 
begun, that any advance into Assam would commit them to 
supporting its inhabitants against the Burmese."' But, as 
their enquiries from Scott made clear, they had in mind 
that such protection should be afforded by means of a defen- 
sive alliance with one of the Ahom princes. This Scott op- 
posed: any declaration on the subject of setting up a native 
prince in Assam, he argued, was "premature and impolitic'' 
as it would discourage the people who had lost all confidence 

113 B.S.P.C., 23 July 1824, nos. 9-10. 

11* Home Misc., vol. 663, pp. 755-765, Scott to Swinton, 16 Oct. 
1824; B.S.P.C., 29 Oct. 1824, nos. 25-26. 

B.S.P.C., 29 Oct. 1824, nos. 25-26, Scott to Swinton, 16 Oct. 
1824. 

B.S.P.C., 17 Jan. 1824. no. 6. 



in their chiefs, "their imbecility, cowardice and treacherous 
principles having been so fully developed in the last con- 
test so as to remain no longer concealed even to the meanest 

3,117 peasant. Scott also strongly urged the annexation of 
the southern bank of the Brahmaputra as far as Raha 
chowky on the border of Cachar, so as to seal off the inva- 
sion routes into Cachar.lls 

Scott's views on the inadvisability of any commitment 
to the Ahom princes "much divided among themselves, and 
. . . generally obnoxious to the body of the people," were 
accepted. So, after the occupation of Gauhati, was his 
desire to see Lower Assam occupied. Early in Ocotber, 
therefore Col. Richards was ordered to resume his advance 
from Gauhati, his task "the conquest of Assam and the 
entire expulsion of the Burmese." Scott, for his part was 
to win over the Singphos and other hill tribes and to estab- 
lish an administration-revenue, police and judicial-in the 
wake of the advancing army.l1° By mid-January 1825 Col. 
Richards' forces had reached Jorhat and before the end of 
the month the Burmese had surrendered their fort at Rang- 
pore and thus virtually abandoned Assam to British con- 
trol.'" By March 18?8 Scott could finally convince the 
Calcutta council about the necessity of annexing .Lower 
Assam permanently to British possession.'21 But annexation 
involved the creation of an administration, especially revenue 
and judicial; and the question of restoration of the Eastern 
or Upper Assam was linked with two major issues, the 
tranquillization of the north-east frontier of Assam and the 
future military defence of that frontier. 

B.S.P.C., 20 Feb. 1824, no. 7, Scott to Swinton, 10 Feb. 1824. 
118 Ibid. 

Resolution of the Go\lernor-General-in-Council on 8 Oct. 1824. 
B.S.P.C., 8 Oct. 1824, no. 4. 
lZ0 B.S.P.C., 18 Jan. 1825, nos. 4 and 7, Richards to Scott, 19 Jan. 

1825 and 29 Jan. 1825. 

12' B.S.P.C., 7 March 1828, nos. 4 2nd 8. Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb. 
1828, Swinton to Scott, 7 March 1828. 
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1 .  On  Assam's Economy 

No SOONER had British forces occupied Western Assam in 
1824 than Scott began to investigate the revenue possibilities 
of the area, even though no decision had yet been taken at 
Calcutta about the future disposal of the territory. Some 
action, as he said later on, was essential if the future defence 
of the country was to be provided for.' 

Although initially Scott did not think there would be 
much difficulty in the assessment and collection of revenue, 
the system of land revenue in Assam was not a simple one. 
More important, it bore little resemblance to the Bengal 
system. When in the first half of the seventeenth century 
Assam was invaded by the Mughals, Kamrup was conquered 
and for sometime (1612-1627) held by them. In that part 
of Assam the Paragana system which the Mughals introduced 
took root and was retained unchanged during later Ahom 
rule. But even here the British found the system much less 
regular than in Bengal. Some of the parganas had taluqs 
scattered throughout the division and the parganas themselves 
were very unequal in size.2 The reason was that the Mughals 
remained in Kamrup like an army of occupation, the basis 
of their rule being essentially military. The collection of reve- 
nue, suppression of local insurrection and conduct of khedah 
operations seem to have been the main aims of Mughal gov- 
ernment in Kamrup? 

B. S. P. C., 7 March, 1828, no. 4, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828. 
F. Jenkin's report, 13 Nov., 1849, Memorandum on the Revenue 

Administration o f  the Lower Provinces of Bengal, p. 62. 
See S. N. Bhattacharyya. A History of Mughal North-East Frontier 

Policy, pp. 163-168. 
88 
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'The system in the rest of Assam was linked with the pat4 
or the &el system,' which was the nucleus of all Ahom admi- 
nistration. The revenue of the state were, for the most part, 
realized on articles of produce and personal labour, for not 
only the soil, but the subject was the property of the state.' 
Every adult male or pai4 worked for the benefit of the state 
for three or four months a year. In return for this he was 
given two puras (nearly three acres) of rupit or first class 
cultivable land. This land was called gamati or bodyland 
and was free of rent.' For his homestead plot or bari also 
a paik paid no rent. In practice, the bari lands were permit- 
ted to be dealt with as hereditary and transferable; but the 
two puras of gamati, rice land, were considered the property 
,of the state, neither hereditary nor tran~ferable.~ 

Three, or less often four, paikr were formed into a gotr 
or squad. When one of the gote was away on his three or 
four months' service the remaining members cultivated not 
only their own fields but also those of the absentee member of 
the gote. Thus all the members of a gote could be employed 
in rotation upon public work during the year without hard- 
ship to their families. Paiks were also grouped into khels 
or guilds according to the nature of their duties, each khel 
ranging in strength from three to six thousand men.8 

Not all paits were required to render manual labour 
for their gaammti. There were some who paid a tax in money 
in lieu of manual labour, though this was very rare and only 
a few thels comprising men of superior birth or caste had this 
privilege. They were called chamuas meaning independent, 
and they comprised a higher order of subjects.' Those who 

The system is said to have been invented during the reign of 
Raja Pratap Singh (1603-1641) by Mumai Tamuli Barbarua. G. 
Borooah, op. cit., p. 104. 

Memorandum on the Revenue Administration of  the Lower Pro- 
vinces, p. 61n. 

Ibid., p. 60. 
Ibid., p. 61n. 

'S. K. Bhuyan, Anglo-Assamese Relations, p. 530. 
Haliram Dhekial Phukan in his book, Assam Buranji (first p u b  

lished in 1829) mentions the following khels as chamua khek : 
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rendered manual labour belonged to two types. The majo- 
rity were kari-pai& who in wartime had to fight, and 
in peacetime, were employed in building and repairing roads 
and bridges, in excavating tanks and in other works of 
public utility.'" The other main group of paiks were not 
field labourers but artisans-smiths, weavers, oil-pressers, 
gold-washers and the like whose skilled labour was-applied 
by the state to the production of the goods of their craft or 
trade. They received their gamati lands in return for the 
products of their skills." 

Above the various paiks and khels there was a hierarchy 
of administrators and officers. High officers such as phukans, 
baruas, rajkhowas were the heads of the khels and the paiks 
were under their command. These officials presided, too, 
over mels-a kind of panchayat where minor civil and crimi- 
nal disputes were settled. Under these officers were junior 
officers-hn,znrikas, saiF,ias and boras in charge of one thou- 
sand, of one hundred, and of twenty paiks.12 

It can be seen from this brief review, that the Ahom state 
drew little of its revenue in money : the Ahom economy was 
a barter rather than a monetised economy. Persons cultivat- 
ing land in excess of the usual allotment used to pay a nomi- 
nal cash revenue per puva of such ubar or katani land.13 
Again, some non-cultivating Khels, like the gold washers, 
paid a high tax in money. Further, defaulting crown paiks 
had to pay a fine in cash. Moreover, the farming of the dues 
levied at h ~ t h s  or markets, and in the chow~ies, or custom 
houses also brought a cash revenue to the state exchequer. 
The tribute from the vassal chiefs was yet another source of 

Krrtati, Katclti, R o ~ a g i ,  Dalaipanak, Jyotishiyn. Chanqkhataniar., 
Sahhapandit, Bej, Strutiparha, Pharsiparha gnria. J .  M .  Rhattacharpa, 
(ed.) op. cit., pp. 52-55. 
lo S. K. Bhuyan, Anglo-Assamese Relations, p. 529. 
l1 Memor.a?zdum on  the Revenue Administl.ation of the  Lotuer. Pro- 

vinces of Bengal, p. 60. 
l3 For the power and position of the various Ahoin officials see Sir 

Edward Gait, 14 History of Assam, pp. 235-239. 
l3 J. M. Bhattacharya, op. cit., p. 52;  Memorandum on  the Revenue 

Administration of Lower Provinces, p. 61. 
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money income. Furthermore, during the period of civil 
strife and on the eve of the Burmese war, when money was 
required for war purposes the Ahom government introduced 
a capitation tax. This tax was variously named and imposed. 
The British found on their arrival in Assam, that in Kamrup 
it was a house tax, kharika-tana, in Nowgong and Upper 
Assam, it was a body or poll tax, gadhan of one rupee for each 
paik of full age and in Darrang a hearth tax, charukar, or a 
tax upon every family or person cooking separately again of 
one rupee.14 Even so the Ahom government could not nay 
cash salaries to its officials. Hence there sprang up another 
distinctive feature of the Ahom society-the payment of the 
official nobility in labour services. Officials were allotted the 
services of a number of paiks called likchows, in lieu of salary. 
They were also given certain rent-free lands nankar or maun- 
mati, and were also allowed to occupy vast tracts of khats 
or waste lands. On both of these types of land they could 
employ their likchows and slaves.15 This then was the 
system which Scott had to learn to understand, and to usr 
or modify for British government. 

From May. 1824, though his powers had not yet been 
defined. Scott began a search for revenue documents of the 
former government, and made his first estimate of possiblr 
revenue yields. In view of the devastation latter!y caused 
by the Burmese, he nitched the demand at about one-fourth 
of the rate of land revenrle levied by the zamittdarr of 
Goaloara and of the adioining Company territories. Even 
50, thanks to the fact Burmese damage proved on i~vesti- 
pation to have been less extensive in Western Assam t h m  
anticipated. Scott hoped that with the custom duties from 
the Kandahar chowky he might secure revenues of un to one 
and a half lakhs of runees from Lower Assam. un to Kdia- 
bar.'' 

l4 Ibid., pp. 61-62. 
l 5  See infra, pp. 160. 
l6 B. S. P. C., 28th May, 1824, no. 19, Scott to Swinton. 12th Ma)., 

1824; B.S.P.C. ,  2nd July, 1824, no. 15, Scott to Swinton. 15 June: 
1824. 
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For the Bengal year of 1231 (1824/25) Scott's actual total 
demand from Lower Assam was Narayani Rs.1,48,112. The 
areas on which revenue was assessed were Karnrup, Darrang, 
Naduar (situated at the foot of the southern hills between 
Habraghat and Gauhati) and land occupied by rajas of Dima- 
rua, Beltola and Rani (lying to the south of the Kalang river), 
with Raja Vijayanarayan of Darrang was for a total jama of 
Ny. Rs. 42,000 and 1500 paiks to be furnished for the use of the 
army.'? From nineteen chaudhuries and other malguzars of 
the various mahals of Kamrup some 69,086 Narayani rupees 
was demanded. The assessment made with Uttam Singh of 
Dimarua, Balukan Singh of Rani and Sambadari Singh of 
Beltola were fixed at 6,349; 4,000 and 2,000 Narayani rupees 
respectively. Scott wrote about these three chiefs that they "in 
former times were merely tributary to the Assamese if not to 
the Mughuls, but having frequently rebelled they were latterly 
reduced to complete subjugation. There were no accurate 
accounts of the assets of their estates, some of which are very 
productive and adverting to the expediency of conciliating 
persons so situated the settlement was made in a great mea- - 
sure, with reference to what individuals in possession volun- 
tarily offered to pay."18 

The principle followed by Scott in the settlement in Kam- 
rup district was to double the assessment on inalienable land 
which was found to have once been paid by the malguzars ac- 
cording to the old documents. An additional amount was also 
charged on account of the house tax, first imposed by Raja 
Chandra Kanta in Lower Assam. This Scott continued as 
a useful way to equalizing the burden of taxation, from 
which many "of the lesser order of the inhabitants" had 
been previously exempted on account of their caste or class.19 

l7 The amount charged upon the raja of Darrang was thought by 
the people to be an over-assessment and Scott proposed to make a 
revenue survey which would afterwards be extended to the pargana 
of Kamrup also, B. S. P. C., 5 Apr., 1825, no. 27, Scott to Swinton, 
28 Feb. 1825. 

Ibid. 
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The settlement was made with the hereditary chaudhurics 
who were on the same footing as chaudhuries of Bengal be- 
fore the decennial settlement. That is, they were officials, 
not owners of land, or rent receivers, and were liable to be 
removed at the government's pleasure. When in oflice, they 
enjoyed nankar lands called manumati and the service of a 
certain number of paiks. Their nankar lands varied from 
two hundred to one thousand Bengal bighas, and similar but 
smaller assignment were made to the patwaris-their assis- 
tants. Scott made no alteration in this arrangement.*' 

To  widen the tax base Scott started collecting revenue 
from lakhiraj paik?' and lands. These lands were classified 
as deboftar-lands granted for the maintenance of temples; 
6rah mottar-lands for Brahmins ; and dharmottar-lands 
granted for religious and charitable purposes. Scott imposed 
a tax on these lands22 using as a precedent that levied by 
the Buragohain Purnananda who had been the prime minister 
during the Burmese invasion nine years previously. The fact 
that the lands of this description in Kamrup were equal in 
extent to those cultivated by the paiks strengthened him in 
his decision. T o  prevent distress to the poorer class of Brah- 
mins and other holders of such lands, Scott directed that it 
should not be collected from holdings smaller than two 
puras or about seven Bengal bighas?3 

These assessments concluded, Scott hastened to make the 
first half-yearly collection. The account of the revenue col- 

20 Ibid. 

21 The  lands granted by the Ahom rajas to temples, religious insti- 
tutions and pious and meritorious persons in Lower Assam were 
known as Nisfkhiraj or half-revenue-paying estates, as distinguished 
from khiraj or full-revenue-paying estates. In course of time these 
lands were held revenue-free, and the owners called themselves Lakhi- 
rajdars. W. E. Ward, Note on the Assam land revenue svrtem, p. 60. 

22 Sir W.  E. Ward writes that "these lands had been assesscd at 
five annas a pura (four bighas) by the Assam Rajas themsel\~es. Scott 
therefore fixed their assessment at this rate, and subsequently increased 
it to 7 or 8 annas a pura by imposition of a tax known as Barangani." 
W .  E.  Ward,  op. cit., p. 69. 
23 B. S. P. C., 5 Apr., 1825, no. 27. Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1825, 
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lection for the first six months of the Bengal year 1231 (18241 
5) was the f~llowing:~'  

~ - 

Recover- 
Mahals Malguzars Demand Collection able 

balance 
--- - 

Darrang Raja Vijaya- 2 1,000 12,831 13,168 
nagrarn 

Assessed The 34,149 21,531 13,510 
p argana of C haud haries 
Kamrup 

Unsettled Sazawals 2.18 8 2,188 - 
mahals 

Nadaur The Raja 6,180 2,133 3,547 

Dimarua The Rajas 6,174 5,084 1,090 
Rani, 
Beltola 

Brahmottar The 5,090 3,294 1,796 
Lands Proprietors 

Devalay The Managers 1,462 693 7 69 
[Lakhiraj] 

Total Ny. Rs. 76,244 4 5,255 28,880 
Sicca Rs. (after deducting 48,033 30,400 18,195 

.- 
batta of 37%) 

After this first half-yearly collection, though a sum of 
Narayani Rs. 28,880 or over one third of the demand still 
remained to be collected, the demand for the rest of the year 
was much increased. The demand for the second six months 
was pitched at Rs. 106,255 and the collection was pushed up 
to Rs. 123,569, though this evidently included arrears from 
the first h a l f - ~ e a r . ~ ~  Scott explained the increase as being 
due to the bringing of new areas such as the mahals near 

2.L B. S. P. C., 5 Apr., 1825, nos. 27-28, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 
1825. 

" I3 .S.P.  C . ,  20 Jan., 1826, nos. 23-24, Scott to Swinton, 14 Dec., 
1825, Compal.ative Statement of the Setileme?zt for the Lnnd Reve- 
nue of Lower Acsam for the years 1213 and 1232, Bengal style or 1746 
and 1747, AsLram style. 
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Raha chowky  under c~llection."~ The total received in the 
year came to Rs. 171,824.27 

The basis of ~cot t ' s  new assessment was the tlocuments 
which he got from Majumdar Barua the head qanungo ot 
~ a r n r u y . ~ '  But they were of so ancient a date that they 
offered little real insight into the existing state of the coun- 
try. It was too late in the season, as S C O ~  said, to u~~der takc  
any effective but lengthy scrutiny into the assets of the 
different parganas. H e  therefore acted upon "the best in- 
formation immediately obtainable" in assessing the specific 
amount due from the different malgu~ars.~!'  

Scott had his own reasons for such gradual enhance- 
ment of land revenue. Reporting on the country's agricul- 
tural capabilities, he stated that the land throughout the 
division was fertile and produced far more luxuriant crops 
than any part of Bengal. A greater amount of capital was 
also applied by individuals to agricultural improvement in 
Lower Assam than he had witnessed in any other British 
province. This capital was also more profitably laid out than 
was usual-people taking great care in rearing the muaa silk 
worms and the lac insect, both sources of considerable 
wealth to the  inhabitant^.^' 

Thus from his actual inspection of the country and the 
information derived from the records of the Ahom and 
Mughal governments, Scott felt that government might 
reasonably expect that within a few years Lower Assam up 
to Rishnath would be yieldinq an annual revenue of from 
four to six lakhs. exclusive of custom duties but including 

2". S. P. C.. 20 Tan., 1816. no<. 23-24. Scott to S\vinton. 14 Dtc., 
1825. Control-ntirje Statement of the Settlcnzent for t h e  Land Rerte- 
~ Z U P  of Lo~ l l e~ .  Axsnm for the Year 1232. Rerzgal stjlle or 1746 and 
1747. Assam .rtvte. 
" 7. S. P. C., 7 March, 1828, no. 5, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828. 

The origin of these documents goes bark to 1678 n.l~en after the 
death of Raja Pramattn Singh the first revenue Settlement in Kamrup 
was made on the basis of a survey. These settlement papers were 
known as pamkakats. J. M. Bhattacharya (ed.), op. cit., p. 41. 

29 B. S. P. C., 5 Apr., 1825, no. 27, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1025. 
30 Ibid. 
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an abkari tax on opium and profits from the elephants hunts 
or 4heda.s. Mughal records, Scott stated, exhibited a revenue 
of upwards of Rs. 300,000 from this area. An annual reve- 
nue of over five lakhs would provide an ample allowance for 
the profits of an intermediate class of agents between the go- 
vernment and peasantry. Since Scott also thought that it 
should be possible quite soon to monetise the economy so as to 
permit these revenues to be collected in cash, he now strongly 
urged that government should annex the recently occupied 
areas of Lower A~sam.~ '  

In the administration of Lower Assam, therefore, it was 
thought expedient to keep more closely to the rules observed 
in the judicial and revenue departments in the older British 
possessions. This was essential because of the possibility 
that this part of the country might be retained by the British. 
It was facilitated, too, by the fact that the area had been long 
under Muslim rule and its inhabitants did not differ so subs- 
tantially from those of the neighbouring parts of British 
territory, previous to the introduction of the decennial settle- 
ment. Scott argued that the methods introduced by the 
Ahoms had been unproductive and were disliked by the people. 
He therefore transferred the barphukaan, who had been rul- 
ing Kamrup as the viceroy of the Ahom raja, assigning him 
to a judicial post in Upper Assam, and allotting him a 
monthly salary of three hundred rupees as compensation for 
the loss of the large emoluments of his viceregal office. The 
revenue establishment of Lower Assam Scott then placed 
under a native sarishtadar. Since the Duaria Barua* family had 
been particularly helpful ever since his arrival in Assam, 

31 I&d. 
" "The Duaria Barua or Baruas received the goods of the Assam 

merchants and exchanged them for Bengal products. They realised 
the duties on all exports and imports. The  rate equitably fixed bv 
the government of Assam underwent fluctuations at the hands of 
diflerent Duaria Baruas." 

See S. K. Bhuyan, Anglo-Assamese Relations, pp. 50-51; See also 
G.  Borooah, The  Life of  Anandaram Dhetjial Phukan (in Assamese) 
for the duties of the Duaria Baruas, pp. 13-15. 
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scott appointed one of their members, named Haliram, who 
was given the title of Dhekial phukan by the raja, to this 
new o f ~ i c e . ~ ~  

In 1825-26, the Bengal year 1232, the a m  was again 
increased to a total of Rs. 245,361, which was an increase of 
over sixty thousand rupees upon the previous year's 
Once again the demand proved difficult to realise, and irr 
February, 1827, Scott had to write to Swinton for permission 
to write off about ten thousand rupees as not recoverable, 
from parganas which had proved to have been much over 
assessed. In 1828 government approval was finally given 
to Scott's request.34 

The existence of the large balances made it clear that 
some revision and reappraisal of the revenue resources of 
Lower Assam was required. In mid 1825 Scott had proposed 
that a proper survey of the area should be undertaken. A 
considerable number of native surveyors had already been 
taught the use of the compass, and Scott now asked govern- 
ment for the services of a Mr. Mathews, lately employed on 
the Cachar frontier, and of a native draughtsman to direct a 
scientific revenue survey. The establishment for which he 
sought sanction was to consist of ten native surveyors, one 
draughtsman, one Bengali muharrir and a writer of English, 
at a cost of not more than six hundred rupees a month. Such 

A 

were the number of interesting subjects of enquiry, Scott 
pleaded, that a scientific survey on the line of originally plan- 
ned by the surveyor-general of India was surely needed. He  
estimated that it would take the team some fifteen months." 

Though not all that Scott had asked for was granted, a 
provisional survey was conducted, under a Lieutenant 

" 2. Rorooah, The Life of Anandaram, p .  30, and also pp. 9, 13- 
15, 26, 28. Anandaram was the son of Haliram. 

33 B.S.P.C., 20 Jan., 1826, nos. 23-24, Scott to Swinton, 14 Dec., 
1825. 
34 R.S.P.C., 23 Feb.. 1827, no. 12, Scott to Swinton, 13 Feb., 1827; 

B.S.P.C., 8 Feb., 1828, no. 34, Swinton to Scott, 8 Feb., 1828; 
B.S.P.C., 28 May, 1830, no. 92, Scott to Swinton, 6 May, 1830. 

'". S. P. C., 5 Apr., 1825, no. 27, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1825. 
F. 7 
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Bedingfield, in 1825-1826. The measurement survey showed 
that there was some 529,735 puras about 1,600,000 bighas of 
cultivable land in Lower Assam, of which 112,858 puras or 
480,000 bighas were held under rent free grants or otherwise 
exempted from the payment of revenue.36 

Though the survey did not reveal a larger area liable to 
taxation than had been ~evious ly  known, it proved impos- 
sible to enhance the demand to any but a very minor degree. 
The fact was that Scott had been very anxious to collect the 
maximum revenue possible, so as to cover military costs and 
so convince the Supreme Government of the desirability of 
annexing Lower Assam permanently. He  had therefore 
levied taxes on every source which had ever been taxed by 
the Ahoms or Mughals, and though he had intended to make 
the British assessment a light one, so making allowance for 
the difficulties which the people had undergone in the tran- 
sitional period, he had in practice taken all, or more than 
the country could afford. The collection for 1233 (1826-27) 
at 290,457 Narayani rupees was therefore greater only by 
42,774 rupees than the previous year.37 

Moreover, recognizing a degree of over assessment in 
the past, Scott agreed to certain deductions upon the gross 
produce being made in the settlement of 1826-27. These 
were : 

(1) Five per cent upon the cultivated portion to provide 
for mistakes or deficiency of assets from the flight 
of ryots. 

(2) From seven to ten per cent according to the extent 
of the pavganas for the expense of the mufassal col- 
lection, inclriding the pay of the patwaris, ,gomasthas 
and other mufassal revenue and police officers. 

(3) Ten per cent on the remaining assets for the mulgu- ./ - 

zars (which in some few cases, principally of the 
hill chiefs, was increased to fifteen and twenty per 

3".S.P.C., 28 Dec., 1827, no. 48, Scott to Swinton, 2 Dec., 1827; 
B.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 5, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828. 

" B.S.P.C., 3 March, 1828, no. 19, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1828. 
B.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 5, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828. 
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cent) where local circumstances and the lightness 
of the assessment under the former government 
appeared to render such indulgence necessary?' 

Scott felt it necessary to explain to government why such 
indulgences were necessary, and to excuse the smallness of 
the revenue secured from so large an area of cultivation. H c  
therefore pointed out that under the Ahom government the 
pargwra rate had been as low as from Rs. 1-8 annas to less than 
4 annas per pura or four bighas of the very best quality land. 
Inferior soils had either been exempted from taxation altoge- 
ther, or had been assessed at one third of the rates for good 
land. He  had begun by doubling these pargana rates in com- 
mutation of fines levied on the p a i k ~ ,  and other irregular cessrs. 
Even so the new rates still averaged less than three annas per 
Bengal bigha or twelve annas per pura.. Furthermore, Scott, 
in surveying the sources of revenue, had to indicate that some 
were likely to disappear.39 

One source of revenue which he wished to discontinue 
was provided by the receipt from the Kandahar chowky, at 
the frontier between Lower Assam and Bengal. The duties 
from this custom post had yielded only Rs. 14,324 in 1825-26, 
and not only did they offer little hope of increases, but they 
had obviously become anomalous once Lower Assam was oc- 
cupied by the British." The loss of this amount in the event 
of abolition of the chowky, compared with the great advantages 
which could be expected from a free intercourse with Bengal, 
appeared to Scott to be a matter of small account. 

The second resource which he wished to relinquish was the 
tax on certain rent free lands, which he had introduced in 1825. 
The total yield from these lands had been 26,465 Narayani 
rupees, of which 2,533 rupees had been collected from the 
paiks and lands attached to the Hindu temples, and 2,032 
rupees from dhavmottar lands, granted to certain monasteries 
or satras. It was these two small items which Scott now 

38 B.S.P.C., 9 March, 1827, no. 18, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1827. 
39 B.S.P.C., 9 March, 1827, no. 18, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1827. 
'O B.S.P.C., 16 Aug., 1828, Scott to Swinton, 15 July, 1828. 
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wished, for social and political reasons to give up. The cur- 
tailment of temple rites occasioned by the former tax had 

- 

caused very general regret among a population whose super- 
stitions invariably led them to ascribe sickness, drought and 
other accidents of the seasons thereto. The loss to the satras 
of revenues devoted to the invocation of deities and provision 
for the mohantas or supervisors of such monastries, had much 
influence amongst the people and, therefore, he thought that 
it would be both popular and desirable to sacrifice the tax." 

The remaining portion of the collection for the present 
year amounting to 21,899 rupees was derived from nankar 
and brahmottar lands, the extent of which was unusually 
great in Assam. Scott reported that he had no wish to show 
leniency in taxing these.42 

Scott had explained why the revenue yield was low. He 
set out measures which he hoped would arrest any further 
decline. It was obvious that however low they were accord- , - 

ing to the standards of Bengal, Scott's assessment rates in 
Assam represented a high figure in comparison with Ahom 
demands, and the increase had been sudden. He had therefore 
assumed the discretionary power to remit the interest nomi- 
nally claimed upon arrears of revenue-an action approved 
by government-and he proposed that a reduction of five 
per cent be allowed upon the revenue due, to all who paid 
in good time.43 He also set out ways in which he hoped it 
might be raised. He did not wish, for example, to forgo 
all revenue from the lathirai lands. He therefore turned 
to the Ahom government's practice of levying a tax called 
barangani* from rent-free lands whenever the expenses of 

41 B.S.P.C., 9 March, 1827, no. 18, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1827. 
42 Ibid. 
43 B.S.P.C., 18 Apr., 1828, nos. 3-4, Scott to Sterling, 27 March, 

1828; Sterling to Scott, 18 Apr., 1828. 
" The history of the barangani tax is worth noting. "In 1834, 

when Capt. Jenkins had become Commissioner, the Lathirajdar-s 
objected to pay this tax on the ground that Mr. Scott had only 
imposed it temporarily and had promised to remit it. The question 
having been referred to the Government of India, the Government 
replied that there was 'no reason to believe that Mr. Scott intended 
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the state exceeded its ordinary receipts. The holders of such 
property therefore, Scott proposed, might be called upon to 
continue their share towards the support of the army and 
other establishment maintained by the British Government 
in Assam. Since, however, there seemed to be a general 
expectation that this source of revenue would ultimately be 
relinquished, Scott thought it might be advisable to follow 
a middle course. Without entirely exempting the holders 
of rent-free lands from the payments of tax, Scott proposed 
to reduce the amount of the assessment somewhat and to 
appropriate the entire sum realised to purposes of obvious 
public utility, such as the education of youth and construc- 
tion of roads, bridges and 

Scott also sought new heads of taxation and methods of 
developing the country so as to increase its tax paying capa- 
city. One measure Scott proposed was a tax of twenty 
rupees per pura upon opium poppy cultivation. The opium 
produced in Assam was entirely consumed in the country 
and the number of the inhabitants who used the drug was 
vast. Scott therefore conceived that a serious mortality 
would result from putting an entire stop to the cultivation, 
or from introducing the ordinary abkmi regulations-unless 
a material reduction was made in the retail price of the 
opium. For that reason he proposed his moderate tax on 
cultivation. Scott estimated that throughout the country 
the cultivation of poppy might extend to two thousand puras 
of land, which were not separately assessed, and that the net 
yield of the tax might be estimated at Rs. 25,000." 

As another measure for ultimately augmenting the reve- 
nue, while meanwhile promoting the convenience of the pub- 
lic and facility in trade, Scott proposed the withdrawal of the 
Narayani currency from circulation and the substitution of 

to give up any of the lands claimed to be held rent-free which he 
brought under his immediate assessment, and if he did, he could 
not have done so without the sanction of Government previously 
obtained.' " W. E. Ward. op. cit., p. 69. 

44 B.S.P.C., 9 March, 1827, no. 18, Scott to Swinton, 28 Feb., 1827. 
45 Ibid. 
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the Company's Sicca rupees. The measure would result in 
an initial loss to the government of 150,000 Sicca rupees, but 
he pointed out that if the existing revenue was thereafter 
made payable in Sicca rupees, instead of in Narayani, an 
annual profit of about 50,000 Sicca rupees would be derived 
after the end of the second year.46 

Finally Scott sought to broaden the tax base and to secure 
an influx of much needed capital by a generous policy of 
grants of waste lands. The grant of waste lands or khats at 

- 

a nominal revenue had been a normal way of remunerating 
high officers during the Ahom rule. Scott now, in Septem- 
ber 1827, put forward plans which he hoped would increase 
the cash revenues and provide for the want of capital in Assam. 
He proposed that waste lands be granted to anyone who would 
engage to bring waste land under cultivation and to pay 
revenue under the following conditions : 

(1) That the grantee bring one fourth of his allocation 
into cultivation by the expiration of the third year; 
an additional fourth on the expiration of the sixth 
year; another fourth on the expiration of the nineth 
year; after which period the grantee should be en- 
titled to hold the land in perpetuity on paying the 
pavgana rates upon 314 of the whole. 

(2) That the tenure created should be liable to be trans- 
ferred by sale or otherwise, subject to the conditions 
of the grant, and that where the revenue ultimately 
assessable amounted to fifty rupees or more or the 
holder voluntarily agreed to make it up to that 
sum, he should be entitled to pay it direct into the 
public treasury, (and thus assume the status of a 
zamindar) . 

(3) That applicants for lands on the above terms should 
be required to deposit or give security for the first 
two years revenue, to be forfeited to government 
and the land resumed if the terms were not complied 
with on the expiration of the fourth year, after 

46 Ibid. 
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which period the land-holding should be liable to 
sale for arrears of revenue in the usual manner? 

What is of interest to note is that though Scott did not 
live to put these plans into action, his proposals were imple- 
mented not long after his death by the large scale grant of 
waste land on such terms. 

In February, 1828, Scott was able to assure the govern- 
ment that in no case would the gross revenue derivable 
from Lower Assam in future, be less than Rs. 3 0 0 , W t h e  
sum produced at the moment under the provisional system- 
and that rather it would considerably increase under a regu- 
lar system, with money abundant and the inhabitants more 
accustomed to the fiscal arrangements of the Mughal British 
type." Thus reassured as to the revenue possibilities of 
Lower Assam, and that they would cover the costs of a 
regular British administration, the Supreme Government 
finally decided, in that same month, upon the permanent 
annexation of Lower Assam. In April, the Government 
approved Scott's plan for a full regular survey and review 
of the former revenue  measurement^.^^ These two decisions 
inaugurated a new era in the revenue history of Assam, for 
henceforward ad-hoc and temporary collections were gradu- 
ally reduced into a regular system of revenue administra- 
tion. 

The land revenue conditions in Lower Assam did not, 
however, improve immediately till quite some time even 
after the death of Scott.60 But in 1830, a year before his 
death, Scott seemed to have found out not only the causes 
but also the cure of all Assam's economic ills. In April of 
that year he applied to the Calcutta authorities for the urgent 
adoption of measures to improve the general resources of 

47 B.S.P.C., 5 Oct., 1827, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 12 Sept., 1827. 

48 B.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 4, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828. 

49 B.S.P.C., 25 Apr., 1828, no. 52, Sterling to Scott, 25 Apr., 1828. 

50 See H. K. Barpujari, Assam : In the Days of the Company, 
pp. 58-65. 
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Assam? He pointed out that commerce was depressed and 
the currency deficient, for there was a constant drain of the 
small existing stock of coin remittance to the Presidency?* 
The general shortage of cash compelled the government, on 
the one hand, to revert to the old Ahom system of receiving 
revenue in kind at many placesb3 and the defaulting farmers 
on the other, to leave their hearths and homes and look for 
shelter in the adjoining hills.64 The cheapness of rice during 
1830 did not necessarily bring any prospect of its export and 
the increased exports65 of other commodities from Assam 
such as lac and muga silk did not help meet the requirements 
of a monetised revenue system, for such goods were generally 
bartered for salt.56 Improvement could only be achieved, 

6 6 he argued therefore, by encouraging the production of 
commodities fit for exportation, and by substituting on the 
part of the government for a remittance of the surplus reve- 
nue in cash, on investment of the produce of the di~trict."'~ 
In the early stage of British occupation, Scott had been under 
the impression that the abolition of commercial restrictions 
which he had eventually brought about and the influx of 

61 B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 17 Apr., 1830. 
62 Ibid. This money drain occurred in many ways : In the very 

first place the old khel (kind) system of revenue settlement was 
replaced gradually by a proprietary system involving cash payment; 
Secondly, the mint of the Assam Rajah, the source of the local cur- 
rency, was put out of operation; thirdly, the surplus of Assam's 
exports over imports, visible in the early British administration, did 
not bring any influx of currency, for the export goods were generally 
bartered for salt; fourthly, the Government's revenue collection in 
local currency was annually remitted to Calcutta for recoinage. See 
A. ~ u h a , '  'Colonization of Assam: Years of transitional Crisis 
(1825-40),' The Indian Economic and Social Hi,rlo~*y Review, V. 
no. 2, June, 1968, pp. 129-133. 

53 B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 17 Apr., 1830. 
6 4  Barpujari, op. cit., p. 44. 

Due to the approval by the Calcutta Council of Scott's conduct 
in allowing certain products of Assam to pass free of all duty so that 
to encourage exportation. See P.L.B., Vol. 26, 9 Oct., 1830, para 253. 

66 B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 17 Apr., 1830. 
67 Ibid. 
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capital from Bengal, would gradually remove the evils com- 
plained of. But to his utter surprise, five years' experience 
had showed that no improvement could be expected from 
the unassisted efforts of the Assamese. Then, again, the 
want of enterprise amongst the Bengali capitalists and the 
exorbitant rate of interest which led them to prefer the trade 
of userers to "making any advance of cash in those less 
immediately profitable speculations" had compelled Scott 
to think about other measures of achieving his objects.'' 

He pointed out that Assam was an agricultural not a 
manufacturing country, and that with a present population 
there could be no great market for rice and such crops. 
Moreover, owing t o  the want of boats and the navigational 
difficulties of the Brahmaputra, "no relief from the evils" 
could be expected from th; exportation of so cheap and bulky 
a commodity as grain. Scott therefore argued forcef ull y 
that unless means were immediately adopted by government 
to encourage the production of the more costly articles of 
export such as raw silk and mugaX in particular, it would 
soon become necessary either to reduce materially the amount 
of the scanty revenue at present derived from the districts 
or to revert to the former system of compulsory labour.'' 

Scott had in fact been pressing for the development of 
the Assam silk industry since 1826. In that year h e  had sent 
some specimens of Assam silk pieces to Calcutta for study bv 
the Board of Trade. He  had also urged that the Assamese 
be instructed in the most modern methods of winding their 
silk and that the machinery in use in Rangpur should be in- 
troduced into Assam. He  considered that the muga silk 
was likely to become the most important article of export 

58 Ibid. 
" The  muga silk comes from a kind of worm known as anihe- 

~ o r a  Assamoea. It  is much lighter and handsomer than eri (see p. 127 
n*) and is largely worn by women, and as a holiday dress by men. 
In colour it is a brownish yellow. which after washing assumes a fine 
gloss. Sibsagar and more especially Jorhat is the great centre for 
the production of the lnuga cloth. See B. C. Allen, hlono,pl.aph on 
the silk cloth of Assam, pp. 4-14. 
" B.P.C., 13 Oct., 1826, no. 44, Scott to Swinton, 18 Sept., 1826. 
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from Assam for Asiatic consumption and with reference to 
its well-known superior strength and durability, he found it 
highly probable that it might capture the European market 
too.'O But on receipt of an unfavourable replye1 from the 
Board of Trade the plan was pronounced unprofitable by 
the government. In bringing up the issue again in 1830, 
Scott reminded the government that he had initiated the 
plan not with a view to commercial profit, but in hopes that 
the measures would benefit the inhabitants, and ultimately 
increase the revenue of the district under his charge.62 

He again urged a trial of his plans, "although they may 
in the first instance involve some trifling outlay on the part 
of the state, and even though it  should appear that the 
more immediate and direct pecuniary return for such outlay 
will accrue rather to its subjects than to government itself."63 
Scott had specific reasons for directing his attention 
specially towards the development of raw silk. He wrote : 
"Although the soil and climate of Assam is well adopted to 
the production of articles raised in Bengal, I shall confine 
my observations to the single commodity of raw silk both 
because it does not necessarily require continued European 
superintendance to bring it to perfection and because the in- 
habitants of Assam are already so universally acquainted with 
the analogous operation of winding the silk called moogah that 
there is every reason to think that they would soon become 
competent to prepare the ordinary raw silk in a manner 
superior to that which can be expected from the cotton cloth- 
ed natives of Bengal, among whom the art of rearing silk 
worms and the subsequent treatment of the produce was by 
no means so generally known and where it is indeed still in 
a great measure confined to a particular ~lass."~' 

B.P.C., 13 Oct., 1826, no. 44: Scott to Swinton, 18 Sept., 1826. 
B.P.C., 30 Dec., 1826, no. 66, George Udny and Mackenzie to 

Lord Combermer, Vice-President-in-Council, 14 Dec., 1826. 
62 B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 17 Apr., 1830. 
63 Ibid. 
e4 Ibid. 
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The ultimate commercial value of the trade for the 
Company was also not ruled out. Scott went on to point 
out "it is very necessary to keep in mind that the Assamese 
are already like the Chinese, chiefly clad in a species of silk 
which although not of a description known to be suited to the 
European market is nevertheless prepared in a manner entirely 
similar to that sort, so that any person acquainted with the 
mode of winding the one is competent, with a little prac- 
tice, to perform the same operation on the other, under which 
circumstances it is not perhaps expecting too much to suppose 
that many of the inhabitants will engage in the prepartion 
of the real silk if [Government were] to render available to 
agricultural purposes land which is not at present considered 
worth cultivating and of which there are large tracts unoccu- 
pied merely for the want of any suitable article of c~lture."~' 

With this end in view Scott presented three point plan 
to the government. First, plantations of the mulberry should 
be prepared at the expense of government in favourable 
situations in Assam. The inhabitants could thus be taught 
the plantation method of mulberry cultivation, for mass 
production of silk worms. Secondly, the people should be 
instructed in the improved mode of winding silk. reels of a 
proper description being prepared in the country and dis- 
tributed to those who would undertake to rear silk worms 
and to use the apparatus for winding the muga silk. Finally, 
when progress had been sufficient to warrant the measure, 
a small commercial Residency should be established, superin- 
tended by the medical officer at Gauhati, with a view, not 
SO much to securing an immediate profit on the investment, 
but to create a steady demand for the silk.6B TO effect the 
first two obiects Scott conceived that an  outlay of from 
twelve to fifteen thousand rupees would be required. If 
government was not prepared to lay out such a sum, then 
Scott suggested that an extra cess should be levied upon the 
inhabitants. "The trifling additional burden to which the 
people would thus be individually subjected," Scott assured 

Ibid. 
Ibid. 
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the government, "would be speedily and amply repaid by 
the increased value of the land and by the introduction of 
an article of exchangeable value so much wanted at present 
to enable them to provide for the payment of re~enue."~' 

Scott's proposals were dicussed again in official and business 
circles and expert opinions were called for from firms like 
"MacIntyre and Co." and "Palmer and C~."~"he experts 
appreciated the quality of the Assam silk but about its im- 
mediate commercial value they were not so sure?' This 
again discouraged the government. But Scott was tenacious. 
He  pointed out to the government that such plans ought to 
be undertaken if they really wanted prosperity in Assam. 
He also reminded them that "the perfection of manufacture 
of raw silk in Bengal was not attended but at a considerable 
expense and trouble, Italian artificers* having been brought 
but to teach the native spinners."70 In arguing further, 
Scott reminded the government of its duty to its subjects 
and the folly it would commit in failing to encourage such 
a plan. He  said : "Where the interest of Government in 
promoting agricultural improvement is so direct and obvious 
as it is in a country situated like Assam, blessed with a 
fertile soil and favourable climate? but at the same time labour- 
ing under an almost hopeless state of penury from ignorance 
of or inattention to the measures of benefitting by those ad- - .  
vantages, it will seem to be a most imperfect system of policy 
that would reiect all certain obvious methods of improving the 
resources of the country and increasing the revenue of govern- 

" Ibid. 
B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 52, Swinton's note on the market value 

of Assam silk-the sample of which was sent by Scott, 7 May, 1830. 
" "id. 
" T h e  advantages of the Italian method over that of the country 

was said to be very evident. T h e  experiment had been made at 
Kashimbazar factory under the supervision of 'Wiss and Robinson.' 
.See Bengal Public Consultation, Vol. I, R .  2, (25 May, 1772), p. 
325, Committee of Commerce Proceedings, 5 March, 1772. 

70 B.P.C., 29 Oct., 1830, no. 36, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 6 Oct., 
1830. 
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rnent."" Scott charged the government with "a continued re- 
liance that the need will be met by private individuals although 
that expectation has been contradicted by experience of sixty 
years in Bengal."72 

The quantity of raw silk exports from Bengal to Eng- 
land exceeded 12 lakh lbs in 1 8 2 6 t h e  highest even till then. 
Despite falling prices, the Company's total export of raw 
silk increased from 6,141 bales in 1826 to 7,014 bales in 1828.'" 
He referred to this 'recent change in the state of the British 
silk trade", which made it particularly necessary "to adopt 
every practicable means to increase the quantity of raw silk 
imported and to lower the price." He then placed before the 
authorities yet orie more proposal, that a grant of ten thou- 
sand bighas of land fit for cultilration of the mulberry and 
other dry crops, to be held rent-free in perpetuity, should be 
offered to any individual, European or native, who would 
invest one lakh of rupees in mulberry plantation and the 
establishment in Assam of silk filatures on the Italian model. 
In taking such a step, Scott declared, the government would, 
in reality, sacrifice nothing, since land of that sort was mostly 
unassessed and un~ul t iva ted .~~  

The government acknowledged with pleasure "the laud- 
able spirit of zeal" which prompted Scott to offer the sug- 
gestions. but remained reluctant to sanction any outlay in 
establishing a silk filature in Assam and also averse to the 
sanction of any increased cess on the people.76 However, it 
did ask for a modification of Scott's plan with regard to grant- 
ing of a free tenure in perpetuity or for a given period of 
years. A moderate proportion of land on conditions likely 

B.P.C., 29 Oct., 1830, no. 36, Scott to the Chief Secretarv. 6 Oct., 
1830. 

72 Ibid. 

73 See Guha, Idn. Econ. Soc. Hist. Ritl., V2, June, 1968, p. 136. 
n. 16. 

74 B.P.C., 29 Oct., 1830, no. 36, Scott to Chief Secretary, 6 Oct., 
1830. 

76 B.P.C., 29 Oct., 1830, no. 37, Chief Secretary to Scott, 29 Oct., 
1830. 
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to be more acceptable to speculators-native or European- 
than the outlay of so large a capital was suggested by the 
government." During the remaining period of Scott's 
career nothing was heard about such modified plans, but 
Scott continued to take a keen interest in instructing the 
Assamese through experts from Bengal, in modern devices 
for manufacturing raw silk." Only four months before his 
death he submitted another novel plan of experimenting on 
a small scale with the manufacture of raw silk by means of 
convicts from the silk districts of Bengal. He suggested that 
such a measure would not involve any extra charge to the 
government and he requested therefore, that the magistrate 
of the silk districts should be instructed to place at his dis- 
posal any prisoners in their jails acquainted with the art of 
winding silk.?' Scott was giving a great deal of thought on 
Assam's economic development during this period. A couple 
of days before this last novel suggestion, Scott had reminded 
the government that some immediate and effectual measures 
should be taken for the improvement of Assam's agricul- 
tural and commercial resources. Referring to his earlier 
letter of 17th April, 1830, in which he had mentioned about 
Assam silk, Scott said "I beg again respectfully to submit 
that unless some such measures as that recommended be 
sanctioned, we can have nothing to expect in Assam, but com- 
parative penury on the part of the people and disappoint- 
ment on that of Government, which will continue to hold, 
on no very secure tenure, a possession that must long conti- 
nue worthless in a mere pecuniary point of view although it 
is one which there is strong reason to believe, might at no 
great expense be made capable of rivalling the richest parts 
of Asia in value of its original pr~duce."~' 

76 Ibid. 
77 Scott introduced froin Rangpur (Bengal) reelers, reels and plants 

of the moms nlba and established a factory at Darrang with the 
object of extending the cultivation of the pat or mulberry-reared silk 
worm, and of improving the reeling of the muga worm. See R. C. 
Allen, op. cit., pp. 1-10. 
78 B.P.C., 20 May, 1831, no. 38, Scott to Chief Secy., 30 Apr., 1831. 
7".P.C., 10 June, 1831, no. 50. Scott to Chief Secy., 18 May, 1831. 
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These prolonged discussion over the development of an 
Assamese silk industry, pressed with vigour and tenacity, arc 
revealing. By the time Scott arrived at the conclusion that 
it was only silk that could bring about ultimate economic 
prosperity to Assam, he was also encouraged by the pros- 
pect of having coal in abundance in Assam. The latter 
would make the introduction of steam navigation in the 
Brahmaputra easier. Scott's enquiries about coal and steam 
navigation had begun at about the same time. He first urged 
upon the government for the introduction of steam boat on 
the Brahmaputra in July 1825, and in December, 1826 he wrote 
to Wilcox, the revenue surveyer posted at Sadiya to find out 
how true was the rumour about coal being procurable in 
Upper Assam without much digging and how far and at 
what expense the coal in question could be made available 
for the use of steam vessels proposed to be introduced on the 
Brahmap~tra.~'  In February next year, Lt. Jones replied to 
Scott on behalf of Wilcox that not far from an Assamese 
village called Teerogong near the Naga territory, there was 
a hill stream called Suffrie and there he discovered floating 
coal. Jones informed Scott that if the latter thought it a 
worthwhile experiment--digging coal mines-it would not 
be difficult for him to use' l O  gotes or 30 men' at present work- 
ing in an iron mine at Teerogong, although these men did 
not appear to have ever used coal to smelt the ore.81 By 
June, 1827 Scott could manage to send Calcutta various speci- 
mens of Assam coal as was asked by the ~overnment .~ '  In 
October, 1827 Scott could write to Swinton that the result 
of Lt. Wilcox's expedition under his instructions, resulted in 
the discovery of coal mine twenty miles east of Rangpore in 
Upper Assam. Scott wrote also that the river Suffrie upon 

" B .S.P.C.,  26 Oct., 1827, no. 21, Scott to Wilcox, 22 Dec., 1826. 
Barpujari's information that 'A proposal for the introduction of the 
Government steamer communication with Assam was made by Mr. 
Scott, as early as 1831. . .' is not, therefore, correct. Tn 1831 the 
Government only succumrned to Scott's persistent plea by sanction- 
ing a trial round of a steam boat. See H. Barpujari, op. cit., p. 252. 

81 B.S.P.C., 26 Oct., 1827, Lt. Jones to Scott, 17 Feb., 1827. 
B.S.P.C., 24 Aug., 1827, no. 13, Scott to Swinton, 29 June, 1827. 
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which the coal mine was situated might be rendered navig- 
able for canoes of 60 or 70 maunds at an inconsiderable ex- 
pense. Scott therefore hoped that the government would 
soon be taking this advantage in the progress of steam navi- 
gation on the Brahmp~tra.'~ In February, 1828 Scott could 
inform about the discovery of coal in yet another place 
in the Assam region. He informed that there were beds of 
coal in an accessible place on the Someswari river at  the 
Garo villages of Sijuk and Rwok from which places it seem- 
ed probable that coal for the use of steam vessels might be 
supplied much cheaper, on the lower part of the Brahma- 
putra than if sent from Upper As~am.~ '  Scott however 
concentrated his effort on the earlier spot and asked Secretary 
Swinton to give him the detailed information as to the quan- 
tity of coal that the proposed vessel would consume daily; 
the quantity she could carry and her velocity in still waters; 
and whether in the lower part of the river where coal would 
necessarily prove expensive wood might not be substituted 
as fuel. 'Swinton passed on Scott's queries to Capt. Johns- 
tone of the Enterprise Steam Vessel who then examined the 
steam vessel Berhampootev and reported back to  wint ton.'^ 
In April of the same year Scott could give the detailed infor- 
mation about the transportation cost of coal per hundred 

s3 P.S.P.C., 26 Oct., 1827, no. 20, Scott to Swinton, 4 Oct., 1827. 

84 B.S.P.C., 29 Feb., 1828, no. 12, Scott to Swinton, 14 Feb., 1828. 

85 B.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 36, Scott to Swinton, 1 Feb., 1828. 

86 Capt. Johnstone wrote : "I have visited the Steam vessel Ber- 
hampooter and from the capacity of the vessel and on examination 
of the engines and boiler I am of opinion that she will consume from 
six to seven hundred maunds of Burdwan coal per hour; that her 
coal-boxes will contain coal for from seventy to eighty hours con- 
sumption and her speed in still water eleven miles per hour as the 
maximum. . .under most unfavourable circumstances may fairly be 
expected to equal two miles per hour and this would render it neces- 
sary to have depots of coal at every one hundred and fifty miles. 
Should local facilities however render it desirable to have any two 
depots more separately the vessel might with little inconvenience take 
one day's fuel of coal on her deck. . ." 



POST-ANNEXATION PROPOSITIONS 113 

maunds, supplied at different places." He also mentioned. 
that if the quantity sought was more than ten thousand the 
price at the depot, and subsequently at other spots, would 
be less than his estimation." Assuming that the govcrn- 
ment would be having no objection in introducing steam on 
the Brahmaputra, now that coal was found in abundance in 
Assam, ~ c o t t  pushed forward the candidature of C. A. Bruce. 
formerly in elotilla service and presently employed in the - - 
opening of the coalmine, for employment in the Brahrna- 
putra steam vessel-should the services of such a person be 
re~uired. '~  

I 

Scott's interest in early introduction of steam navigation 
- 

in Assam thus makes an interesting and illuminating read- 
ing when read along with his despatches regarding the im- 
provemeilt of Assam's silk industry. In May, 1831 the gov- 
ernment finally succumbed to Scott's continued pressure and 
agreed to send one steamer to Assam for a trial round." 
~ io t t ' s  dream however was not fulfilled in his lifetime, for 
in August of the same year he died and officers who succeed- - 
ed him, immediately, became involved in the revenue mess. 
The introduction of steam ship lost its immediate relevancy - 

without any commercial urgency." But however abortive 

B.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 37, Swinton to Scott, 7 March, 1828. 
87 Delivered at depots on the Suffri rivers, accessible for sicca Rs. 

large boats, for one hundred maunds . . . . 12 
Delivered at Dikhowmukh one hundred maunds . . 15 
Delivered at Gauhati one hundred maunds . . 25 
Delivered at Goalpara one hundred maunds . . 30 
Delivered a t  Dhubri . . . . . . 33 
Delivered at Bagmah . . . . . . 35 
Delivered at Jamalpur . . . . . . 38 
See B.P.C., 18 April, 1828, no. 101, Scott to Sterling, 1 Apr., 1828, 

I bid. 
89 Ibid. 

B.P.C., 6 May, 1831, no. 22, Swinton to Scott, 6 May, 1831. 
91 It is interesting to note that the introduction of steam navigation 

on the Brahma~utra took place only in 1841, at the behest of the 
'Assam Company,' when under the new situation export of tea-arr 
expensive local resources-became a problem. See H. A. Antrobus, 
A History of the Assam Company, p. 360 ff. 

F. 8 
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Scott's projects concerning Assam silk and steam navigation 
may have been, one cannot but help concluding that under 
the given circumstances Scott's suggestions for developing 
and exporting Assam silk, with all possible technical help from 
the government, were the only panacea for Assam's economic 
ills of the time. 

2. On Military Defence and Tranquillisation of the Nort/z- 
East Frontier of Assam 

With the fall of Rangpore on 31 January, 1825, the 
expulsion of the Burmese and the lifting of their threat to 
Bengal was virtually c~mpleted.'~ From that date onwards 
it became possible to create first a provisional and then a more 
settled administration for Lower Assam, now firmly occu- 
pied by British forces. To that task Scott was to apply 
himself, first as joint Commissioner with Lt. Col. Richards, 
and from 1826, as a sole Commissioner for Assam. 

But Scott was not left undisturbed in the task of creating 
a civil administration, for the expulsion of the Burmese did 
not of itself bring tranquillity to all Assam. The collapse 
and overthrow of Ahom administration in Upper Assam 
had made possible the grasping of power by other tribal 
groups. The first to challenge Ahom authority, had been 
the M~amarias.'~ They occupied the south bank of the 
Brahmaputra, from Sadiya to the Rurhi Dihing, in the 
modern district of Dibrugarh, and though they were regard- 
ed as true Assamese, they had been distinguished, ever since 
the HinduisationX of the Assam tribes, by their devotion to 

92 For the enemy held no ~ t h e r  fortified position in the province. 

93 For the early history of the Moamarias see S.  0.  Hannay, A short 
account of the Moa-Morah Sect and of the country occupied by the 
Bor Senapattee. India Ofice Mss. Eur. D. 517. 

* Since the reign of Gadadhar Singha in 1681 the Ahoms had been 
actively patronising Sakataism as opposed to the Vaisnavite form of 
Hinduism. T h e  reforming zeal of the Vaisnava preachers, who took 
.the lead in the act of conversion, extended only to the inhabitants of 
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the religious tenets of n Guru who had denounced Brahman- 
ism and taught a form of Vaisna~ism."~ It was their rebel- 
lion in the 1790's against Raja Gaurinath Singh, which had 
"contributed so largely to the fall of the Ahom power."*5 
But the turmoil they created was promptly used by another 
tribal group, that of the Singphos, regarded as a western 
branch of the Kachins of the Hukawng valley, who crossed 
into the head of the Assam valley and settled between the 
Patkoi range and the river." The Singphos, a warlike tribe 
added their ravages to those of the Burmese, and helped to 
depopulate Upper A~sarn.~'  A second invading people, the 
Khamtis came from a Shan state beyond the Pakoi range, 
and though of the same stock as the Ahoms, were distinguish- 
cd from them by being Buddhists." They first emigrated 
from their native hills during the later part of the eighteenth 
century, when the Ahom ruler gave them permission to 
settle on the banks of the Tengapani. But during the 
troubled reign of Raja Gaurinath they made several irrup- 
tions into Sadiya district and at length ejected the ruling 
chieftain, the Sadiya Khowa Gohain, usurping his title and 
jurisdiction and reducing the Assamese to dependence and sla- 
very. The troubles of the Burmese invasions merely gave them 
opportunity to extend their plundering.g0 As a result of all 
these invasions and usurpations the lands to the east of 

the dtlars, a n d  did not reach the hill tribes in the hinterland. See 
S. K. Bhuyan. Anglo-Assamese Relations, pp. 18 and 33. 
" B.S.P.C., I f  March 1826. no. 25, Capt. Neufville's Epitome of the 

geop?.nphiral and political infornzation respecting the tract of country 
in Upper Assam beyond Rungpore; B.S.P.C., 10 June 1825, no. 26, 
Neuf\lille to Scott 15 April., 1825: W.  Robinson, A Descriprive 
.Iccount of Assam, p. 326. 
" PPhy.cica1 and Political Geography of the PI-ovince of Assam, p. 71. 
""ee S. F. Hannary. Sketch of the Singphor or the Kakhyens of 

Bul-ma, p. 44. 
" PPh~~sical nrrd Political Geogl-aphy of the Province of Assam, pp. 

222-3. 
'"bid., p. 226. 

"' B.S.P.C. .  10 June, 1825. no. 26, Neuhlillc to Scott, 15 April, 1825; 
W. Robinson, op. cit., r. 364. 
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Ratlgpore, along both banks of the Brahmaputra had been 
largely laid waste and left to the encroachment of deep 
jungle loo 

All this area had so far remained untouched by British 
troops, and the reduction of the tribes to peaceful subjection 
and allegiance to the Company had still to be effected. 
When in March, 1825 Assamese from Upper Assam approach- 
ed Scott for help against Singphos and Khamti depradations, 
he therefore despatched Captain Neufville, with Col. Richards' 
concurrence, to occupy Sadiya and oust the Singphos.lo' A 
further extension of the British frontier, with all the complica- 
tions that must entail, was in the making. 

For accurate information about the tribes of Upper 
Assam Scott relied much on the information supplied by 
Neufville. Neufville maintained a regular journal record- 
ing the geographical and political features of this tract, includ- 
ing also the "barren, desolate and jungle-covered" foothills of 
the present North-East Frontier Agency. The Miris, one of the 
tribes of this area, he described as a "nearly barbarous hill race, 
rudely armed with bows and arrows, and differing altogether 
in language, appearance and habits from the inhabitants of 
Assam proper," though "quiet and inoffen~ive."'~~ But even 
before Neufville's advance, Scott had been considering what 
British relations with the people of the frontier tract of 
Assam might be. H e  was convinced that though hostile to 
the Burmese they would be incapable of effective resistance 
to those invaders "without a complete alteration in their 
intellectual and social condition which it must be a work of 
time to effect."'lo3 On the other hand their history of blood- 
shed, rapine and political instability would make it too 
dangerous to the settled lowlanders for the British to put 
such arms into their hands as would render them really 
formidable to the Burmese and capable of themselvec under- 

loo E.S.P.C.: 10 June, 1825, no. 26, Neufville to Scott. 15 April, 1825. 
18' B.S.P.C.. 15 April, 1825, nos. 13-14. Scott to Richards, 9 March, 

1825 and Scott to Swinton, 10 March, 1825. 
lo2 B.S.P.C., 10 June, 1825, no. 26, Neufirille to Scott, 15 April, 1825. 
'03 B.S.P.C., 26 Nov., 1824, no. 11, Scott to Swinton, 9 Nov., 1824'. 
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taking the defence of the border.lO' Indeed, Scott's first 
thinking was about how to coerce them into order, and for 
a while he even thought of using Burmese prisoners for 
control of the frontier tribes : "Upon the conclusion of 
peace I would propose to settle prisoners as cultivators in the 
lower part of Assam or in the pergana of Mechpara . . . 
they might hereafter prove useful as a militia to be employ- 
ed against the Garos, Daflasx, and other tribes inhabiting 
almost inaccessible country with whom we are now 
likelv to have dispute. 9,105 

But no breathing space was ever given for the working 
out with government of such plans, for in March 1825 came 
news that seven thousand five hundred Singphos, some six 
hundred and sixty of them armed with muskets, had assemb- 
led at the mouth of the Nao-Dihing and formed canton- 
ments. The Assamese who had brought this news also 
reported the plundering of the districts of Sessi, Dhimaji and 
Bardolani, the driving off of the cattle and enslavement of 
the inhabi tants.lo6 

Scott was in no doubt that action was absolutely neces- 
sary. The strategic posts at Borhat, Jaypur and Sadiya must 
be guarded and the Assamese inhabitants of Upper Assam 
protected. "The abandonment of that part of the country 
near Sadiya", he wrote, "would necessarily most seriously 
injure our reputation and character for good faith besides 
entailing ruin and misery upon thousands whom we arc 
bound to protect . . . and deprive us in the event of there 
being a necessity for a second campaign against the Burmese 

>310? 
of ali the local influence and facilities for ulterior operations. 
The immediate task. as Scott and Neufville both saw, was to 

lo4 B.S.P.C., 3 Dec., 1824, no: 8, Sccitt to Swinton, 17 Nov., 1824. 

* The Daflas occupy a vast stretch of hills and forest which roughly 
covers the western half of the Subansari division of the present North 
East Frontier Agency. See B. K. Shukla, The Daflas. 
lo5 Home Misc., Vol. 673. pp. 729-30, Scott to Swinton, 14 March, 

1825. 
'06 B.S.P.C., 15 April, 1825, no. 3, Scott to Swinton, 25 March, 1825. 
lo' B.S.P.C., 20 May, 1825. no. 24, Scott to Swinton, 30 April, 1825. 



118 DAVID SCOTT IN NORTH-EAST INDIA 

liberate the hundreds of Assamese captives. Neufville was 
asked to give every encouragement to such of the Singpho 
chiefs who might desire to enter into negotiations upon the 
basis of releasing all the Assamese captives taken since the 
date of the capitulation of Rungpore, each chief being asked 
to provide hostages for fulfilment of his engagements.'Ob 
Meanwhile Neufville pressed forward, for if the Singphos, 
anticipating defeat, emigrated to the hills-after reaping 
the approaching harvest-all endeavour to free the Assamese 
would prove f ru i t l es~ . '~~  When it was realised that the sale 
value of each slave, averaging through all ages and both sexes, 
was from twenty to eighty rupees, and that each Singpho 
was probably possessed of forty or sixty captives it was scarcely 
to be doubted that the Sigphos would make every effort to 
get them away to the markets of their hill neighbo~rs."~ 

Happily Neufville received the immediate help of the 
Khamtis and when he reached Sadiya a number of Singpho 
chiefs also showed a conciliatory attitude."' Some Singphos 
who had turned plunderers during the Burmese invasions, 
when the only alternatives were to plunder others or to be 
plundered, now wished to settle down.l12 But Neufvillc 
was also aided by a sudden outbreak of hostility between two 
of the Singpho chiefs, Beesa Gam and Daffa Gam, whom 
he was ablc to  lay off one against the other.l13 After mili- - 
tary operations in the territories of both these chiefs, Neuf- 
ville's superiority in arm and strategy led at the close of 1825 
to the submission of a number of leading chiefs, Beesa Gam 
included, and the liberation of no less than six thousand 
Assamese captives. Neufville had inspired the Singphos 

E.S.P.C.. 20 May, 1825, nos. 23-24, Scott to Neufville, 8 Anril,  
1825 and Scott to Swinton. 30 April, 1825; B.S.P.C. 27, May, 1825, 
no. 63, Scott to Neufville, 2 May, 1825. 
lo9 E.S.P.C., 10 June, 1825, no. 25, Scott to Swinton, 22 May, 1825. 
"O R.S.P.C.. 2 Sept., 1825, no. 23, Neufville to Scott, 2 Aug.. 1825. 
'I1 B.S.P.C., 20 May, 1825, no. 26, Neufville to Capt. Martin, 13 

Apr., 1825. 

B.S.P.C., 10 June, 1825. no. 26, Neufville to Scott, 18 May, 1825. 
'I3 E.S.P.C., 20 May, 1825. no. 26, Neufville to Scott, 13 Apr., 1825- 



POST-ANNEXATION PROPOSITIONS 119 

with a real dread of British military prowess, and of the 
capacity of the Company's forces "to overcome the discourag- 

>, 114 ing localities of the country . 
Early in 1826 Scott visited Sadyia and entered into formal 

engagements with sixteen out of twenty eight Singpho chiefs. 
The chiefs promised their allegiance to the Company and 
abjured all connections with the Burmese or any other 
foreign power; they undertook to act agreeably to the orders 
of the British government in political matters; promised to 
supply the British troops with rice and other necessaries, to 
make roads and gha~s  for them, and to make such resistance 
as might be required in case of foreign invasion; agreed to 
release all Assamese captives detained by them, and to 
arrest and deliver any Singpho who might seek shelter in 
their territories after committing depredations on the Assa- 
mese. They also promised to deliver into the custody of the 
political agent a son or a nephew or a brother as hostage. 
In return Scott promised protection and freedom from reve- 
nue dues. They would also be left to administer justice in 
their respective villages, according to former custom, and to 
settle disputes among their dependents, with the provision 
that should any quarrel take place between villages they 
would not take course to arms but refer the matter to the 
British authorities for a decision.l16 

To the twelve chiefs who had failed to attend the meet- 
ing. Scott issued a proclamation inviting them to come down 
from the hills within two months and to subscribe to the 
agreement taken from the rest of the tribe. They were 
threatened that if they failed to do so their properties would 
be confiscated and they would be expelled from Assam 
altogether.l16 

The execution and strategy of the advance to Sadiya 
and the reduction of the singFho strongholds had been Neuf- 
ville's : it was his energy, ability and intrepidity, aided by 
the efforts of the Khamti auxiliaries and the Assamese cap- 

''* R.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 12 June, 1826. 
B.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826 no. 10, Scott to Swinton, 12 June, 1826. 

'la B.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 12 June, 1826. 
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tives themselves which had so quickly lifted the Singpho 
terror. With the restoration of order, however, Scott had 
to consider under what plan that order should in future be 
maintained. 

While Neufville was subduing the Singphos, Scott in 
April 1825 had been suggesting to the Calcutta autho- 
rities the possibility of granting stipends to some of the more 
influential chiefs in return for their defending the passes 
through the mountains to the south-east, and in return for 
their prevention of any raids upon the lowlands. As an 
example of what might be done he referred to the similar 
measures adopted by Cleveland in the Bhagalpur hills."' 
Scott also thought of settling various Singpho chiefs in the 
plains, where whole tracts were lying waste. With such 
tangible and increasingly valuable possessions he hoped they 
would reform their predatory habits. Useful employment 
might be given to the more restless part of the community 
by establishing a corps upon the same plan as that of the 
Bhagalpur rangers, or by incorporating a certain number of 
men furnished by each with the Rungpore Light Infantry."' 

I In June 1826, after his visit to Sadiya, Scott sent his 
revised plans to Swinton. Firstly, considering the remote- 
ness of the situation from the British headquarters in Assam, 
and the incongruous and conflicting interests of the petty 
chiefs, Scott thought that a European officer ought to be per- 
manently posted in Sadiya with one other European assis- 
tant. These officers, who should have both civil and mili- 
tary powers, would organise and gradually increase the 
military resources of the country to prevent any recurrence 
of predatory incursions in future. They would also have 
an opportunity closely to study the problems of the tribes.llg 
Scott was careful to stress to government that the latter 
obiect could not be effected by means of a succession of officers 
incidentally detached in command of the post. Such 

B.S.P.C., 20 May, 1825. no. 23, Scott to Neufville, 8 Apr., 1825. 
'18 B.S.P.C., 20 May, 1825, no. 24, Scott to Swinton, 30 Apr., 1825; 

B.S.P.C. 27, May, 1825, no. 63, Scott to Neufville, 2 May, 1825. 
'la B.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 12 June, 1826. 
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ofhcers would necessarily be unacquainted with local politics 
and circumstances, and with the language of the interpre- 
ters, and consequently be liable to be misled "by the artful 
misrepresentations of interested  person^.""^ This point was 
a very important one, wherever sympathetic understanding 
of tribal peoples had to be achieved. A modern work on the 
North-West Frontier makes from experiences just the same 
point : "what was wanted was that British o6cers should 
deal directly with the tribes, win their confidence, and in- 
spire respect." But the author comments that even the suc- 
cessful officers "were not exempt from the possibility of a 
sudden transfer to a remote part . . ."121 Scott therefore urged 
long-term appointments, and pressed the qualifications of 
Captain Neufville and Lieutenant Bedingfield for them. 
The former had clearly shown his initiative and his peculiar 
fitness for work with the tribes, while the latter, who had 
commanded at Sadiya, as well qualified by his knowledge of 
the Assamese language and his pleasant and conciliary manner 
towards the natives.122 

The other part of the plan Scott submitted to govern- 
ment was for the establishment at Sadiya of a corps of mili- 
tia, six hundred strong, to be drawn from the followers of the 
Barsenapati, the Maomaria chief, and the Sadia Khowa Gohain, 
a Khamti chief. These two had early aided Neufville, and 
by this time had completely allied themselves to the Com- 
pany by deeds of allegiance and by the Company's counter- 
recognition of their feudatory status in May, 1826.126 Scott 
thought them much more suitable than regular troops for the 
frontier, particularly the Khamtis, a fine, muscular and active 
race of men, hardy and laborious and much superior iz 
military habits to the rest of the Burmese. He thought that 
if attached to the British interest by liberal treatment they 
might prove a very useful description of soldier.12' 

120 Ibid. 
12' Sir William Barton, India's North-West Frontier, p. 61. 
122 B.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826 no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 12 June, 1826. 
12' Physical and Political Geography of the Province of Assam, p. 71. 
124 B.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 12 June, 1826. 
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This idea of forming a native militia at once caught the 
interest and imagination of both Bedingfield and Neufville. 
In June Bedingfield wrote that he saw no reason why, if 
armed and disciplined properly, the natives of the country 
should not become more than a match for anv tribes thev 
might be required to contend with. considering the sad 
effects of the climate on the Hindustani soldiers, he saw in 
Scott's proposal the Company's best hope of establishing an 
effective force on the frontier. Drawing his idea from the 
old paik system125 of Assam, Bedingfield suggested that as 
most of the militia men would be peasants, leave of absence 
should be granted to a portion of them in rotation so as to 
allow them to attend to their crops. T o  prevent them from 
developing lazy and idle habits in peacetime he proposed 
that they should be trained in building, stockades, trench- 
work, making canoes and in the handling of h0wi t~ers . l~~  

In August, 1826, Neufville followed with his suggestions, 
based upon a rather broader view of the whole situation. 
He  accepted the usefulness of the militia proposed by Beding- 
field on the Ahom model. He  also agreed that ine Com- 
pany's regular Indian forces were quite unsuited to frontier 
conditions. But he argued that some regular force was re- 
quired, distinct from the local militia, to garrison a fortified 
post at Sadiya. That force, five or six hundred strong, should 
be placed solely under the permanent political agent whose 
appointment Scott had proposed. Such a body, he hoped, 
would be fully sufficient to keep in check internal disturbance 
as well as border aggression in all Upper Assam. A regular 
garrison at Sadiya would also be "productive of the best impres- 
sion by convincing the people of the country in the perma- 
nence of our protective influence (of which they at the 
moment entertained great doubts) . . . as to extinguish all 
hope in the minds of the refractory of a return to their for- 
mer system or rapine 2nd plunder.127 He  thought that for 

See Supra, pp. 89-90. 

126 R.S.P.C., 21 July, 1826. no. 14, Bedingfield to Scott, 4 June, 1826; 
B.S.P.C., 21 July, 1826, no. 13, Scott to Swinton, 4 July, 1826. 

127 B.S.P.C., 10 Nov., 1826, no. 22, Neufville to Scott, 29 Aug., 1826. 
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the force no men were better fitted than the Gurkhas, recruited 
for the hill companies of the Champaran and Dinajpur Light 
Battalions, who were "proverbially brave, active and capable 
of enduring fatigue both in hills and jungles, and free from 
those prejudice which the Hindus of the regular troops were 
invariably accustomed to." He proposed that the permanent 
force should comprise two hundred Gurkhas, one hundred 
and fifty Shan musketeers selected from the body at Singa- 
mari, and one hundred and fifty Manipuri horsemen.128 

So far as the Singphos were concerned, Neufville would 
pursue a concilitory but guarded policy particularly towards 
Beesa Gam, whose stronghold command the road to Moon- 
dong and Hukawng, the only direction from which any 
attack might be apprehended in future. He anticipated that 
before long this would prove to be a "route of considerable 
traffic." He  suggested that a party from the permanent force 
might be stationed there or in Daffa Gam's territory until 
the road was cleared.12' 

Since the Supreme Government was planning to dichancl 
the corps of regulars operating on the Assam frontier and to 
move military headquarters to Sylhet, Scott thought Neuf- 
ville's proposals particularly uscf ul. The experience at 
Bishnath during the monsoon, when seven hundred men of 
the 13th Regiment were unfit for duty but the Rangpore 
Local Corps suffered only the normal incidence of sickness. 
also convinced him of its wisdom.130 Scott further hoped 
that the Shyam musketeers and the Manipuri horsemen might 
be settled as jagirdavs so that the only men to whom it ~ o u l d  
be necessary to give full pay would be companies of Gur- 
k h a ~ . ' ~ ~  

A Sadiya militia was ultimately formed in 1827 four 
hundred and fifty strong, each man receiving from the P v -  
ernment land worth ten rupees a year and batta during the 
time he was being drilled.132 Any further stay of the regular 

128 Ibid. 
129 Ibid. 
130 B.S.P.C., 10 Nor., 1826, no. 21, Scott to Swinton, 12 Oct., 1826. 
131 Ibid. 

R.S.P.C., 28 Oct., 1827, nos. 54-55, Scott to Swinton, 3 Sept., 1827. 
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troops in Assam being thought unnecessary, it was decided 
that the Rangpore Local Corps, with the necessary addition 
of the Gurkha companies should be entrusted with the regu- 
lar military duties in A ~ s a m ' ~ ~  under Neufville's immediate 
care and command.13' Lt. Rutherford was employed in Sadiya 
as Neufville's assistant in lieu of Lt. Bedingfield,'35s he 
supervised the constructions of a fort and stockade at Sadiya.13' 

Scott's plans for curbing the Singpho menace did not 
end with the adoption by the government of these military 
dispositions. He  realised that the Singphos like the Garos 
needed to be won over to a new way of life, if their predatory 
raids were to be stopped. Their social organisation was pecu- 
liar. The whole of their field work was performed by the 
women and by Assamese slaves; "the men delight in lounging 
about the villages and basking in the sun when not engaged in 

3,137 hunting or war. Proud, vindictive, improvident and hope- 
lessly they were unlikely to remain peaceful neigh- 
bours unless provided with new outlet for their energies. 
Scott's idea was to develop British trade routes to upper 
Burma through the Singpho territory by using the Singphos as 
middlemen. This he thought would give a profitable avoca- 
tion, involving little physical exertion, to the hitherto maraud- 
ing race and their predatory activities would gradually be 
extinguished.139 

Though the need to civilize the Singphos gave a new 
impetus to the idea of trade across the Assam-Burma Frontier 

l" E.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, nos. 4-8, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828; 

Swinton to Scott, 7 March, 1828. 

134 B.S.P.C., 2 May, 1828, nos. 14-16, Neufville to Scott, 15 Apr., 
1828; Sterling to Scott, 2 May, 1828. . . 

135 B.S.P.C., 17 Oct., 1828, no. 1, Neufville to Scott, 4 Sept., 1828; 
no. 3, Swinton to Scott, 17 Oct., 1828. 

1 3 ~  E.S.P.C., 29 Jan., 1830, no. 2, Rutherford to Naufville, 7 Jan., 
1830. 

J. Butler, A sketch of Assam, p. 8. 
1""bid 

13' B.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 44, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb., 1828. 
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the idea itself was not new. In 1822 the select committee at 
Canton, faced with a closure of trade at that part-over the 
Topaz affair-had written to Calcutta pointing out how easy 
it was for the Canton officials to prevent their petitions 
reaching Peking, and asking that the Calcutta authorities 
should explore the possibility "of transmitting their represen- 
tations overland . . . by way of Sylhet and the province of 
Yunan" in times of crisis."' Again in 1824, the surveyof 
general, Blacker, had written enthusiastically to Amherst 
about Assam : "Its interesting situation between Hindoostan 
and China, two names with which the civilised world has 
been long familiar, whilst itself remains nearly unknown, is 
a striking fact and leaves nothing to be wished, but the means 
and opportunity for exploring it. "I4' Soon after the British 
occupation of Assam, Scott had set in motion a number of - 
surveys, carried on under his direct supervision by officers 
from the surveyor-general's department. Various routes were 
studied within and beyond Assam, with an eye to their poten- 
tial use as trade routes. While Neufville was travelling 
throughout the Khamti and Singpho territories establishing 
law and order, other young officers such as Captain Bedford 
and Lieutenants Wilcox and Burlton were mapping the area 
watered by the upper branches of the Brahmaputra.14' 
Among the routes they studied was one from Assam to Tibet 
and Yunnan through the country in the extreme north of 
Rurma inhabited by the Khamti and Mishmi This 
route however, could not be followed beyond the borders of 
the Khamtis as they feared to rouse the iealousy and suspi- 
cion of the Burmese.? Another route which received much 
attention was the Hukawnp valley route, by which the 

14' See A. Lamh, op.  ci?., p. 48. 
l4' R.S.P.C.. 14 May, 1824, B!acker to Amherst. 22 Apr., 1824. 
14"ee Ma Thaung. Bl-it;,:;~ 1ntel.ests in Tl-ans-Buma Trade 7-otrrc~ 

to Chino, London University, Ph. D. thesis, 1955, pp. 20-54. 

143 See R. Wilcox, 'Memoir of a Survey of Assam and the neigh6orrr.- 
ing countries executed in 1 825-6-7-8.' Asiatic Researche.~, Vol. XVII . 
pp. 314-453, 832. 
t M. Thaung, OD. cit., p. 23.  
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Burmese had entered Assam in 1817 and in 1820, and by 
which they returned in 1825. Part of this route lay in the 
territories of Beesa Gam* and at the time when Neufville was 
entering into engagements with him, he was informed that 
this route had both military and commercial value."* 

It was on this route that Scott placed his greatest hopes 
of improving trade with Burma, and incidentally of encourag- 
ing the Singphos in peaceful pursuits. By April, 1826 messen- 
gers from the China-Burmese border area brought information 
to the effect that there would be a considerable demand for 
woollen cloth and other European manufactures in their 
country, in exchange for which they could give horses and 
silver. Scott gave every encouragement to them to return 
to Sadiya at the proper season of the year-November or Dc- 
cember-when he proposed to establish a fair at the place."" 
This was approved by the government146 and silk goods of 
the value of eight hundred rupees were despatched from 
Calcutta, together with presents for the chiefs. Unhappily 
o n  their way the whole of the consignment was plundered. 
Though Scott at once applied for a fresh investment of 
goods14' the smallness of the sum granted, mere two thousand 
rupees, and the want of any officer to supervise the business 
led to the venture falling through.'48 In 1830, however, 
Neufville took up the idea again."' He  recommended that 
the merchant adventurer Bruce,'" who was in charge of the 

" The  Singphos bordering Assam, at this time, were said to be 
divided into twelve principal tribes or clans, designed after the names 
of their chiefs, or Gams. Every chieftain maintained his own sepa- 
rate independence and seldom united with any other. The principal 
clans were the Beesa Gam, Duffa Gam, Luttao Gam. and Luttora 
Gam. W. Robinson, op cit., p. 736. 

144 hI. Thaung, op. cit., p. 24. 
'" B.S.P.C., 19 May, 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 28 Apr., 1826. 

B.S.P.C.. 19 May, 1826, no. 11, Swinton to Scott, 19 May, 1926. 
147 R.S.P.C.. 7 Sept., 1827, no. 17, Scott to Swinton, 18 Aug., 1827. 
14Vbid. 
14' B.S.P.C., 14 May 1830, no. 29, Scott to Swinton, 22 Apr., 1830. 
150 This Bruce (Charles Alexander) was the brother of Robert 

Bruce, merchant and soldier of fortune referred in Ch. 111. 
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gunboats at Sadiya, should be vested with the superintendence 
of the whole business at a salary of one hundred rupees per 
month, with a share in the profits. Neufville suggested that 
a consignment of English and Indian goods should be sent 
up to be sold at reasonable prices in exchange for ivory, amber, 
musk, manjit, copper, daus and spears. Even if the demand 
at Sadiya was insufficient to take off the whole consignment, 
he was sure that the goods he specified would find a sale in 
Assam at fif ty to one hundred per cent profit."' The con- 
signment he suggested for the following cold weather was 
this :Is2 

1000 yds of coarse scarlet broadcloth 
at two rupees per yard . . 

150 yds of bright yellow broadcloth 
for the priest at two rupees per yard 

100 yds of red baize at one rupee per yard 
600 yds of chintzes at five annas per yard 
White long cloth . . 
Book muslins . . 
Coloured cotton handkerchiefs 
Lascars red caps . . 
Velvet, black and red (China) 
Kincobs, three pieces at fifty rupees each 
Flints . . . . 
Opium, red battan [ ? I  blankets, eria* 

cloth and produce of Assam 
Boat hire from Calcutta and Insurance 

Total Sicca Rs. 5,000 

B.P.C., 14 May, 1830, no. 29, Neufville to Scott, 27 Jan., 1830. 
152 R.P.C., 14 May, 1830, no. 29, Neuhille to Scott, 27 Jan., 1830. 
" The eri or eria cloth is one of the three varieties of silk produced 

in Assam. The other two are the muga and pat. The  cloth is light, 
strong, and remarkably durable, and it washes well. Kamrup is the 
largest eri-producing tract in the province. The Rabhas, Kacharis 
and Meches are expert in the cultivation of eri worm (attacus ricini). 
See B. C. Allen, Monograph on the silk cloth of Assam, pp. 4-14. 
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Neufville also thought it desirable to allow the principal 
singpho chiefs to take merchandise for the first year on 
credit under engagements of payment at the ensuing fair. 
He had already lent four hundred rupees to the Beesa Gam 
upon such conditions, to test his integrity. Neufville hoped 
that eventually this trade would extend through the Hukawng 
valley to Mogaung, on the upper I r r a ~ a d d ~ . ' ' ~  The gov- 
ernment approved the proposal and Scott and Neufville were 
allowed to try the e~periment."~ 

- 

This study of the tranquillization of the eastern frontier 
cannot be concluded without referring to another of Captain 
Neufville's projects. Major S. F. Hannay tells us'55 that Capt. 
Neufville regotiated with Laong, the Amat Gyee, or deputy 
governor of Maing Kwan with a view to bringing a large 
number of the Shan population of the Maing Kwan province 
to Assam. Unfortunately, however, the Burmese got intima- 
tion of this confidential negotiation and Laong was taken to 
Ava and executed. 

Hannay writes that "as a political measure nothing could 
have been better for Upper Assam at that time, than the 
transfer of a large body of the Shan race into the province, 
as under the able management of that officer, the eventual 
benefit to be derived from the accession of an energetic 
population, with knowledge in the useful arts, and habits of 
industry unknown to the Assamese of the present day, was 
certain."'56 According to Hannay the benefit to Upper 
Assam in regard to trade in muga silk alone would have 
been great, for the Shan population of the middle and lower 
Chindwin river, together with the large Burmese population 
situated between the lower Pangam and the Irrawaddy, 
would have consumed every particle of that article which 
could have been produced by the Assamese. The Shan dis- 

153 B.P.C., 14 May, 1830, no. 29, Neufville to Scott, 27 Jan., 1830. 
lj4 B.P.C., 14 May, 1830, no. 30, Swinton to Scott, 14 May, 1830. 
155 S. F. Hannay, Notes on the Shans, Part I I ,  Shan; of Assam, pp. 

15-16. 
Ibid. 

167 S. F. Hannay, op. cit., pp. 15-16. 
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tricts of the Upper Chindwin lay only six marches although 
by a mountainous route from Ranpore. Had Neufville lived, 
Hannay argues, he would surely have succeeded in opening, 
up a route so full of possibilities for upper Assamese trade,. 
as also links with the Chinese markets of the Yunnan fron- 
tier."' I t  is interesting to note that half a century later, the 
similar idea of bringing 'a large needy and industrious' Shan 
population from the South West of Yunnan occurred in the 
minds of those Britishers who were interested in the deve- 
lopment of Assam Tea Industry and who in a memorial in 
1878 to the Hon. Viscount Canbrook, Secretary of State for 
India stressed the importance of opening up a practicable 
route between Assam and the South West of Yunnan for the 
purpose of making the industrious population of the latter 
available for work in A~sam."~  

The Singpho trade, though it continued during the re- 
maining period of Scott's life, and for four years afterwards,15' 
did not serve the purpose of transforming the habits of the 
Singphos. But thi effort to establish a market at Sadiya was 
more successful, and in July, 1834 the first four Marwari 
traders, from North India, appeared at Sadiya, under the 
protective wing of the newly appointed British officer there.I6O 
Moreover Scott never ceased to be optimistic about the wider 
possibilities of the Sadiya mart. Three months before his 
death, on 18 May, 1831, he wrote to the Government : "the 
evidence lately given before the two Houses of Parliament 
in regard to the obstructions offered to the introduction of 
British woollens from Canton into the interior of China by 
the imposition of high duties seems fully to confirm the 
expediency of endeavouring to open other direct channels of 

T h e  A.FSC;IM Association Afertzorial to the Hon .  Viscount Cyan- 
brook, the Secretary of State for India and Report of the Deputation 
to  his Lordship, 31st {uly, 1878, London. Signed by Rutherford 
Alcock, Henny Hopkinson, H .  H.  Godwin-Austen. Willism Mait- 
land, James Warren, J .  B.  Chalmers, Alfred J .  Holiday and R. 
Langford Locke. 
15' See M. Thaung, op. cit., p. 21. 
lso Ibid. 

F. 9 
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communication with the inland provinces of that empire 
from some of which Sadiya is distant little more than 200 

The peace and order brought by Scott to the frontier of 
Upper Assam continued for many years after his death, 
.except for a rising in 1839 which followed the death of Salan 
Sadiya Khowa Gohain, the Khamti chief, with whom agree- 
ment had been reached on the 15th May, 1826.1e2 In that 
year the Khamtis of Sadiya suddenly rose and murdered the 
political agent, Col. White and many of his guards. The 
Singphos, too, joined in the rising. Despite this incident 
little change was made in the administrative machinery for 
the frontier for some forty years. As communications were 
made easier, the raids of the hill tribes became easier to sup- 
press, and a number of hitherto independent tribes were 
brought under British control and were transformed into 
revenue-paying ryots. Throughout these years Scott's native 
militia continued to patrol the roads and passes to the north.16' 

3. On the question of the employment of the Assamese ~ n d  
the restoration of Ahom monarchy in Upper Assam. 

Between 1825 and 1831 the establishment of a secure base 
at Sadiya for the British guardforce on the Burmese frontier 
had been one pre-occupation of Scott. Another had been 
the creation of a new administrative order, revenue and judi- 
cial, for Lower Assam. There remained a third problem, 
which proved the most intractable of all, that of deciding 
what to do with Upper Assam, the old Ahom heartlands 
interposed between the British frontier posts at Sadiya and 
settled Lower Assam. Here Scott found h i s  views running 
contrary to those of the Supreme Government, and though in 

lG1 B.P.C., 10 June. 1831, no. 50, Scott to Swinton, 18 May, 1831. 
162 C. U. Aitchison, TrearieLr, Engagen?ents and Snnadj, Vol. 11, pp. 

252-253; Physical and Political Geography of the Assam, p. 22 1. 

lG"hysical and Political Geography of the Province of As san ,  p. 221. 
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the end his proposals were largely accepted he did not live to 
see them put into action. 

Scott wished to re-establish an Ahom kingdom in Upper 
Assam, with a constitution designed to eliminate the weak- 
ness of the old regime and the need for any detailed British 
interference. Such a restoration seemed the solution to 
many problems : it would relieve the Company of the finan- 
cial burden of adininisterillg an impoverished, devastated coun- 
try; it would lessen tension of the frontier and contribute to its 
defence; it would establish British good faith, halt the pro- 
cess of annexation and consequent breaking down of Indian 
society; and above all it  would solve the problem of provid- 
ing suitable employment to the Ahom and other Assamese 
officials and nobles, thereby removing a major cause for 
unrest and rebellion. How Scott came to hold and defend 
these views, and against what opposition, is the subject of this 
section. 

I t  has been said that most of the problems of Assam today 
arise out of an historical fact: that "a whole host of clerks 
and petty officials from Bengal came in the wake of the 
British rulers, as Assam was not in a position for some three 
generations to supply English-knowing personnel for taking 
part in the administration, and at their instance, the British 
government, partly also to siinplif y matters, made Bengali 
the second language of the administration and the school in 
Assam. "I" The Ahom system of government was so very 
different from that of other Indian territories that in the pre- 
liminary stages of British administration in Assam, the Assa- 
mese could not be readily fitted into the regular departments 
of the Company's administration. Soine high-ranking offi- 
cials from the previous Ahom government were given high 
posts because of their special knowledge in the revenue and 
judicial fields, but, apart from these most of the jobs in the 
Company's service came to be held by outsiders. 

The consequences were not limited to the loss of govern- 
ment service and social prestige by the old Ahom service 

'" 4. K .  Chatterii. The Place of Assam in the History and Civili- 
sation of India, p. 78. 
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aristocracy. In Assam, as everywhere else in British India, 
the establishment of a hierarchy of new officials, operating 
a new legal and administrative machinery, through a new 
language opened the way to widespread exploitation, social 
and economic, of the old society. The appearance of Bruce, 
the merchant-adventurer who reported the possibilities of 
tea cultivation in Assam,'" the penetration of Marwari traders 
to the new market at Sadiya,lG6 the installation of Bengali tnh- 
sildars in Upper AssamlG7 were signs of changes to come in 
the future.lGs 

Scott wished to soften the impact of such change, and as 
will be seen; he did his best to give employment to Ahom 
officials in the revenue and judicial service. But an examina- 
tion of the Company's native establishment, set up by Scott 

165 AS far back as 1826 Scott sent to the authorities of the Calcutta 
Botanic Garden, some dried tea leaves from Manipur which were 
entered in the catalogue of the Company's botanical collection under 
No. 3668. Bentinck Papers, PwJf 2546 a; For Bruce's enterprise see 
A. C. Barua, Aspects of the Economic Development of Assnm Valley, 
A London University, M. A .  Thesis, 1960, p. 79. 

lG6 See supra, p. 129. 

le7 See Infra, p. 149. 

ls8 In fact ever since the initial British occupation-the time when 
many of the Assamese rajkhowas, baruas, kakatis, kotokis, hazarikas, 
saikias and baras had to make room for the Bengali tahsildar~, tah- 
vildars, peshkars, poddars, nazim, mullakuranis and various sorts of 
other amlas-the Assamese culture and tradition (due to the predomi- 
nance of the Bengali language and personnel) began to be affected 
severely by a clash with forces coming from Bengal. The gradual 
consciousness among the educated Assamese in the last quarter of the 
nineteenth century and in the early decades of the present, of the 
harm that had already been done to the Assamese language and 
culture, led them to oppose any move which seemed to them detri- 
mental to the interests of the Assamese. The first of such organized 
movements in the present century was that against Lord Curzon's 
decision to amalgamate the eastern part of Bengal with the then 
constituted (1904) province of Assam. 

See Assam Tribune, Nov. 13, 1963, for a note by this author on 
the Asmmese-Bengali relationship during the days of Manik Chandra 
Baruah (1 85 1-19 15) under the caption 'Municipal Chairman'. 
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as political agent on the North-East Frontier, will show how 
large were the changes introduced by the advent of the 
British. Scott's establishment was comprised of three mun- 
5hL,la' writing and interpreting Persian and Hindustani; one 
muhafiz-i-daftar, or keeper of public papers and records; six 
muharrirs or clerks; two tahvildars or cashiers; one dafturee 
who prepared the writing materials, and a few jamadars and 
chuprasis inferior officers of police, customs or excise and their 
orderlies. There was also a staff of interpreters : four Eng- 
lish writers and interpreters of the Burmese, Manipuri, Khasi 
and Singpho languages, together with their orderlies. The 
pay for the whole establishment for the nine months from 
December, 1823 to August, 1824 came to Rs. 5,823, individual 
salaries varying from Rs. 43 a month drawn by the munshir 
to less than Rs. 5 a month for the ~hupras is . '~~ Of all these 
employees, only a certain Durga Thakur was probably Assa- 
mese and he was employed in a special capacity as 'Assam 
Muharrir'. His salary, including his travelling allowances 
was about Rs. 20 per month.171 

In May, 1825, Scott and Richards, the joint commissioners 
submitted the native establishment listlT2 which they proposed 
for the two divisions of Assam. The pattern of offices was 
closely modelled upon the establishment in the other districts 
of the Bengal Presidency, and like them still bore the Persian 
titles taken over by the Company from their Mughal prede- 
cessors. In structure, function as well as name the adminis- 
tration proposed was Anglo-Mughal.173 The designation of 
many of the posts-shumar navis, or registrar; khazanchi, 

They were : Raikishore Sen, Hari  Shome and Kishen Kant 
Eose. T h e  B.S.P.C., 22 Oct., 1824, no. 12. Scott to Swinton, 1 Oct., 1824. 
The statement of snr?:s paid to the native oficers employed by the 
Political Agent on the ATor-th-Ea~t Frontier from Dec., 1823 to  5 Aug., 
1824. 

170 Ibid. 
Ibid. 

17' See Appendices A and B at the end of the chapter. 
B.S.P.C., 7 July 1826, no. 32, Scott and Richards to Swinton, 25 

May, 1825. 
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or treasurer; tahsildar, or district revenue collector were un- 
familiar to the Assamese. Their method of working, espe- 
cially the mass of forms, returns and other paper work, 
was totally unlike anything seen under the Ahoms. Ahom 
officials had never felt it necessary to keep written records 
of official day-to-day business. For example in judicial 
matters the Ahom custom was to hear all complaints viva 
voce; afterwards to summon the party complained against; 
and, if his statement proved unsatisfactory, prompt punish- 
ment ensued, without further delay for witne~ses. '~~ In- 
deed, White reported that the ex-Raja Purandar Singh asked 
Scott why on earth he and his officials were always so 
busy in taking down the complainant's deposition, and that 
of his witnesses, and then summoning the defendant and 
taking down his statement and then again calling for his 
witness. For him it was an unnecessary lengthy process 
where the judge, who was bound to forget everything about 
the case in its later stages would be at the mercy of the 
a~nlah."~ In justifisation of the practice of taking written de- 
positions, Scott is recorded as replying, "Swurgo Deo, you are 
of celestial origin, and can recollect everything. We are 
earth-born, and when we go to dinner, forget what we have 
heard in the course of the day; therefore we write down 
what we hear. "176 It was inevitable that when the system 
and its officers were so unfamiliar to the Ahom tradition, the 
posts should be filled by experts, already trained in the Repu- 
lation system of Bengal. As a matter of fact, prior to the 
permanent arrangement of May, 1825, Scott had already 
appointed provisionally, many people in the native establish- 
ment of Commissioner's office in Lower Assam. The  long 

174 A. White, Memoir,  p. 58. This explanation was said to have been 
given by the ex-Raja Purandar Singh to Scott who when the raja said 
that the oppression committed by the subordinate native ofFicers in 
the British administration was greater than it used to be in  the native 
rule, had to admit the truth of the comparison. 

175 1Eid. 
lbid,  pp. 58-59. Swargo deo literally means 'Lord of heaven' and 

the usual title by which the raja of Assam was addressed. 
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list of the establishment posts was filled with Rais, Ghoses, 
Sens, Mukherjis, Chakravartis, Nags, Nandis, Ragchis, Duttas, 
Pals, Ghosals and Guptas who were undoubtedly brought 
from Bengal to serve in Assam.171 Compared to these, the 
numbers of Kakatis and Changkakatis-the Assamese names- 
were mere drops in the ocean. Their jobs were also in the 
lower grades, and hence ill-paid.''' The names of those upon 
the new establishment lists are not available, but seems very 
unlikely either that the trained Bengalis pre"iously employed 
were then dismissed, or that many more suitable Assamese 
suddenly became available. Indeed, throughout Scott's 
period there was always a shortage of Assamese who knew 
the company's system of government. In 1829, Haliram 
Dhekial Phukan,17Vhen the revenue sarshtadar of Lower 

" 180 Assam, published a book on Assam called Assam Buranp. 
The book written in Bengali was distributed freely in Bengal 
and one of its chief purposes, as the author stressed, was to 
invite people from Bengal to the Company's jobs in As~arn.'~' 
Prospects were always better for outsiders, who were well- 
conversant with the Company's system of administration, 
than for the Assamese. 

The downfall of the Ahom monarchy started in the early 

R.S.P.C., 7 Apr. 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 10 March, 1826. 
Account of particulars of disbursements for the public service made 
under Commissioner in Lower Assam for the year 1231 B. S .  (18241 
25). 
17' The one exception was in the revenue administration, for there 

the help of the Assarnese Panungos was essential and so the three top 
post were given to three Majumdar Baruas-Joigoram, Kashi and 
Bhudhar, B.S.P.C.,  7 Apr., 1826, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 10 March, 
1826. 

See Supra, p. 97. 
The second edition of the book is published from Gauhati in June, 

1962 and edited by J. M. Bhattacharya. See also Bangadut, 7 Nov. 
1829, pp. 292-293; Samachar Chandrika, 22 Sept. 1831; Samachar 
Darpan, 30 July, 1831, p. 248; Tarachand Chakravarty's review of 
Haliram's History in the India Gazette, appendix C of the present 
edition. 

J. M. Bhattacharya, op. cit., p. 1. 
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years of the nineteenth century, and with it had gone, hand 
in hand, a decline in the influence of the official nobility. 
During the period of the Burmese invasions the nobles sur- 
vived only in the name and not in power or influence. With 
the removal of the central authority of the Ahom monarch, 
under whose peculiar constitution alone the official nobility 
had thrived, they received a further blow. At the time of 
the British take-over of the administration, the influence of 
the nobility was so reduced that in Assam, unlike other 
newly conquered territories in India, there was no immediate 
political need to conciliate or destroy them, for the safety 
of the British power. The small tributary rajas and other 
malguzars of lower Assam were continued in their role as 
revenue intermediaries, and were thu: satisfied. The oflicers 
more directly linked with the Ahom monarchy, the heads of 
the various khels and of the Ahom administrative depart- 
ments, could be and were over-thrown, the paik system came 
to an end. The regiments of paiks which the officers had 
once led melted back into the villages as peasant cultivators. 
Thus the British in Assam were not confronted, as they had 
been in the Deccan after the fall of Peshwa Baii Rao 11, with 
bodies of unemployed soldiers and with political leaders who 
might oppose the British with force.''' 

In the Deccan, Elphinstone thought it worthwhile to 
grant considerable pensions to many of the Maratha sardars. 
He defended the expenditure on political grounds : "if we 
had deprived the civil and military servants of every means 
of maintaining themselves we should have forced them to in- 
trigue and raise insurrections against 11s whereas we now 
have some hold on them all from their fear of losing the 
little they have left if not from gratitude for being permitted 
to enjoy it. ,,183 Scott, in Assam, followed Elphinstone's ex- 
ample. Many members of the royal family, and many old 
Ahom functionaries who had applied ro him for help, even 
for subsistence, were given small pensions, and allowances 

ls2 See K. Ballhatchet, Social policy and Social change in  Mfestern 
India, 1817-1830, pp. 77-103. 
la3 Quoted in IS. Ballhatchet, op. cit., p. 83. 
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in money and pai4s.l" In view of the increase in price of 
many commodities, Scott twice urged, in 1827 and 1828, that 
the Raja Chandra Kanta's allowance should be increased.''" 
He also gave small jagirs to various other members of the 
royal family who had resided in Bengal during the transi- 
tional period, subsisting on the charitable donations of the 
zamindars of Soosung, and the rajas of Cachar and Tipperah. 
They had returned to Assam without any means of s ~ ~ o o r t . ' " ~  
Again, there were some individuals who had helped the Bri- 
tish in their advance towards Assam after the declaration of 
war against the Burmese. They, too, were given small jagirs 
and pensions.18' As a humanitarian measure, a very nominal 
amount-Re. 1 per month-was sanctioned to some twenty 
persons who had been deprived of their eye-sight by the for- 
mer Ahom government.'88 Presents were also given to several 
men of position.18' 

These were all benevolent measures, but they could hardly 
compensate the ex-government servants for their loss of 
wealth, position and power. Scott realised that the employ- 
ment of considerable numbers of outsiders from Bengal in 
the administration of Lower Assam had made their situa- 
tion worse. But he was equally aware of the extreme difi- 
culty of obtaining local officials competent to serve the Com- 
pany.'" What, too, was the lot of those who did join the 
Company's service ? Scott himself reported in October. 1829. 

B.S.P.C., 7 July, 1826, no. 33, Scott and Richards to Swinton, 25 
Mav, 1826; B . S. P. C. 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 
18 Mav. 1831. 
Is' B.S.P.C., 26 Oct.. 1827, no. 15. Scott to Swinton, 1 Aug., 1827: 

B . S . P . C., 2 May, 1828, nos. 17-1 8, Scott to Swinton, 8 Apr., 1828 and 
Swinton to Scott, 2 May, 1825. 

lS6 B.P.C., 4 Nov., 1828, no. 40, Scott to Swinton, 15 Oct., 1826; 
B. S . P . C . ,  18 July, 1827, no. 6, Scott to Swinton, 28 Dec., 1827. 

I"  E.P.C., 4 Nov., 1826, nos. 71-72, Scott to Swinton, 4 Nov., 1826. 
lSS B.S.P.C., 21 July, 1826, nos. 10-1 1, Scott to Swinton, 14 July, 

1826 and Swinton's reply. 
lP".P.~., 11 Oct., 1828, no. 62, Scott to Swinton, 20 Sept., 1828. 
'" B.S.P.C., 25 Apr., 1828. no. 51, Scott to Swinton, 1 Apr., 1828. 
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at the time of the massacre of Nongkhlao, upon the inade- 
quate pay of these officers and of their entire dependence 
upon it for the subsistence, not only of their immediate, but 
often of a number of distant relations too. This rendered 
it impossible for them to make any provision against unfore- 
seen ~alamities.'~' Moreover, the Supreme Government made 
it plain to Scott that nothing could be done either by way 
of increasing salaries or posts. In April, 1829, severe retrench- 
ment measures were taken by Lord William Bentinck. 
The rising debt of the -company in India and the growing 
public opinion in England against the renewal of the Com- 
pany's monopoly of the China trade caused concern to bofh 
the Court of Directors at home and such reforming adminis- 
trators as Bentinck and Metcalfe in India.lg2 With the ex- 
pectation of losing the profits of the China trade and the tea 
monopoly, which Parliament abolished in 1833, the Company 
had to insist that Indian revenues pay the cost of Indian 
administration entirely. The Company could qualify for the 
continued government of India only if the finances of the 
Company were sound. Rentinck's policy of retrenchment, 
however, was not designed only to preserve the Company. 
It came out of the belief that government should be as inex- 
pensive as possible, so that taxes might be lowered and so 
that money might be available for progressive ref~rrns."~ 
The mexures of retrenchment were 90 severe that we find that 
even in the minor matter of a triflinp boat allowance for Capt. 
Neufville-an officer of proved ability and integrity-a long 
diqcursion had to take place between 1,ord Rentinck and 
S w i n t o n ,  the Secretary to the  overn nor-~eneral-in-~ouncil.~~~ 
A few months later, when Scott, considering the "heavy 

In' R.P.C., 18 June, 1830, no. 47, Scott to Swinton, 5 Oct., 1829. 
'" See ecRinck Papers Pwlf 2479, Extract from Sir Charles 

Mrtcnlfe's Minute of 11 Oct.. 1829 in reply to William Bentinck'~ 
letter on the subject of Lord Ellenborough's question. 

G CT. Bearce, op. cit., p. 166. 

'" B.P.C., 8 Jan., 1830, nos. 98-100. Note by the Secretary on Scott's 
despatches of 19 Nov., 1828 and 9 Mar., 1829; Minute by the Governor- 
General; Swinton to Scott, 8 Jan., 1830. 
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duties and responsibilities" imposed upon Capt. White, re- 
quested the raising of the latter's salary, he was gently re- 
minded to cut his coat according to his cloth. Before any 
such increase could be given, "it will be necessary," 11r was 
told, "that government should have before it, a complctc 
statement of the expenses, civil and military of the whole 
province of Lower and Upper Assam compared with actual 
amount of revenue?" Under such circumstances the in- 
clusion of inexperienced local people in the native establish- 
ment became less practicable and Scott had to think of 
something else to placate the nobility and provide for the 
low-rank officials of Assam. He thought he might find a 
practicable solution in the restoration of the Ahom monarchy 
in Upper Assam. 

Scott looked upon the restoration of the monarchy as a 
means of satisfying the local people, high and low. He be- 
lieved that a restoration could also be made to serve the 
needs of frontier defence-though of this the Calcutta Coun- 
cil were not to be convinced. Scott believed that both 
could be achieved by the same stroke of policy, and that the 
restoration of the Ahom monarchy would not be a source of 
anxiety to the British government provided constitutional res- 
traints were put upon the autocracy of the proposed mon- 
archy. 

The idea of preserving, with slight modifications, the tra- 
ditional form of the Ahom government in Upper Assam led 
Scott to study the past history of Assam and to find from 
within the Ahom constitution itself the basis for c~nctitu- 
tional checks against a despotic king. It appeared, and 
rightly so, that the aristocracy in earlier governments in 
Assam had had the right to depose the king. Scott used 
this as the basis of his idea of the government which he in- 
tended to impose in future. 

The most remarkable feature in the government of Ascam 
that Scott found was the great power possessed by the yhree 

lS5 R.P.C., 28 May, 1830, no. 80, Swinton to Scott, 28 Mav, 1830. 
I"; They were Burha Gohain, Bor Gohain, Barparra Gohain, Barpllu- 

kan and Barbal-ua. 
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Gohains and the ministers:" who together formed the Patra- 
Mantri. The ofiices of the Gohains were hereditary in the 
same families although not strictly inheritable from father to 
son. They had claimed and possessed the right of electing 
s king and also, but in concert with a majority of the nobi- 
lity. of deposing one. The latter power was no doubt liable 
to great abuse, of which there were several recorded instan- 
ces. But, as Scott said, it had at the same time formed a 
salutary check upon the despotic authority of the king. Taking 
into consideration the serious evils which had arisen in many 
of the states which had entered into subsidiary alliance with 
the British Government due to a lack of any constitutional 
check upon the ruler's internal administration of affairs, Scott 
thought that it would be desirable, in the event of the estab- 
lishmcnt of a native prince in Assam, to recognize and with 
certain modifications to confirm the powers formerly exer- 
cised by the grand council or Patra Mantri. He also thought 
that means should be adopted for preventing collusion bet- 
ween that body and the king by strictly defining the autho- 
rity of the latter and requiring that he should not take any 
mnjor decision without the concurrence of at least two mem- 
bcrs of the Pntrn Mnntri-one of them to be a Gohain. In 
order to prevent the intimidation or improper selection by 
these officers, Scott further suggested that for the time being 
a: leas:. they ought not to be appointed or removed without 
the sanction of the British Government.lg7 

Resides the Patra Mantri or standing council of state, it 
had heen usual in Assam in cases affecting the interests of 
the people at large, such as the imposition of a new tax, to 
call together and consult a general assembly of all officers of 
government as far down as the grade of saitia or commandant 
over onr hl.lndred pciks. Such an assembly was called a Bar- 
e .  The phuknn-i, hnrtras and I-njkhowas comprising it, were 
ucllally connected with the noble families while thehazarikas 
and snikias, being removable by the pnits or peasantry, 
might be considered to represent the people. Scott was not 

lg7 B.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826, no. 2, Scott to Swinton, 15 Apr., 1826. 
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able to understand whether there were any very precise rules 
for conducting the business and collecting votes in this assem- 
bly, but he thought the details could easily be arranged at the 
proper time. H e  considered it expedient that this institution 
also should be confirmed and properly organised.lO" 

The  role of the protecting state, Scott suggested, shoultl be 
to remain as the guardian of the constitution; "to assure and 
continue to maintain its proper character without on one hand 
abandoning the interests or people to the mere will of a weak 
or tyrannical [ruler] or exercising on the other an undue in- 

- 

fluence and vexatious interference in the administration of 
the internal governmelit of the dependent sovereign". The 
latter action, Scott feared, would "deprive him l the sovereign1 
of respectability in the eyes of his subjects and ultimately 
alienate him from our interests". With this note on the future 
restriction on the native ruler Scott suggested, in 1826, that 
one of the two ex-kings, Chandra Kanta or Purandar should 
be elevated to actual power.lgg 

H e  argued that such a move would also be sensible from 
the purely financial point of view. The  expected collection 
of revenue in Upper Assam was not such as to justify British 
administration there. The population of Upper Assam, Scott 
wrote, would not exceed 300,000 of whom about 40.W 
might be paiks subjected to the capitation tax-affording a re- 
venue of only one hundred and twenty thousand rajarnohri 
rupees, the depreciated currency of rhe Ahom government.2" 

By early 1828, the shape of the future Assam had thus form- 
ed itself in Scott's mind. A portion of the Assam valley ex- 
tending from the station of Bishnath (at the eastern end of 
Lower Assam) to the Dihinq river on the north of the 
Brahmaputra and from Solal chowky to the Buri Dihing 
and Barhat11 (where the Sadiya frontier tract began) on the 
south bank was to be assigned to a native prince on the term; 
illst considered. Such an action would satisfy the discon- 
tended nobles and also leave no doubt or suspicion amqng 
the neighbowing states as to the motives of the Rritish ROY- 

lg8 Ibid. 1Ibid. w0 [bid. 
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er~~rnent . '~ '  Though Scott did not expect any organised poli- 
tical move on the part of the disaffected nobles against the 
British raj, he did think it a political necessity publicly to dis- 
avow any British imperialistic designs east of the Bengal fron- 
tier. The  creation of an Ahom state would also preclude any 
move by the Ahom royal family and nobility to call in the 
Burmese or the frontier tribes in a bid to wrest Assam back 
from the British.'02 

Scott communicated these ideas to the Calcutta authorities 
in a letter of 2 February, 1828. T h e  government replied in 
March. They made it clear that they did not consider them- 
selves pledged by any engagement or declaration whatever to 
restore a native prince to the throne of Assam. Neither did 
they consider such a step desirable or expedient. Scott was 
also told that the opinion which other states might form of 
British proceedings in relation to the conquered territory of 
Assam was a "consideration which might safely be excluded 
from the present discussion". So long as the policies that the 
government might adopt were in themselves just and wise, 
the government should not bother about the objections which 
neigl~bouring states might raise.'03 

The  government then set out its positive reasons for retain- 
ing Upper Assam. Their first point was that the revenue of 
the tract had been rated in Scott's letter of 15 April, 1826:04 
at about Rs. 180,000 per annum, exclusive of certain public 
domains which supplied grain and other articles of consump- 
tion for the sovereign's household, and in Scott's letter of 2 
February, 1828, at about one lakh per annum. The  govern- 
ment argued that this would yield a surplus, even after provid- 

201 l3 .S .P .C  , 7 March, 1828, no. 4, Scott to Swinton, 2 Feb. 1828. 
Tn this connection it is to be remembered that just after the conquest 
of Assam the Government proclaimed that it did not intend to annex 
any part of the conquered territory. 

'02 The relationship of the Ahoms with the Burmese and the tribes 
of the frontier tracts were not clearly known to the British, who could 
not therefore exclude the possibility of such an alliance against them. 

'03 B.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 8, Swinton to Scott, 7 March, 1828. 
'04 E.S.P.C., 14 July, 1826. no. 2, Scott to Swinton, 15 Apr., 1826. 



POST-ANNEXATION PROPOSITIONS 143 

ing, on a more liberal scale than at present, for Chandra Kanta 
or any other aspirant to the royal dignity and after allowing 
for the necessary administrative establishment. (Since under 
any plan the British would be responsible for the general 
defence of Upper Assam, there would be no extra military 
charges if it were annexed. The Rangpore Local Corps:";' 
augmented by two companies of Gurkhas and aided by the 
contingents which Scott himself had proposed to plant on the 
frontier were considered adequate for all purposes of internal 
police and ordinary military duties throughout the whole of 
Assam). 

They then went on to argue that the native government 
which Scott proposed to revive would in all probability fail. 
I t  would be poor and have very limited resources; it would 
be evidently dependent upon the support of a foreign power; 
its princes in recent ages had shown remarkable incapacity 
and profligacy : such a government would lack respect and be 
all too likely to resort to oppression to supply its necessities. 
Furthermore, there would also be a perpetual hazard of colli- 
sion and dispute between the wild intractable tribes on the 
frontier and such an Assamese government. At all events, 
the interposition of so feeble and probably ill-managed a state, 
between-~ri t ish territory and the frontier-the tranquillity of 
which was to be maintained by direct British control-would 
embarrass and complicate all the British arrangements and 
relations with the tribes in question and infinitely aggravate 
the inherent difficulties of the task of preserving order. 

As for the objections which the nobles and the hereditary 
officers of the state and other influential classes of the pure 
Ahom race were supposed to entertain against the permanent 
introduction of British Government. these might be greatly 
softened, if not altogether removed, by acting on the princi- 
ple of adapting the British system as c!osely as practicable 
to their actual wants, prejudices and conditions. This could 
be done, especially. by continuing to emvloy the leading men 
of the country in the discharge of the duties of their heredi- 

"O" Raised in Rungpur, Scott's Bengal district. 
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tary ofice subject to such control by the local European officers 
zs experience might suggest.206 

J?kally the governor-general-in-council drew attention to 
the difficulty of selecting the right man from the number of 
claimants to the throne, and pointed out that none of them 
had earned support by any aid given to the Company during 
the war with the 

Yet, however ~ustified they felt in keeping the fruit of 
their conquest, the government did not like to ignore Scott's 
opinion altogether, and hence the subject was referred to 
Scott for r econs ide ra t i~n .~~~  

A month later, in April, 1828, Scott related his case more 
elaborately, in the light of the government's view-points. 
There was still no insurrection or rebellion on the Dart oE 

I 

the nobles or any objection raised by the neighbouring states 
against the British occupation of Assam. Scott, therefore, 
could not stress the poliGcal necessity of preserving a native 
state on such grounds. Instead he chose to set out in clear 
and forcible terms the political philosophy which had under- 
lain his proposal to create a native state in Assam. Scott made 
it plain that he deeply deplored that systematic overthrow 
of the local Indian officers of rank which had been taking 
a lace in all ~rovinces acauired bv the British in India. This, 
he said, wa; bound to happen 'when an alien system of 
administration was super-imposed hurriedly in expectation 
of quick results. He feared that his own arrangements for 
natiie employment in Upper Assam would break down one 
day by the gradual process of development of British admi- 
nistration. He went on, "The systematic depression of the 
native of the country and the monopoly of all official situa- 
tions of emolumefit by Europeans have so constantly follow- 
ed the extension of our power that it must be anticipated by 

206 The Government maintained that an example had already been 
shown by Scott when men like the Barbarua, Barphukan, Gam of 
Bisa, Barsenapati and Sadiya Khowa Gohain were vested with powers 
to dispense justice to the inhabitants of their divisions. 

'07 B.S.P.C., 7 March, 1828, no. 8, Swinton to Scott, 7 March, 1828. 
208 Ibid. 
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the Assamese as a natural consequence of the annexation of 
their country to the British territory and whatever govern- 
ment might resolve upon at the commencement of our con- 
nexion with Assam, I fear it would be in vain to expect that 
country should prove a permanent exception to a practice 
which it is so much the interest of the ruling class to extend 
and for which grounds are never wanting in the corruption 
and other misdeeds of individual native functionaries. The 
reasons which now exist for giving respectable official employ- 
ment to the Assamese nobles were long ago urged in case 
of the inhabitants of other parts of our possessions and 
although their force was there also acknowledged, no princi- 
pal result followed, but on the contrary the chief revenue 
appointments then existing have since been abolished and a 
very general disposition appears now to prevail to substitute 
European for natives as Saddar Ameens and as Seristadars 

3, 209 of large estates . Like Malcolm in Central India he sensed 
that the British rule would always be extraneous to the life 
of the people of Upper A s ~ a m . ~ ' ~  

Scott once again reminded Calcutta that the probable evils 
of a tributary government could be eradicated by taking 
recourse to the ancient constitution of Assam, with the right 
reserved of British interference in the internal affairs of the 

66 government. I conceive", Scott said, "that we might suffi- 
ciently provide for a moderate degree of good government 
in Upper Assam by stipulating in the first place for an 
absolute right of interference and by announcing deposal as 
the penalty to be incurred by the prince who may persist in 
using his authority to the detriment of his subjects".211 Scott's 
other arguments in favour of his measure were as follows : 

After this general statement of principle, Scott turned to 
the particular points raised by the government. They had 
argued that in any circumstance the military costs to the 
Compnny would be the same. Scott denied this, arguing first 

20".S.P.C.. 27 June, 1828; no. 115, Scott to Sterling, 26 Apr., 1828. 
210 See K a y .  T 6 p  Lifc nnd Correspondence of Major-General, Sir 

lohn A4nlcolm, 11, pp. 371-2. 
R.S.P.C., 27 June, 1828 no. 115, Scott to Sterling, 26 Apr., 1828. 

F. 10 
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that it would not be necessary permanently to station a regular 
regiment in Upper Assam and secondly that, under a native 
regime, the members of the militia might be cheaply remu- 

nerated by lands on the usual service tenure. But were the 
British authority once established, the militia would probably 
become discontented unless admitted to the usual advantages 
of the services under the British government. 

Scott also pointed out that the extent and the probable 
population of Upper Assam was such that the cost of Com- 
pany administration would be as high as that of any other 
similarly-situated Bengal-zillah-Sylhet, for example. The 
officer currently performing civil duties in Assam had been 
drawing an inconsiderable salary and Scott saw no good 
reason why this disparity should continue after annexation. 
Moreover, under a British administration, officials would 
expect to be paid their allowances in cash, but in Upper 
Assam there was a great deficiency of coined money, the 
people were unaccustomed to money payments, and native 

were usually paid with land and p a i k ~ .  The more 
general consequences of shifting to a monetised economy in 
Upper Assam was described by Scott thus : "unaccustomed 
as the Assamese have been to the payment of taxes the lower 
order would probably look upon any considerable increase 
in that department as the greatest of all evils while it seems 
reasonable to suppose that the members of the royal family, 
the nobility, the public functionaries and the religious orders 
would view with dislike the introduction of our authority 
founded as it seems to me, it must ultimately be upon the 

9 9  212 destruction of their own . 
Scott next proceeded to discount the government's fear 

about the development of hostile relations between a native 
administration in Upper Assam and the peoples of the 
north-eastern hill tracts. The Nagas of the southern hills 
appeared to be particularly quiet and well-disposed. The 
boundary between the districts of the Singphos, the Rarsena- 
pati and the Sadiya Khowa Gohain would be so clearly 
defined that no cause of contention could arise in that 
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quarter. The only possible trouble might come from the 
northern mountaineers, but since they generally held some 
of the lowlands adjoining the hills, the Assam government 
had in its hand a tangible security for their peaceable 
demeanour. 

For Scott, therefore, the only important point of difficulty 
in a restoration of the Ahom monarchy was that of the 
future military defence of the Satliya frontier. The question 
was whether the establishment of such a foreign authority 
between two directly British-administered areas would weaken 
that military defence. As in 1826, Scott held that the problem 
of security and the defence of the country would be better 
provided for under a native administration. Scott had already 
been introduced to the paik or khel system of the Ahom 
administration, under which the most of the adult popula- 
tion, divided in guilds, were to render certain services to the 
state for a specific period of the year. These services included, 
among various other things, fighting at the time of war and 
building roads, fortresses and some other defence mechanisms, 
both at the war and peace times. Like feudal lords the 
heads of the khels joined in these services along with their 
contingents of paiks or free men. The war emergency demand- 
ed fuller participation of the national militia in defence 
measures. Hence the creation of an Ahom state would, Scott 
thought, save the government from defence expenditure, 
such as fortifications, since these would be paid for by that 
state. Indeed, such a state, whose revenues consisted chiefly 
of the labour of its subjects, was peculiarly capable of under- 
taking defensive works. Scott further argued that the climate 
of Assam was proved by experience to be so hostile to the 
constitution of the Company's Indian troops and so destruc- 
tive to the commissariat cattle that it seemed impossible 
without a very preponderating superiority of force success- 
fully to carry on military operations there against an enemy 
not subject to the same causes of inefficiency. Scott, therefore, 
argued that such measures should be adopted as would enable 
the local people of the country to defend themselves and 
reduce within the narrowest pacticable limits the employ- 
ment of the Company's up-country Hindustani troops in 
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Assam. A body of trained local troops and a system of 
fortifications would help the Assamese greatly in the case of 
any future rupture with the Burmese. It would place them 
more upon a part with their opponents and render them at 
least capable of holding out until a force of a better descrip- 
tion could be furnished for their assistance. Considering the 
miserable equipments of the Burmese soldiers and their total 
want of artillery, Scott wrote that "it would seem, that in 
no part of the world would this artificial superiority be given 

7, 218 upon easier terms than in Assam . - 

Scott wrote his comments in April, and by June the govern- 
ment had reviewed them and prepared its rejoinder. This 
showed that the government still held that an arrangement 
interposing "an ill-governed native state between the British 
frontier detachment and the head-quarters of the British 
force in Assam would prove very awkward and inconvenient 
in practice". The problems of a non-monetised economy also 

66. did not alarm Calcutta : in Assam, as elsewhere when 
tranquillity has been long established, commerce promoted 
and agricultural industry cherished under a judicious and 
liberal system of administration capital will accumulate and 
resources not be found wanting for the payment of a fair 
and moderate money assessment whatever may be the present 

9, 214 deficiency of precious metals in the province . 
The rejoinder clearly failed to take account of all the 

peculiarities of Assam and the Assamese problem with which 
Scott was so well acquainted. Nevertheless, such was the 
enormous regard for Scott's judgment and local knowledge 
that, being unable to convince Scott, the government   ref err- 
ed to follow a policy of procrastination "as a further post- 
ponement of its decision will not be attended with any 
material inconvenience after the delay which had already 

3, 215 occurred . 
From June 1828 to May 1831, there was no further dis- 

cussion on the question of restoration but events during this 

213 B.S.P.C., 27 June, 1828, no. 115, Scott to Sterling, 26 Apr., 1828- 
214 B.S.P.C., 27 June, 1829, no. 116, Sterling to Scott, 27 June,  1828. 
*lVIbid .  
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~ e r i o d  showed how correct Scott had been in his expectation 
of troubles from the disaffected nobles of Upper Assam. 

At the beginning of British administration in Upper 
Assam, Scott's policy had been to employ more and more 
Assamese nobles in the Company's service. H e  was aware 
of the unfittedness of the nobles for such tasksz1", yet he 
thought that, as a restoration of the native monarchy was 
bound to take place at a near date, at least some purpose 
might be served by grooming the future monarch and his 
nobles for their role. Thus, so far as the collection of revenue 
was concerned, efficiency was considered "a matter of secon- 
dary importance, which could not be put in competition with 
the superior considerations of conciliating the good-will of 

- 
9, 217 the most influential classes in society . ~ u t  the government's 

indecision about restoration-which prolonged British supervi- - 

sion of the area-and the coming of a vigorous officer h the 
person of Capt. J .  B. Neufville to handle the affairs of Upper 
Assam in 1828, brought a change in this policy. Neufville 
believed that the chances of a restoration were remote, and he 
therefore wished to reorganise the administration. The indol- 
ence and incapacity of the nobility, the impossibility of making 
them account-for the revenues they collected without the use 
of duress, led Neufville to introduce tahsildars, who were all 
natives of B e n ~ a l . ~ "  Neufville also removed from office not 
less than a huidred kheldars who were in charge of revenue 
collection, and in their place employed various foreigners or 
Assamese clerks of inferior rank who, he thought would be 
real "men of business".219 Neufville declared that he could find 
no nobleman in the country, capable of conducting the busi- 
ness of a tahsildar entrusted with the task of collecting and 

21G The most important complaints were: their irregularity in the 
transmission and preparation of their accounts and that they were 
unused to writing. 

*I7 B.P.C.. 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 18 
May, 1831. 

21".P.~., 10 June, 1831. no. 58, Neufville to Scott, 29 Apr., 1830 
and also no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 18 May, 1831. 
"' lbid. 
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regularly accounting for even 30,000 rupees."' When Neufville 
translated his ideas into action, discontent arose among the 
nobles who waited for the opportunity to come forward 
in an organised resistance. 

The Singpho insurrection of 1830, following a Khasi 
rebellion in 1829, which we will discuss in a later chapter, 
created a situation which these disgruntled nobles of Upper 
Assam utilised to try to restore their former power and posi- 
tion. Their first venture was made after Gomdhar Konwar, 
a prince of the royal blood, aspiring to become the King of 
Assam, had arrived in Upper Assam from Burma towards the 
end of 1828.221 The prince at first appeared as a suitor to the 
British authorities, and addressed a letter to Captain Neufville, 
praying that he might be allowed to receive the country as a 
rai from the Com~anv."~  But this was a mere artifice on his 

1 L J  

part, for at the same time he was instigating the Sepoys to rise 
against the British. A little later Gomdhar declared himself - 
Raja of the country, and excited the people to rebel against the 
Company's Raj. He  also collected a small armed force. The 
disgruntled nobles thus got an opportunity to exploit the 
situation created by G ~ m d h a r . ~ ~ ~  But their hopes were chimeri- 
cal for the plot was suppressed in no time."* No sooner had 

221 This pretender claimed to be a nephew of Raja Chandra Kanta 
and a relative of ex-Raja Jogeshwar Singha and traced his descent from 
Susengpha, or Buddhi-swarga Narayan who had reigned in Assam 
from 1603 to 1641. H e  and his father 'Dhutoowa Gohain' accom- 
panied in 1818, their female relative 'Atan Neengh Timense, Bar 
Kunwari' who was sent down as a present to the Burmese prince by 
the then Raja Jogeshwar Singha. See B.S.P.C., 12 March, 1830, no. 
12, Neufville to Scott, 14 Dec., 1828. 

2" R.S.P.C., 12 March, 1830, no. 13 ( I ) ,  Gomdhar's letter of 23 
Oct., 1828. 
"' B.S.P.C., 12 March, 1830, no. 12, Neufville to Scott, 14 Dec., 1828. 

"* Scott to Swinton, 14 March, 1829; Proceedings of the Criminal 
Court held by the agent to the Governor-General on the N .E.F.  and 
Commissioner in Assam on the 14 March, 1829 at Gauhati; Neufville 
to Scott, 27 Dec., 1828; and Swinton to Scott, 12 March, 1830. B.S. 
P.C., 12 March, 1830, nos. 15, 16, 17, 34. 
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it been suppressed than another was prepared in 1830, under 
the leadership of a new pretender called R ~ p c h a n d . ~ ~ '  Rup- 
chand too was supported by the nobles, many of whom were 
the remnants of the previous c~nspiracy.~~' The leaders of this 
insurrection, the ex-Bar Gohain; the Barphukan, Haranath, 
Rupchand and Jayram were quickly apprehended. They were 
tried before a Sadr Panchayat which found all of them guilty 
of high treason and sentenced them to death in conformity 
with the custom of the country.227 Capt. Neufville referred 
this case to Scott for review and the latter confirmed the death 
sentence at least in two cases.228 

The action taken against the culprits in the second rebellion 
was severe compared to that taken against the conspirators of 
the earlier plot. The execution of the sentence was also 
significantly quick. In fact, Scott did not wait for the final 
confirmation of the Supreme Government. The reason was 
this : At this time Capt. Neufville suddenly died and Scott 
who was far away from the actual scene of insurrection feared 
that the removal of Neufville's strong hand might encourage 
the nobility to start a fresh insurrection. He therefore decided 
to make a public example by directing the immediate execu- 
tion of the sentence passed on the Barphukan and ja~rarn.'~' 
In his view, the leniency, shown on the earlier occasion:30 had 

The patra mantri or the grand panchayat who tried the charges 
against Gomdhar gave death penalty to him. Capt. Neuhille, the 
presiding officer, recommended a mitigated punishment with banish- 
ment from Assam for seven years on the ground that he was a mere 
tool in the hands of other conspirators among the nobles. Scott 
approved Neuhille's judgment. The other conspirators who were also 
sentenced to death by the original court received lesser punishments. 

'2' B.S.P.C., 30 April, 1830, no. 5A, Neufville to Col. C. Fagan, 
Adjt. Genl. of the army 30 Mar., 1830; B.R.C., 16 July, 1830, no. 49. 

226 B.P.C., 24 Sept., 1830, no. 76, Scott to Chief Secretary, 7 Aug., 
1830. 

"7 Zbid. 
'" IIbid. 
22"B.P.~.: 24 Sept., 1830, no. 76, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 7 Aug., 

1830. 
230 See Supra, p. 150. 
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had no effect other than to produce another revolt. But 
although Scott took vigorous action to put down the second 
rebellion, he never considered severity to be the ultimate 
solution. Rather the insurrections and rebellions of the period 
led him to open the question of restoration once again. 

The primary cause of the outbreaks had been the syste- 
matic removal from offices of the "indolent nobles" by the 
strong hand of the British. Scott now reported that if the 
Supreme Government desired to retain that part of the country 
under its direct authority he believed that more Assamese 
would have to be removed and more Europeans brought into 
the admin i~ t r a t ion .~~~  The time had come when the British 
government could no longer recede from its responsibility 
for a proper European administration on the weak ground 
that the revenue realised from the people were not sufficient. 
If it was really so, he argued, they should immediately restore 
that portion of Assam to an Assamese prince for in his 
opinion "an imperfect British administration must be worse 
than a native one, which, even if it wants in integrity, at least 
possesses a perfect knowledge of the laws, customs and pre- 
judices of its subjects and an intimate acquaintance with 
their peculiar revenue system. ,3232 The installation of a native 

- 

prince in Upper Assam would put an end to the frequent 
6 6  plots and intrigues of royal pretenders, and, said Scott, we 

should without any loss of net revenue worth mentioning 
avoid the odium necessarily attached to the exclusion of the 
royal family, the depression of the nobles, the neglect of the 
national religion and the disgust that is likely to be occasioned 
by frequent executions for criminal offences of a popular 
character".233 Scott further remarked that "it would be con- 
trary to reason to expect" that "the members of the late 
dynasty whose ancestors have reigned for upwards of five 
hundred years and the noble families which have enjoyed 
distinction for the same period should at once give up all 

2" B.P.C., 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 18 
May, 1831. 

232 Ibid. 
233 Ibid. 
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their hopes of future greatness upon the appearance amongst 
them of a handful of strangers, . . . we must therefore be 
prepared if we retain the country in our own hands, for a 
succession of petty conspiracies such as have already occurred 
and which I do  not believe would be prevented by the 
allowance that it is proposed to make to nobles, of whom 
many must still remain unprovided for. "234 Scott also made 
it clear to the government that if the decision to restore a 
native monarchy in Upper Assam were taken, the execution 
!of it should be as quick as possible as "the elective nature 
of the former government has also had the effect of multi- 
plying the number of eventual claimants to the Regal office 
. . .and we have lately witnessed that in little more than a 
year the party late in rebellion in Upper Assam brought 

7 9  235 forward two different aspirants to the government . 
The chief objection of the Supreme Government against 

Scott's plan of a restoration had been that the intervention 
of a tributary territory would make it difficult to move 
soldiers up river in the event of another Burmese war. Scott, 
therefore, now put forward a new suggestion that the terri- 
tories on the northern bank of the Brahmaputra should be 
retained by the Company and the southern bank only be 
restored to the king and the nobility.236 H e  divided the 
Brahmaputra valley into four  division^'^' and suggested that 
the Jorhat division, extending from Barhat to the Dhansiri 
river, covering an area of 3,500 square miles and containing 
a population of 2,20,000 souls, with an income of one lakh 
of rupees, should be handed to a native king. As before, 

234 B.P.C., 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 
18 May, 1831. 
23"bid 

236 Post-script to Scott's letter to the Chief Secretary, 18 May, 1831, 
B . P . C . ,  10 June, 1831, no. 50. 

237 These divisions were 3s follows : 
1 s t  Division : Station at Sadiya extending from Namrup on the 

east to the mouth of the Burhi Dihing on the west and from the 
Naga hills on the south to the northern mountains on the north. 
Length : about 100 miles; Extreme breadth : 65; Estimated popu- 
lation : 30,000; Revenue : none. 
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Scott was of the opinion that the power of deposition in the 
event of gross misgovernment should, however, be retained 
by an explicit declaration. This time he also stipulated that 
a certain portion of the revenue should be applied for the 
military defence of the country under the direction of the 
British government; that the old criminal law authorising 
the barbarous system of mutilation should be modified and 
that the raja should make for gradual emancipation of the 
paiks by the substitution of money payment for personal 
~ervice."~ 

The  vice-president-in-council, Sir Charles Metcalfe, was 
known for his views about the Indian native states and the 
old aristocracy. H e  was very pessimistic about any good 
government being possible under the native ruler and his 
considered opinion had been to annex the native states when- 
ever any just occasion arose. In  fact it was this irreconsili- 
atory attitude of his towards the displaced ruling class that 
brought about one of the sharpest differences within the 
Munro School of Paternalists. Others in the group, and parti- 
cularly Malcolm, considered it to be politic to treat the dis- 
placed aristocracy generously.23Wetcalfe had been, therefore, 
unable to see any logic in Scott's arguments. But this time 
he wanted to give serious consideration to Scott's suggestion. 

2nd Division : Station at Jorhat extending from Barhat and the 
mouth of Dibru river to the Dhansiri. Extreme length : about 40 
miles; Extreme breadth : 60 miles; Estimated population 250,000; 
Revenue : 100,OOO sicca rupees. 

3rd Division : Station at Kaliabar or Barhat extending to Raha 
chowhy and Singri hills. Length : 75 miles; Breadth : 35 miles; 
Estimated population 100,000; Revenue : 50,000. 

4th Division : Station at Gauhati with Raha chotuky on the 
east, Bengal boundary on the west, Khasi Hills on the south and 
Bhutan Duars on the north. Length 100 miles. Extreme breadth 60. 
Estimated population 450,000; Revenue 200,000 sicca rupees. 

B .P . C . , 10 June, 183 1, no. 50, Scott to Chief Secretary, 18 May, 
183 1. 

238 B.P.C., 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 18 
May, 1831. 

2" See Stokes, op. cit., p. 16. 
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But the Councily looking at the problem from the economic 
point of view, could not arrive at an immediate decision. 
The question for them was why the British government 
should be spending so much money to protect an unprofit- 
able and isolated portion of land around Sadiya when the  
more profitable and populous parts of Upper Assam wcrc to 
be given over to a native monarch.240 They therefore called 
upon Scott to report whether the defence of the eastern fron- 
tier could be safely left in the hands of the Singpho chiefs or 
even be handed over to Gambhir Singh of Manipur. Their 
chief objection actually remained the same: the inability to see 
how a foreign government could be installed in the interven- 
ing tract if the eastern frontier was to be retained in British 
hands.241 The matter was again referred to the Agent, but 
meanwhile Lord Bentinck had expressed his views on the 
question. Regarding the most controversial point, the reten- 
tion of the Sadiya frontier, he supported the views held by 
Scott and declared that though "the maintenance of the Sud- 
deya station would be purely one of expense" it was neverthe- 
less desirable. He feared that once the British control was 
withdrawn from that tract the province would be overrun by 
the surrounding wild tribes. So he definitelv laid down that 
Sadi ya must be maintained. The Council's suggest ion of 
handing over to Gambhir Singh the defence of the eastern 
frontier, he turned down as fantastic, contending that the 
new chief and his adherents would be looked on by all 
parties with jealousy. Coming to the actual question of resto- 
ration, he observed that it was "purely one of policy". As the 
country had been conquered from the Burmese without the 
slightest assistance from the expelled rajas or from any other 
party, there could not be any moral claim for services ren- 
dered by anyone. He doubted any good administration 
resulting out of the miserably defective constitution of th- 
Ahom monarchy but still he did not overlook the fact that 
6 4  their continuance. . .for a period of time almost without 

240 B.P.C., 10 June , 1831, no. 59, Swinton to Scott, 10 June, 1831. 
"' B.P.C., 2 Sept., 1831, no. 2, H. T. Prinsep to G .  Swinton, 2 Sept., 

1831. 
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example in History would seem to indicate something 
intrinsically good in the original constitution and at all 
events that it is deeply rooted in the feelings of the people".'" 
He therefore came to the conclusion "that the native govern- 
ment may be established, aided by the support and advice of 
a British officer". Scott was therefore directed to furnish a 
specific plan for the institution of a native monarchy.243 When 
Scott wrote his letter of 18 May, 1831 he was in the Khasi 
hills busy preparing strategies against the rebellious Khasis. 
Towards the end of May he came down from the hills but 
immediately fell seriously ill, as he wrote to Lt. Vetch on 
June 2 : "I can neither breathe, sleep; nor eat; being affected 
by frequent sickness at stomach". Scott therefore thought of 
'going to try the hills once more'.244 He  did arrive at Cherra- 
punji on the 7th or 8th June but with 'the fragile staze of 
his heart' and stomach sickness remaining as it had been.245 
Scott's health did not improve and he did not live long 
enough to see the final restoration in 1833; but, before he 
died, the restoration was clearly within sight. The securing 
of this object was thus Scott's final achievement for Assam. 

'4".P.C., 2 Sept., 1831, no. 2, H. T. Prinsep, Secretary to the Gover- 
nor-General, Simla, to G. Swinton, Chief Secretary to Government, 
Fort William, 18 July, 1831. 

"-'" R.P.C., 2 Sept., 1831, no. 2, H. T. Prinsep to G. Swinton, 18 July, 
1831. 

"4 White's, Menzoir, App. 30, Scott to Lt. Vetch, 2 June, 1831. 
"' lbid., App. 33, Scott to Lamb, Churra Poonjee, 16 July [1831]. 
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APPENDIX A 

The native establishment for Lower Assam proposed in 
May, 18279 

Judicial 
Sarishtadar 
Ru-bakar Navis 

*Muhafiz 
3 Muharrirs 
2 Assamese do 

*Nazir 
*Muharrir 
* Jamadar 
"15 Peons 
"Daf tari 
"Gangaj ali ya 
"Mullakurani 
*Interpreters 
*Assam Pundits 
Boats for records 
Amlas 
Do. for Nazir 

. . 
and 
. . 

and 
prisoners . . 
Stationery . . 

- - 

Total Sicca R5. 

Jail establishment 
Darogha . . 
Muharrir . . 
Jamadar . . 
2 Dafadars . . 
A guard of 39 militia 
men . . 

Sarish tadar 
Peshkar 

"Depy. Muhafiz 
4 Muharrirs 
2 Assamess do 

"Treasurer 
"Muharrir 
*Poddar 
"English writer 
"Daftari 
Office boat 
Stationery 

Total Sicca Rs. 625 
"To act in both departments. 

Sadar Police 
Darogha . . 60 
2 Muharrirs . . 45 
Jamadar . . 12 
2 Dafadars . . 16 
8 Chaprasis . . 48 
20 militia men addi- 
tional pay . . 40 
Contingencies . . 10 

Total 5icca Rs. 143 
Total 1739 

Total Sicca Rs. 231 

B.S.P.C., 7 July, 1826, no. 32, Scott and Richards to Swinton, 25 
May, 1825. 
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APPENDIX B 

The  native establishment for Upper Assam proposed in 
May, 1825' 

Judicial Revenue 

Barphukan . . 300 Peshkar . . 60 
Ru-bakar Navis . . 60 Depy. Muhafiz . . 25 

*Muhafiz . . 40 3 Muharrirs . . 90 
2 Muharrirs . . 60 2 Assamese do . . 50 
2 Assamese do . . 50 *Treasurer . . 40 

*Nazir . . 40 "Muharrir . . 20 
*Muharrir . . 20 *Poddar . . 10 
* Jamadar . . 12 "English writer and 
*15 Peons . . 90 accountant . . 200 
*Daftari . . 6 'Daftari . . 10 
*Gangs jali );a . . 6 Office boat . . 70 
*Mullakurani . . 6 Stationery . . 20 
*Interpreters . . 30 
*Assam Pundits . . 30 Total Sicca Rs. 595 
Boats for records and 'To act in both departments. 
Amlas . . 70 
Do for Nazir and Sadar Police 
prisoners . . 70 Darogha . . 60 
Stationery . . 20 2 Muharrirs . . 45 

Jamadar . . 12 
Total Sicca Rs. 910 2 Dafa-dars . . 16 

Jail establish ment 8 Chaprasis . . 48 
Darogha . . 35 20 militia men . . 40 
Muharrir . . 20 Contingencies . . 10 
Jamadar . . 12 
2 Dafa-dars . . 16 Total Sicca Rs. 231 
30 militia men additional 
Pay . . 60 

Total Sicca Rs. 143 
Total 1879 

B.S.P.C., 7 July, 1826, no. 32, Scott and Richards .to Swinton, 25 
May, 1825. 
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T h e  Question of  Slavery in  Assam 

IN 1825 there was a famine in Assam. Much distress had 
been caused by the plundering of the Burmese and their allies, 
while the pressure on existing food resources was increased 
by the advance of British forces and the release of several 
thousand Assamese captives from the hands of the Singphos. 
T o  meet this situation Scott adopted the old Ahom expedient 
of allowing freemen to sell themselves as slaves. In June he 
issued a proclamation permitting such sales until the next 
harvest in October.' This measure was subsequently sanction- 
ed by the Calcutta C ~ u n c i l . ~  

The Court of Directors, however, voiced their strong dis- 
approval, declaring in a letter of 10 March, 1830, that "sla- 
very in every form was peculiarly revolting to the moral 
feelings of Englishmen"."cott was thereupon asked by the 
governor-general-in-council to report upon the state of sla- 
very in Assam, and such "practicable and expedient" mea- 
sures as would permit a gradual abolition of the system of 
 slave^-y.4 This he did in a long letter of 10 October, 18305 
wherein he not onlv explained what the Assamese system of 
slavery was, and why he thought its abrupt abolition would 
be unwise, but also set out a justification of his 1825 procla- 
mation. 

B.P.C., 3 Apr., 1828, no. 18, Scott to Swinton, 4 March, 1828; 
P . L. B . , Vol. 2 1, letter of 8 May, 1829. 

B.P.C., 3 Apr., 1828, no. 19, Sterling to Scott, 3 Apr., 1828. 
Courts letter to Bengal, 10 March, 1830. 
B.S.P.C., 30 Apr., 1830, no. 64, Swinton to Scott, 30 Apr., 1830. 

ti Appendix VI, No. 5, Report from Indian Law Commissioners 
relative to Slavery in the East Indies, P .P., Vol. 28, 1841, Scott to 
the Chief Secretary, 10 Oct., 1830. 
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Slavery had long been extensive in Assam. Under he 
Ahoms the chief wealth of all the upper classes had consisted 
of the labour of the paiks allotted to them by government 
and that of their slaves, upon which thcy depended for the 
cultivatio~l of their lands.6 Many temples were granted 
slaves, or Bohotias, for their service, by the king or other 
individuals. Thus one of the temples of Kamakhya held 
between twenty and twenty five slaves.? In many cases the 
higher orders had no other property besides the labour of 
their slaves. Even in 1830 a census which gave the popula- 
tion of Lower Assam as 350,000 estimated that of these 
27,000 were slaves.' 

As in other parts of India, the slave force in Assam was 
mainly derived from the sale of children by their parents in 
times of individual distress or general scarcity. Adult women 
would also sometimes sell themselves to discharge a debt or re- 
lieve their parents and relations, while free women who mar- 
ried slaves also became the slaves of their husband's owners. 
The children born to slaves were themselves slaves, and so 
usually were the children of slave women born to freemen. 
Prisoners of war and criminals often had their sentences 
commuted to slavery after being condemned to death. The - 
king granted such persons-and sometimes even free indivi- 
duals also-to his nobles and spiritual advisers.' 

A 

Others became slaves by an abuse of the system of con- 
ditional bondage which was common in Assam. Such bon- 
dage had two main forms. In the one, the Bhaktadasa, as he 
was called in Hindu law books, voluntarily placed himself 
under the protection of some great man in return for his 
food. There were said to be some three or four thousand 
persons of this class in Lower Assam in 1830, working upon 
the estates of rich men in return for their bare maintenance. 
They were at liberty to depart when they pleased. Their 
numbers had grown during the disturbed years before the 

E . A .  Gait, op. cit., p. 241. 
7 P . P . ,  Vol. 28, 1841, p. 96. 

Appendix VI, No. 4, R.I.L.C., Capt. White to Scott, 9 Aug., 1830. 
P.P., Vol. 28, 1841, p. 96. 



HIS CONSERVATISM 161 

advent of the British. The other main form of bondage 
arose when freemen pledged their services to their creditors 
to clear off a debt. They either mortgaged their services for 
a specific period-for seven, fourteen or twenty years, or until 
such time as their services should have cleared off their debt. 
Such bondsmen easily slipped into the position of true 
slaves.1° 

Again, many Assamese had been enslaved by the hill 
tribes advancing from the Burmese borders towards the Sadiya 
frontier after the outbreak of Ahom civil wars in 1814. 
The Burmese invasion merely enlarged the opportunities for 
such slaving by the Khamtis and Singphos who accumulated 
many thousands of slaves." 

Such, in outline, was the historical background to the 
situation in Assam : how Scott reacted to it was obviously 
of importance to Assam, but also very revealing of his own 
personal philosophy. He  opened his argument about what 
the British government's attitude to slavery should be, by 
pointing out that slavery, being consistent with Hindu and 
with Muslim law, was necessarily legal everywhere in India. 
Moreover, the frequent reference to donations of slaves to 
temples and to pious men showed that the system had been 
in force among the Hindus from a remote period. Slavery 
in Assam was thus in harmony both with law and popular 
custom.12 

But though slavery was so sanctioned it was not wide- 
spread in Assam. certainly less alarmingly so than in other 
parts of India. Even taking Captain White's figure13 of one 
in twelve as correct this gave only eight per cent of the 
population of Lower Assam as slaves, compared with twenty 
per cent in the Muslim dominated district of Sylhet. More- 
over Scott believed that White's estimate might well have 
been inflated by the inclusion of bondsmen who were not 
slaves in the proper sense of the word. For the probably 

lo Ibid., p. 97. 
l1 E .A .  Gait, op. cit., p. 286; Asiatic Researches, Vol. 16, pp. 337-9. 
l2 Appendix VI, no. 5, R .  I . L . C . ,  Scott's Report, 10 Oct., 1830. 
l3 Appendix VI, no. 4, R . I . L . C . ,  White to Scott, 9 Aug., 1830. 

F. 11 
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very low proportion of slaves in the Assamese population 
Scott gave several reasons. The main one was that ullder the 
pQi4 system the Ahom government had a claim upon the 
labour of all free men, or upon their industry.'' Fiscal regu- 
lations therefore prohibited the cnslavemellt of freemen 
(females of course might sell themselves, or be sold by their 
parents, if the sale was valid in Hindu law). Again, in 
contrast to other areas, there was no importation of slaves, 
except for a few Naga women presented by the hill chiefs 
to the Ahom kings.'%oreover, though according to Hindu 
law a free woman marrying a slave became herself a slave 
and gave birth to servile progeny, in Assam masters fre- 
quently permitted their slaves to marry free women upon a 
special contract with the girl's father that the progeny should 
be free. In cases of doubt, the ordinary rule was that the 
children followed the condition of the parent with whose 
relations the family resided. Thus the children of a female 
slave might be free, if she had married a free marl and the 
children lived with him.16 

Slavery was thus legal, but of limited extent in Assam. 
Scott was also of the opinion that, on the whole, the slaves 
of Assam were better treated than anywhere else in t l ~  
Presidency. In poor and middling families, the slaves and 
bondsmen were treated like the other inmates, the same 
kitchen serving for the whole household, and both mistress 
and maid being entirely clothed in home-spun dress. Among 
the rich they often obtained great influence and ruled their 
masters' affairs in the capaclty of ghar-giris or dewans. Scott 
reported that such persons were even to be seen riding in a 
sort of palankeen. In such cases the birth of a child entitled 
the mother to her freedom, and her offspring were also at 
the same time allowed to share the family property along 
with the children of their wives.'? If, as was commonly 

'' B.P.C., 3 Apr., 1828, no. 18, Scott to Swinton, 4 March. 1828; 
Scott's Report, 10 Oct., 1830. 
l5 Scott's Report, 10 Oct., 1830, para 5. 
l6 Ibid., para 6. 
l7 Ibid., para 9. 
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11t.ld the slaves in Assam were of dissolute and depraved habits 
compared wit11 the free population, in physical condition 
tlley were never worse off than the peasantry of the country. 
Scott argued that if they could not legally accumulate pr& 
prty-wllicll, however, in practice was not the case-neither 
could they suffer those evils from the total want of it to 
whicll the freeman was subjected. It had not been uncom- 
mon to find free Assamese at different periods of Ahom rule 
seeking to become slaves to avoid the oppressions which the 
paiks or other free people had to undergo.18 Scott declared 
that slavery was often more a problem to the owners than 
to the slaves themse!\les. When the latter became too 
numerous and exceedingly idle, the masters were unneces- 
sarily put to expense on their account. They had to feed 
them and provide for the expenses incidental to their births, 
marriages, deaths and all other religious ceremonies, which 
they performed with the same regularity as the free popu- 
lation. T o  sell their slaves was considered highly discredit- 
able and indicative of the total ruin of the master.'' 

This picture of the condition of the slaves given by Scott 
was not challenged by the later report of the Indian Law 
Commissioll on the same subject. "It appears to be the 
general opinion" they wrote "that the slaves in Assam were on 
the whole well treated".20 Complaints of oppressioil were not 
infrequent immediately after the acquisition of the country 
by the British, hut there were many complaints from the side 
of masters also." Adam White, who was Scott's assistant in 
the administration of Lower Assam, wrote to him that from 
every enquiry that he had made the condition of the slaves 
appeared nearly upon a par with that of the agricultural 
labourers. They were employed in cultivating the lands of 

lR The slaves were not asked to join the armies at the time of war. 
The king had no control over those belonging to the state affairs and 
nobles. Such s!aves considered themselves luckv in comparison to 
the paikr. See S. K. Bhuyan, Ahornar Din (in Assamese), p. 55; 
E . A .  Gait, op. cit., pp. 241-242. 
l9 Scott's Report, 10 Oct., 1830, para 8. 
20P .P . ,  Vol. 28, 1841, p. 98. 

Ibid. 
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their masters and received a fair amount of clothing. 1f a 
person possessed many slaves he only required the labour of 
a few in rotation and allowed the others to engage in the 
cultivation of lands, for the rent of which he became res- 
ponsible, reserving to himself what profit there might be 
after allowing the slave a fair maintenance. The same officer 
argued that the peculiar geographical position of Assam 
presented a check on the masters' severity towards their 
slaves. Being a narrow valley between two ranges of moun- 
tains, a day's journey was enough to put a slave beyond the 
reach of his master. He  said that he also found on enquiry 
amongst the paiks that they scarcely considered the conditioi~ 
of the slaves at all inferior to theirs, except that they did not 
possess their personal liberty, for the field labours of the slaves 
did not exceed those of the paiqs and those were light indeed 
as compared with the agricultural population of Europe.22 

Having thus set out the nature of slavery in Assam, Scott 
proceeded to give his views about its abolition. In the pro- 
cess he showed himself to be in close agreement with Warren 
Hastings in believing that "the people of this country do no: 
require our aid to furnish them with a rule for their conduct, 
or a standard for their property",23 and with Munro in argu- 
ing that "neither the face of the country, its property, nor its 
society, are things that can be suddenly improved by any 
contrivance of ours, though they may be greatly injured by 

9, 24 what we mean for their good . In his report Scott made 
it clear that he believed it would be morally wrong for the 
British government, being ~ ledged  to administer to the local 
people their own laws in matters of inheritance, contracts, etc., 
to infringe that principle by the abrogation of a ~ractice so 
closely interwoven in the whole fabric of Assamese society. 
Scott said that it would be unjust on the part of the ~ritish 
government to breach engagements held hitherto so sacred, 

22 Appendix VI, no. 4, R.I .L.C. ,  Capt. whi te  to Scott, 9 A%, 
1830. 
23 See G. R. Gleig, Life o f  Warren Hastings, Vol. I ,  p. 401. 
24 Minute of Munro 'On the state of the country', 31 Dec., 1824 : 

G.R. Cleig, Life o f  Sir Thomas Munro, Vol. 111, p. 381. 
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on the plea that the system was repugnant to humanity and 
good morals. The condemnation of slavery by a nation pro- 
fessing Christianity seemed inconsistent to Scott, for this insti- 
tution had been sanctioned by God for the Jews, and since 
it was humane in India would surely have His sanction 
there.25 

Scott pointed out the difficult social problems which abo- 
lition would create, both for the rich and for the poor, In 
Assam the seclusion of their women by the higher orders of 
society, and the early marriage of the lower orders which 
made it impossible to hire unmarried girls as servants, as in 
European countries, made it necessary for the wealthy to look 
to female slaves for household attendants-a system quite 
agreeable to existing usage and custom. Any change would 
be very unpopular with the higher classes.26 Scott also 
doubted whether change would even, in reality, be bene- 
ficial to the lower orders. He  was well aware of the evil conse- 
quences of the slavery, and was prepared to admit that per- 
haps a fourth of all slaves in Assam were of more dissolute 
and depraved habits than the free population. But then these 
were the slaves who had sold themselves for debt, persons 
who in all probability had originally belonged to that impru- 
dent and spendthrift class of society, which had its parallel 
in England. In England such persons enlisted in the army 
or navy, or by a criminal career came to be transported to the 
colonies "as the undisguised slaves of the crown".27 The 
problem of the feckless poor could no more easily be dealt 
with in Assam than in the highly civilized European societies. 
As he said, "Whether it is possible, even in highly civilized 
countries, to dispense with the retention of this portion of 
society in a state of constrained servitude, is still to be proved, 
the experiment never having been fairly tried by the Euro- 
pean states, where the nrmies, the navies, the gallies and the 
colonies, furnish receptacles for those who are naturally 
incompetent to manage their own affairs and to preserve their 

2"cott'~ Report, 10 Oct., 1830, para 12. 
26 Ibid., para 12. 
27 Ibid. 
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personal independence. The  people in this couiltry have 
none of these resources; and the thriftless poor must conse- 
quently either starve or become the dependants of individuals, 
or in the capacity of criminals and debtors, fill the public 
goals".2" 

Stokes has commented, of the paternalists Munro, Mal- 
colm, Metcalfe and Elphinstone, that "they had no hopes of 
sudden and miraculous changes in the progress of human 
society and there lingered in their thinking, particularly in 
Munro's, something of that older tradition, which saw th: 
division of society into rulers and ruled as a natural ordering 

772!) . . . Scott in his arguments reflects much the same sort of 
attitude. In his boyhood in Scotland the problem of thc 
English poor had been much debated. There had been 
some, like the Rev. D. Davies who argued that the plight of 
the poor was not the consequence of defects of the character, 
but that the defects of character were the consequence of po- 
~ e r t y . ~ '  Rut there were many expressions of the contrary 
view, ready to argue that "If the poor do  not prudently serve 
themselves none can effectively befriend them. . . ".31 Scott 
was evidently very much of the latter opinion : the depraved 
or foolish poor would always undergo hardship, whether 
slave or not. 

Scott also drew attention to the problem which abolition 
would bring upon the government. H e  doubted whether, 
while contemplating abolition, the government had given any 
thought to making compensation to the individuals who 
would lose a valuable category of private property.3' Hc 
believed that the expense of abolition itself would render the 

28 Ibid., para 12. 
2"ee E. Stokes, op. cit., p. 16. 
" D. Davies, T h e  Care of Labourerr in  Hurbandr-y (1795). quoted 

in A. Briggs, Age of Impl.ovement, p. 60. 
31 Eden's State of the Poor, Vol. I ,  p. 508, quoted in A. Briggs, oP. 

cit., p. 60 n. 
32 Scott evidently showed the belief expressed in 1780, that the 

blessings and advantages which England enjoyed sprang "above all, 
from those just and equitable laws which secure property". See 4. 
Briggs, op. cit., p. 8. 
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plan impracticable, since the slaves and bondsmen in the two 
districts of Lower Assam and Sylhet could be valued at not 
less than thirty or forty lakhs of rupees.33 Moreover, if sla- 
very were done away with, government would have to make 
provision for maintaining the starving poor in times of scar- 
city. Such provision would be costly and its administration 
often open to great abuse, which might well have just as 
ill an effect upon the character of the people as did the 
prevalence of slavery in A ~ s a m . ~ '  

Calculating all these factors, Scott felt that the practical 
evil arising from the continuance of slavery was not of suffi- 
cient magnitude to justify the British governments' seeking 
a theoretical triumph in achieving its immediate abolition.= 
H e  insisted that government should obtain not only the 
opinion of its European functionaries but also that of a 
committee of intelligent natives. According to him these last 
alone were competent to judge to a matter in which the 
English had no personal interest and of which they had not 
even a slight knowledge. Moreover, the subject was so 
complicated by the delicate questions of marriage and the 
internal economy of the zenana-upon which the local 
peoples including both Hindus and Muslims were so exceed- 
ingly sensitive-that he despaired of any modification of the 
existing law emanating from European legislators which 
would be at all palatable to the upper and middling classes 
of people." If anything must be done, then he suggested 
that the state of servitude of the bondsman entitled to redemp- 
tion should gradually be substituted for that of the slave 
absolute. This might be done, particularly in the case of 
agricultural labourers, by placing a tax of two or three 
rupees a year upon slaves, but leaving bondsmen exempt 
from taxation, provided the sum for which they were redeem- 
able did not exceed forty rupees. If a compulsory register 
of slaves and bondsmen was opened, in which masters might 

3"cott'~ Report, 10 Oct., 1830, para 12. 
34 Zbid. 
35 Ibid., para 13. 
" Mid., para 16. 
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enter persons either as slaves or bondsmen as they wished, 
he thought numbers of slaves would be entered as bondsmen 
to avoid the tax, so ensuring that they enjoyed all the privi- 
leges of the latter class.37 

If a more rapid solution was required then government 
should fix a rate at which they would redeem slaves from 
their masters. This was the only valid way of compensating 
the higher classes for such an invasion of their private pro- 
perty rights: 'if something must be done at their expense 
to satisfy the philanthropic feelings of the people of England, 
I should consider this as the least objectionable measure that 
could be adopted, and as one which would also seem 
likely to prove acceptable to the English public, since it 
would afford to those who are zealous in the cause of 
emancipation an opportunity for the exercise of their bene- 
volent views, by coming forward with the requisite  fund^."^" 

From these general considerations Scott next turned to 
a defence of his actions in 1825 against the censure of the 
Court of Directors. He began by pointing out that he had 
been incorrectly charged with violating the laws and customs 
of British India. In the first place Assam had not then come 
under the formal administration of the British government, 
which was at that time much more engrossed with the con- 
duct of war on the frontier than with the application of the 
Bengal Regulations to the society of a little known region. 
If he had sanctioned the sale of men as slaves, during a 
period of famine, he could at the most be charged with 
suspending the operation of the local Ahom regulation 
enacted to prevent the loss of crown paiks from the free 
population, and the consequent diminution of the state reve- 
nues. Moreover the Ahom government itself, during past 
famines, had granted permission for paiqs to save their lives 
by becoming slaves. Finally, it was not the case, as supposed 
by the Court, that his sanction had conferred legality and 
validity upon contracts which were not agreeable to the 
provisions of Hindu and Muslim law. Indeed, in the eyes 

37 Ibid., para 14. 
38 Ibid., para 15. 
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of the people slavery did not even offend against natural 

Next, Scott explained the emergency which had prompt- 
ed such a measure and the practical aspect of the question. 
He believed that the lives of the destitute persons, who in 
1825 sold themselves in Assam, might have been preserved, 
without their being reduced to slavery, by supplying them 
with food on the public account. But he doubted very 
much whether on application to government for leave to 
expend twenty to thirty thousand rupees, or even a much 
larger sum, would have been complied with since the distress 
had been occasioned by a scanty crop. Anything short of 
such sums upon the importation of a large quantity of grain 
would not have afforded material relief." This importation 
'by government was impracticable at that time, as the whole 

- 

tonnage on the river was required for troop movement in 
the war with Burma. He had no other way of mitigating 
the evil except to secure a reduction of individual consump- 
tion, by "making it the interest of those who had grain to 
#divide it with those who had none"." It was thought to be 
a politically prudent act to make use of an existing custom 
when no alternative was offered. 

Scott was of the firm conviction that the opposition of 
the Court of Directors was the outcome of an Englishman's 
abhorrence towards the system of slavery as known to the 
West. Scott believed that the Directors had absolutely no 
idea of the structure of society in India and the needs of the 
common people. His measure had been aimed at serving the 
interest of the greatest number : it was not through an alien 
idealism that the needs and aspirations of the subject people 
could be properly grasped.42 He wrote : "That slavery" in 
the usual acceptance of the word. is repugnant to the feelings 
of Englishmen, I am well aware. But the question in this 
case to be considered was not whether slavery should, under 

39 Ibid., paras 19-20. 
40 Ibid., paras 19-20. 
41 Ibid., para 19. 
42 lbid., para 20. 
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ordinary circumstances, be patronized and encouraged, but 
whether 1 should in deference to the speculative opinions of 
my own countrymen, and in defiance of the wishes and 
feelings of those who were alone interested in the result, 
doom to certain death hundreds, if not thousands, of a starv- 
ing population by refusing them permission to obtain the 
means of saving their lives upon terms, which, to them at 
least, seemed advantageous".*" 

Further, Scott argued that to the people of the East who 
were familiar with slavery, the novel prejudice of Europeans 
against that condition of civil life was quite unintelligible. 
Hence whatever motive he might have assigned for such a 
piece of cruelty, an order prohibiting the self-sale of the male 
population would have been interpreted by the Assamese as 
"a sordid determination on the part of their new masters, 
not to sacrifice any portion of the capitation tax, let the 
consequences to their subjects be what they might7'.*' 

Scott's contemporaries in Assam Ileld much the same 
views about slavery and its abolition as he did. They believ- 
ed that any attempt abruptly to abolish the system would be 
wrong. They were not blind to the evils in the system, but 
understanding the organic nature of society believed that 
advance must be slow, and directed to the lessening of the 
evils without infringing the proprietory rights of indiciduals.'" 

In his report Scott mentioned with approval Captain 
White's suggestion that it might be possible to prohibit any 
future sales into servitude except those subject to redemp- 
tion, and to limit the period of bondage either to a term of 
years, or to the lives of the members of the family already 
in existence at the time of the contract. White believed that 
any  total prohibition of sales into slavery would have ill 
consequences, but that future sales should be so limited that 
all progenv born after a contract would be free. Scott pro- 
posed that White's suggestions should be given specific form. 

4VIbid. 
.'* Ibid. 

45 Appendix VI, nos. 3 and 4, R . I  .L .C. ,  Reports of Capts. J .B .  
Neufville and A .  White, 26 July, 1830 and 9 Aug., 1830. 
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All adults should be at liberty to sell themselves or their 
children, ~ n d e r  such Contracts as were va]itf unc]er Hinc!" 
and Muslim law. They should not be allowed to entail s e r l r i -  

tude upon the second generation, or even upon mcmhcrs of 
the first generation born after the parents had become 

Moreover those who were subject to servitutlc would 
retain the right of redemption, upon payment. Tllc payment 
in the case of adults should be of the principal sum advanced, 
and in that of young children, of that sum, together with n 
reasonable compensation for the expense of bringing them 
up. This additional allowance was to be fixed by law, ancl 
should be liable to be again gradually remitted according to 
the age the parties might have attained, and the service5 they 
might consequently be presumed t9 have rendered to their 

In Upper Assam, the political agent, Captain Neufvillc. 
proposed to make slavery less cruel by making the sale of 
slaves without their consent illegal. The  transfer of a slave 
should take place before the chief of his khel or village. who 
would be required to ascertain that the person 50 cold con- 
sented to the sale. N o  one should be allowetl forcibly to 
separate slave husband and wife, or slave mother a d  
children, upon pain of an immediate grant of freedom to 
the slave. Cases of great cruelty and oppression of slaves by 
their owners should be subjected to the investigation of t h ~  
village heads, and if fully proved. punished bv fine. or in 
atrocious cases by the menumission of the sufferers. In cases 
where owners were compelled to sell their slave5 due to 
want, scarcity and poverty, the owilers would have satidv 
the meeting of the good character of the proposed 
purchaser and in this too. the proh;hitinn againct the tli\'(sion 
of a family would stand4' Neufville also suggested that t h ~  
slaves belonging to revenue or other public (lcfnulters whose 
effects were confiscated might be enrolled amongst the 

'"cott's Report, 10 Oct., 1830, paras 21-22. 
47 Ibid., para 22. 
'' Appendix V1, no. 3, R . I . L . C . ,  Neufville's Report, 26 July, 1830. 
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government paiks at the khats or in a district khel, allowing 
the estimated value to the credit of the owner's account.49 

In his report of 9 August, !.830,6' Capt. White went a 
stage further in his proposals for curbing slavery. H e  now 
suggested that life enslavement should be prohibited and 
no contract of bondage be held legal for a longer period 
than seven or fourteen years. At  the same time encourage- 
ment might be held out to individuals to manumit their 
slaves, by the hope of obtaining government titles and 
distinctions for which the Assamese, he alleged, were very 
ambitious. In  addition to this, from a certain date, all children 
born in a state of slavery should be declared free.51 

White's summing up of the whole problem of slavery is 
interesting. While admitting "the demoralising effects of 
slavery in society" he professed the opinion that an imme- 
diate abolition of the system "would be apt to fail". H e  
wrote : "From the records of history Jewish, Classical, Asiatic 
and European it appears that slavery has everywhere prevail- 
ed in the less advanced stages of civilization; and I appre- 
hend, Assam, according to European notions, may be consi- 
dered as a country exhibiting a still ruder state of society. 
Here, generally speaking: the ryots cultivate only for the 
supply of their individual wants, and do  not calculate upon a 
certain sale for their surplus produce. What  fabrics of manu- 
facture are produced, are generally the workmanship of the 
females of the family, not the produce of a separate class of 
men; and as yet the commerce of Assam is still in its infancy, 
under these circumstances, if a poor man wants a sum of 
money for a specific purpose, the only valuable article he can 
give in exchange is his labour; and this the rich men naturally 
endeavour to secure permanently by demanding a contract 
of slavery for life. Besides, here as elsewhere, in times of 
scarcity parents are wont to part with their children from a 
benevolent wish to preserve their lives. Were the country 
further advanced in the career of improvement, and capital 

4 V b i d .  
Appendix VI, no. 4, R.I .L.C.,  White to Scott, 9 Aug., 1830. 

51 Ibid. 
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more widely diffused, it appears to me this system of 
and bondage would gradually diminish of itself as the poor 
man would obtain a small advance on easier termsw." 

In this comment of White's can be seen once again that  
pragmatic approach to the problem of slavery in Assam and 
of its mitigation or abolition exhibited by Scott. S ~ o t t ' ~  sanc- 
tion of slavery in 1825 did not denote any lack of humanity 
on his part-it was not a brutal measure such as Warren 
Hastings' draconian law of 1772 for the enslavement of the 
families of dacoitsS3 had been, but sprang from a genuine 
concern and understanding. Where he felt he could, Scott 
acted against slavery. Thus immediately after the liberation 
of Lower Assam he liberated some twelve thousand slaves,'" 
and ordered Neufville to rescue and free the Assamese 
enslaved by the Singphos." Again, in 1829, he sought the 
sanction of government for the confiscation and freeing of 
the slaves of revenue and judicial defaulters." It should be 
noted that on that occasion it was the Calcutta authorities 
who demurred, asking Scott whether the freeing of such 
slaves would really be beneficial, or whether they would not 
in all probability sell themselves again into bondage, and so 
defeat the benevolent object of the government.67 When in 
1830, Scott once more proposed that instead of allowing con- 
victed defaulters to sell their slades at public auction 
satisfy their creditor, they should be compelled to sell them 
at a fixed price to the government, which should thereupon 
set them free, the Calcutta authorities once more refused to 
act.68 What  was achieved in 1830 was as a result of Scott's 
initiative : he instructed the political Agent in Upper Assam 
to open a register for a pericld of six months for the purpose 

52 Appendix VI. no. 4, R.I.L.C.. White to Scott, 9 Aug.. 1830. 
53 See. L .  S.  S .  O'Malley, Afode1.n India and the West, pp. 73-5. 
54 E .  A. Gait, op. cit., p. 242. 
55 See Supra, p. 118. 
56 B.P.C., 26 Feb., 1830, no. 17, Scott to Swinton, 31 Dec., 1829. 
'' B.P.C., 26 Feb., 1830, no. 18, Swinton to Scott. 26 Feb., 1830. 
58 B.P.C., 30 Apr., 1830. nor. 63-64, Scott to Swinton, 24 March, 

1830, Swinton to Scott, 30 Apr., 1830. 
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of reconling the names of all slaves within his jurisdictiotl 
and to issue a proclamation that all persons remaining un- 
registered on the expiration of that period would be held to 
be free."!' 

Rut both Scott and White realised that any sudden atlo- 
lition of slavery such as the doctrinaire idealism of the lloms 
autliorities seemed to demand would do  serious violellce 
to Assamese society, possibly without any corresponding benc- 
fit l o  the slaves tllemselves. Other Paternalists also reacted in 
the same manner in similar circun~stances. For example, Sir 
Charles Metcalfe, who had prohibited the sale and purchase 
of slaves and also sati in Delhi, asked the Bengal Council in 
1829, to be cautious on passing a law against sati fearing that 
any sudden action might cause unrest." I11 1825 abolitionist 
fervour might have caused the death of the starving poor. At 
any time abolition without compensation would gravely affect 
the upper classes who depended upon slave labour. Mills' 
report, on the damaging effects of abolition in 1843, declared 
in downright terms : "There is no doubt that this measure 
reduced the only men of substance in Assam to absolute 
po\w-ty.""' What was required, as both men saw, was atten- 
tion to causes not symptoms. Thus, in his rcport Scott argced 
that the sale of girls and women, with a view to the discharge 
of their own or their relatives' debts, would best be   re vented 
by government aid to their parents." While the need existed, 
and slavery was agreeable to the law of the land, ol~ly some 
such practical approach could uproot the evil."" 

Scott's attempt to provide the slave-raiding Singphos with 
new employment as traders and carriers between Assam and 
Burma," and his efforts to press forward with the instruc- 

5' Appendix VI, no. 2, R.I.L.C., Scott to Neueufville, 4 Feb, 
1830. 

K. Ingharn, op. cit., p. 50; D. Panipahi, Charler Mctralfe in 
India, p. 15. 

A.J.M. Mills, op. cit., p. 17. 
62 Scott's Report, 10 Oct., 1830, para 21. 
6 V b i d .  
" See Supra, pp. 124-128. 
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tion of the Assamese in the useful arts, "without waiting for 
their slow introduction by chance or in ordinary progress of 
events,"" were, as he saw, the only practical approach to the 
problems of Assam, and once these were solved, the evils of 
economic bondage would vanish. T o  Scott then, as to othcr 
Paternalists, "politics were experimental in nature, necessarily 
near-sighted, and essentially limited in their achievement".'" 
So, like a true Paternalist, he rejected a dogmatic path to vio- 
lent change. 

G5 B.P.C., 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to Swinton, 18 May, 1831 
6G E. Stokes, op. cit., p. 23. 
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A Mission for the Garos 

IN THE last chapter, on slavery in Assam, a special instance 
was considered of Scott's attitude to questions of moral and 
material progress among the Hindus of Assam. It is intend- 
ed, in this chapter, to discuss the same question in relation 
to hill tribes, the Garos particularly. The question is linked 
with his endeavour to establish a Christian Mission Centre 
in the hills devoted to the cause of the Garo tribes. Since in 
the last chapter we have maintained that he was a pragmatist 
and paternalist, this ardent interest in a Christian Mission, 
on his part, makes a further explanation of his paternalist 
philosophy imperative. 

After the creation of the North-East Parts of Rangpur and 
promulgation of Regulation X of 1822 there, the Garos of 
the frontier became peaceful. The market duties from the 
Garos were regularly realised year after year and there was 
even an average annual surplus amounting to five thousand 
rupees.' But just at this time Scott's attention was diverted 
to Assam proper, where the Burmese were taking an expan- 
sionist posture threatening the Company's Bengal territory. 
After the occupation of Lower Assam he hardly had any 
time to come back to the Garo frontier to supervise personally 
any welfare programme there. Scott, therefore, suggested a 
novel plan to the Calcutta Council asking permission to 
invite missionaries to start humanitarian activities among the 
G a r ~ s . ~  While seeking permission to negotiate with Bishop 
Heber at Calcutta for such missionary assistance, he wrote : 

' B.C. J.C., 28 June, 1828, no. 10, enclosures A and B of Scott's 
letters, 10 July, 1827. 

Scott's letter to Bayley, 27 Apr., 1825, See A. Mackenzie, op.  tit., 
pp. 253-254 n. 

1 76 
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"I am satisfied that nothing permanently good can be 
obtained by other means, and that if we do not interfere on 
behalf of the poor Garos they will soon become Hindoos or 
half Hindoos, retaining and acquiring many of the bad parts 
of their present and improved creeds". Scott then added, "I 
would greatly prefer two or more Moravian Missionaries of 
the old school who along with religion would teach useful 
arts".3 Indeed, Scott was so certain of the success of the 
missionary activities among; the Garos that he showed readi- 
ness to personally support ;he missionary venture. "If Govern- 
ment would ensure them subsistence only in case of success 
or my death", Scott wrote, "I would willingly take upon 
myself the expense in the first instance, and 300 per 
annum would ~uffice".~ Inspired by a vision of the vast field 
of conversion in the Garo hills, he pleaded : "Of success I - 

have no doubt than that, if allowed, you could make Chris- 
tian of the Hindoo boys; and the great error of the Mission- 
aries appears to me to- be that of directing their attention to 
polished natives instead of rude tribes who are still in that 
state of natural childhood which enables the stranger priest 
to enact the schoolmaster and teach them what he likes. 
There are many instances of success in cases of the latter 
description in modern times, but not one by fair means in 
those of the former since the age of miracle or very near 
it)) 6 

The Government apparently gave Scott the necessary 
permission to contact missionaries in his private capacity, for 
he soon negotiated with Bishop Heber and his own 'agent 
in London' to send missionaries to work amongst the Garos. 
SO far as the second part of his letter--one concerning the 
expenses to be incurred in teaching the Garos in useful arts 
-Bayley. the Secretary to the Government eventually replied, 
demi-officially, with general approval. But he pointed out 
that "the government could not, however, give salary to the 

Ibid. 
Ibid. As mentioned earlier (Ch. 1 )  owing to a diseased heart 

Scott at this time was in constant fear of death. 
Ibid. 

F. 12 
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people who might be employed in their capacity of Mission- 
aries, but they might call them schoolmastcrs, and give 
assistance in that shapeV.Vhe aid thus offered Scott gladly 
accepted, and the scheme for the education of the Garos 
which he had proposed with the advice of Bishop Heber was 
accepted by the Calcutta auth0rities.l A school was establish- 
ed at Goalpara for the education of forty Garo boys at a 
monthly expense of 450  rupee^,^ and one Henley was appoint- 
ed as the teacher.' 

Scott, however, never ceased to think in terms of a proper 
mission with a clergyman as its head. For one reason, Henley 
failed to acquire the Garo language soon enough to begin his 
work in right earnest and Scott thought that if a clergyman 
were appointed Henley could be placed under his control, 
for he would be still useful for imparting medical knowledge 
to the Garo youths.1° Scott therefore proposed to establish a 
mission with a clergyman, at a place equidistanced both from 
the Company's civil station at Rangpur and military canton- 
ment at Jamalpore and also not far from the Garo haths or 
markets. Scott's idea was to erect a bungalow at such a place 
for the clergyman, a schoolroom, and accommodation for 
forty Garo boys whom he intended to place "under the ex- 
clusive direction of the clergyman to be fcd and clothed by 
government, and brought up in Christian faith"." 

This whole scheme, coupled with his earlier (1825) letter 
about the prospect of winning the Garos to Christianity 
might seem an example of Evangelicalism at work, with the 
Garos seem as souls to be saved from the evils of Hinduism 
by a missionary effort, directed in the first place to education. 
The ideas of those Evangelicals who effected the change in 
the Company's official policy have been set out by Stokes 

Ibid., p. 254 n.  
J . L . B . ,  Vol. 11, letter of 30 Aug., 1827, para 141. 
Ibid., para 142. 
White's Memoir., App. 44, Scott to C .  A .  Fenwick, 7 Mar., 1827. 

lo Ibid., Henley had been a Deputy Apothecary before being appoint- 
,ed as Garo school teacher. 

l1 Ibid. 
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and by ~mbree ."  Their basic concept was that the character 
of man was a product, not of his physical, but of his moral 
environment, and that salvation could be achieved and the 
individual could be totally transformed by a direct assault 
on the mind.''' Education followed by personal conversion 
would change the whole nature of society. This emerged 
from the essential Protestant belief that Europe's progress was 
a direct result of the liberation of the individual, the legacy 
of the Reformation.14 Their logical conclusion was that for 
India to progress, her people must undergo a similar libera- 
tion, an assimilation on the deepest level. Thev therefore 
intended a campaign with educatibn as their instrument to 
free the Indian mind from the tyranny of evil superstition, 
a sort of Indian counterpart to European Reformation.16 
The  impression that Scott's venture was also of similar nature 
tend to be firmer when one comes to know about his associa- 
tions in India both with personalities and institutions and 
the period of his activities in India. O n  his arrival in India 
Scott joined Fort William College in 1802 at the age of 
sixteen and a half years. As Wellesley had emphasized, one 
of the purposes of the college was to 'instruct and confirm 
[the students] in the principles of the Christian religion'.16 
With the provost, David Brown, the Vice-Provost, Claudius 
Buchanan and William Carey, the Baptist missionary also 
on the staff the college seemed admirably suited to become 
the instrument for Evangelization of India." W e  have 
already mentioned that with Carey Scott developed a personal 
friendship and he took a keen interest in the activities of the 
Serampore Mission.18 The Periodical Accounts of that 
Mission for 1827 and 1828 show that Scott was one of the 

l2 E. Stokes. op. cit., pp. 27-35: A.T. Embree, Charles Grant And 
Bvitisk Rule In India. 

'"tokes, op. cit., pp. 30-31. 
l4 M. Edwardes, Asia in the European Age, p. 109. 
l5 Ibid., and see also M. Edwardes, British India, p. 53. 
l6 See Embree, op. cit., p. 189. 
l7 Such was the prediction of David Brown, see ibid. 
'"ee abovs Ch. I ,  pp. 6-7. 
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highest donors to this mission." Again, in his last few years 
in Assam he was also in close contact with Colonel Adam 
White who in 1822 had published a book, Considerations on 
the  State of British India, which reveals him as a stauncll 
supporter of missi~naries.'~ Then again, since Scott had 
entered the service, there had been a steady changc in the 
Company's avowed policy towards the missionaries from an 
early indifference or hostility to that of acceptance which 
received legal expression in the Charter Act of 1813. The 
Governors-General of the period 1813-1835, Lord Hastings, 
Lord Amherst and Lord Bentinck all were obsessed with the. 
fear of causing disaffection by interferring in Indian customs 
but nevertheless, each, on occasion, gave evidence of his 
personal regard for the mis~ionaries.~' To this changing cli- 
mate of opinion Scott had, of course, been exposed. 

But in Scott's appeal for missionary help and his own 
support of mission work, it is difficult to find that "consuming 
earnestness and conviction, born of a transfiguring religious 
experience", which Stokes points out to have been the hall 
mark of the Evangelical mind.22 Scott certainly made a dis- 
tinction between the Hindus and Muslims of the plains, 
having established religions of their own and the hill tribes 
who had no such religion. Scott was not terribly fond of the 
Hindu religion and social system but he considered it to be 
futile to attempt replacing them by Christianity and a Western 
social system. The missionaries with their main object of 
evangelization, on the other hand, believed that not only 
considerations of humanity but the very progress of the Chris- 
tian gospel demanded that Indian society should be purged 
and renovated.23 Scott however thought that the Garo society 
could be transformed through the Christian religion but even 
here he wanted to proceed cautiously. While he had been 

l9 In these two years Scott and Charles Metcalfe paid an  annual 
subscription of Rs. 200 which was only second to that of one R. 
Hume who paid Rs. 250. See the Periodical Accounts of the Sel-am- 
pore Mission, 1819-1834, pp. 67-72, Account for the year 1828. 

20 A. White, 'Considerations on the State of British India, pp. 26-35- 
21 Ingham, op. cit., pp. 8-9. 
22 Stokes, op. cit., p. 29. 
23 Ingham, op. cit., p. 4. 
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directly engaged in the settlement of Garo affairs, investi- 
gating relations between the hill chiefs and the plain zamin- 
dars, regulating the cotton markets, applying the necessary 
measure of coercion to bring the Garo chiefs-some hundred 
and fifty-five, by 1822-to commit themselves to written agree- 
ments and accept a nominal tribute to the permanent British 
power he had not once called for missionary assistance. 
Rather when he was first called to attend to the Burmese 
threat, he had relied upon the appointment of one or two 
Bengali superintendents with an appropriate staff, working 
with the neighbouring police dat.ogahs over whom they exer- 
cised a controlling authority to exercise that administrative 
authority created by Regulation X of 1822. It was only after 
he had left the Garo hills for Assam that he appealed for 
missionary help in settling and civilizing the Garos. But 

- 

even at this time, although his scheme of 1827 suggested 
evangelicalism at work, his subsequent correspondence with - 

a private missionary and the government, in which he 
sketched his ideal mission station, reveal some unexpected 
and very idiosyncratic ideas. 

In his search for a devoted clergyman to head his pro- 
posed mission, Scott in 1827 came in contact with one C. A. 
Fenwick, a Register to the Local Record Committee, Sylhet, 
who took interest in Scott's venture and was inclined to work 
among the G a r ~ s . ~ ~  Scott took care in explaining to him 
both the advantages and disadvantages of the job so that he 
did not come with uncontrolled enthusiasm leaving his old 
job, which was, materially speaking, much better. About the 
salary Scott said that it would, under no circumstances, be 
more than 250 rupecs per mensem and that too was doubtful. 
The fact about the unhealthy climate of the area was also 
not kept hidden from Fenwick : "The disease most com- 
mon", Scott wrote. "are fever, both jungle and intermittent 
. . .The danger from sickness I must not disguise; it is very 

*' B . C . J . C . . 17 Feb., 1825, no. 9, Scott to Bayley, 3 Dec., 1824. 
25 White's Memoir, App. 44. Scott to Fenwick, 7 Mar., 1827. The 

subsequent quotations are from this same source unless otherwise men- 
tioned. 
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great. I have myself been twice on the point of death, for 
fevers caught in these hills, although I never had even an 
ague fit during a residence of twenty-five years in any other 
part of the country". Such an information about the hostile 
climate and meagre salary was enough to deter any ordinary 
ease loving person even with a dedication to his own pro- 
fession. But Scott also warned Fenwick that there might bc 
occasional need even to compromise the doctrines of Christi- 
anity with those of the paganism. "It was not to testimonials 
of moral character that I referred", Scott wrote, "but of those 
other qualities more particularly required in a Missionary, 
who should devote himself to an undertaking of this kind". 
Scott then went on to ex~la in  what he looked for in an ideal 

A 

missionary : "Zeal, tempered with prudence, a capacity for 
the acquisition of languages, a capacity of enduring the hard- 
ships and privations that must be looked for in such a country, 
and some knowledge of agriculture, mechanics, and the more 
common arts of life, would be desirable qualifications for 
the Missionary who goes to preach the Gospel to a rude and 
savage people, amongst whom the introduction of the useful 
art ought to precede that of a knowledge of letters". Scott 
then hinted at the means he would like the Missionary to 

6 6 pursue while converting people. He  wrote : Some customs, 
inconsistent with the doctrines of Christianity, it might be 
necessary to tolerate, for a time the object in view being 
rather to improve the rising generation than completely to 
purify the present. Thus the marriage of two wives might 
be hereafter prevented; but the repudiation of one, where 
there are already two, could be not, perhaps, with a fair 
prospect of success, be insisted upon." 

For Scott, then, mere conversion to Christianity was not 
the aim. In fact Fenwick was considered for the Garo 
mission not just for his interest in preaching the gospel. 
"The general knowledge of husbandry and the arts which 
YOU possess", Scott wrote to Fenwick, "will be in the highest 
degree useful, and it is, I have little doubt, quite sufficient for 
the object in view, which is not to make artisans of the moun- 
taineers, nor even to encourage the fabrication of any article 
which they can procure on reasonable terms, from the 
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plains, by the barter of their staple commodity cotton; but 
merely to point out to them such obvious improvements and 
simple mechanical inventions as would immediately suggest 
themselves to a person at all conversant with the aericulture 

U 

and arts of Europe, America, or the more civilized parts of 
Asia".26 

By July 1827 Scott was able to submit to the Government 
in the form of a lengthy memorandum, the details of his 
proposed mission station. For the purpose he had selected 
the Rangeera mountain, which being detached from the 
other hills and eighteen hundred feet high, enjoyed a climate 
moderately cool throughout the year, and a free circulation 
of the air. The station was planned to be self-supporting. A 
part of the hill would be cleared, in the first instance, by 
inducing the neighbouring Garos to cultivate cotton and rice 
upon it; as they were obliged to abandon their fields after the 
second year in the existing rude state of agriculture, it would 
be necessary to adopt measures for preventing the jungles 
from again springing up after the expiration of that period; 
at least twenty to thirty rupees would be given in advance 
for this purpose to each of the fifty Garo families, and they 
would be allowed to retain the use of the country so long as 
they continued to cultivate for their own benefit lands 
pointed out to them in the neighbourhood of the missionary 
settlement; they would be asked to work two or three days 
in the week in clearing jungle, and making embankments 
and other improvements designed to increase the salubrity 
of the station and the produce of their own lands; a herd 
of two hundred cows, and the like number of sheep and 
goats would be purchased and the submit of the hill would 
thus be stocked with cattle down to a height of about three 
hundred feet; in the region below, in which springs and 
rivulets begin to abound and where consequently the system 
of irrigation practised in China, Bhutan and elsewhere might 
be successfully introduced; the scholars would be taught in 
the art of the new system of agriculture and would be ins- 

26 White's Memoir, App. 45, extract from an undated letter from 
Scott to Fenwick. 
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pired to extend it to their own villages, the artificial project 
for irrigation would be undertaken to agricultural improve- 
ment and the cold weather cultivation of wheat, barley, pota- 
toes, turnips etc. would be introduced; plenty of rich arable 
land fit for the plough to be procured at the bottom; and 
many of the rivulets towards the lower part of their course 
would be used in a manner to turn mills for clearing cotton 
and paddy .27 Of such a mission-agricultural settlement, 
Scott declared, "no improvement of equal magnitude whether 
of European or Asiatic origin could be introduced into the 
hills"-and he pointed out its administrative and political 
advantages : "from the migratory, it would convert the Garos 
into a stationary pop~ la t ion" .~~  He  then set out the cost of 
the scheme in detail : six thousand rupees for the initial 

I 

clearance,lD and eight thousand four hundred rupees in 
annual charges, easily defrayed from the revenue surplus 
yielded by the Garo f r~nt ie r .~ '  

Rs. 
Missionary salary . . . . 250 
Mr. Hurly's (of Garo schools) . . . . 200 
Native teachers' . . . . 40 
40 boys at Rs. 3 . . . . 120 
Servants etc. . . . . 40 
Allowance to Garo priests . . . . 50 

700 
Annual charges : Rs. 8,400 

27 B .C .  J .C.,  26 June, 1828, no. 10. Scott's 'Memorandum of the 
arrangements for a Missionary station and an experimental farm', 
10 July, 1827. 

28 Ibid. Rs. 
2D Advances to the Garo cultivators for two years . . 500 

Advances to 50 families to settle permanently . .  1,500 
T o  the purchase of cattle . . 1,300 
Agricultural instruments tools, plough . . 700 
Buildings . . 2,000 - 

Rs. 6,000 
See B .C. J .C., 26 June, 1828, no. 10, enclosures D of Scott's 

letter to Shakespear, 10 July, 1827. 
30 Ibid., enclosures A, B and C. 
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Statement exhibiting the proceeds of the Garo market duties 
since the enactment of Regulation X of 1822 

Rs. 

In the year 1822123 . . 
1823/24 . . 
1824125 . . 
1825126 . . 
1826/27 . . 

Average of five years . . 39,358 
deduct expeuses annually 
chargeable to the Garo moun- 
taineers in judicial, revenue, 
and police establishments : 34,210 

Remaining annual sulpus : 5,148 

Finally, having explained what type of missionary was 
required-well qualified in "various European improvements 
in agriculture, mechanics and arts9'-he ended with a personal 

6 6 

plea, . . .adverting to the very precarious state of my own 
health. I would earnestly solicit that His Lordship-in-Council 
will be pleased to adopt as soon as convenient such further 
measures as may be requisite to afford to the Garos instruc- 
tion in Christian religion as constituting independently of 
other instructions, by far the most feasible and efficacious 
means of humanizing that race of people and effecting the 
objects which Government has all along had in view in 
regard to them''.31 

In August 1827 Fenwick was still interested in Scott's 
project suggesting many points to him concerning agricul- 
ture, animal husbandry. irrigation, planting of fruit trees, 
introducing new livestock and opening of a school for girls. 

31 B.C. J .C ., 26 June 1828, no. 10, Scott to Shakespear, 10 July 
1827. 
32 White's Alemoir., App. 46. Scott to Fenwick, 18 Aug., 1827. 
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Scott was naturally pleased and replied to Fenwick enthusi- 
astically agreeing to supply plants of mangoes, peaches, the 
china fruits and pears, etc., without charge from Gauhati. If 
this sustained enthusiasm of Fenwick pleased Scott the 
news that came soon afterwards did not. O n  10 September, 
1827, B. W.  Hurly who had been selected as schoolmaster 
for the Garos under the latest arrangements, submitted his 
resignation, pleading his inability to cope with the savage 
and unhealthy surroundings, "destitute of the common neces- 
sities of European life", and a like inability either to master 
the Bengali and Garo languages or to give lessons on hus- 
bandry and horticulture to the tribes.33 This led the aggriev- 
ed Scott to make it clear that men of a different quality 
would be needed. Scott wrote that "An ardent zeal in the 
cause of religion is of course a sine-qua-non and unless that 
is possessed in a sufficient degree to place a man above the 
inferior considerations of enjoyment of society and many 
little comforts to which Europeans are accustomed, ultimate 
success cannot be e~pected.""~ He pointed out that on the 
Rangeera station "moderate sized, comfortable homes will 
be provided, the necessaries or even luxuries of the table, 
need not be wanting and a constant communication by post 
may be kept up, but beyond this little can be reasonably ex- 
pected, and compensation for lost enjoyments and the priva- 
tion of other advantages can only be sought for with success in 
the zealous prosecution of the objects of the Mission, and in 
the cheering prospect of conveying the blessings of civiliza- 
tion and a knowledge of the true faith to thousands of beings 
at present immersed in ignorance and imbued with the most 
ravage pr~pensities."~" ~e ended his letter to the government 
with the noble warning that, "the undertaking must still be 
considered as one of an arduous nature, and to which a mall 

ought to go forth armed with that religious zeal which 
warmed the hcarts of the Moravian brethren in  ree en land 

'' B . C .  J . C . ,  25 Oct. 1827, No. 55, Scott to Shakespear, 4 Oct. 1827- 
34 Ibid, no. 54, Scott to Shakespear, 4 Oct., 1827. 
35 Ibid. 
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and still actuates the missionaries in the wilds of southern 
A f r i ~ a . " ~ ~  

The above lines of Scott could as well be the epitaph on 
his dead project, as, his plan for the establishment in the 
Garo hills a mission-cum-agricultural station did not mate- 
rialise in his life time. It was not until 1867 that the Christian 
mission was to come to the Garo hills. In that year Dr. 
Bronson took interest in establishing a missionary centre for 
the Garos at Goalpara." In 1829 not only the Garo frontier 
but the whole eastern region was underdeveloped. Tea in- 
dustry was yet to come to Upper Assam and on the Garo 
frontier the unexportable commodity, cotton, still remained 
the most staple product and climate there was as hostile as 
ever. Economic prospect being negligent, help to the mis- 
sionary establishments which entailed with it the tricky ques- 
tion of European coloni~ation,3~ was safely avoided by the 
government. Scott therefore remained content in fulfilling a 
part of his dream for the Garos, through the Gauhati Mis- 
sion School which was founded in 1829 mainly through his 
zeal and enterprise.39 In 1830 James Rae, the schoolmaster 
of the Gauhati School reported that he had under his charge 
6 6 twelve interesting youths, three Khasis and nine Garos, 
committed to his charge by Mr. David Scott, Commissioner 
of A~sam."~' So far the services of Fenwick was concerned, 
Scott thought of employing him in his similar sanatorium- 
cum-horticultural centre in the Khasi hills.41 

In pointing out the tribal areas as the best place for 
Christian missionary activities, Scott has proved very far 
sighted, for it is only in the tribal areas that Christianity in 

36 1 bid. 
37 See T h e  Assarn Mission of the American Bapkct hiissionar.y 

Union Papelas and discussions of the Jubilee Conference held in 
AToru~ong Dec. 18-29. 1886, p. 57. 
3s The Charter Act of 1833 allowing Europeans to hold land in 

long term lease, was yet to come. 
39 V. Hugo Sword, Baptists in  Assam, pp. 36-7. 
40 Morris, his tor)^ of TYelsh Methodists, p. 72, quoted by V.  H. 

Sword, op. cit., pp. 36-7. 
41 See ch. VII. p. 216. 
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India spreaded most." The missionaries and government 
officials in Assam immediately after Scott's period realised 
that Assam and its hills, inhabited by various tribes marked 
by their simplicity of manners and void of prejudices which 
were common among the Hindus of the other parts of India 
offered the most promising fields for the spread of Christiani- 
ty.'" What is more, they echoed Scott's voice when they 
pleaded that the government should make grant of waste- 
lands to Moravian or other Missionaries if the latter took to 
themselves the task of instructing the native in an improved 
system of agriculture, horticulture and manufacture. It should 
be made to them, these officials and missionaries pleaded, 
"not with reference to their religious opinions, but for develop- 
ing and improving the resources of the country. " 44 

These missionaries, although talked of trade and tribes 
aired unalloyed Evangelical views. They were obviously in- 
spired by the of tea industry and encouraged by 
Scott's successor in the Commissioner's post, Captain Jenkins, 
who laid a new emphasis on colonization as the means to 
Assam's economic development.46 So far the missionaries 

42 T h e  1961 Census reports for Assam give the following percentage 
of tribesmen who are Christians. 

Mi zo - 88.1 Khasi-Jaintia - 48.5 
Garo - 33.1  Mikir-North Cachar - 13.0 
See, Census of India, 1961, Vol. 11, Assam, part V-A, pp. 334-38. 

43 Rev. J .  Rae, 'Appeal on behalf of the Lalongs, Mikirs and other 
hitherto unknown tribes in Assam', T h e  Calcutta Christian Observer, 
Vol. 17, Apr. 1836, pp. 155-164; See also C.C.O., Vol. IV. Ang. 1835, 
pp. 406-8. 

'".C.O, Vol. 117, Aug. 1835, pp. 406-8. 
' W n  January 4, 1835 one Rev. John Mack wrote to the Church 

Mibsion Society, London, presenting the commercial possibilities of 
Assam, particularly mentioning the cultivation of tea. He saw how 
A:sam co~lld become a highway of commerce between China and the 
East India Company's realm. American Baptists Nathan Brown and 
O .T .  Cutter who arrived at Sadiya in Upper Assam in 1836 also 
applied to the Board of Trade in 1841 suggesting the possibility of 
opening an experimental farm at Sadiya. This undertaking was 
sponsored by Capt. Jenkins. T h e  Board sanctioned this undertaking 
and desired to send two or more pious and intelligent families of 
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were ~ ~ n c e r n e d  the reason for their interest in experimental 
farming or similar economic ventures was simple. This woultj, 
they argued, "scrve a two-fold purpose, namely, to rclie~lc the 
missionaries from embarassment in providing the comlllon 
necessities of life and also improve the temporal condition of 
the natives by teaching them the useful arts and introducing 
foreign plants."'6 In fact this was no new policy. Charies 
Grant, the greatest advocate of the missionaries' cause in 
India, had declared long before : "In every progressive step 
of this work, we shall also serve the original design with which 
we visited India, that design still so important to this country- 
the extension of our ~ommerce".~' There was undoubtedly a 
difference between Scott's line of approach and that of the 
missionaries. The latter would have certainly wanted the 
Company's involvement in the affairs of the Garos as a moral 
duty for the Company was for them a part of the Chrisrian 
community.48 Scott seemed to be more pragmatic than any- 
thing else although he too was quite conscious of the moral 
and spiritual superiority of the Christian community. At a 
time when the retrenchment measures of the Company's 
government made any heavy expenditure on any commercial- 
ly unprofitable field impossible,'~he voluntary services of the 
missionaries should be encouraged and exploited on h~man i -  
tarian grounds. The leading missionaries of the time-William 
Carey for instance-took a great deal of interest in the im- 

suitable qualifications whenever such families could be found. This 
undertaking, however, never materialised due to the insurrection of 
the Khamtis. See V.H. Sword, op. cit., pp. 35-6 and 52;  See also A. 
Guha, 'Colonization of Assam (1825-40), T h e  Indian Econ. and Sot.. 
Hist. Review, Vol. V, 2 June, 1968, pp. 137-140. 

46 Sword, op. cit., p. 52. 
47 Grant, Observations on the state of Society among d e  Ariatic 

Subjects.. . (1797) quoted in Stokes, op. cit., p. 34; For Grant's 
venture to start missionary activities a t  his indigo establishment at 

Gaumati (Bengal) see Embree, op. cit., p. 85. 
" Grant's argument, see Embree, op. cir., p. 143. 
'' See Ingham, op. cit., p. 121 for the consequences of the company's 

cautious financial policy of the 20's on agricultural impro~ements for 
example. 
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provement of Indian agriculture and horticulture60 and it was 
no wonder that Scott, who followed missionary activities 
keenly, and who was in regular correspondence with Carey, 
emphasised upon the missionaries and also the government 
of such needs. Morality was not at all his main concern and 
in fact he made it clear to Fenwick. 

One other odd feature of Scott's plans for the Garo mission, 
and one which suggests the Paternalist rather than the Evan- -- 
oelist, was his suggestion for medical instruction. H e  wished b 

for the appointment of a well-trained native doctor to the 
Rangeera mission, whose task would be to instruct the priests 
how to cure the simple diseases of the country, such as fever, 
rheumatism and inflammation of the eyes." &tt argued that 
the priests were the only persons resorted to by the people in 
case of disease, and that if the priests' co-operation was won 
by the grant of small allowances, the way would be opened 
for the diffusion of an improved practice of medicine, among 
the G a r ~ s . ~ '  Such a plan of Scott to use the priests (although 
the latter's role among the Garos was not as great as that of 
the Brahmins in the plains) and in fact to strengthen their 
position suggests further that he scarcely saw them in the 
light, say, as Charles Grant, who denounced those belonging 
to the Hindu society as "crafty and imperious" and the source 
of most ills in that society.63 

" Ibid., pp. 117-120. 
51 B.C.J.C., 25 Oct. 1827, nos. 54-56, Scott to Shakespear, 4 Oct. 

1827. In this connection, it is to be noted that Scott himself had 
successfully introduced vaccination against small pox, the value of 
which was so well understood that the Imperial Gazette reports that 
6 c small-pox has been almost stamped out in the hills." B.C.J.C. 17 Feb. 
1825, no. 9, Scott to Bayley. 3 Dec. 1824; B.C. Allen and others, 
Eastern Rengal and A r ~ a m ,  Imperial Gazetteer of India Series, p. 511. 

62 J .L.B., Vol. 11, letter of 30 Aug., 1827, para 146. 
63 Stokes, op. cit., p. 32. 
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1. Acquaintance with the Khasi Hills and People 

THE KHASIS are a group of Austro Asiatic people, like the 
Jaintias and they occupy the tract of country between Jaintia 
hills on the east and the Garo hills on the west. There is 
practically no difference between the inhabitants of the Khasi 
and those of the Jaintia hills. They are both the same physical 
type, and they speak the same language-Khasi-which is one 
of the Mon-Khmer family of languages, the only surviving 
one in India. 1 

The first British contact with the Khasis took place after 
the acquisition of the district of Sylhet by the East India Com- 
pany by the grant of the Diwani in Bengal in 1765.~ The 
Khasis thereby became the Company's neighbours to the 
north; while to the north-east the state of Jaintia, which 
marched with Sylhet, was also ruled by a chief of Khasi 
1ineage.Vhe Khasis possessed quarries which could supply 
lime for the whole of deltaic Bengal, and were not averse from 
trade.' In the grand mart at Pandua, on the Sylhet border, 
they traded in silk, iron, wax, honey and ivory and employed 
many Bengalis to keep their accounts.' All these business 
transactions, however, did not offer any opportunity either to 
the British government or to the inhabitants of Bengal to 
know much about the Khasis of the interior hills. The Khasis, 
as a whole, were known to the British as troublesome marau- 

' Gait, Hidtory of Assanr, 1963 ed.. pp. 311 and 353. 
Sir Charles Lyall in P .  R .T.  Gurdon's T h e  Khasis, p. XIV. 
The chief's capital Jaintiapur, was situated in the plain between 

the Surma river and the hills. 
P . R . T .  Gurdon, op.  cit., pp. XIV-XV. 
' Letter to William Carey by a missionary from Sylhet. 11 May, 

1813, M . C . L . R . M . ,  Vol. VI, 1813, pp. 107-8. 
191 
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ders, whose raids were a terror to the inhabitants of the 
plains.G 

The reason behind the occasional incursions by the Khasis 
into the plains of Sylhet, however, not far to seek. The ad- 
vance of the British in Bengal compelled the Khasis to retire to 
their native fastnesses and to leave the town of Sylhet, the 
villages of Pandua, Chhatak and many others which were 
once- their possessions, in the hands of their powerful neigh- 
b ~ u r . ~  The Khasis were also annoyed with the fraud and 
deceit of the Bengali traders, especially of those whom they 
employed as accountants. Eventually, they were driven to 
exasperation, and started carrying some of them off to their 
hills, where their victims were threatened with starvation if 
they refused to refund the embezzled money.8 

The relation between the Bengali inhabitants of the British 
territory and the Khasis were thus far from friendly, and it 
was not easy for the British to learn much about the interior. 
The earliest British account of the Khasis was perhaps, that 
of Robert Lindsay' who had been the Resident and Collector 
of Sylhet about 1778, and had made a large fortune by work- 

6 L  

ing the Khasi lime quarries. He described the Khasi as a 
fair man in his dealings, and, provided you treat him honour- 
ably, he will act with perfect reciprocity towards you". He, 
however, cautioned the foreigners : "but beware of shewing 
him the smallest appearance of indignity, for he is jealous 
in the extreme, cruel and vindictive in his resent- 

9 9  10 ments . In the second decade of the nineteenth century, 
the missionaries of the Serampore Mission began to take an 
interest in the Khasis. Their account agrees entirely with 

Their ravages between 1780 and 1790 were mentioned as specially 
severe. Physical and Political Geography of the Province o f  Assam. 
p. 86. 

A.B.  Lish, 'A brief account of the Khasis,' C.C.O., March 1838, 
pp. 129-143. 

M.C.L.R.M., Vol. VI, 1913, pp. 107-108. 
See Lord Lindsay, Lives of the Lindsays, or A Memoir o f  the 

Houses o f  Crowford and Balcarres, Vol. 111, pp. 163, 176-8. 
lo Ibid., pp. 177-8. 
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that given by Lindsay some thirty years previously. In May 
1813, a missionary from the Sylhet station wrote to Carey 
thus : "The real Khasis possess two great characteristic virtues 
viz., truth and honesty. They spurn the little meannesses 
practised by the Bengalees, whom they despise. They are 
however very revengeful, and seldom forget injuries"." How- 
ever, there was no significant progress in the missionary 
activities in the Khasi hills until Scott opened up the hills." 
Dr. Buchanan-Hamilton, who in the early part of the 
nineteenth century, had been touring on a botanising excur- 
sion in the north and on the north-eastern border of Bengalla 
attempted to give some information about the Khasis. The 
account which he wrote about the Khasis, while staying at 
Goalpara in the Brahmaputra valley, was however thoroughly 
inadequate and in many cases Buchanan confused the Khasis 
with the Garos. 

The importance of a friendly relationship with the Khasis 
was thus for the first time realised by David Scott at the time 
of the Burmese war, when the need to establish a dak or 
postal service across the hills from Sylhet to Assam was 
urgently felt. At this time the land of the Khasis was divided 
into various petty states presided over by Syiems and Lyng- 
d o h  who were chosen by popular election following a 
matriarchal method." Some of the more powerful of these 
chiefs were also referred as rajas in the style of the native 
states. The territory to the west of Jaintia, extending from 
Pandua, a border village in the Sylhet district, to Assam was 
under the Syiem of Khyrim. From Pandua, Scott contacted 

l1 M.C .L. R .M., Vol. VI 1813, p. 107. A missionary's letter t o  
Carey, Sylhet, 11 May, 1813. 
l2 The first missionary station in the Khasi hills was opened at 

Cherrapunii by the Serampore Mission in 1832 with A. Lish in charge 
of the station. Periodical Accounts of the Serampore Mission, 1832, 
pp. 30-33. 
la M.C .L. R .M.. Vol. IT, 1809, p. 22, W. Robinson to William 

Carey, 11 April, 1809. 
l4 The same system. more or less, exists still today. See Hamkt 

Bareh, The History and Culture of the Khasi People, pp. 249-258. 
F. 13 
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the Khyrim raja15 who at the time was master of the foothills 
from which the road was to start. The raja exhibited much 
less jealousy than Scott had expected and in March 1824 he 
agreed to Scott's proposal to establish a road across his country 
from Assam to the plains of Sylhet on being paid for it. He 
also undertook to improve the road at his expense provided 
a small lowland estate was restored to him by the British.16 
The land desired by the raja was not considered of much 
value and Scott therefore advised the conclusion of the 
bargain.'? 

Scott was very impressed with the climate of the Khasi 
hills and his very first journey to them though "rather fatigu- 
ing was on the whole a pleasant trip". Indeed the march 
proved a voyage of discovery. He  found that within six hours 
journey off Pandua there was a climate probably superior to 
that of the Cape of Good Hope in point of coldness, and 
healthiness; the mountains were full of green short grass and 
the elevation was upwards of five thousand feet. The local 
people informed him also that "throughout the months of 
December and January the running streams are fringed with 
ice; that snow frequently falls; and that it is necessary every 
morning to break the ice in the water pots standing in the 
house". "It is a great pity", Scott wrote to the government, 
"that the Cassya country is not better known, and that we do 
not avail ourselves of the obvious advantages it offers".18 Such 
discovery led Scott to anticipate further advantages to be 
derived from engagements with other Khasi chiefs, in the 
line of one already made with the Khyrim raja. He began 
thinking in terms of getting suitable lands in the hills, for 
building sanatoria or cantonments, so as to use ~rofitably the 
cool and salubrious climate of the hills. He thought that grallt 

l V . S . P . C . ,  2 Apr. 1824, no. 10, Scott to Swinton, 24 March, 1824- 
l6 B.S.P.C., 2 Apr. 1824, no. 16, Scott's private letter to Swinton. 

21 March 1824. 
l7 Ibid. 

Is B . S . P  .C., 2 Apr. 1824, nos. 16 and 10, Scott to Swinton. 21 alld 
24 March, 1824. 
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of plain lands to the hill chieh, in exchange, would make them 
ultimately more dependent on and obedient to the Company 
as they would be having frequent and intimate communica- 
tion with the British.'!' So from now onwards. Scott's ~ l a n  

1 

of building the road went simultaneously with his  project of 
.erecting buildings for sanatoria. 

~ c o i t  soon found that his method of getting concessions 
from the hill chiefs was a satisfactory one. The route which 
Scott proposed to open from Sylhet began with a rugged 
ascent through territory belonging to the petty chief of 
Cherrapunji*, known as Duwan Raja. His territory, two days 
march in length and one in width, was mostly tableland, 5 to 
6,000 feet above sea level. The natural beauty and splendid 
climate of the place moved Scott so much that he early pressed 
his desire of ;xchanging "a portion of the bold a n d  sterile 
highlands for a slice of the fertile plain below".20 H e  proposed 
to improve the road to Assam by Cherrapunji at the govern- 
ment's expense, and to conciliate and secure British influence 
over the chief by conferring upon him in zamindari tenure a 
small estate near Pandua. The  chief was very desirous of 
possessing this land which Scott understood might to be pur- 
chased for a very trifling sum. The remainder of the road he 
planned lay through the territories of Mylliem chiefs, formerly 
dependent upon Khyrim but who had lately separated them- 
selves from that petty state.21 

Scott, however, could not secure engagements with the 
chiefs quickly enough to use the road on his march towards 
Assam with the 23rd Native Infantry. Since a cordial under- 

l9 B. S . P  .C. ,  2 Apr. 1824, no. 16, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 
21 March, 1824. 
" Cherrapunji, celebrated as the place which has the greatest measur- 

ed rainfall on the globe, long remained a popular station, and the 
British government's Headquarters till 1864. The  discovery of coal 
there attracted to it many visitors. 

20 B.S.P.C.,  2 Apr. 1824, no. 16, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 
21 March 1824. Scott explained later on that he was wrong in calling 
i t  sterile. 

21 B . S . P . C . ,  2 Apr. 1824, no. 10, Scott to Swinton, 24 March 1824. 
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standing already subsisted with the raja of Jaii~tia, '~ the route 
through the latter's territory was considered more practic- 
able.23 Moreover to ensure the steady advancement of his future 
plans in the hills Scott was cautious enough to avoid any 
sudden measures that might create distrust or jealousy on the 
part of the hill people.'' 

More than two years later when the war with the Burmese 
was over, Scott resumed his plan. O n  30 November, 1826, the 

22 The following was the "separate article" of the treaty concluded 
between the Company and Raja Ram Singh of Jaintia on March 10, 
1824 : "Raja Ram Singh engages, that to assist in the war corn- 
menced in Assam between the Honourable Company's Troops and 
those of the King of Ava, he will march a force and attack the enemy 
to the east of Gowhatty; and the Honourable Company agrees, upon 
the conquest of Assam, to confer upon the Rajah a part of that 
Territory proportionate to the extent of his exertions in the common 
cause." C . U . Aitchison, Treaties Engagements and Sanads, Vol. 11, 
p. 165. 

23 See map. 2. facing p. 83 for Scott's route from Sylhet to Nowgong 
in 1824. This road, known as the Jaintia road, was later on developed 
and perfected. The improvement work was begun under one 
Mr. Blechynden in September 1825. But the progress of the work 
under him was not satisfactory. In the early part he was not physi- 
cally fit and later he was not able to pull on well either with the 
Jaintia raja or with the Assamese officers and labourers. On Scott's 
requests the government appointed Lt. Burlton in 1827 to supervise 
the work. Burlton who in his capacity of executive oficer at Bish- 
wanath had already acquired much experience of the Assamese work- 
men, started the work with full enthusiasm and by January 1828 
built 29 wooden bridges, large and small, over the rivulets. The 
work was completed before the year ended and in March 1829 Scott 
submitted the bill, some twenty thousand rupees, which was charged 
on the accounts of Lower Assam. Scott also suggested the erection 
of a suspension bridge over the Barapani river as ordinary construction 
was of no use at the time of extraordinary floods. See B .S .P  .C .  25 
June, 1824, no. 27. Scott to Swinton 4 June, 1824; B .S .P  . C .  30 Sept. 
1825, no. 18, Swinton to Scott; B .S . P  .C .  24 Nov. 1826 no. 2, 1827, 
Scott to Swinton, 30 Oct. 1826; B .S .P  .C., 16 Nov. 1827 nos. 46-47 
Scott to Swinton 5 Sept. 1827; Swinton to Scott 16 Nov., 1827; 
B.S .P .C.  7 Mar., 1828, nos. 11-12 Scott to Burlton 17 Dec. 1827, 
Swinton to Scott 17 Dec. 1827; B.P.C.  18 Apr., 1829 nos. 51-53, Scott 
to Swinton 22 Mar. 1829, Swinton to Scott 18 Apr. 1829. 

24 B .S .P .C., 25 June 1824, no. 27, Scott to Swinton, 4 June, 18240 
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opportunity came to him to extract a major concession from 
another powerful Khasi chief-the raja of N ~ n g k h l a o . ~ ~  It 
was a disputed succession which gave Scott his chance. Since 
June and July 1824 when the route to Assam via Jaintia ceas- 
ed to be available after the reoccupation of the country about 
Nowgong and Raha chowky by the Burmese, Scott had been 
trying to open a route via Pandua and Bard~ar .~ '  But though 
Chattar Singh, the Nongkhlao raja, who held the lowlands 
of Barduar, was ready to agree to this, his relative Tirut Singh, 
whose power lay in the hills, contested Chattar Singh's 
authority over Barduar and prevented the use of the road. In 
1826, however, on Chattar Singh's death, Scott announced 
that he would not grant the investure of the Barduar to any 
person whose authority was not fully recognised in the hills 
as well as in the lowlands, and who was not prepared to grant 
the same facilities of communication through his territory as 
the Khasis enjoyed in British Assam and Sylhet. It was at 
this time, when the question of succession brought about 
continued disputes between the parties of Tirut and the 
successors of Chattar, that Scott was invited to mediate. Since 
Scott had also to discuss the settlement of revenue for certain 
lands which the raja held under the Assam government:' he 
accepted the invitation. It was then unanimously agreed that 
the pretension of Rajjan Singh-a child of only five years and 
the brother and the direct heir of Chattar Singh-should be set 
aside on the ground of minority and that Tirut Singh the next 
heir. should be elected to the rai, to be succeeded at his death 
by Rajjan Singh.28 In return for Scott's support of his claims, 
Raja Tirut Singh agreed to become a British protege and 
to give a free passage to British troops through his territory. 
He also agreed to furnish materials for the construction of a 
road, against payment, and after its completion to keep it in 
repair. The raja agrecd that in the event of the Honourable 
Company carrying on hostilities with any other pourer he 

2' B . S . P .  C . ,  2 March 1827, no. 20, Scott to Swinton, 30 Nov. 1826. 
26 B.S.P.C., 2 March, 1827, no. 20, Scott to Swinton, 13 Jan., 1827. 
27 B.S.P.C., 2 March, 1827, no. 20, Scott to Swinton, 13 Jan., 1827. 
2s B.S.P.C., 26 June, 1829, no. 2, Scott to Swinton. 30 May, 1829. 
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would serve with all his followers as far as the eastward of 
Kaliabar in Assam. The raja also promised to rule his subjects 
according to the laws of his country, keeping them contented 
and to seize and deliver any criminal from British territory 
taking refuge in his country. In return the British government 
undertook to protect the raja's country from foreign enemies 
and to support him against any unjust act or violence of any 
neighbouring chief .29 

Scott had achieved his object, but he had also had the 
chance to observe the toughness of the hill tribes and the 
distinctive character of their social organization. They had 
shown themselves very touchy about their independence, and 

6 6  the raja's assembly, customarily a more genuine power" 
than the raja himself, as Scott observed, had been extremely 
reluctant to grant such favours to the English. Scott found 
that the meeting which he attended was conducted throughout 
"with a degree of independence, coolness and propriety which 
could not have been exceeded under similar circumstances by 
the inhabitants of the most civilized co~n t r i e s " .~~  It was due 
to the strict vigilance of the savdars and people, and the latter's 
alarm at what they had heard of the seizure of bazars in 
Sylhet district to serve the British army in 1825, that the raia 
refused to bind himself to provide workmen for the roade3' 
He  did undertake partially to make the road and to construct 
the bridges beyond Nongkhlao as far as his territories extend- 
ed towards Assam. Scott, realising the raja's difficult situation, 
urged the Calcutta Council to believe that the concession given 
by the raja was not an inadequate exchange for British protec- 
t i ~ n . ~ ~  

The hopes of advantage through peaceful ~enetration into 
the Khasi hills that Scott had cherished in the early part of 

29 B.S.P.C., 2 March, 1827, no. 20, Articles of agreement with Tirut 
Singh, Scott to Swinton, 30 Nov., 1826; C. U. Aitchison, op tit., 
pp.'l 85-1 86. 

B.S.P.C., 2 March, 1827, no. 20, Scott to Swinton, 13 Jan., 1827; 
A. White, Memoir, pp. 3137. White attended this meeting along 
with Scott. 
" B.S.P.C., 2 March, 1827, no. 20, Scott to Swinton, 13 Jan., 1827- 
32 Ibid. 
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1824 seemed to be more realisable after the treaty with 
Nongkhlao. Scott reported in January, 1827, that by the estab- 
lishment of British influence in the Khasi hills the petty 
chiefs, whose raids disturbed the Sylhet frontier, would be 
completely overawed and that since the remaining indepen- 
dent Khasi territory was split in two by the recently obtained 
portions of Nongkhlao, the recurrence of hostilities and feuds 
between the different chiefs would be necessarily lessened. 
The improvement of the country itself was also an evident 
British interest since it would help to promote the prosperity 
of the districts of Sylhet and Assam, the produce of the hills 
being traded for the manufactures of the plains. Considering 
all these advantages Scott urged the government to approve - 

of his agreement with Tirut -singh and give consent to his 
immediate plan of building a few bungalows for his proposed 
sanatoria at N ~ n ~ k h l a o . ~ ~  The government was pleased to 
approve of Scott's measures, although it commented that the 
settlement would have been more-satisfactory if Tirut had 
contributed more efficiently to the completion of the road?' 
Tirut was honoured with a State palankeen--called Kekura- 
dola-the gift which used to be given to persons of superior 
rank during the Ahom reign.36 In 1828 the road construction 
work began in right earnest under the supervision of Lieute- 
nants Bedingfield and Burlton. A Company of sepoys and other 
labourers from the plains were employed for the purpose 
and Tirut maintained his friendly disposition by supplying 
necessary provisions.36 

2. Khasi Opposition 

Despite this seemingly auspicious start, Scott's plans did 
not go smoothly. Troubles came one after another. Soon after 

33 Ibid. 

34 B.S.P.C., 2 March, 1827, no. 22, Swinton to Scott, 2 March, 1827. 
35 B.S.P.C., 13 Sept., 1827, no. 16, Scott to Swinton, 8 Aug., 1827. 
36 For the course of this road, the marks of which are said to be 

still traceable, see Hamlet Eareh, op. cit., pp. 141-2. 
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the Nongkhlao agreement he found llimself involved in the 
4 6 .  intriguing tactics" of the hill chiefs. What Scott was pleased 
to call "intriguing tactics" was really the assertion of claims 
by the Khasi chieb over foot-hill villages on the Assam side 
of the hills. These claims were disputed by the British appoint- 
ed rnalguzars of Lower Assam. One typical case was the 
claim by the chiefs of Mylliem and Khyrim over certain parts 
of Dimarua, including all the lowlands up to the river 
Kallang in Kamrup district. Their claim was resisted by the 
sazawal who was collecting the revenues for the British 
government, and the chiefs therefore, in August, 1828, sent a 
body of their dependants to stop the sazawal's collection, to 
extort contributions of grain from the villages and to carry 
off to the hills those inhabitants who opposed them. Scott 
who was busy on the plains of Lower Assam at this time, 
exploring more land revenue possibilities, tried to study this 
disputed case without being influenced by his recent friendly 
relationship with the hill chiefs. His study revealed that 
about thirty years previous to the present dispute, in the same 
district of Dimarua a pretender to the chieftaincy of Dimarua 
had been introduced by the Khasis who had been finally 
expelled by the Assamese after a few weeks, and that since 
then the latter had been enjoying quiet possession of the 
land.37 Scott's response to such attacks upon British revenues 
and British subjects was, therefore, to send a party of Rungpore 
Light Infantry and Goalpara sibandi sepoys to expel the 
Khasi gangs from Dimarua district. Messengers were also sent 
to Barmanik, the chief of Mylliem warning him of the con- 
sequences of his conduct and requiring him to withdraw his 
people and state his claims through the proper channels. 
Scott was secretly informed that this chief of Mylliem had 
also sent messengers to the neighbowing hill rajas requiring 
their assistance in case of major strife against the ~r i t i sh .~ '  

Although Scott had witnessed the political skill and exper- 
tise of the Khasis in their tribal assemblies, and 11nd found 
many of them well disposed, he had the lowest opinion of 

37 B.S.P.C., 5 Sept., 1828, no. 11, Scott to Swinton, 8 Aug., 1828. 
B.S.P.C., 5 Sept., 1828, no. 12, Scott to Swinton, 8 Aug., 1828. 
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the hill tribes' behaviour towards the plains dwellers. All 
the hill tribes, he held, were equally cruel and barbarous. 
Referring to the past history of Assam Scott mentioned that 
under the Assam government revolutions of the present 
nature had been common occurrence in the estates bordering 
on the hills and murders, tlie putting out of eyes, and other 
cruelties were ordinarily practised with impunity upon each 
other by the petty contending factions. The ruling power had 
seldom possessed sufficient means to vindicate its authority 
by penetrating into the hills and securing the persons guilty 
of such offences. The long continuance of this state of things 
had naturally generated a spirit of intrigue in local officials 
and chiefs which could not be at once eradicated and which 
still induced them to look to the old means of regaining 
their situations whe'n dismissed, by endeavouring to displace 
the raja and secure the favour of his successor.3Q 

Scott was for bold action. Experience having so frequently 
shown the impolicy of allowing the border tribes to make any 
encroachment, since this merely led them to commit still 
more flagrant misdeeds, he recommended a formal demand 
upon the chief of Mylliem for the amount collected by his 
people from the pargana of Dimarua. If that failed, Scott 
suggested that it should be followed up by a closure of the 
markets, and if that too should fail, by the march of a party 
of troops to his principal village which was situated one long 
day's journey south of Nongkhlao. The country of Mylliem 
chief being quite open and the inhabitants numbering only 
four to six hundred fighting men with no better arms than 
bows and arrows, Scott thought that a single company would 
be quite sufficient to bring him to reason. If need be he pro- 
posed to call upon the raja of lnintia and Nongkhlao to fur- 
nish their contingents in  support in accordance with the 
treaties they had entered into with the British go~ernrnent.'~ 
The Government believing in his judgement and discretion. 
on account of his "long experience of the ways and habits of 

B.S.P.C., 5 Sept., 1828, no. 12, Scott to Swinton, 8 Aug., 1828. 
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the border tribes", authorised him to carry out his mea- 
sure~.' '~ 

Scott obviously minimised the power of the Khasis and 
treated the incident of Dimarua as an outcome of the natural 
evil propensities of "savages".4' No sort of organized rebellion 
was ever expected from the Khasis, and the existing trouble 
was considered as merely local. In the remaining few months 
of the year 1828 therefore, Scott busied himself advising his 
assistants on the various administrative problems which had 
cropped up in the newly annexed territory of Assam. Capt. 
Neufville gave him information about the assembly of a body 
of insurgent ex-nobility in Upper Assam4%nd in the autumn 
of 1828 Capt. White of the troubles given by the Bhutias in 
the Buriguma duar.14 In April 1829, after supervising the 
construction of buildings at N ~ n ~ k h l a o , ~ S c o t t  went in per- 
son to Cherrapunji, to make arrangements with Raja Duwan 
Singh about the grant of land in his territory for the road,". 

41 B.S.P.C., 5 Sept., 1828, no. 24, Swinton to Scott, 5 Sept., 1828. 
4' B.S.P.C., 5 Sept., 1828, no. 12, Scott to Swinton, 8 Aug., 1828. 
'".S.P.C., 4 Dec., 1828, no. 10, Neufville to Scott, 22 Oct., 1828. 
44 B.S.P.C., 4 Dec., 1828, no. 12, White to Scott, 28 Oct., 1828. 
" On 24 March, 1829, Scott informed Calcutta that a bungalow 

consisting of six small and one large room, affording accommodation 
for two families or four bachelors, had been built at the cost of Sa. 
Rs. 3,923. H e  also reported that there was an adjoining house of 
an inferior description, which if necessary, might be fitted up for the 
reception of an equal number of visitors. 

B.S.P.C., 18 Apr., 1829, nos. 55-56, Scott to Swinton, 24 March,. 
1829. 
" The  three point arrangement with the raja was thus : 

(1) The raja would receive as much land in the plains near 
Pandua as might be taken by government in the hills, and 
that he would be allowed to establish a bazar, which should 
be under his authority. 

(2) The raja would help in every direction towards the build- 
ing of the road. 

(3 )  Natives of Bengal committing offences within the limits of 
the sanatoriam, would be tried by British government; if 
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and to supervise its construction by prisoners from A ~ s a m . ~ '  
It was while at Cherrapunji that on 7 April the news came 
of the massacre at Nongkhlao of two Europeans, Lt. Reding- 
field and Lt. Burlton, along with several natives, having 
killed by the K h a ~ i s . ' ~  

Contemporary Englishmen in Assam described the mass- 
acre of Nongkhlao as an incident arising from a stupid 
remark made by a Bengali chaprasi. In a dispute with the 
Khasis, prior to Scott's coming up, the man had threatened 
them with his master's vengeance and had plainly told them 
that it entered into his master's plans to subject them to 
ta~ation.~"cott certainly could not find any more serious 
reason behind the outbreak, which he declared was "not easy 
to ~omprehend" '~  since he thought Tirut was friendly to the 
British. However, he admitted that no sooner had he settled 
the difference between the parties of Chattar and Tirut than 
"fresh schism broke out", the inhabitants of one of the prin- 
cipal villages, called Lungbri, taking the part of Rajian Singh, 
the minor brother and direct heir of Chattar Singh, and 
seceding altogether from Tirut's authority. The aggrieved 
party had also gone so far as to stop travellers on the road.51 
Tirut had his own grievances too. Scott reported that on 
obtaining possession of the lowland estates granted in retllrn 
for the site for a road and sanatorium, Tirut found "his un- 
reasonable expectations of enjoying a large profit and arbi- 
trary sway over his ryots, disappointed". Because of his com- 
plete ignorance of the British system of revenue collection, 

beyond, by the raja, but severe punishment would be given 
only after consultation with the Agent of the Governor- 
General. 

B.S.P.C., 1 May, 1828, no. 38, Scott to Swinton, 19 Apr., 1829. 
47 B.S.P.C., 17 Oct., 1829, nos. 4-5, Scott to Swinton, 22 Sept., 1828. 
48 B.S.P.C., 25 Apr.. 1829, nos. 9-14, White to Swinton, 8 and 25 

Apr., 1829. The massacre took place on the 4th and 5th of April, 
1829, See White's Memoir, App., 22, Scott to Lamb, 10 Apr.. 1829. 

49 A. White, Memoir, pp. 41-42; A .B .  Lish, op.  cit., p. 130. 
50 B.S.P.C., 26 June, 1829, nos. 2-3, Scott to Swinton, 30 May, 1829. 
51 Ibid. 
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and "his obstinacy in refusing the assistance offered to him 
by an experienced agent", Tirut failed to raise sufficient 
money even to pay the government dues.6' 

Tirut7s own version however, was very different. He com- 
plained that at the time of the agreement the understanding 
was given that he would not be asked for the revenue of the 
land given to him. But Scott argued that "although no 
regular annual rent in money was levied under the Assam 
government from his [Tirut's] predecessors, they were liable 
to perform service to the state with the whole of their paiks. 
They had, besides been invariably obliged to pay a fine to 
the Barphrrkan to obtain the investiture of the estate". The 
.amount raised in former times under these heads had "ex- 
ceeded the whole revenue at which duar was now assessed".53 

Whatever the truth of Scott's assertions the chief certainly 
felt that he had been deceived. He also felt betrayed in 
another incident. The raja of Rani, a border area in the Kam- 
rup district of Lower Assam, who was in dispute with Tirut, 
had threatened to retaliate upon Nongkhlao people passing 
through his territory to the markets in Assam. Tirut had 
thereupon turned to his new British ally for help--only to be 
told none would be given "unless he first made what repara- 
tion was in his power for the murders and robbery he had 
committed on the Rani people". Moreover, when Tirut 
decided to take matters into his own hands, and assembled a 
force apparently to attack the lowlands of Rani, he found 
that at the request of the Rani raja Captain White had sent 
a body of sepoys to keep the peace.'4 No wonder that to 
Mnhindhnr Rarooah, an honoured ~r i soner~ '  captured along 
with Lt. Redingfield, Tirut indignantly explained : ''Boo- 
roowah Mr. Scott formerly made friendship with me saying 
'your enemy is Company's enemy', and that he would relin- 

'' Ibid. 

'?' B.S.P.C., 26 June, 1829, nos. 1-2, Scott to Swinton, 30 May, 1829. 
.j4 Ibid; B .  S .P. C., 25 Apr., 1829, no. 9, White to Swinton, 8 Apr., 

1839. 
- - 

From h,fahidhar Barooah7s deposition it is clear that Tirut treated 
this Assamese officer with respect. 
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quish the Barduar revenue both in money and paiks. Hc ]!as 
not done it and he has the wish to give troops to my enemy 

7 ,?.-,I3 the Rani Raja to assist him against m e .  
Thus it is clear that Scott's plan to exchange portion of 

"the bold and sterile land in the hills for slices of fertile plain 
below" was most untactfully handled. The supposed bargain 
offered to the hill tribes proved not in the least advantageous 
to them, their newfound ally deserted them in their hour of 
need, and rumour had it, intended to subjugate and tax 
them. While Scott was hearing of conspiracies by Mylliem 
chief, White was informed that Tirut had engineered a large- 
scale plan to drive the English from Assam, and had invited 
the ex-raja, Chandra Kanta to co-operate in the enterprise.;'7 

The  massacre of Nongkhlao was a terrible shock to Scott. 
H e  not only lost two very valuable officers, but now alqo 
began to fear that the incident might induce the government 
to suspend proceedings regarding the sanatorium. H e  also 
feared that after this terrifying event the wives of the Euro- . - 
pean officers would not fancy visiting the hills." H e  became 
revengeful when he came to know the details of the cruelties 
meted out to his friends Bedingfield and Burlton. On 6 May, 
1829 he wrote to Lamb from Mairong : "I never could have 
expected Tirut Sing to act so mad a part; and regret extremely 
that he did not try it before I and Beadon left the place. 
as I am perfectly satisfied, from what I have seen of Cassya 
tactics, that, with our fowling pieces alone, and without the 
aid of the 15 sepahees who accompanied us to Churra, we 
could have defeated Teer~~t ' s  gang. and burnt every village 
in the country".5g Scott, obviously, had a very poor opinio~l 

B.S.P.C., 26 June, 1829, no. 3, Scott to Swinton, 30 May, 1829. 
Mahidhar Barooah's deposition taken on the 17th May, 1829, in the 
Fauzdari Adalat of Gauhati. 

57 T o  counteract this design of Tirut. White summoned Raja Chandrn 
Kanta and others to Gauhati. White wrote that on their arrival he 
would suggest to the raja that ''as a well-wisher to the Company and 
to prevent his name being abused, it would be desirable for him to 
proceed to Goalpara." 
B.S.P .C., 8 May 1829. nos. 9-10, White to Swinton, 14 Apr. 1829. 

58 White's Memoir, App. 22, Scott to Lamb. 10 Apr., 1829. 
'O Ibid. App. 25, Scott to Lamb, 6 May, 1829. 
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of the Khasis' fighting power. "More arrant cowards, after 
6 6  all their boastings", Scott wrote, I never saw, nor a country 

in which the bow and arrow were so entirely useless, 
opposed to fine arms. The only places in which they can 
fight are holes under the rocks. . .They had n lesson long ago, 
on the plains, but still had the folly to suppose themselves 
invincible in the hills; where in reality, as compared with the 
lowlands, the chances are five to one in our fav~ur" . "~  

British retaliation thus began immediately after the mas- 
sacre of Nongkhlao Capt. White with forty sepoys of the 
Rungpore Light Infantry marched for the hills in the early 
morning of 7 April, 1829. A few days later Scott was plan- 
ning to fix a strong military post at Nongkhlao or some other 
place to each the "savages" "to feel that the British power, 
unlike the feeble and distracted government which preceded 
it in Assam, is both able and determined to maintain its 
authority and punish with promptitude those who off end 

9 7  61 against it . He administered "retributive justice"" by cap- 
turing and destroying the Khasi villages one after another, 
at the same time seizing their g ra in .6The  strongholds of 
such ring leaders as Barmanik, were burnt down completely.G4 
A force of Garo mountaineers, chosen for their hardiness and 
ability to withstand the arduousness of a hill campaign were 
sent in under Mirza Bandula, a part of the Sibandi corps and 
forty armed shams, and a sum of one thousand rupees was 
offered for the capture of Tirut!" 

The vigorous policy of reprisals, including the ruthless 
destruction of villages, ordered by Scott, received the approval 
of the Supreme Government. They commented that "what- 

60 16id. For Scott's personal encounter with the Khasi rebels and 
his own superior fighting and strategical skill see App. 5, White's 
Memoir, Lt. Vetch to Col. Watson, 9 Dec., 1831. 
'' B.S.P.C., 25 Apr., 1829, no. 13, Scott to Swinton, 14 Apr., 1829. 
" B.S.P.C., 15 May, 1829, no. 11, Swinton to Scott, 15 May, 1829. 
63 B.S.P.C., 1 May, 1829, nos. 40-43, Scott ot Swinton, 17 Apr., 

1829; 
B.S.P.C., 15 May, 1829, no. 10, Capt. Lister to Scott, 26 Apr.9 

1829. 
64 B.S.P.C., 26 June, 1829, nos. 2-3, Scott to Swinton, 30 May, 1829. 
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ever the original sources of Raja Tirut's enmity may have 
been, that attack was not provoked by any act of violence or 
oppression on the part of the unfortunate sufferers"-and they 
expressed the righteous hope that "the display of our ability 
to punish those who have ventured to offend against us to 
set our power at defiance will have awakened these rude and 
barbarous tribes to a proper sense of their own weakness anti 
the danger they incur by provoking our just resentment"."" 

The result of Scott's measures was speedy. In the begin- 
ning of May Capt. Lister with his detachment succeeded in 
subduing many villages including such strongholds as Lung- 
grin, Mairong and Nongkhlao and Tirut had to move from 
one hiding place to another." By September many rebel 
leaders, including Barmanik of Mylliem and Jabbar Singh of 
Rambrai wished to come to terms:' agreeing to pay to the 
government a fine of four thousand rupees and to cede the 
right of quarrying lime stone on any part of the course of 
the Borapani river." By April 1830 a vast tract had been 
subdued, stretching up  the Assam valley, which included the 
whole of Mylliem, and its dependencies of Rambrai, Myriaw 
and Nongkhlao, except for a pocket lying between Nong- 
khlao and Mylliem.70 They had also occupied certain small 
areas on the southern or Bengal side of the mountains, 
Momlu, Lylanchu, Mosmy, Superpunji, and Byrong." For 
the administration of all these occupied parts of the Khasi 
hills Scott p-oposed that the former chiefs should be reinstall- 
ed, but under sanads granted by the government. The chiefs 
should be liable to punishment for treason or resistance to 

65 B .S . P  .C., 5 June 1829, nos. 6-7. Scott to Swinton, 21 May 1829. 
" B.S.P.C.,  15 May, 1829, no. 9, Scott to Swinton, 27 Apr., 1829; 

B.S.P.C., 26 June, 1829, no. 4, Swinton to Scott, 26 June, 1829. 
" B.S.P.C., 22 May, 1829, no. 1, Scott to Swinton, 5 May, 1829. 

" B.S.P.C., 28 Aug. 1829, no. 21, Scott to Swinton. 14 Aug., 1829. 
'q.S.P.C., 18 Sept., 1829, no. 1, Scott to Swinton, 5 Sept., 1829. 
'O These lands belonged to twelve different lyndows or confederated 

chiefs of Sohiong etc. who remained neutral during the last distur- 
'bances. 
" B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 49, Scott to Swinton, 9 Apr., 1830. 
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British authority and to removal in the case of continued 
opposition. In such an event the leading persons in the coun- 
try would be required to assemble and elect new chiefs, sub- 
ject to the approval of the British government. The restored 
chiefs were to be entrusted with the administration of justice 
for all but capital offences. These he proposed, might be tried 
before an assembly of chiefs to be held twice a year when he 
went to hold the circuit at Sylhet. He proposed that in the 
present state of the country they should not be subjugated to 
the payment of any revenue. Instead he proposed to impose 
upon them fines equivalent to the expense and trouble they 
had occasioned, five thousand rupees from Barmanik, three 
thousand from Jabbar Singh and two thousand from the raja 
of Myriaw. The Nongkhlao district was restored to the minor 
Rajjan Singh upon the same terms. Finally some of the most 
elevated and fertile spots were set apart, under direct British - 
control, for future use.72 Scott's measures were whole-heart- 
edly supported by the government, the greatest reliance being 
put on his local knowledge and experience in regard to the 
chnracter, disposition, habits and usages of the hill tribes.13 

The complete subjugation of the refractory Khasis was 
achieved only in 1833;' when the long and harassing war was 
brought to a close. That, of course, was two years after David 
Scott's death. But Scott had succeeded during his life time, 
in bringing peace to almost all the hills." The outrages, 
murder and depredations which occurred in the last year of 
his career (1831) were restricted to the duars, such as Pan- 
tam, Bogy and Bongaon, where the Khasis were joined by 
the G a r ~ s . ~ ~  The cause of these late troubles was the strict 
control now exercised over the duars by the British, who 
thereby deprived the Khasis of the illicit emoluments they 

7".P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 49, Scott to Swinton, 9 Apr., 1830. 
73 B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 50, Swinton to Scott, 7 May, 1830. 
7". R.T. ,  Gurdon, op. cit., p. XVI; Physical and Political GCO- 

graphy, p. 87. 
75 Bengal : Past and Present, Vol. XI, 1829, p. 108. 
76 B.P.C., 11 Feb., 1831, no. 27, Scott to Swinton, 12 Jan., 1831. 
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had been in the habit of levying under the Assam government 
in the form of ceremonial and other illegal cesses." 

The only course which Scott thought could advantage- 
ously be pursued in such cases, was that of reducing to sub- 
jugation the tribes bordering on the duars who had been 
perpetrating the outrages and who were at present indepen- 
dent of British authority. Scott proposed the establishment 
amongst them of the same sort of internal government as had 
been maintained amongst the Garos of the North-East parts 
of Rungpur since 1817." Scott was pretty certain that the 
duars would pay double the existing revenue, about a thousand 
rupees if they were secured against the aggression of the hill 
tribes. He therefore employed sham musketeers, under the 
command of the ~ n s i ~ n - ~ r o d i e  who succeeded by April 1831 
in subduing the marauding tribes of the duars.7' The reduc- 
tion of the whole of the principal chiefs to the westward of 
Nongkhlao was thus accomplished after a lightning three 
weeks c a m ~ a i ~ n "  and although death of the man" who had 

77 B.P.C., i l  Feb., 1831, no. 28, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 17 Jan., 
1831. 

Under the Assam government the estates forming the duars had 
not paid any regular annual revenue but large sums were extracted 
on the occasion of a new chiefs' accession, raised by levies on the 
people, while the tribes were bound to furnish pait; for the public 
service. These labour demands were commuted to a money payment, 
a few working paits only being retained for local purposes. But 
although the revenue was fixed at a very low rate and reductions 
made in favour of the chiefs in some cases amounting to nearly fifty 
percent upon the jama, few of them had been able to fulfil their 
engagements owing to their total incapacity for business and the 
roguery of their servants. Their failure led to the temporary attach- 
ment of several of their estates, a proceeding which ultimately led to  
catastrophe. 

B.P.C., 11 Feb., 1831, no. 28, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 17 
Jan., 1831. 

79 B.S.P.C., 20 May, 1831, no. 35, Scott to Swinton, 29 Apr., 1831 
and Brodie's report, 6 Apr., 1831. 

B.S.P.C., 20 May, 1831, no. 36, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 
29 Apr., 1831. 

Brodie died in the last stages of this campaign. About his 
character, courage and determination Scott wrote thus : "It is a 

F. 14 
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struck them with such terror might tempt some of them to 
break their agreements, Scott was sure that in the main they 
had a sufficient lesson not to repeat the act." The successful 
conduct of the campaign by Brodie with a few irregulars 
convinced Scott of the suitability of his similar measures on 
the Sadiya frontier. He wrote to Swinton thus : "With a 
party of forty-two men Ensign Brodie had in fact, nearly 
accomplished in three weeks, what several companies of 
Sepahees were unable to attempt in two months; and it 
appears to me, that the successful result of this small expedi- 
tion becomes of no trifling consequence, when it is considered 
that we have on this frontier a boundary line of about one 
thousand and five hundred miles in extent, the whole of 
which is subject to similar depredations to those that led to 
the late military operations in Assam, while owing to the un- 
healthiness of the climate and other local circumstances it 
may fairly be considered indefensible by means of our regular 
troops."83 

grievous thing to lose such a noble spirited officer in such a way. 
But he may be truly said not to have died in vain, since he has clearly 
indicated the means that we should in future adopt in the petty 
warfare that may be expected occasionally to take place with the 
rude tribes encircling a frontier of one thousand and five hundred 
miles in extent. . . 

. . .I am inclined to count the high character, that he has estab- 
lished amongst our Cassya friends and foes of European courage, 
activitv and perseverance, qualities which they are naturally led to 
value very highly and which when conjoined, as in the present instance, 
with a kind and conciliatory demeanour, would have given this 
young man a most powerful influence over their minds and rendered 
him a very efficient instrument for their ultimate reclamation. This 
loss could not indeed be adequately supplied were the whole Army 
picked for the purpose since they were united in him in an extra- 
ordinary degree of personal activity, a complete contempt for privation 
of every kind, and an enthusiasm in favour of the mountaineers and 
high esteem for the bright part of their character, that would have 
enabled him completely to win their hearts". 

B.P.C., 20 May, 1831, no. 36, Scott's private letter to Swinton, 
29 Apr., 1831. 

82 Ibid. 
83 Ibid. 
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From Scott's military operations in the Khasi hills and 
his opinions about the Khasi rebels two things emerge with 
sufficient clarity : that he failed to appreciate the indepen- 
dence of the Khasis and that in a conflict between the strong 
and the weak he inclined more towards the latter. The first 
is ~ a r t l y  explainable due to the cold-blooded murder of Lts. 
Bedingfield and Burlton by the Khasis, which he considered 
to be an act of sheer cowardice. The second can perhaps be 
taken as yet another aspect of his paternalism. I t  remained 
his firm conviction, all through, (hat the hill tribes were 
basically very cruel people. But in the case of the Garos when 
he discovered that the latter had been more wronged by the 
unscrupulous zamindms of the Bengal plains, he was all in 
sympathy with them. His poor opinion of the zamindars and 
his intense dislike of the permanent settlement itself, might 
have helped him to be objective in the case of the Garos. In 
the conflict between the Khasis and the Assam malguzars 
Scott obviously took the side of the latter. He did make 
enquiries about the validity of the hill chiefs' claim to the 
border revenue. But the fear of losing some amount from the 
revenue of Lower Assam and the sufferings of the Assamese 
border villages at the hands of the Khasis seemed to have 
influenced him more in taking the steps he took which ulti- 
matelv created doubts in the minds of the hill chief about the 
nature of the British friendship. 

3. Plan of European Military Cdonie .~  

The insurrection and rebellions could not suppress Scott's 
indomitable zeal for developing the Khasi hills. Indeed, he 
went bsvond his original ideas for developing sanatoria for 
invalid ku~opean soldiers in the Khasi hills, to the grandiose 
imperial vision of planting European military colonies 
therein. 

When Scott had first drawn attention to the cool, healthy 
climate of the hills, he had thought of them as useful for sana- 
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toria but otherwise barren.84 But by the beginning of 1830 they 
had been found suitable for growing many European crops, 
and larger uses began to suggest them~elves.~' As early as in 
July 1827 he discovered that comparatively speaking, Cherra- 
punji was a healthier place than Nongkhlao and planned to 
bring about further improvement to that place." An agreement 
had already been reached with the Duwan Raja of Cherrapunji 
in September 1829 by which the raja agreed to cede a portion 
of his territory, east of Cherrapunji, for building houses by 
the Companya7 and meanwhile three houses were built there, 
capable of being converted, at little expense, into barracks for 
forty European invalids. The friendliness of the people of 
Cherrapunjiss had much impressed him, and he therefore 
hoped that he might also be able to canton a company of 
European troops there, though the land had been given on 
the understanding that it was for the reception of  invalid^.'^ 

For this rather underhand move Scott gave two reasons- 
& &  that by the presence of a European company - an impression 

would be made upon the mountaineers, in regard to further 
resistance, which could not perhaps be produced by any other 
means", and that "it would restore a more complete degree 
of subordination and discipline amongst the native troops on 
this frontier than has hitherto prevailed".'O In further expla- 
nation of the importance of the latter reason Scott cited the 
symptoms of disorder among the sepoys in Assam, displayed 
at various times in the last few years. The conduct of the 46th 

B.P.C., 7 May, 1830, no. 49, Scott to Swinton, 9 Apr., 1830. 
Ibid. 

86 White's Memoir, App. 15, Scott to Lamb, 18 July, 1827. 
87 C. U. Aitchison, op. cit., p. 172. 
s8 Scott had special respect for the people of Cherra. The Khasis 

of Cherrapunji saved his life and he was so grateful that he never 
violated the compact then arrived at that "the independence of the 
Khasis of Cherra should always be respected". 

G. Bertrand, Secret Lands Where Women Reign, p. 157; White's 
Memoir, App. 22. 

B.P.C., 18 June, 1830, no. 52, Scott to Swinton, 4' June, 1830. 
B.S.P.C., 16 Apr., 1830, no. 34, Scott to Swinton, I2 March, 1830- 
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Regiment at Rangpur in 1825;" of the Assam Local Corps in 
August and September of 1828, and that of the detachment 
of the 54th under the command of Lt. Comie in May 1829, 
had made the matter so serious that this second point could 
not be o v e r l ~ o k e d . ~ ~  

More detailed plans soon followed in swift succession, and 
meanwhile Scott's ideas were strongly advocated by Secretary 
Swinton to the governor-general-in-council. Stressing Scott's 
idea of teaching the native soldiers the lessons of discipline 
and obedience, Swinton observed "our only force in Sylhet 
is composed of Manipurians. These men haJe always behaved 
well and on one occasion in particular gave strong proof of 
their fidelity when tempered with by a chief of their own 
tribe. But it may not be prudent to trust too implicitly to this 
feeling of loyalty".g3 

Scott had also detailed to Swinton his proposals for a 
sanatorium. Cattle might economically be purchased in the 
breeding districts and then driven in large herds up into the 
hills, "where in addition to the advantages of good pasturage 
for the cattle the manure produced would render it practic- 
able to raise abundant crops of vegetables for the use of the 

1, 94 troops . T o  take charge of this operation he recommended 
Fenwick, who was already accustomed to dealing with the 
hill  people^.^' These measures, too, Swinton pressed upon the 

On 15 October, 1825, about 37 men of the Grenadier Company 
of the 46th Regiment stationed at Rangpur approached the pay 
havildar and stated that if they were ordered to march towards 
Assam they would refuse, beca"se of the mortality from sickness 
there. It was only through Col. Richards' personal influence that 
the sepoys agreed to march and it was also due to him that the death 
sentences against the ringleaders were not executed. See A. Barat, 
T h e  Bellgal Native Infantry, pp. 221-222. 

" B.S.P.C., 16 Apr., 1830, nos. 3-4, Scott to Swinton, 12 March, 
1830. 
93 B.P.C., 18 June, 1830, no. 57, Swinton's note, 15 June, 1830. 
')q.P.C., 25 June, 1830, no. 44, Scott to Swinton, 11 June, 1830. 
" This Fenwick was the same Fenwick who had shown keen 

interest in Scott's mission centre for the Garos. As that venture had 
hllen through eventually, Scott perhaps wanted to use his agricultural 
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Council, urging that there should be "no obstacles for a fair 
trial of the experiment and a steady officer in command of 
20 or 30 invalids with an assistant surgeon should be sent up 
in boats to the foot of the hills from which they would reach 
the sanatorium in one day's march"." 

A few days later on 24 June, 1830, Swinton placed before 
the Council all of Scott's correspondence, public and private, 
regarding his plans for the hills. Scott had assured him that 
forty European soldiers could easily be kept supplied at 
Cherrapunji" : provisions could he brought by boat from 
Sylhet for no more than five annas a maund, while black 
cattle in excellent condition could be brought on the spot for 
eight to ten rupees a head, and cattle of an inferior descrip- 
tion for much less at the foot of the hills. Scott also reported 
that potatoes, turnips and beetroot could be produced in such 
abundance in the higher regions that they could be profit- 
ably used for feeding cattle during the winter months. 
Wheat was found to thrive and judging from the results of 
some experiments the land was considered probably capable 
of producing opium at a cheaper rate and of a better quality 
than in any other part of the Company's territ~ry.~'  

It would seem that these assertions about the agricultural 

and horticultural expertise in this new project. In fact as early as 
in July, 1827 when Scott was planning to improve the road from 
Nongkhlao to Cherra by means of a party of Assamese convicts he 
was also thinking in terms of putting Fenwick in charge of the 
improvement works in Cherrapunji. See White's Memoir, App. 15, 
Scott to Lamb, 18 July, 1827. 

" B.P.C., 18 June, 1830, no. 57, Swinton's note of 15 June, 1830. 
In Scott's letter of 9 April, 1830 to Swinton he described Mylliem 

as yet another healthy place. The  tract comprised about twenty to 
thirty square miles of the most elevated portion of the country. This 
he thought would be a most advantageous site for a cantonment for 

< 6 European troops the ground very tolerably level and the soil appa- 
rently capable of producing the European grains, fruits and vegetables 
as well as of affording good pasturage for the cattle." 

B.P.C., 2 July, 1830, no. 2, Swinton's note of 24 June, 1830. 

g8 Ibid. 
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capabilities of the hills were based upon experiment, for Scott 
had privately established a farm at Mairong, run with govern- 
ment convict labour, to ascertain, upon a larger scale what 
could be grown. This venture he had begun without govern- 
ment's sanction, for on 4 June, 1830, he applied for the waiv- 
ing of the restriction upon land holding by British officers 
and for retrospective approval for this use of convict labour." 

Scott also suggested that experiments should be under- 
taken to discover whether horses suitable for military pur- 
poses could be bred in the Khasi hills more cheaply than 
was practicable elsewhere. In the Nongkhlao and Mylliem 
districts he saw several hundred square miles of good pasture 
land, unoccupied and likely to remain so, which although 
not rich, were quite suitable for breeding black cattle and 
horses. "The object of the experiment would not be" Scott 
said, "to breed horses of the best description since such will 
bear the expense of housing and constant attendance, but to 
ascertain whether cattle fit for military service could be bred 
at a much cheaper rate than is elsewhere practicable". He pro- 
posed that a stallion and a sufficient number of young brood 
mares should be sent by water to Sylhet so that they could 
be kept in the neighbourhood of Mairong where after being 
acclimatised they could "be turned loose in parks or even 
without enclosures with a few sheds for shelter during rainy 

9,100 weather . In a private letter to Swinton Scott observed : 
"The object of being independent of foreign supply for 
horses is one of such consequence that I should suppose 
Government would be disposed to try any experiment that 
holds out a reasonable chance of effecting it, and I must say 
that of all the countries I have seen in India including the 
Tirhoot and present stud districts I think this by far the most 
promising". Scott was so eager for the experiment that he 

99 B.P.C., 2 July, 1830, no. 2, Scott to Swinton, 4 June, 1830; B.P.C., 
13 Aug., 1830, no. 65, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 17 July, 1830. 
It should be mentioned that along with some other vegetables potato 
too was first introduced by Scott in the Khasi hills. 
loo B.P.C., 2 July, 1830, no. 2, Scott to Swinton, 4 June, 1830. 



216 DAVID SCOTT IN NORTH-EAST INDIA 

even promised to undertake four superintending visits a year 
to the place if the plan were authorised.lo1 

Before the Government's decision on Scott's proposals a 
party of experts visited Cherrapunji and inspected the work 
done by Scott for invalid centres. Scott had not only built 
accommodation for forty invalids, but had also put up two 
small cottages, to be hired by oficers or by private indivi- 
duals. H e  was very hopeful about government's approval 
and on 20 May, 1829 he wrote to his friend Lamb : "A very 
favourable report made by Fisher and Tucker on the coun- 
try about Churra Poonjee, I am in hopes, that Government 
will now take some decisive steps for the establishment of a 
Sanarary [Sic] and I have written to recommend, that a 
Surgeon be appointed to take charge, and carry into effect 
whatever arrangements may be necessary to render it speedily 
and extensively available to the public".lo2 As in the case of 
the Garo mission Scott was very choosy about the type of 
person to be appointed as surgeon. "Much will, however 
depend", he wrote to Lamb, "upon the person who may be 
appointed to superintendent it, as he must not only be of good 
medical repute, but also capable of keeping the visitors, or 
their followers, in order; mediating any differences that may 
arise between them and the fiery mountaineers; and what- ,, 103 ever else may be required to give efficacy to the plan . 
Clearly, as in the case of the missionary, here too he needed 
not iust a medicalman but a medicalman-cum-diplomat. 
Scott was, in fact, inducing Lamb to join him in the ven- 
ture. "In your hands", Scott wrote, "I know the experiment 
would have a fair trial, while, to Lady visitors, Mrs. L's pre- 
sence would prove a powerful means of attraction; and pr* 
bably soon collect all that seems wanting to render the place 

79 104 a delectable residence, an agreeable society . 

lo' B.P.C., 2 July, 1830, no. 2, from Swinton's note on Scott's letter, 
24 June, 1830. 
lo2 White's Memoir, App. 9, Scott to Lamb, 20 May, [18291. 
lo3 Ibid. 
lo4 Ibid. 



HIS IMPERIALISM 217 

Scott's hopes came true. To  most of his measures Govern- 
ment approval was granted. Mr. Fenwick was appointed 
superintendent, surveyor and commissariat agent for the in- 
valid centre, at two hundred rupees a month. The Rengal 
commissariat was instructed, in conjunction with Fenwick, 
to provide a supply of rum, tea, sugar and other necessaries 
for forty European invalids. By a resolution of 29 June, 1830, 
these were ordered to be selected from the artillery at Dum- 
dum and sent by water, without delay, to the sanatorium 
at Cherrapunji. The officer commanding the party was 
placed entirely under the orders of Scott, who was to guide 
his conduct towards the chief and people of Cherrapunji. 
With the party was also sent a medical officer, Assistant- 
Surgeon Rhodes, who was to keep a regular meteorological 
journal, and to watch and report on the effects of the cli- 
mate on the health of the men under his charge.''' 

, Scott's plans for establishing a European military canton- 
ment were certainly a topic of interest to the Calcutta Coun- 
cil for this was the time when men like Bentinck and Met- 
calfe were giving serious thought to the task of strengthen- 
ing the European hold on British India. In October, 1829, 
Metcalfe thought exactly in the same way as Scott did, when 
he opined that "the most obvious method of improvement 
but that hitherto much disputed, is the admission of Euro- 
peans to settle and hold property in India. Their settlement 
has never been entirely prohibited, and latterly has been 
facilitated and encouraged; but the removal of the remaining 
restrictions on their lawfully acquiring and holding property 
is necessary; and for their satisfaction the cessation of the 
power possessed by the Government of sending them out 
of the country is indi~~ensable" . '~~ Lord Bentinck himself 
was unhappy about "the disproportion between the European 
and Native army" which. ncc~rd ing  to him. was "quite un- 

lo5 B.P.C., 2 July, 1830, no. 1, Minute by the Governor-General, 
W . C .  Bentinck concurred and signed by Dalhousie and W .B .  Bay- 
ley, 26 June, 1830. 
lM Bentinck Papers, PwJf 2479. Extract from Sir Charles Metcalfe's 

Minute of 11 Oct., 1829. 
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intelligible in point of policy".Io7 Lord Bentinck approved of 
Scott's plan to establish a stud farm in the hills. and he also 
sanctioned the leasing of further houses to private indivi- 
duals. But though whole-heartedly behind the invalid station, 
he ignored, for the time being, the question of posting a 
European force in cantonment at Cherrapunji. Rather he 
pinned his hope of establishing control and discipline upon 
the presence of the European invalids and the belief that 
"unshackled by the prejudices of caste, the Cossya High- 
landers may readily amalgamate with the European com- 
manders and their physical temperament may better qualify 

9, 108 them to serve in the same ranks . 
In all this Bentinck was supported by his councillors Bay- 

ley and Dalhousie, the C-in-C. But Charles Metcalfe, also 
of Council, took a diametrically opposite view. He thought 
most of Scott's proposals were pema.ture, except for his plans 
to station a native force at Sylhet and to establish a Euro- 
pean cantonment in the Khasi hills.lO' Metcalfe, as we have 
mentioned earlier, had been thinking seriously since 1829 
about the fate of the British empire in India. In October of 
that year he reminded the government of the disparity bet- 
ween the Company's native and European army and its conse- 
quences : "Our whole real strength consists in the few 
European Regiments, speaking comparatively, that are scat- 
tered singly over the vast space of subjugated India. That is 
the only portion of our soldiery whose hearts are with US, 

and whose constancy can be relied on in the hour of trial. 
All our native establishments, military or civil are the £01- 
lowers of fortune. They serve us for their livelihood. and 
generally serve us well.. .but in their inward feelings they 
partake more or less of the universal disaffection, which pre- 
vails against us, not from bad government, but from natural 

lo7 W. C . Bentinck's marginal notes on Metcalfe's minute of 11 Oct., 
1829, Bentinck Papers, PwJf, 2479. 

'OX B.P.C., 2 July, 1830, no. 1, W .C. Bentinck's Minute, 26 June, 
1830; Bentinck Papers, PwJf, 2791, 1830. 

lo" .P .C., 2 July, 1830, no. 3, Metcalfe's Minute, 2 July, 1830- 
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'7 110 and irresistable antipathy . Metcalfe therefore commenting 
that he would rather see "efficient soldiers sent to that coun- 
try than invalids", argued that a cantonment would be 'en- 
tirely unobjectionable and highly desirable for the purpose 
of giving confidence to our well affected subjects on that 
frontier, where considerable alarm prevails apparently from 
the want of sufficient force". H e  could think of only one 
drawback in pushing a European force into the Khasi hills : 
that "if a force of that description be posted for the purpose 
of overawing the native inhabitants the withdrawing of it, 
when required for service elsewhere, might become the signal 

,,I11 for insurrection . 
Thus, although Scott's proposal in June 1830, for a Euro- 

pean cantonment, was not at once accepted, he was asked by 
Bentinck to submit a separate despatch pointing out what 
previous arrangements should be made, and what means 
might be available on the spot for the construction of tempo- 
rary barracks. Scott was advised to discuss such matters with 
Lt. Fisher of the Quarter-Master-General's Department, 
whose long employment on the Sylhet frontier woild enable 
him to supply much useful information."' 

At  the time when Scott was making arrangements for the 
sanatorium he was also envisaging much bigger things in 
the hills. T h e  demonstration of such practical details in his 
earlier despatches soon seemed nothing but preliminaries to 

6 6 the unfolding by him of views of a more general and 
extended nature". What Scott set out next was nothing less 
than a review of the essential basis of British power in India, 
a review of "the peculiar circumstances, military, political 

' 9  113 and financial, of the Indian empire . 

'lo Bentinck Papers PwJf 2479. Extract from Sir Charles Metcalfe's 
Minute of I1 Oct.. 1829 in reply to W.B. 's  letter on the subject of 
Lord Ellenborough's questions. 

11' B.P.C.. 2 July. 1830, no. 3, Metcalfe's Minute, 2 July. 1830. 
Bentinck Papers, PwJf 2791, 1830, Swinton to Scott. 29 June, 

1830. 

'I3 B.P.C., 13 Aug., 1830, no. 72, Scott to Chief Secretary, 21 July. 
1830. 
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Scott began from the basic position that the British had 
so weak a hold on their Indian possessions that its strengthen- 
ing should at all times be receiving serious consideration. In 
particular, serious consideration should always be given to 
their double edged weapon the native sepoy army, at once 
their main strength and weakness. About the sepoy army, 
he argued, there were two opinions current. One was that 
the sepoy army was a match for any enemy, capable of mak- 
ing a competent defence even against a major western power: 
those who held such a view based it upon parade per- 
formance and the brilliant success of the Indian army in the 
past. The second view was that the sepoys were unfitted for 
such a task and incapable of withstanding the rough treat- 
ment they would receive at a western power's hands : to this 
attitude the evident disorganisation into which much of the 
native army had fallen contributed, and the evidence provided 
by the Burmese campaign that neither the Bengal nor the 
Madras sepoy could be depended on to carry an entrench- 
ment in face of any show of resistance."' 

Whichever attitude was correct, the situation was full of 
danger. If the sepoys could meet Europeans on equal terms 
then they were, in fact, masters of the country and govern- 
ment. They would soon come to know their power from the 
liberal press and other instruments adopted to enlighten the 
people. If those who believed the sepoys to be a broken reed 
were right, then they could not be relied upon for defence 
against foreign attack, and even for ordinary service they 
must in reality be less efficient and more expensive than 
European troops. The remedy for either situation was an 
expansion of the European portion of the army until it was 
more equal in number to the native force.l15 

The stumbling block in the way of such a plan was, as 
Scott saw, the financial cost. It was as a means of surmount- 
ing the financial obstacle therefore that Scott put forward 
his plan for European settlement in the Khasi hills. He ask- 
ed whether "it might not be practicable to substitute for 

114 Ibid. 115 Ibid. 
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regular troops, European military colonies which af tcr  a 
comparatively trifling outlay of not exceeding 100 rupecc ller 

77 116 man would be able to maintain themselves . Considering 
the existing state of the population of Great Britain anti Ire- 
land Scott felt that the means of procuring men lay readv to 
hand : many would come willingly if offered easy terms. 
The colonies could be promised an ample supply of all the 
necessaries of life, and even luxuries, in retllrn for working 
three hours a day for the state. They would be provided 
with land and stock, which would remain the property of 
the state, but from the produce of which they would support 
themselves and provide in part at least for the maintenance 
and payment of their officers. During the period of their 
engagement they would be subject to strict military discinline, 
but after the expiration of this period they might be enabled 
to receive a certain portion of land and a small stock of cattle. 
Further hints on the organisations of the colonies might be 
drawn, Scott suggested, from the practice of the Russian 
government."' 

The colonies, he made clear, should be of a purely military 
character and ordinary settlers should not be admitted unless 
they became subject to military law. The sole object in view 
should be "to provide at a small expense a large body of 
European troops for the defence of the British Indian Empire 
and no inferior considerations should be allowed to interfere 
in any way with its accomplirhment in the most certain 
and perfect manner".l18 Were one such colony provided in 
the Khasi and another in the Nilgiri hills, places where five 
to ten thousand men might readily be located, it would be 
quite possible, he believed. to dispense with the whole of the 
regular European force then posted in the Bombay and Madras 
presidencies, and in Bengal and ~ihar.'" 

Stokes has commented upon the authoritarian strain in 
utilitarianism revealed by its advocates in India. The   hi lo so- 
phy expressed by Scott reveals a most intriguing blend of 
authoritarianism and imperialism. Writing about the ultimate 
r 

ll6 Ibid. 117 Ibid. Ibid. ll@ Ibid. 
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l~olitic31 collsrqurilcrs of establishing such colonies, he said : 
"If a government strictly military were maintained, the 
children would be brought up with those notions of obedience 
to authority which it is desirable that with reference to the 
object of the establishment they should always continue to 
retain and if at any future period they should from their 
increasing numbers and military training become formidable 
their energies might always be conveniently directed to the 
eastward where the foundation of a fourth presidency would 
afford them employment for which it is not likely that with 
such neighbour as the Burmese and Siamese justifiable ground 

,7120 would ever be wanting . 
Scott was not content with posing major problems of the 

British presence in India, and with enunciating a philosophy; 
he backed up his proposals with a detailed examination of 
the mechanics of his plan. He set out the way in which the 
Khasi hills might be made productive enough, within four 
or five years, to maintain any number of European troops 
which it might be thought desirable to settle there. He had 
already mentioned the ease with which supplies, especially of 
animal food, might be conveyed by boat from Bengal to the 
foothills. He now sought to show that the hills might be made 
independent of the lowlands for every description of produce 
not purely of tropical 

The first step in his plan would be to stock the country 
with twenty thousand black cattle. These could be easily and 
cheaply acquired in the Bengal presidency and could be 
transported to the hills, in the course of a couple of years, at  
trifling expense. If so many were not at once obtainable then 
a start could be made with half that number of cattle, which 
should be branded and distributed among the natives of the 
Khasi hills, in herds of one or two l l u n d r e d ~ . ' ~ ~  These native 

Ibid. 

121 Ibid. 

122 Scott proposed such a distribution so that "the government offi- 
cers should not be embarrassed with the details of a large establish- 
ment". 
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herdsmen should be rewarded for their services by giving 
them all the bull calves, government retaining all the heifers. 
Inspectors would be placed over every ten to twenty such 
herds, charged with branding the calves and preventing any 
gross negligence or fraud by their keepers. Soil and climate 
being very favourable the cattle would increase and multiply, so 
that the government's part of the stock, the females, might be 
expected to increase at the rate of one quarter of the whole 
number per annum. At that rate, even supposing one eighth 
to be killed annually for the use of the troops there would 
still be a progressive increase of another eighth Lpon the whole 
existing stock which would consequently be doubled every 
sixth year. The  annual slaughter of one eighth of the stock, 
as the cows ceased to be productive, would provide regular 
supplies for the troops at no further expense to the government. 
Scott told the government that they should not consider his 
reasoning to be based on vague grounds but rather on past 
experience. Even better results had been repeatedly obtained 
in less favourable conditions in New South Wales and other 
c010nies.~~" 

Scott then developed his theme of agriculture, which would 
simultaneously flourish. The  large quantity of manure pro- 
duced by each herd of cattle would naturally be applied to 
arable farming, and in a country so thinly populated a great 
comparative addition would thus be made to the produce of 
the soil if not at first in the shape of the European roots and 
grains, at least in that most productive of all corn crops, 
maize, already grown abundantly even without the use of 
manure. The  speedy extension of this and other crops without 
any proportionate increase of the native population would 
make it possible to use some for the feeding of pigs and 
poultry, for which a ready market would be found, first in 
the preliminary cantonment and then in the colony. Scott 
elaborated in detail how this would help to solve the food 
problem. His plan was by the gratuitous distribution to the 
best native cultivators of two or three thousand swine to 

12Q.P.C., 13 Aug., 1830, no. 72, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 21 
July, 1830. 
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increase this species of stock so as to provide for the supply of 
a very considerable portion of the food required for even a 
large body of troups. At the expiration of the fourth year-when 
the first batch of oxen become fit for the market-this body 
might be increased to two thousand men. For these men there 
would then be available annually, prodr~ced in the country 
itself, a supply of two thousand cows, twenty five hundred 
oxen and any number of hogs, progressively increasing. The 
oxen and the hogs would be the property of the natives and 
the meat would of course be purchased. But as there would 
be no effective demand for them except on the part of the 
government the price would necessarily be low, and the whole 
cost of beef and pork would riot in all probability amount to 
one half of what for the time being was paid below.12' 

All these plans and calculations were then set out in a 
table, showing the estimated cost and return involved in 
preparing a site in the Khasi hills for two thousand European 
troops 'or colonists. 

Purchase of 10,000 cows . . Sicca Rs. 70,000 
-do- 200 bulls . . 1,600 

-do- 30 English bulls to im- 
prove the breed-at 
Rs. 300 . . 

Commission and charges of 
conveying them to the hills 

Building for the cattle 100 
sheds at Rs. 100 each . . 
-do- for the Superintendent 

Charges for superintendence 
for 4 years . . 

Purchase of swine etc. to be 
distributed to the cultivators 

Seeds etc. . . 
Total outlay Sicca Rs. 144,300 
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Add interest on 120,000 rupees Sicca Rs. 144,300 
for 4 years . . 28,800 

Sicca Rs. 173,100 
Deduct the value of 4,000 

cows killed for the use of 
the troops . . 32,000 

Remaining net charge at the 
end of the 4th year . . Sicca Rs. 141,100 

Subsequent charges 
Interest on Rs. 150, 000 at 6 

per cent . . Sicca Rs. 9,000 
Superintendence a£ ter the arri- 

val of the troops at Rs. 1,000 
per month . . 12,000 

Buildings and contingencies . . 7,200 

Total annual charges after the 
4th year . . Sicca Rs. 28,200 

Savings to be effected by the arrangement after the 4th year 

Extra insurance on the lives of 
2,000 men valued at 100 
each at 4 per cent . . Sicca Rs. 80,000 

Savings on the rations of 2,000 
men at Re. 1 per man . . 24,000 

Annual increase of stock esti- 
mated at 118 progressively 
increasing but in this year 
would be about at 7 rupees 

Total annual saving Sicca Rs. 114,500 

Deduct preceding charge 28,200 

Remaining net savings annu- 
ally . . Sicca Rs. 86,3N 

F. 15 
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The above included only the stock farming but Scott said 
that it would of course be desirable to have also a brewery 
.and distillery and four mills to be worked by water. The 
.estimated charge for the erection of these would be about 
sixty thousand Sicca rupees which would be repaid by a 
further net annual saving of about twenty per cent on the 
current outlay. However, he thought these would not be 
.absolutely necessary for a force of only twenty thousand 
men.125 

This plan for the improvement of the resources of the 
Khasi hills and their greater suitability for a European can- 
tonment was found satisfactory by the government,126 but 
before they could give a final shape to his plan and carry it 
out, Scott's attention was diverted to the troubles of Upper 
Assam. His death, soon after in August, 1831, put an end to 
the whole concept of European military colonies in the 
Khasi hills. 

Since the beginning of the nineteenth century there had 
been many Europeans who not only regarded that coloniza- 
tion was possible but also urged it as a valuable way of 
strengthening British connection with India.12' A pater- 
nalist administrator like Metcalfe had also been advancing 
since 1815 such suggestions of admitting British nationals 
to settle down in India for a speedier economic development. 
In 1827 and 1829, he also expressed his belief that the tenure 
of British rule in India being precarious European coloniza- 
tion would ensure the stability of British rule by creating a 
class of people in India, with common interest with the 
British government.12' In 1830, governor-general ~entinck 
also accepted that "the diffusion of useful knowledge, and 

Ibid. 
Bentinck Papers, PwJf 2791, 1830, Swinton to Scott, 5 Nov., 

1830. 
12' In 1804, a writer in the Edinburgh Review (ER IV, 1804, p. 

305) declared that there could be no better way of ensuring the 
continuance of British power in India than to have a large number 
of Englishmen settled there who would keep the natives in subjection- 
See Embree, op. cit., p. 166. 

See D. N. Panigrahi, op. ch., p. 102, and pp. 103-4n, 111-112. 
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its application to the arts and business of life, must be com- 
~aratively tardy unless we add to precept the example of 
Europeans mingling familiarly with the natives. 3,129 It is no 
wonder therefore that Scott's concrete proposals for the 
European military cantonments in 1830 were of interest to 
both Metcalfe and Bentinck. It was only around that period 
that the question of ultimate defence of the Indian empire 
came under serious study and Metcalfe, who among the four 
paternalist stalwarts was the last to leave India in 1838, was 
naturally exposed to the changing time. Even Malcolm, who 
was still in India in 1830, was not free from the fear of the 
British losing the Indian empire due to its defence weak- 

L & nesses. India when he left was, as he put it, as quiet as 
gunpowder".l"O The  imperial sentiment, seen among the 
reformers of the Bentinck period, was actually the outcome 
of their liberal and humanitarian attitudes. In their task of 
introducing reforms, the reformers did not and could not 
advocate an immediate end of Britain's connexion with 
India.'" The  Munro School Paternalists who were not averse 
to reforms, and who did bring about many reforms them- 
selves, were naturally not wishing to see the end of the 
British dominion before they completed their tasks. 

The  establishment of military coloilies for the ultimate 
defence of India, actually remained a subject of serious dis- 
cussion throughout the nineteenth century. In 1832, when the 
parliamentary discussion on the renewal of the Company's 
charter took place we find the Company's tenure of India 
compared to a "gigantic tree, its trunk and branches of vast 
strength, but resting merely by pressure of its superincum- 

9 ,  132 
bent weight instead of having shot its roots into the earth . 

""entinck's Minute, 30 May, 1829, see Embree, op. cit., p. 166. 
'" Quoted in Maj.-Gen., D . J  . F . Newall, 'Millitary Colonization as 

a Reserve for India' in The Highlands of India : St!-ategicallv con- 
side]-ed u'ith dp~cial refer-ence to t hril. co lonizntiorz as Reserve Circles, 
p. 2. 

G .  D. Bearce, op. cit., p. 180. 
Lt. Col., D. J .F. Newall, 'On Military Colonization of the 

Mountain Ranges of India', United Service Institution India Proceed- 
ings, Vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 1-35. 
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In 1844, Sir Henry Lawrence in his essay on 'The Military 
Defence of Our Indian Empire' advocated partial coloniza- 
tion especially for military settlers. The hackneyed simile of 
the 'inverted pyramid' had often been applied throughout 
the nineteenth century and in the last quarter of that century 
even the military personnel of position joined the debate 
with concrete proposals as to how to set about the question. 
On October 30, 1872, Lt. Col. (Later Major-Genl.) D. J. F. 
Newall delivered a lecture 'On  Military Colonization of the 
Mountain Ranges of India' at the United Service Institute for 
India at Darjeeling where he pleaded for the establishment 

- - 
of military villages in the mountain ranges of India. 
After giving the political aspects of the military establish- 
ment in the ~ i ~ a l a ~ a n  ranges, of sanatoria and military 
colonies, Newall said in the voice almost similar to that of 
Scott some forty years before : "Whether Providence has 
willed our occupation of this foreign soil to be lasting, who 
can say ? At present, we have no permanent grasp on it; 
and regarding our future from the standpoint of historic 
study, it seems possible, that the day may eventually arrive 
. . .when the great British nation, strong and firm as it may 
believe itself to be, perhaps at present is, may have to relin- 
quish its grand Asiatic Dependency and retire within the 
limits of its own Ocean Island Home". "In such a contin- 
gency", Newall concluded, "what better source to fall back 
on than military colonies in Himalayan and other mountain 

9' 133 ranges of India from which to form a Reserve Force . 
In suggesting the use of the hills for European military 

colonies, Scott certainly was one of the pioneers and being a 
frontier officer of extensive military knowledge and diplo- 
matic skill, the zeal of an expansionist was also not lacking in 
him. However, judging from his policies and pronounce- 
ments on matters concerning the valley-for one does not 
know what would have been his policy towards the Khasis 
in the post-rebellion period-his difference with the imperi- 
alists of the later period134 is distinct. In spite of he too being 

133 Ibid., pp. 5-7. 
13' For the sources of the revival of imperial sentiment in British 

attitudes after 1828, see G .D. Bearce, op. cit., Ch. VII. 
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conscious of European superiority, it was not this mainly 
which goaded him to find out ways and means to maintain 
the empire. A paternalistic humanitarian ground was also 
present. But one thing is however clear-at least in the case 
of his scheme in the Khasi hills-that like other reformers 
he too seems to have accepted that prerogative of imperi- 
alism-"that of determining the future of a foreign people 
without that people really participating in or consenting to 

9 9  136 this proposed future . 



VIII 
THE PATERNALIST DISSECTED 

DAVID SCOTT'S career for long stretches was filled with 
multifarious military, diplomatic and administrative tasks, 
following in quick succession, which constantly took him to 
new headquarters. He  had little time for elaborate theoretical 
discussions of the problems of British rule in India. Neverthe- 
less from the measures he took and the manner of their 
application, and from his letters and reports, it is possible to 
see the main features of his philosophy of government. 

When Scott first came out to India the glow of Wellesley's - 
expansive imperialism still coloured the scene and Scott him- 
self was early involved in Lord Hastings' continuation of that 
policy of subjecting the whole Indian peninsula to British 
power. Scott, in his frontier field, proved as ready as Malcolm 
or Metcalfe to think in large imperial terms. He came into 
prominence while opening diplomatic relations with Bhutan 
and Tibet. He  played a leading part in advocating a forward 
policy in the Assam valley, Cachar, Jaintia and Manipur. In 
October, 1823, he not only urged that offence would be the 
best means of defence against Burmese encroachments, but 
strongly recommended that even if the existing differences 
with the Burmese government were settled amicably, certain 
parts of their newly acquired territories towards the Company's 
Bengal frontier should be demanded from them. Scott must 
share responsibility therefore, for Amherst's ill-conducted1 
war against Burma, though his own part in it went 
reasonably well. It was Scott's hope that Lower Assam 
would yield a substantial revenue, and that the internal 

' "The 'Arracan fever' (a particularly virulent malaria) and other 
disease claimed the real victory for in five months alone 259 Euro- 
peans out of 1,599 and 900 out of 1,000 Indian died and in the month 
of September, 1825, 400 Europeans and 3,600 Indians were in has- 
pital." See M. Edwardes, T h e  Neces~ary HeN, p. 47; see also G. D. 
Bearce, op. cit., pp. 50-51. 
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divisions in an area never fully subjected to Ahom admi- 
nistration would make the assimilation of the Kamrup 
district easy, that led him to press upon the Supreme 
Government the inadvisability of an Ahom restoration in 
the lower Brahmaputra valley. Once retention had been 
decided upon Scott was led by the difficulties of river 
communication from Bengal, to advocate a land link from 
Sylhet to Gauhati through Jaintia and the Khasi hills. This 
in turn led to the vision of European military colonies in the 
hills, which would assure British dominance in India, and 
perhaps in Burma, making Assam the centre of a fourth 
P r e ~ i d e n c ~ . ~  With this imperial concept also went that of 
trade through Assam to Burma and to China, for this was a 
period when the new needs of British industry were giving 
a new purpose to imperialism. 

In these imperialistic attitudes, Scott was at one with such 
other great figures as Munro, Malcolm, Metcalfe and 
Elphinstone. Though he never served under any one of these 
four, and though the records provide no evidence of any 
close association with them, he also shared other ideas and 
opinions with them. Like them he was conservative and 
paternalist, opposed to the attempt to assimilate and anglicise 
everything traditionally Indian. He shared with them a 
distrust of the Cornwallis system, revolting in particular agai- 
nst the elevation of the zamindar class occasioned by the 
Permanent Settlement. By making them a part of the nobility, 
disrespect had been shown to the original institutions of Indian 
society and the peasantry had been harmed : "The only 
nobility acknowledged under the Mohamedan dynasty", 
Scott said, "was that of office; and I believe no part of our 
system has given more general discontent than the undue 
elevation which the class of zm~indars had attained from 
their great wealth, the officers of government of inferior 
ranks such as seristadars, tehsildars, dewans, etc. having 
formerly been considered  superior^".^ This passage can be 
compared with that of Metcalfe's who wrote on the same 

See supra, p. 222. 
Asiatic Journal, Vol. 7, 1832, p. 137. 
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subject thus ". . .we destroyed all the existing property in 
land, by creating a class of proprietors to whom we reck- 
lessly made over the property of others".' And if the intro- 
duction of English notions of the landowners had damaged 
Indian society, so would the introduction of English law. 
Scott foresaw that it would be the common people of India 
who would suffer. "There can be no greater mistake" he said 
"than to suppose that the lower classes are better protected 
in England than in India. The fact is, that in the former 
country they are entirely destitute of any rights or possessions 
of which they can be deprived, so as to give them any cause 
for complaint. Whoever hears of a day labourer wanting 
the protection of the law ? He receives his daily hire, and 
pays for his hut or quits it, ifxhe be ill-used, and has no concern 
with courts of law or occasion for their protection. I fancy 
the people in this country, if they ever obtain what it is the 
fashion to call the benefits of the English law, will find 
themselves in the situation of the frogs who prayed for a 
king, and at length got a stork set over them".5 Alike in 
the Directors' attack upon slavery, and in the application of 
the Cornwallis system, Scott saw-just as the Munro school 
did-"the ignorant application of a pn'ori political ideas 
without regard to the history and circumstances of Indian 
society"! 

Scott was also at one with Elphinstone, Malcolm, Metcalfe 
and Munro in wishing to conserve native institutions. He 
was as full of admiration for the popular ~olitical institutions 
of the Khasis, as ever Metcalfe was for his "village republics", 
or Elphinstone for those Maratha communities which "contain 
in miniature all the materials of a state within them~elves..."~ In 
Assam he not only sought to use native juries and native judges 
for both civil and criminal cases, but even supported a system 
of popular election of revenue  collector^.^ All this was ~ossible 

See R. Muir, The Makit?g of British India, 1756-1858, pp. 191-192. 
Asiatic Journal, Vol. 7, 1832, p. 137. 
E. Stokes, op. cit., p. 15. 
See  R. Muir, op. cit., p. 286. 
B.F.C., 30 May, 1833, nos. 89 and 93. 
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because of his liberal conservatism which not only enabled him 
to understand the indigenous institutions but also modify them 
when required. In the era of 'Peace, Retrenchment and Re- 
form' -whell came most of his administrative measures for 
the newly conquered Assam-such understanding and adjusti- 
bility helped the government enormously. A description of the 
judicial administration of Lower Assam immediately after its 
occupation of the British troupe will prove the point : 

In 1826 due to a considerable backlog of civil suits at 
Gauhati, Scott established three native courts mainly for the 
civil suits under five hundred rupees. These courts were to 
be presided over by a judge, an Assamese othcial with judicial 
experience under the old regime. One of these was to exercise 
the powers vested in a munsif in the Bengal province, another 
to exercise the powers vested in a sadr amin for the original 
suits and deciding appeals from the munsif and a third, with 
similar powers to the second, to decide in criminal cases of 
minor consequences and to hear appeals from the rajas, chau- 
dharies and other malguzars all of whom in accordance with 
the custom of the country exercised judicial powers in their 
respective parganas. Scott also decided to adopt the original 
Assamese custom-as he put it--of appointing assessors, three 
to each court, with the idea of putting a check on the chief 
judge and also speeding up the business.' These courts were 

The  composition of and the monthly expenditure on these courts 
.were as follows : 

Court no. 1 : A rajkhowa . . Narayani Rs. 60 

Three assessors . . Rs. 102 
establishment and 
contingencies Rs. 72 

Rs. 234 
Court no. 2 : A barphukan Rs. 150 

Three assessors . . Rs. 102 
establishment and 
contingencies Rs. 72 

Rs. 324 
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of great success and Scott therefore suggested to the govern- 
ment in 1828 that capital cases might also be referred to his new- 
ly formed civil courts at Gauhati since the Government had not 
arrived at any decision about extending the authority of 
Nizamat Adalat to Assam.'' I t  was Scott's intention from the 
very beginning of the British occupation of Lower Assam to 
annex it permanently to British Indian territory. H e  therefore 
wanted that that part of Assam should be under the jurisdiction 
of the Nizamat Adalat so as to solve the problem of deciding 
the ever-increasing criminal cases. But the government's inde- 
cisiveness about the retention or restoration of Assam, its in- 
ability to recruit any European officials for judicial business in 
Assam, and the gravity of the situation caused by the piled 
up cases-all combined to make Scort suggest to the government 
to trailsfer the criminal cases also to his newly built native 
courts. H e  had no doubts that the native couris would prove 
equal to such an added responsibility and status. H e  pointed 
out that in his experieilce it was generally easier to come to a 
decision in cases of murder than in less serious cases, in which 

Court no. 3 : A b a ~ p h u k a n  Rs. 150 

Three assessors . . Rs. 102 
establishment and 1 

coiltingencies Rs. 72 

Rs. 324 
A Bengali nzuharrir 
two sarishtadars 
for preparing } Rs. 72 
monthly reports 

A Nazir and Peons Rs. 25 

Total Narayani Rs. 979 

or Sicca Rs. 616 

B.S.P.C., 16 Feb., 1827, nos. 2-3, Scott to Swinton, 30 Dec., 1826. 
T h e  barphukans and rajkhowas were ordinarily governors of particular 
territories and they also administered justice in their allotted districts. 
See, Bhuyan, Anglo-Assamese Relations, p. 10. 

lo B.S.P.C., 2 May, 1828, no. 11, Scott to Sterling, 29 Mar., 1828. 
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the parties might have stronger reasons for attempting to con- 
ceal the truth.'' 

The acting governor-general at this time (1827-28) was 
Butterworth Bayley, who throughout his Indian career hat1 
been known for his liberal views, views which dominated the 
judicial reforms of William RentinckJ2. Under his influence 
the government in 1828, had already come to believe that "the 
administratinn of Civil Justice will be promoted and improved 
by enlarging the powers at present exercised by the native 
judicial  officer^".'^ T h e  government however thought that in 
augmenting the powers of the native functionaries. a gradual 
extension would be a better procedure than any "violent 
innovation on the established system which might suddenly 
elevate the native judge to the possession to the full extent of 
jurisdiction which before had only been entrusted to European 
officers".14 It  was a government already moving in Scott's 
direction which now agreed to Scott's plan to use the native 
civil courts at Gauhati for the trial of capital offences. but 
with the following 'essential' provision : that the sentences of 
the native courts should be submitted for Scott's revision and 
sanction.15 Before determining, however, whether the iurisdic- 
tion of the Nizamat Adalat should be extended to Western 
Assam, under Regulation X, 1822. the Government desired to 
give a full and fair trial to Scott's own plan which thev 
considered "novel and interesting".16 In Mav, 1828. the 
government came to a more downright decision. announcing 
that. after the fullest consideration the governor-general-in- 
council had concluded that in the present state of the counrrv. 
it would be premature and inexpedient to introduce the 
authority of the Nizamat Adalat into Lower Ascam under 

l1 Ibid. 
l2 B. B. Misra, T h e  Central Administration 01 the Enit India Conr- 

pany, p. 83. 
l3 Bentinck papers, PwJf 2736, memorandum on changes in  the 

administration of civil justice. 

l4 lbid. 

'' B.S.P.C ., 7 March 1828, no. 8, Swinton to Scott, 7 March 1828. 
l6 Ibid. 
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provisions analogous to those of Regulation X, 1822. An 
efficient system for the dispensation of criminal justice in 
Assam, generally, would be best provided for by using to the 
full those tribunals and institutions which Scott had "very 
judiciously revived and put in action, subject to the central 
revision and superintendence of the British officers vested with 
the course pursued in other lately conquered territories. The 
government reminded Scott that neither Arakan, the Tenas- 
serim provinces nor the older possessions of Delhi and the 
Narbadda territory were subject to the jurisdiction of the 
Nizamat  Adalat.' 

It was therefore in Scott's scheme of administration to share 
power and authority with the natives of India. He  might well 
have penned Malcolm's letter to Wynne, quoted by Stokes, 
saying: "With respect to raising natives both in the fiscal and 
judicial line, I am of the same sentiments as Sir Thomas 
Munro. . . I desire to share the Aristocracy of Office with the 
natives of India.'"' Scott's wish to preserve an Ahom State in 
Upper Assam was another aspect of the same basic policy. He 
.saw that in Kamrup, under British rule, a new class of 
officials must necessarily be introduced : an Ahom state in 
Upper Assam would make that provision for the native 
aristocracy which could not be made in Lower Assam. As 
has been seen in Chapter V, Scott believed that the native states 
had their strengths as well as their weaknesses, and that their 
traditional institutions, properly supported, could be made to 
work very well.'' What was perhaps novel, was Scott's dislike 
'of the system of subsidiary alliances with such states, by which 
the Company committed itself to non-interference in the 
States' internal affairs. In Upper Assam he was very anxious 
t o  strengthen the native safeguards against autocratic misrule, 
and to make British government the guardian of the 

l 7  B.S.P.C., 2 May 1828, no 13, Sterling to Scott, 2 May 1828. 

IS Stokes, op. cit., p. 16, no. 2; See also R. Muir, op. cit., p. 284. 

'"tokes points out that this was the attitude of Munro, Malcolm and 
Elphinstone-though not of Metcalfe. See Stokes, op. cit., p. 21. 
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In Assam, Scott was in favour of a paternal, non-regulation 
administration. One reason for relinquishing Upper Assam 
was the desire-to keep the Company's possessions in Assam 
within his own personal compass. Scott believed, like John 
Lawrence, for instance, that the officer must know his division 
intimately.'' In Rangpur, in the Garo or Khasi hills, in Assam 
Scott was indefatigable in personally touring his charge, and 
he expected his officers to do likewise. He also believed that 
the laws and procedure used should be of the simplest kind, 
based as far as possible on native customs and institutions. 
With this went Scott's stress upon personal accessibility and 
the maintenance of easy communications between officials and 
private individuals : White's Memoir makes clear how very 
fully Scott practised what he preached in this regard. 

Such a svstem placed great strain upon the officials who had 
to work it, yet perhaps the most notable and consistent factor 
in all Scott's career was the scantiness of the European agency 
with which he had to work. Much of the criticism of Scott's 
measures might properly be laid at the door of a parsimonious 
government, which left Scott to manage vast areas with a 
mere handful of assistants. A quite typical situation was that 
of February, 1830. The ravages of the river Bornadi, which 
had devastated a tract of land yielding a revenue of some 
twelve thousand rupees, compelled Scott to go to the Darrang 
district to revise the settlement. This meant abandoning the 
sessions being held in Svlhet. for the only European official to 
whom Scott could have transferred his duties was the Collector 
of Lower Assam, and he was a!ready deeply involved in the 
overwhelming criminal business of his office.21 Later that 
year both White in Lower Assamz2 and Neufville in Upper 
Assamz3 stressed their need for English assistants-but the 
Supreme Government not only failed to provide them, but 

20 M. Edwarder, The  Necerrary Hell : Iohn and Henry Larur.ence 
and the Indian Empire, p. 131. 

21 B.P.C., 5 March, 1830, no. 61, Scott to Swinton, 9 Feb., 1830. 
22 B .P .C., 7 May 1830, no. 54, Scott to Swinton, 21 Apr. 1830. 
23 B .P .C., 28 May 1830, no. 82, Neufville to Scott, 17 Apr. 1830. 
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showed itself reluctant even to grant Neufville a boat 
allowance.24 

An anonymous author in the Calcutta Review commen- 
ted 1113011 another difficulty facing administrators like Scot t, 
White and Neufville-that of their isolation. The writer 
pointed out that "having quitted home when almost boys, 
with no superiors to look up to, no equals to associate with, 
no public opinion to regard", such men had only the facility 
of "measuring themselves among themselves and comparing 
themselves among thern~elves".~' The only factor in Scott's 
favour was that he had at his command a band of carefully 
selected and very devoted subordinates. He  commanded 
their respect and affection26 and in return did all he could 
to secure recognition and reward for their merits. If John 
Lawrence offered the tempting prospect of early promotion 
to his s~bordinates,2~ Scott constantly pressed their achieve- 
ments upon the attention of the Supreme Government and 
their claims for increased allowances. Thus in 1821 he is 
found pressing Kishen Kant Bose's claim to an increase after 
his successful journey to Bhutan and extolling the vdue of 
his "Account of Bhutan", and grammar and vocabulary of 
the Bhutan language.28 In 1824, while acknowledging his 
own liberal treatment as political agent, he points out that 
Captain Davidson has at times "in my absence to officiate 
in that Department" adding "and I need not say that his pay 

" See supra, p. 138 

2"~lcutta Review, Vol. 19, 1853, p. 423. 'Assarn since the expulsion 
of the Burmese'. 
" This can be gathered from some of the correspondence between 

Scott and his friends appended at the end of White's Memoir. Scott's 
lasting friendship with his associates in Assa111 administration can 
also be discerned from the following fact : In December, 1831, the 
friends of the late Lts. Bedingfield and Burlton of Rengal Artillery 
and Beadon, assistant surgeon, Bengal establishment, sought permission 
to inscribe a tablet on the tomb which was to be erected by the 
government, to the memory of David Scott. See B . P . C .  23 July 
1832, no. 116, White to Swinton, 22 Dec. 1831. 

27 See M. Edwardes, The Necessary Hell, pp. 131-132. 
28 B.C. Vol. 810121724, pp. 12-13, Scott to Swinton, 21 Sept. 1821. 
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-military and civil-is quite inadequate".'" And in 1831 he 
stresses under what difficult circumstances his officials have 
to act, in a backward country like Assam."' Unhappily most 
of Scott's earlier associates in the conquest and administra- 
tion of Assam were lost to him. Redingfield and Burlton, 
who were engaged in the survey of the Khasi hills and were 
in charge of the building of the road and the sanatoria, 
Readon, the assistant surgeon who had been looking after 
his health since his illness turned serious in February 1827,"' 
Brodie, the young officer conducting so gallantly the military 
operations against the rebellious Kl~asis,~' and Neufville in 
whose safe hands he could leave the whole administrative 
burden of Upper Assam for no less than four years33-all 
fell a victim either to the hostile climate or situation of the 
frontier. 

A second aspect of Scott's administration and one which 
might seem rather at variance with his wish to conserve 
Indian institutions, was his interest in Christian missions. 
Stokes has contrasted the "expansive and aggressive attitude" 
towards Indian society displayed by the Utilitarians and 

29 B.S.P.C., 22 Oct., 1824, no. 12, Scott to Swinton, 1 Oct., 1824. 
30 R . P  .C., 10 June 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 18 May, 

183 1. 
31 B .P.C., 16 March 1827, no. 57, Scott to Swinton, 14 Feb. 1827. 
32 See supra, p. 209, n. 81. 
33 The following extract from one of Scott's despatches written 

towards the end of his life extolls Neufville's qualities as an admini- 
strative officer and his deeds in Upper Assam. 

"With an officer in charge possessed of Capt. Neufville's experience 
and talents the state of things was not of such material consequence, 
since complete reliance might be placed upon his local knowledge and 
discretion while his zeal to carry into effect the instructions of his 
superiors even when he himself doubted the propriety of the measures 
directed, formed one of the most striking features of his official 
character. The  whole of these valuable qualities cannot however be 
looked for in his successors, some of them being unattainable for at 

9 9  least a considerable time after appointment. . . 
B .P.C., 10 June 1831, no. 50, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 18 May, 

1831. 
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Evangelicals and the paternalist conservatism of the Munro, 
school. With that school Scott obviously had much in 
common, yet in 1825 he appealed to the Supreme Govern- 
ment to bring missionaries to the Garo hills, which he pre- 
sented as a most promising field for conversion. Scott's early 
and long maintained relationship with William Carey has 
already been noticed; in his last few years he had also been 
in close contact with Colonel Adam White, his colleague in 
the administration of Assam, who was a staunch supporter 
of missionaries. Again, since Scott had entered the service, 
there had been a steady change in the Company's avowed 
policy towards the missionaries from an early hostility to. 
that of acceptance. To that changing climate of opinion 
Scott had, of course, been exposed. 

However, we have seen that his evangelism was not that 
of an authoritarian type. He associated the Garo priests in 
his projects. He proved equally ready to make use of the 
Brahmins in Assam, for in 1826 he requested the Supreme 
Government to sanction considerable land grants to the - 

pandits, whom he wished to use to revive education in 
Assam. He had found education at a very low ebb, the old 
Ahom system having been nobody's business since the 
Burmese invasion and the younger generation having 
consequently received little or no education. If the govern- 
ment was to find ca~able men for its service the situations 

L 

required immediate attention.34 Scott therefore proposed that 

34.  The language taught in Scott's newly-established schools was 
Bengali. H e  believed that it differed very little from Assamese; it 
was obviously well suited to the administrative needs; it was already 
the language of the Assamese intelligentsia (B.P.C. 25 Oct. 1826, 
nos. 21-22, Scott to Swinton, 9 Oct. 1826, Swinton to Scott, 25 Oct. 
1826). Another probable reason for introducing Bengali was that the 
intelligentsia of the Assam of his time having had their higher educa- 
tion in Bengal, were already well versed in Bengali. Jugyuram 
Phookan's translations of English prose and poetry into Bengali had 
already caught the eye of the intelligentsia of Bengal, and the 'literary 
exertions' of Haliram Dhekial Phookan, who had written a history of 
Assam in Bengali had already been highly acclaimed by the Bengali 
press. (see Asiatic Journal, Vol. 7 ,  1832, p. 84, Progreds of the Arts in 
Assam; M.C.L.R.M. ,  Vol. 12, 1819, pp. 19-20, Eighth Memoir 
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six hundred puras (1,800 bighas) should be assigned for the 
support of pandits or schoolmasters, in Lower Assam. Under 
the recently introduced system these lands would pay some 
six hundred rupees revenue a year : this he proposed to remit 
in return for service as schoolmasters. The custom of the. 
country had been to make such grants to individuals, resum- 
able on the death of the grantee or upon his ceasing to per- 
form the Scott proposed to allot from twenty to fifty 
puras of land, in twelve or more convenient situations, to 
pandits who would then be required to teach a specified 
number of pupils, upon pain of resumption of the grant. 
Such payment in land rather than cash would be "much less 
onerous to the government and would prevent a good deal 
of trouble in the transmission to distant parts of the country 
of the schoolmasters' salaries, while it would be more con- 
genial to the habits of the people and past customs of the 
c o ~ n t r v " . ~ ~  

J 

Since government had already showed its interests in his 
educational plans:? Scott went on to propose that these 
schoolmasters should be put under the superintendence of the 
chaudhuries and other officials of the different parganas, who 
would report whether the proper number of pupils were be- 
ing taught. As overall superintendent he wanted a pandit of 
more than ordinary acquirements who would visit the differ- 
ent schools in rotation and report periodically the progress 
made by them. It was also arranged to send down an intelli- 
gent Assamese to Serampore with a view to getting him 
instructed in the mode of teaching lately introduced in the 
neighbourhood of Cal~utta.~'  

It is true that Scott also sought missionary assistance, and 
through the veteran William Carey in 1829 he secured the 

Re~pecting th r Translations and Editions of the Sacred Scriptures, 
by the Serampore A4issionaries. no. 17 The Assamese). 

85 B.P.C. ,  25 Sept. 1826, no. 19, Scott to Swinton, 25 July 1826. 
'13 B.P.C. ,  25 Oct. 1826, no. 21, Scott to Swinton, 9 Oct. 1826. 
'' B .P.C ., 15 Sept. 1826, no. 20, Swinton to Scott, 15 Sept. 1826. 
'' B.P.C. ,  25 Oct. 1826, nos. 21-22, Scott to Swinton, 9 Oct. 1826, 

Swinton to Scott, 25 Oct. 1826. 
F. 16 
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aid of James Rae, ordained at Serampore."!' Scott was anxious 
to establish a school for native girls at Gauhati, and this work 
he placed in the hands of Rae and his wife.40 But his appeal 
for missionary help seems to have sprung quite as much 
from his appreciation of the educational problem, as from 
desire to see the Gospel taught. It was in no Evangelical 
frame of mind that he called upoil Serampore to supplement 
the work of his Assamese pandits. 

By subsidising the Nilachal temple of Kamrup, Scott 
further showed how little affected his own religious beliefs 
were by the Evangelical spirit. One of the chief objects of 
the Evangelical missionaries was to secure from the govern- 
ment the disconnexion of the British power from the support 
of temples and Hindu and Muslim religious  festival^.^^ Scott 
took aAvery different line, for when a Tax upon pilgrims to 
the temple proved unproductive, he pressed upon govern- 
ment, in July, 1827, the appropriateness of a government 
grant.42 This the authorities seemed reluctant to a l l~w, '~  
but in September Scott wrote again pointing out that grants 
for Durga Puja had always been made by the Ahoms, and 
had been increased by the Burmese. He  continued to dis- 
burse Rs. 1,121 a year for the p~rpose .~ '  In 1831 to meet 
government objections, he proposed an alternative, "If Gov- 
ernment had however any objection to the charge for the 
expenses of the temple appearing in the public accounts", he 
wrote, "this might be carried by relinquishing, and appro- 
priating to that purpose the revenue, levied at present on the 
temple paiks and lands which amounts to Rs. 1,002 per 
a n n ~ m " . ~ "  

39 V.H.  Sword, op. cit., pp. 36-37. 
40 Calcutta Review; 1853, Vol. 19, pp. 427-430. 

Ingham, op. cit., p. 33; Embree, op. cit., p. 249; Stokes, op. cit., 
p. 29. 

42 B.S .P.C.,  17 Aug. 1827, no. 44, Scott to Swinton, 28 July 1827. 
43 B.S.P.C.,  17 Aug. 1827, no. 45, Swinton to Scott, 17 Aug. 1827. 
44 B . S . P . C . ,  26 Oct. 1827, no. 17, Scott to Swinton, 12 Sept. 1827. 

B . P . C . ,  29 Apr. 1831, nos. 36-37, Scott to the Chief Secretary, 
16 Apr. 1831. 
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The third marked feature of Scott's attitude to the whole 
question of moral and material progress is his interest in very 
~ractical  improvements in the agriculture4' and handicrafts of 
the frontier peoples. Scott being the nephew of Director David 
Scott it might be thought that if he was not very close to the 
Evangelicals he was perhaps to be identified with those free- 
trade interests47 who in the early nineteenth century became 
increasingly interested in opening Indian markets to British 
manufactures and in educating and reshaping Indian society 
so as to raise the purchasing power of the Indian population. 
But there is little more evidence that Scott wished to refashion 
and anglicise Indian society for commercial than for religious 
ends. His was a paternalist concern for those under his 
charge, and a keen personal interest in the mechanic and 
scientific arts. 

Thus in dealing with the Garos one of Scott's earliest 
concerns was with the orderly marketing of hill cotton, and 
at a later date he is found recommending that money be 
spent upon clearing obstructions from the beds of the small 
rivers leading from the Garo hills into Rangpur, and upon 
the making of a track way along the southern bank of the 
Brahmaputra. (Government granted UP to fifteen hundred 
rupees for the former and five thousand for the latter)." 
His very detailed plans for the introduction of European 
crops, and the establishment of herds of cattle and pigs in 

46 Scott's interest in agriculture may have been due to a tradition of 
agricultural pursuits in his mother's family for in Epitaphs and 
Inscriptions from Burial Gmunds and Old Buildings in the North 
East of Scotland the following sentences, about Scott's & & maternal grand- 
father, Dr. Chalmers, are very significant : H e  was passionately 
fond of agricultural pursuits, and he is said to have devoted quite 
as much time and attention to the cultivation of his farm at Selattie 
as to the discharge of his Accademical duties. In Kaye's curious print 
of "The Sapient Septernriri" he is represented in the act of addressing 
his colleagues in these words : 'Agriculture is the noblest of sciences, 
llliild your globes-the Emperor of China is a farmer'." See A. Jervise, 
op. cit., pp. 393-395. 

47 See Stokes, op. cit., pp. 37-47. 

J .  L .  B . ,  26 July, 1826, Vol. 9, paras 167-169. 
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the Khasi hills have been noted in Chapter VII. His hopes 
of trade from Assam into Burma, and his diplomatic and 
financial efforts to foster it have also been reviewed," as have 
the practical aspects of his proposals for a mission station in 
the Garo hills. We have also seen how in 1830, a year before 
his death, he was passionately pleading for g~vernment '~ 
assistance in developing Assam's silk industry.60 The im- 
provement of Assam's agricultural and commercial resources, 
in fact, engaged his mind completely during the last few 
years of his life. The letter in which he mentioned the deve- 
lopment of Assam silk was written on 17 April, 1830. A year 
later, on 18 May, 1831, he warned the government that unless 
some such measure was sanctioned immediately, it would 
continue to hold Assam in future 'on no very secure tenure'. 
H e  said that such an eventuality would be unfortunate for 
he strongly believed that at no great expense Assam could 
be "made capable of rivalling the richest parts of Asia in the 
value of its agricultural produce".61 According to Scott the 
attainment of commercial prosperity should be the main 
concern of the government here, and he therefore, empha- 
sised the need of imparting technical education. Although he 
was pleased that the government agreed to his earlier pro- 
posal of reviving the traditional education of Assam, Scott's 
considered opinion, however, was that the interests of the 
inhabitants of Assam would be best served "by instructing 
them in useful arts, such as carpentry, husbandry and the 
like". Assam in his time was "a country where boats continue 
to be made from the trunks of trees, where the use of saw, a 
wheel carriage, or even a beast of burden is unknown, where 
the natives cannot make marketable butter, sugar or oil and 
where half [the] surface of a rich soil, capable of ~roducing 
every article of tropica! growth lies waste, and is considered 
absolutely worthless from ignorance of the means of 

40 See supra, pp. 124-128. 
60 See supra, pp. 104-111. 
51 B.P.C., 10 June, 1831, no. 50, Scott to Chief Secretary, 18 May, 

1831. 
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making use of it".52 HOW to break through such stagnation 
then ? Scott said that "in the ordinary state of political socie- 
ties these matters would be naturally regulated by the wants 
of individuals" and the arts there would be progressively 
improved along with "an increase of national wealth and 
intelligence". But "when a government is placed so very far 
in advance of its subjects in point of information as in our 
case in Assam", Scott argued, that introduction of improve- 
ments there should not be left to "chance" or to "ordinary 
progress of events" and should be brought about by the 
government "with certainty and at once".53 

Scott's whole career, from the early days when he attract- 
ed attention by the ability and zeal displayed in opening 
communications with Bhutan and Tibet, till his death as first 
sole Commissioner of Assam, had been spent in the north- 
east frontier of India. For three decades the Indian govern- 
ment had placed ever increasing reliance upon his ability and 
judgment and had continuously laid larger and heavier bur- 
dens upon his shoulders. Scott, on his part, had showed an 
increasing understanding and affection of the people he was 
called upon to administer. He noted and accepted the good 
in Indian society, he was unwilling needlessly to change, 
though, as over the prospects for Assam silk, he could be 
passionate in pursuing improvement. He ended, as many of 
the great adininistrators did, by identifying himself with the 
interests and the good of the people under him, by being 
truly paternalist. 

" Ibid. 
63 Ibid. 



APPENDIX C 
Statistics o n  the  Land  Revenue of Upper  A$sum from 1825/26 t o  1830131 in Sicca 1-upeesl 

- -- 

Balance of the 
Year Demand Proposed deduction * demand to the Actual receipts Total 

treasury disbursements* * 
A G C  A G  C A G C  A G C 

1825126 139616 10 -6 -2 52695 1 -6 -4 85921 9 0-2 28057 11 14 3 
1826127 145832 11 16 1 58911 2 15 3 86921 9 0 2 46072 14 12 2 
1827128 143167 11 15 0 55343 5 16 2 86924 5 0 0 38835 14 11 0 
1828129 153835 14 4 0 4982% - - - 104013 14 1 - 78452 10 11 - 
1829130 155232 13 6 0 49372 6 - -  105860 7 6 - 100000 - - - 
1830131 159000 - - - 49687 8 - - 109312 8 - -  estimated 

rcceipts 
109312 8 - -  

A G C  
27834 7 9 3 
40731 6 10 7 
61695 6 9 1 
36166 5 9 1 
52943 7 1 + 
expected 
disburse- 
ment 
48496 - - - 

-- -- - -- 

I B.P.C., 10 June, 1831, nos. 51-57, enclosure to Scott's letter of 18 May, 1831. 
* The deductions were as follows : 

27% of paik revenue allowed by Scott to the Kheldars collecting revenues. 
Amount allowed for the maintenance of indigent noble, brahrninr and others not holding Khels. 

** The disbursements were as under the following heads : 
Adawlat Fauzdari and Dewani. 
Jail establishment and diet of prisoners. Thannah establishment. * Revenue establishment. 
Post office expenses. Contingent expenses. Inefficient balance. 
Commissioners and Surgeons salary. (appeared in 1826127 and 1827128 only). 
Pol. Agent and Asstt. Pol. Agents Salary (appeared in 1828129, 1829/30 and 1830/31). 



APPENDIX D 

Extracts from Scott's report on the Garos, 20 August, 1816' 

Having just received an extract from Doctor Buchanan's 
Journal from which I perceive that that gentleman has 
already submitted to Government a more full account of the 
extent, general appearance and natural productions of the 
Garrow Country and of the manners, customs and religious 
opinions of the inhabitants than I am prepared to give, I 
shall limit my observations on these heads to points which 
have either not been noticed by him or in which the inform- 
ation we received may differ materially. 

The whole tract inhabited by the Garrows is well-known 
to be mountainous, and naturally covered with thick forests; 
but a considerable proportion of the land amounting perhaps 
to one-third part of the whole, has been cultivated even on 
our frontier and I am informed that the country in the 
interior is much more populous and in a still higher state of 
improvement. The principal rivers which flow in to this 
District from the Garrow Hills are the Doodnyee, the Kist- 
nyee and Jynaree and the Kalloo Nuddee and of these the 
Kystnyee and Jynaree are navigable for canoes for about 
forty miles above their junction with the Burhumpootur and 
twenty beyond the boundary of our territories. 

Although this country for a mountainous one, is rather of 
easy access than otherwise the jealous habits of the Garrows of 
the interior and their ferocious treatment of strangers of 
every description renders it so dangerous to attempt visiting 
their villages that little is certainly known respecting them, 
but to the whole are said to be divided into various Tribes 
of which the principal appear to be the following. The 
Nooneas who live in the Assam frontier, and are governed 
by Rajahs. The Hannahs who inhabit the country south of 
Habraghaut. The Abings bordering on Mechparrah Kaloo- 
malooparah and Kurreebarree and the Koch who are said to 
inhabit the country east of the latter pergunnah. 

Paras 8-28, B.C.J.C., 27 Sept., 1816, no. 47. 
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Besides the divisions of their society occasioned by the 
localities of the country which naturally separate the inhabi- 
tants of the different valleys, the above-mentioned tribes are 
divided into clans, each supposed to be descended from a 
common ancestor and these again are subdivided into 
branches of the family, still more closely connected together, 
who usually inhabit the same parah or hamlet some of which 
are also occupied by the descendants of strangers who at vari- 
ous times have settled with the consent of the clan upon 
their lands. 

The ~ossessions of a clan seldom exceed three or four coss 
in lengtL and breadth and are nominally the property of the 
lineal descendants in the female line of the first occuDant 

I 

or settler on the land who according to the ideas the Garrow 
entertain relative to real property must also have been a female. 

The name of this first settler has in most cases been given 
to the stream upon the banks of which the original hamlet 
was built and with the addition of the affix Gurree is used 
to denote the whole of the possessions of the clan. Her 
representative is called the ~ u h a r e e  and her husband the 
~ b h u r r ~  Lushcur and to the southward the Bhoohurjaum 
and in right of his wife the person is considered as the chief 
of the clan, but the privileges attached to this dignity have 
been modified by circumstances in so many ways in different 
parts of the country that it is almost impossible to say gene- 
rally in what they at present consist. 

By the laws of succession, established amongst all the 
Garrow tribes bordering on our territories, the daughters 
inherit the whole of their parents' property, the sons being 
sent to live with their wives upon whose relations they be- 

- 

come entirely dependent for a provision. 
Of the daughters if they are more than one, the favourite 

V 

is selected by her parents to succeed to their property after 
the death oC her mother and is married to one of the sons 
of her father's sister who is supposed to be chosen on account 
of his superior fitness to maintain the rights of the Muharree 
and to inform the resources of the family. The other 
daughters receiving small marriage portions are either settled 
near the paternal dwelling and remain dependent upon the 



heiress and her husband or from separate establishment for 
themselves in which cases new hamlets gradually arise 
around their abodes each of which bears in future the name 
of the female first settling in it with the affix parah. 

The laws of succession operating during the course of 
many centuries on an agricultural people of simple and 
frugal habits exempted their situation from the ravages of 
foreign invaders and annually exporting a considerable 
quantity of the surplus produce of their country have neces- 
sarily produced a great accumulation of wealth, chiefly in the 
families of the Maharies and in an inferior degree amongst 
the representatives of such members of the community as 
could once obtain a considerable establishment at the same 
time that the singular custom which limits the succession to 
the female line has had the effect of greatly weakening the 
personal influence of the chiefs of clans and has greatly 
counteracted the natural tendency of the Government in such 
a society to assume first the patriarchal and finally the des- 
potic form and I conceive that it is principally to this cause 
and by no means to their want of the degree of civilization 
necessary to induce them to submit to the restraints of law 
that we are to ascribe the democratic principles of the Gar- 
rows and the general want of any established government 
amongst that people. 

From the operation of causes which I am unable to trace 
it has happened that wealth which chiefly consists in the 
number of their slaves has accumulated in their families of 
the chiefs in the interior of the Garrow country and to the 
southward in much greater degree than on their northern 
frontier, and the influence arising from this source has not- 
withstanding the democratic tendency of their institutions 
-enabled the husbands of the muharees in those parts to exer- 
cise to a certain extent a right of property in the soil and 
to maintain a tolerably well established authority on the 
inhabitants of their respective muharees but these effects have 
not taken place in the northern and western parts of the 
country where so great a degree of equality prevails amongst 
the principal husbandmen or surdars of small hamlets, 
whether members of the clan or descended from foreigners, 
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that each of those persons considers himself totally indepen- 
dent of his nominal superior the muharee and even of the 
clan at large, no individual or body of individuals in which 
appear to claim any sort of legal power over the free part of 
their brethren although they all exercise a despotic authority 
amongst their slaves who form no inconsiderable portion of' 
the community. 

A numerous class of persons called Lushcurs pretend 
indeed to certain honary [sic] distinctions chiefly consisting 
in the use of the above title and the ~rivileges of wearing 
certain rings on the arms and a cap or other head dress of. 
a red colour. The rank of Lushcur may either be inherited, 
or it may be obtained by selection by them who already. 
possess the dignity. The ceremony of admission is expensive 
in proportion to the number of Lushcurs in the clan as each 
must receive a present for himself and for his wife. These 
Lushcurs I am informed intermarry only amongst the mem- 
bers of their own order and on great occasions they refuse to 
eat with the rest of the society, but as I have already observed, 
I cannot possess [profess ? 1 that they possess in virtue of their 
title any extraordinary political rights or any power beyond 
what they may derive individually from their wealth, charac- 
ter or connexions. 

My enquiries on the subject of the administration of justice 
in the northern and western par: of the Garrow country con- 
firm the account of this matter given by Doctor Buchanan 
and quoted in Mr. Sissions report of date the 15th February, 
1815, viz. that the submission of the Garrows in that quarter 
to the decisions of the Councils occasionally assembled to settle 
their differences is entirely optional and totally independent 
of any power exercised or claimed by those bodies or by the 
clan at large, or any member of it to enforce their decrees; the 
only inducements to conform to which appear to be the 
solicitations of the friends of the parties, respect for the public 
opinion and dread of the resentment of their adversaries whose, 
opportunities of revenge are not a little augmented by the 
difficulty of criminals experience in obtaining a favourable 
settlement in any other part of the country in consequence of 
its being an established practice for the muharee and principal 
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husbandmen in every clan to seize and sell or detain as slaves, 
all persons of the above description taking refuge in their 
territories. 

The  Garrows even in the northern and least improvcd part 
of their country seem to be fully as far advanced in the art of 
agriculture as their neighbours on the plains. From the nature 
of the country the land must in general be tilled by manual 
labour but the use of the plough is not unknown in favourable 
situations and in such when the Garrows themselves cannot 
manage this instrument they frequently settle Rabbhas and 
other ryots from the low country and employ them in the 
cultivation of rice on the plan followed in Bengal on the hills. 
They cultivate cotton, rice, pulse, maize, teel, ginger, turmeric, 
pepper and yarns and roots of various kinds and in addition 
to these articles they raise garden produce in sufficient abund- 
ance to enable them to supply the inhabitants of the low 
country with several of the more common vegetables and 
fruits of Bengal and with others peculiar to their own hills. 
They are supposed to raise a sufficient stock of rice for their 
own consumption of that article as food, but vast quantities 
of it are used in the preparation of a formented liquor that 
constitutes their common beverage and it is for the latter 
purpose they principally require Bengal rice which is thought 
to be of inferior quality to that produced in their own country. 

The  manufactures of the Garrows are confined to the 
preparation of a coarse kind of cloth, working in iron (and 
this only in particular clans) to the extent of making some 
common impliments of husbandry and their swords or 
longhurrus [ ? ]  and casting rings and other ornaments in 
brass. 

Their villages are laid out with great regularity and 
neatness. The  houses are thatched and composed of bamboo 
lattice work on a frame of substantial saul timbers. Those of 
the superior classes are of great size and common with the 
habitations of the lower orders they display an attention to 
durability and convenience in the construction and to neatness 
in the workmanship of which no example is to be found in 
any part of the Company's provinces that I have ever visited 
while the abundant stores of grain and other necessaries to be 
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found in the interior and the plentiful stock of hogs, goats 
and poultry with which they are everywhere surrounded 
bespeak a general diffusion of wealth amongst this people, 
greatly exceeding what is to be found amongst our own 
subjects and which seem to evince that imperfect as the 
political and judicial institutions of the Garrows may appear 
to be, they are capable of affording no inconsiderable degree 
of practical security both to persons and property. 

The only peculiar custom of the garrows which it appears 
necessary to notice in a report of this nature is that of collect- 
ing and settling a value on the heads of the slain, and as this 
practice is fully reported to Government by Mr. Sission and 

- 

on various other occasions, it is only for the purpose of stating 
that my enquiries tend to remove the doubts which Mr. 
Sission stated that he considered to attach to the story of heads 
being burnt along with the bodies of persons of distinction 
that [ I ] again touch upon it. 

A person named Gaijam Rabha has positively sworn 
before me that he himself saw the ceremony performed at 
the death of the uncle and father-in-law of Dattimah Lushkur 
a Garrow chief on the Habraghaut frontier on which occa- 
sion a slave whose son is still alive in Dogoong was manu- 
mitted on consideration of his having brought the head of 
a boy from [-?-I for the purpose of being burnt with the 
corpse of his master. The practice is also mentioned by Mr. 
Eliot in the account of Garrows of the Shrepoor frontier 
inserted in the 3rd Volume of the Asiatic Researches,* as well 
authenticated there and as that gentleman observes, it is 

*While describing the funeral ceremony to a common Garo Eliot 
mentions nothing about sacrifice. H e  however adds : "If it be a 
person of rank, the pile is decorated with cloth and flowers, and a 
bullock sacrificed on the occasion, and the head of the bullock is 
also burnt with the corps : if it be an upper hill Booneah, of common 
rank, the head of one of his slaves would be cut-off, and burnt with 
him : and if it happens to be one of the first rank Booneahs, a large 
body of his slaves sally out of the hills, and seize a Hindu,  whose 
head they cut off, and burn with their chief." 

See, J. Eliot, 'Observations on the Inhabitants of the Garrow 
Hills made during a public deputation in the years 1788 and 1789,' 
.Asiatic Researches, Vol. 111, 1799, p. 28. 



nothing more than the celebration in what the Garrow con- 
sider a more dignified scale of sacrificing animals, at the time 
of burning the bodies of the dead, which as far as I can learn, 
is an invariable practice amongst all the clans bordering on 
this district. 

Imperfect as the foregoing view of the present state of 
the independent Garrows must be considered, it is yet per- 
haps suflicient to shew that their situation differs most essen- 
tially from that of the inhabitants of the Bhaugaulpore Hills 
at the time they became subject to the British Government, 
and that no conclusions are to be drawn from the voluntary 
submission of the latter people in favour of the practicability 
of introducing amongst the Garrows a similar system by 
similar means. 

At the time of the introduction of the authority of Gov- 
ernment into the Bhaugulpore Hills the inhabitants appear 
to have been governed by a regular gradation of Chiefs whose 
authority was undisputed. These persons had learnt to res- 
pect the British Government, having been repeatedly and 
severely chastized for the inroads they were in the habits of 
making into the plains, and being in common with the 
whole race, needv in the extreme and unable (as they them- 
selves stated to ~ r .  Cleveland) to subsist without blunder 
[or] pensions they voluntarily agreed to relinquish their 
predatory habits and to resign their independence for an ade- 
quate pecuniary consideratio11 and forthright became 
ready-made, and willing instruments in the hands of the 
British Government for the management of the rest of their 
countrymen. 

The Garrows on the contrary are rich and individually 
free to such an extent that they excitingly compare their 
country to a crab which they affirm has no head. The lead- 
ing men amongst them are in leading circumstances and 
consequently far above those temptations which had such 
weight with the Bhaugulpore chiefs, and were it even deemed 
politic and found practicable to gain them over to our inter- 
est, it seems doubtful whether their goodwill would be of 
much avail for whatever may be the force of that influence 
which some of the Garrow chiefs have acquired, either from 
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their character and personal qualities or from their superior 
wealth and extensive family connexions, however efficient it 
may prove in enabling a popular member of that body to 
command the services of a numerous train of followers on 
occasion of external warfare, or even to proceed at particular 
junctures to the partial exercise of arbitrary power at home, 
it is still far from being consolidated into any system of ack- 
nowledged legal authority and being founded principally if 
not solely, upon public opinion, is evidently incapable of 
being rendered instrumental to any purpose abnoxious or 
even not strictly consonant to the general sentiments and 
national spirit of the people at large, which I am fully per- 
suaded will be found to be decidedly hostile to everything 
connected with foreign interference. 

Under these circumstances, I conceive that the introduc- 
tion in any degree of the authority of this Government 
amongst the Garrows, merely by conciliatory means is quite 
impracticable and I shall therefore confine myself in my suc- 
ceeding proposals regarding this people to that portion of 
them whom it will probably be deemed justifiable to coerce 
if necessary in consequence of their being long ago become, 
more or less, dependent upan the Zemindars to whom how- 
ever previously to the late occurrences in Mechparah and to 
the sale of Karreebarree and Kaloomllooparah, they seem to 
have stood rather in the relation of tributaries than that of 
mere ryuts. 



APPENDIX E 

Translation of an Agreement executed in the Year 1829 
by Dewan Singh, Rajah of Cherrapunji.' 

(The Rajah having lost his eyesight, Soobha Singh Rajah 
has put his mark hereto on the part of the Dewan Sing11 
Rajah). 
To David Scott, 
Agent to the Governor-General. 

Some land having been required of me for erecting Gov- 
ernment edifices and for gentlemen to build houses on, I 
voluntarily cede this land, and enter into the following agree- 
ment : 

1st : For the erection of these buildings, etc., I have given 
up some land on a place to the East of Cherra Poonjee, 
bounded on one side by the dell or below the rest of the 
valley, and on the other by the Seit Oodoi river, where bam- 

The post-rebellion agreements extracted from the various 
chiefs of the Khasi and Jaintia hills brought the latter's territorial 
possessions under three categories : (i) semi-independent, (ii) depen- 
dent and (iii) ceded and conquered. The agreements made during 
Scott's own time with the rajas of Cherrapunji, Khyrim (both semi- 
independent), Cheylapunji, Rambrai, Murriow (all dependent), Soo- 
perunji and Byrangpunji (both conquered) set the type of agreements 
that were to follow with the rest of the chiefs of these three types of 
possessions. There was however one difference in the case of the 
agreements executed between the British Government and the Cherra 
Raja. O n  the same day (10th Sept., 1829) when the agreement 
reproduced here was signed, another agreement was also executed 
between Dewan Singh, Rajah of Cherrapunji and his ministerial offi- 
cers and others and David Scott, Agent to the Governor-General, 
North-East Frontier, in which the latter promised on the part of his 
Government that if the Raja faithfully fulfilled the conditions of that 
agreement, his territory would be "properly protected" by the Govern- 
ment and if any quarrels arose between hinl and other chiefs, the 
Government would undertake the settlement of the disputes. 

See, W.J. Allen, Report on the Administration of the Cossyah 
and Jyanteah Territory, 1857-58, p. 27 and Apps. 4 and 4A. See 
also Apps. 4B to 4X for other agreements between the British Gov- 
ernment and the Khasi and Jaintia chiefs. 
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boos have been put up on the part of the Government; and 
if more land is required, it will be furnished to the East of 
that s p ~ t ;  but in exchange for as much land I may give up 
altogether in my territory, I am to receive an equal quantity 
of land in the vicinity of Punduah and Company-Gunje 
within the boundary of Zillah Sylhet. 

2nd : I am to establish a Haut in Mouzah Burryaile, in 
a spot of ground that I have purchased, pertaining to the 
aforesaid Zillah, and I am always to manage the Haut and 
to make investigations there according to the customs of my 
country; and in such matters I am to have nothing to do 
with the Honourable Company's Courts. This place is more- 
over to be transferred from the aforesaid Zillah, and made 
over, as a rent free grant, to my Cossyah territory, and if 
any person who has committed a wrongful act in the Govern- 
ment territories should come and stay on this land belong- 
ing to me, I will apprehend him and deliver him up on 
demand. 

3rd : Wherever limestone may be found on the Cherra 
Poonjee Hills, in my territory, I will allow the Government 
to take it gratis when required for their own use. 

4th : If any quarrels and disturbances should take place 
between Bengalees themselves, it will be necessary for you to 
investigate them and I am to investigate disputes occurring 
between Cossyahs. Besides which, if any disputes should 
occur between a Bengalee and a Cossyah, it is to be tried in 
concert by me and a gentleman on the part of the Honour- 
able Company. To which purport, I have executed this agree- 
ment. Dated the 10th September, corresponding with the 26 
of Bhadro 1236 B. S. 



APPENDIX F 

Epitaph on the government-built tomb of David Scott 

In memory of David Scott, Agent to the Governor-Gene- 
ral on the North-East Frontier of Bengal, and Commissioner 
of Revenue and Circuit in the Districts of Assam, North- 
Eastern part of Rangpur, Sheerpore and Sylhet, died on 20th 
August, 1831, aged 45 years and 3 months. This monument 
is erected by order of the Supreme Government, as a public 
and lasting record of its consideration for the personal charac- 
ter of the deceased, and of its estimation of the eminent ser- 
vices rendered by him in the administration of the extensive 
territory committed to his charge. By his demise the Govern- 
ment has been deprived of a most zealous, able and intelli- 
gent servant, whose loss it deeply laments, while his name 
will long be held in grateful remembrance and veneration 
by the native population, to whom he was justly endeared 
by his impartial dispensation of justice, his kind and concili- 
atory manners and his constant unwearied endeavours to 
promote their happiness and welfare. 

This tomb still exists near the Government Dak Bungalow at 
Cherrapnji. See also Holmes and Co., T h e  Bengal Obituary or A 
record to  perpetuate the memory of the Departed Worth, p. 369; 
Bengal Past and Present, Vol. V ;  Asiatic Journal, Vol. 7, 1832, for 
the photograph of the monument and other obituary notes. 

F. 17 
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ministration in Lower Assam, 
234-236 and Scott's draft regu- 
lation for the Garo frontier, 57- 
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Nongkhlao, 197, 198, 199, 200, 

201, 202, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207. 
208, 209, 212 

Non-Regulation system, 37, 48, 237 
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Nowgong, chief inhabitants of, 85; 

importance and size of, 84; its 
suitability for military canton- 
ments, 85; Scott learns the Paik 
system at, 84 

Pait  system, 89-90 
Palarnau, 58 
Palmer and Co., 108 
Palpah, 24 
Pandua, 14, 15, 191, 192, 194 
Paternalists, see Munro School 
Patra-Mantri, 140 
Pemberton, R. B., 35 
Ph ulkapas, 49 
Pindari, 37, 69-n, 73 
Pong, 66-11 
Poppy, taxes on the cultivation of, 
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Purling, Charles, 33 
Purnananda Buragohain, 66-11 
Purandar Singh, 67, 68, 70-71, 74, 
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Raha chowky, 84, 86 
Rajjan Singh, 203, 208 
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Rangpore, 1 16 
Rangpore Local Battalion, 71 
Rangpore Local Corps, 123, 143 
Ram Singh, Raja of Jaintia, 82 
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Rani, 92, 94; the raja of, 204, 205 
Regulation, I of 1796, 66; 

X of 1822, 20-21, 62, 176. 181, 
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Rennell's map, 32-n 
Kenny. Elizabeth, 4 
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Revenue : sources of, in Ahom 

State, in cash, 90-91 
Revenue, Land : of Lower Assam, 

difficulties in realising the 
demand of, 97; during the 

Mughal occupation, 88; pros- 
pects for the increase of, 95; 
settlement with the chaudhuries 
for, 92-93; survey for the realisa- 
tion of, 97-98; waste land grants 
for the increase of, 102-103; 
widening the tax base for, 93-95 

Revenue, Land, of Upper Assam, 
89-90, 246 

Rhodes, Dr., 14, 217 
Richards, Col. A., 85-87 
Routledge, J., 23 
Ruchinath Buragohain, 66, 67, 68 
Rupchand, 15 1 
Ryotwari system, 20 

Sadiya Frontier (tract), defence 
problem of, 147; defence pro- 
posals for, 120-122 

Sadiya Khowa Gohain, 121 
Sadiya market, the appearance of 

Marwari traders in, 129 
Sair, 39 
Scott, Archibald, 4, 5 
Scott, David, the Director and 

Chairman, E. I. Co., 5-6 
Scott, David, the A-G-G on the 

N. E. F. : agricultural interests 
of, 14-15, 243-n; appointed as the 
Agent on the N-E-F of Bengal, 
8; argues against the zamindaj:; 
of Garo frontier, 55-56; becomes 
the Civil Commissioner of 
N.  E.  parts of Rangpur, 78; be- 
comes the Commissioner of 
Cooch Behar, 13; benevolence 
of 11, 137; concludes treaty with 
Manipur, 83; concludes treaty 
with Cachar, 82; concludes treaty 
with Jaintia, 83; directs mission- 

aries to the tribal areas, 187-188- 
n; elaborates the ancient Consti- 
tution of Ahom Assam, 140-141; 
enjoys beauty in Nature, 18; 
epitaph on the tomb of, 257; 
explains the Burmese threat, 70; 
explains causes and cure of 
Assam's economic ills, 103-105; 
extracts agreement from Cherr~ 
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permitting freemen to sell them- 
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Ahom restoration in Upper 
Assam, 149-156; favours non- 
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gets direct charge of Sikkim, 75; 
gives subsidies to Nilachal tem- 
ple, 242; his concern for the sub- 
ordinates, 238-239; his devotion 
to duty, 11, 13-14; his distrusts of 
the Cornwallis system, 231-232; his 
imperialistic views, 230-231 ; his 
interests in medical science, 16-n, 
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mese, 03-11; the last words of, 14; 
linguistic attainments of, 16-11; 
makes agreements with Khyrim 
raja, 83; and the Munro School 
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on Assam's stagnant condition. 
245; 
on improvement of Assam's eco- 
nomic condition, 24 4-245 ; 
on Mughal systcrn of govern- 
ment, 55; on the strength and 
weakness of the sepoy army, 220; 
opens communication with Tibet 
and Bhutan, 27; opposes defen- 
sive alliance with Ahom princes, 
86-87; 
Participates in the military ope- 
ration in Assam, 81-86; plans 
transportation of Assam frontici 
tribes to Bengal border, 117; 
points out drawbacks of subsi- 
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diary alliance, 77; praised by 
Lord Moira for help in the 
Gurkha war, 26; proposes for the 
defence of the Sadiya frontier, 
120-122; proposes establishment 
of European military colonies, 
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lation system, 48; and the range 
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mends measures for the welfare 
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45-68; underline political phi- 
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the development of, 107-1 10; 
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Burma trade, 124-125; engage- 
ments with, 119-120; habitat of, 
115, the nature of, 115, 125; 
Neufville's policy towards, 123; 
plunder Assamese villages, 1 ! 7; 
principal tribes of, 126-n 

Singplio trade, the initial inishaps 
of, 126; Neufville gives second 
trial to, 126-128; Scott's last 
plea for, 129-130 

Sikkim, 22, 24, 27, 31; relation 
with Nepal, 26-27 

Sission, T, 56, 250 
Slaves of Assam, belonging to 

temples, 160; belonging to Upper 
classes, 160; condition and 
position of?, 162-164; law pro- 
portion of, 162 

Slavery, in Assam, historical back- 
ground to, 160-161; Scott asked 
to suggest measures for the 
abolition of, 159; Scott's ap- 
proach to the question of, l f 3 -  
175; views of Capt. Neufville 
on, 171-172; views of Capt. 
White on, 170-173; views of 
Scott on the abolition of 164-168 

Steam navigation, in Assam, 111, 
113 

Stokes, E, 3, 20, 178, 180, 222 
Subalts, 29, 30n 
Siddon, the translator, 36 
Subsidiary alliance, Scott's views 

on, 77 
Sulang, the raja of, 83 
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with David Scott, 6; his brilli- 
ance at Fort William College, 
6 
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Watson, Col. Archibald, ancestrv 
and career of, 8-n; attends 
Scott's death-bed, 14; describes 
Scott's attitude towards the 
natives, 10; edits the Memoir of 
the Late David Scott Esqr., 9; 
gives the range of Scott's mind, 
17-18; his relationship with 
David Scott, 8-9 

Wellesley, Lord, 37, 230 
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